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National Express Group is a leading public
transport operator with bus, coach and

rail services in the UK, Continental Europe,
North Africa, North America and the
Middle East

Our Vision Our Values
Our Vision 1s to earn the hfetime loyalty of our

customers by consistently delivering frequent,

hugh performing public transport services

which offer excellent value

=>» Read more p18

Visit our Group websrte to read our latest news, access
nvestor nformation and find out more about how we operate

www.nationalexpressgroup.com

Unless otherwise stated, all operating profit, operating margin and EPS data refar to normalised results, which can be found on the face of the Group Income
Statement in the first column The definition of normalised profit s as follows IFRS result found in the third column, exctuding intanglble asset amorbsation,
excaptional itams and tax relisf thereon The Board believes that the normafised resul gives a better indication of the underlying performance cf the Group
Underlying revenue compares the current year with the prior year on a conalstent basls, after adjusting for the Impact of currency

In UK Bus, comrmercial revenue is that fromn fare-paying customers and excludes concessions and contracted services In UK Coach, core express revenue
18 that from the scheduled National Express network,

Gonstant currency basis compares the current year's results with the prior year's results transiated at the current year's exchange rate

QOperating margin is the ratio of normalised operating profit to revenue

‘Return on caphal employed’ {ROCE) s normalised operating profit dvided by tangible and intangible assets

‘Return on assets' ("ROA7 is normalised operating profit divided by tangible assats

Opernting cash flow 1s the cash flow equivalent of normalised operating profit. Free cash flow is the cash flow equivalent of normalsed profit after tax

A recongiliation Is set out in the table within the Group Finance Director's review

EBITDA Is ‘Eamings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation’ It is calculated by taking normalised operating profit and adding depreciation,
fixed asset grant amortisation, normalised profit on disposal of non-current assets and share-based payments

Net dabt is dsfined as cash and cash equivalents {cash overnight deposits and other short-tarm deposits) and other debt receivables, offset by borrowings
(loan notes, bank loans and finance lease obligations) and other debt payable (excluding accrued interest}

Gearing ratio s the ratio of net debt to EBITDA over the last 12 moriths, including any pre-acquistion EBITDA generated in that 12-month perod by businesses
acquired by the Group during the penod

The annual punctuality measure for c2¢ Is the moving annual average {{MAA') public performance measure (‘PPM’) to 6 February 2018

Safety Incidents measure those for which the Group is responsible and s based on the Falalities and Weighted Injunes index used in the UK rall Industry
Eamnings per share (EPS") is the profit for the year attnbutable to sharehoiders, dvided by tha weighted average number of shares in1ssue, excluding these
held in the Employae Benefit Trust which are treated as cancelled




Strong financial performance

=> Group revenue increased by 3 8% to £1 92 billon on a constant currency basis,
up 2 8% on a reported basis {2014 £1 87bn)

=» Group normalised operating profit up 15 5% to £193 5 million (2014 £167 6m™)

=» Group normalised profit before tax rose by 25 2% to £150 1 million (2014 £119 9m*)

=» Statutory Group profit before tax grew by 87 1% to £124 4 million (2014 £66 5m)

with no exceptional costs in 2015

=» Group ROCE increased to 11 7% (2014 107%")
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->» Year-on-year normalised EPS growth of 23 8% to 23 4 pence (2014 18 9p7) §3
=» Free cash fiow of £111 Q milion, £11 O million ahead of target (2014 £164 8m) §§
Fromt cover => Net debt increased by £81 2 million to £745 5 million, reflecting £105 8 million %g
One of our new German trains departs Cologne spent on acquisitions and growth capital expenditure mm
staton - a key destination for our new rail servces O
Fea0 mord Shout e on poge 4048 =>» Full year proposed dmdend of 11 33 pence, up 10% year-on-year {2014 10 3p)
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* Histoncal results restatedt 1o adiust ior the mpact of Rall and Middle East bxd costs praviously treated as exceptonal terms

Summary of resulis 2015
Normalrsed basis IFRS basis
2015 2014 2015 2014
£m £m £m £m
Revenue 1,919.8 1,867 4 1,919 8 1,867 4
Operating profit 193.5 1676 167 8 114 2
Profit before tax 150.1 1199 124 4 66 5
Profit for the year 121.6 981 1091 606
Basic earnings per share (pence) 234 189 209 16

Net debt

7455 664 3 745.5 6643
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National Express Group at a glance

A leading transport provider

with a well balanced portfolio

The Group operates in the UK, Continental Europe, North Africa, North
America and the Middle East and at the end of the year we employed
over 44,000 people and operated over 27,000 vehicles Passengers
made more than 867 milllon journeys on our services In 2015

The National Express name first appeared on UK coaches in 1972,
and the Company was hsted on the London Stock Exchange in 1992

North America: Bus

* Durham School Services
¢ Stock Transportation

* Petermann

* National Express Transit

Our business In North Amenca
has two areas of actvty
student transportation and
transit services

We operate In 36 US states
and four Canadian provinces

The student transportaton
business operates through
medium-term contracts
awarded by local school
boards to provide safe and
rehable transport for students,
and 15 the second largest
private operator In

North Amenca

Revenue

£683.2m

2014 £620 2m
Operating profit

£66.8m

2014 £59 5m

= Read more p40

* FY2014 normahsed results restated
1o adust for tha impact of Rail and
Migdlo East ¢osts previoushy treated
as axcepional tems

Rail
* c2¢c

+ National Express
Rail Germany

National Express operates
the industry-leading c2c
franchise which serves
London and South Essex

it 1s an important commuter
route serving 25 stations
on the ine out of Fenchurch
Street Station, London

We started to operate contracted
ral services In Gemany in
Decemnbaer 2015 running the
Rhne-Munster-Express and the
Rhine-Wupper-Bahn In Juns
2015 we were awarded two
contracts to operate Rhine-Ruhr
Express services, the first
starting m December 2018, and
the second in December 2020
We have also been named as
preferred bidder to operate
services on the Nuremburg
S-Bahn network.

Revenue

£168.4m

2014 £1516m
Operating profit

£0.6m

2014 €00 N)m*

- Read more paé
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Spain and Morocco:
Bus and Coach

* ALSA

ALSA s the leading
company in the Spanish
road passenger transport

sector, and was acquirsd by
Natonal Express in 2005

With over 100 years'

Operating profit
by end market

expenence, it operates
long-distance, regional and
urban bus and coach services
across Span and in Morocco

Apart fromits bus and

coach services, the
business also operates
service areas and other
transport-related businesses,
such as fuel distnbution

Revenue

£502.2m

2014 £5381m
Operating profit Spain and Morccco

North Ameanca
£71 .5m UK Bus
2014 £750m UK Coach

=> Read more p38 Rail

34%
32%
18%
16%

0%




Group revenue
by end market

Spamn and Mcrocco
North Amenca

UK Bus

UK Coach

Rail

26%
35%
15%
15%

9%

UK:Bus

» National Express
West Midlands
+ National Express Coventry
* Xplore Dundee
* Midland Metro

National Express 1s the market
leader in the UK's largest
urban bus markst cutside of
London Services are operated
from nine garages across the
West Midlands We also run
bus services in the cities of
Coventry and Dundee

In addition, we operate the
Midland Metro light rail service
between Brmingham and
Wolverhampton

Revenue

£286.4m

2014 £2810m
Operating profit

£37.5m

2014 £34 0m

=5 Read more p42

New markets

Bahrain

In February 2015, our joint
venture, Bahrain Public Transport
Company, began operating new
bus services across Bahrain

The ten-year contract included
the introduction of 141 new
vehicles to Bahrain

International opportunities
Qur bid team continues to explore
selected opportunities which
leverage our skills in bus, coach

and ray markets

= Our new bus fleet serves Manama
and surrounding areas in Bahrain

UK: Coach

+ National Express
* Eurolines
¢ The Kings Ferry

National Express Is the
largest operator of scheduled
coach services inthe UK
The business operates high
frequency services knking
over 900 destnations across
the country We are the UK
partner in the Eurolines
network which serves over
500 destnations across
Europe and North Afnca

The Kings Ferry is also part
of the UK Coach business
and s a long-estabhished
prowvider of commuter coach
travel services in Londen
and the south of England

Revenue

£281.2m

2014 £2752m
Operating profit

£32.3m

2014 £280m

=> Read more p44

www nationalexprassgroup com
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Strategic Report
Chairman'’s letter

Operational excellence is
driving our success

Sir John Armitt CBE
Chairman
25 February 2016

Dear shareholder,

| am delighted that National Express has
again delivered a strong set of results in
2015 The focus on operational excellence,
across the Board, from Dean and
througheut the business Is helping us

10 ncrease revenues, profit and margn,
dnve cash and retumns to shareholders
and generate new growth opportunities

New markets

Dunng the year we commenced operations in
two new markets Bahraint bus and German
ral | cannet recall a tme when an established
transport company ke ours began significant
new operations In two foreign markets in the
same year Itis testament to the management
capabilites we have In place at the senior,
Group level and in local teams to have
achieved such a feat

As we have repeatadly said, our ability

1o generate growth in new markets 1s
contingent upon us securing and sustaining
areputation for operational excellence

| beleve that successful operations in these
two new markets will only strengthen these
credentials further and hope they will also
help us open other growth opportunties

Existing businesses

Equally, however, we are focused on
ensuring we sustan a reputation for
operational excellence In our existing
markets Our customer satistaction scores,
contract retention rates and passenger
growth figures demonstrate that we have

also made good progress here Our
financial results for the year —with revenus,
profit and margin up In every dwision —
show the benefits of this focus

Dividend

It 15 because of this performance, with free
cash flow agan beating our target, and our
confidence on outlook that the Board 1s
recommending that the full year dividend
15 Increased to 11 33p, representing 10%
growth for the year as a whole This
dividend 1s paid in iné with cur policy —
announced dunng 2015 — of two times
Group earnings cover Subject to approval
by shareholders, the final dwdend wil! be
paid on 20 May 2016 to shareholders on
the register on 28 Apnl 2016

Board

In this year's Annual Report and Accounts
we have ncluded a '‘Governance in practice’
sechion to capture the active role the Board
play across the business, from mesting
frontkne staff and customers to challenging
senior management | believe this 1s
waelcome additional disclosure which gives
shareholders and other stakeholdesrs an
insight Into the vaned work undertaken

by the Board and | hope you find 1t useful
and interesting

Following the announcements last year that
both Srr Andrew Foster and Jackie Hunt
would be standing down, we mads three
appontments in 2015 to strengthen the
Board in key areas

4 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

Govermance
highlights

* As a Board, we aspire to apply
high standards of governance to
our conduct around the Board
table and we commit to ensure
that these standards, values and
behaviours are apphaed consistently
by the Executive team and cascaded
throughout the Group

* Dunng the year, we have continued
to refresh the Board to ensure that,
as the Group avolves, we have
Directors with the nght and
appropriate balance of skills,
sxperience, Indepsndencs and
relevant knowledge in order to
deliver our strategy and fulfil our
duties as Directors

In ine with Code recommendations,
the Board recogruses and valugs
the importance of maintaining
healthy and open communications
with our shareholders to ensure
mutual understanding of the
Group's strategy, objectives,
govarnance and performance

=> Read more p50

Matthew CGrummack bnngs sigrificant
expenence In digital commerce which
has become a critical area of actvity
within National Express Matthew has
already made a valuable contnbuton
and complements the Board with a
retal focused customer perspective

Mike McKeon joined the Board dunng the
year and as well as becoming a member
of the Safety & Environment Committee 1s
Chaur of the Audit Comrmittee After
spending 15 years as a Group Finance
Director with wide-ranging internattonal
expernence, Mike provides expert oversight
In these crucial areas

Dr Ashley Steel was appointed last year
and took up her position on the Board in
January 2016 As a former Vice Charman
at KPMG, and their Global Char for its
transpart, leisure and logisties practice,
she bnngs a distnguished career in and
signdicant track record of the sector

| look forward to continuing to work with
Matthew, Mike, Ashlay and all the Board
In 2016

Sir John Armitt CBE
Chairman
25 February 2016




Investment case

A sound investment case...
our diversity is our strength
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1 Abestin class public transport operator*

Span and Morocco North Amaerica UK Bus UK Coach Rail Group
Margin % 14-2 9.8 1 3-1 11 -5 0-4 1 0-1 o
=) O
<O
NX NX 14 NX 5 NX |
: 4]
By margin 31
Om
m
2 A sound strategy in place => Read more p14-17
Delivering operational Generating superior Creating new business
excellence cash and returns opportunities
= Best in class Group margin of 101% * Free cash flow of £111 milhon * Over £11 billon of new contracts won 53
* Revenue growth of 3 8% at constant  Sustainable free cash flow generation during the year m E
currency of £100 milkon per annum * Rail — won two new German rail contracts Eg
« £9 0 bilhon of long-term contracted * Diviclend up 10% Vb"ggh €1f 0 blE:Jo:hOf ct;gntractgg 1"8"9”“55- ar
Or CONCassIoNary revenues 1daing for a er tree in
M * Group ROCE increased by 100bps Shorthsted for East Angha in the UK
= Sustainable long-term earnings o1 7% KB
L ] —_
including long-term rail earnings s Sumplus cash to be nvested In targeted a etrollﬁk shortisted for Manchester
bolt-on acquistions
¢ Spain and Morocco — awarded a contract
within the Imserso scheme in Spain and
commencad operations N Khouribga,
our fourth city in Morocco ?-’.5
* Middle East — commenced operations of So
first contract in the region in Bahrain, and g '5'
. . shortisted in two further aities In the region =F3
3 Well balanced portfolio 4 Stable long-term finance ¢ oF
in place and commitment = Six bolt-on acguisrtions tn 2015 with five =
P . in North America and one in Spamn
to investment grade rating
Divisional split by revenue Geanng ratios 2015 2014 Covenant

5 Dmdend policy based

Netdeb/EBITDA  246x  225x <3 5x
on 2x Group earnings

Span and Morocco  26% Net interest cover 6 6x 6 3x >3 5x
North America 35%

UK Bus 15% 2015 2014
K ch Ratings Grade Outlook
UK Coa 15% g — | BascEPS 234 By
Rail % Moody's Baa3  Stable
Dwvidend 133 103
Fitch BBB- Stable

* FY2014 nomalised EPS restated to adnust for the mpact
of rail and Middle East bxd costs previously treated as

Modal split by revenue Strong debt matunty profile exceptonal tems
Drawn Bond  Avalable® Bndge facilty

Bus 24%
School Bus/Transt ~ 35%
Coach 32%
Rail 9%

* Avaiable cash and undrawn comenitted faciities at
31 Decemnber 2015

www nationalexpressgroup com 5




Market overview

Understanding trends
and opportunities

Here we give an overview on how the megatrends are shaping demand
for travel and public transport and the opportunities ahead

Economic environment

The propenstty to travel 1s generally affected by levels of economic
actty, as represented by GDP growth Although levels of
transportation and mobility reman relatively stable through the
economic cycle, penods of GDP growth generate additional
volume demand and pncing benefit

Opporturity The UK and North Amenca are showing relatively
stable growth whilst the Spanish economy appears to be
strengthentng, with demand for public transport Iikely to
improve as the economy grows and employment levels nse

Average GDP growth
Ave 2010-2015  Ave 2016-2017

Deregulation, iberalisation and outsourcing

Our markets are created when state provision of public transport is
transterrad to the private sector There are different models for this,
with examples ranging from the deregulated markets of our UK Bus
and UK Coach divisions, through the concessions and franchises
of Spain, Morocco and Rall, to the school bus and transit contracts
of North Amenca

This 1s supported by a trend towards markat iberalisation, such

as European Union directives focused on opening up rail networks
Cost saving 1s increasingly a factor too, through recogniion of the
supenor sfficiency of privately operated services

Opportunity The current size of the European public transport
market 1s estmated to be approximately €150 billion* Liberalisation
of the German and Sparush rail markets present opporturities for
growth (" OECD data}

Urbanisation and demographic changes

Our services benefit from increasing urbanisation around the world,
In particutar driving demand for bus operations Existing towns and
cities ara expanding, in addiion to the creation of new centras of
population Globally, n 2014, 54% of the world's population Iived in
urban centras and it 1s projected to grow to 66% by 2050, whilst
73% of the population n Europe and 82% of the population In North
Amenca already live in urban centres These trends are drving the
requirement for addiional transportation services, both within and
between locations, so our Bus, Coach and Rail operations are

6 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

increasingly in demand In addition population growth in the UK and
North Amenca will dnve further demand for pubhe transport services

Opportuntty UK population growth is forecast to grow by 7%
over the next decade driving the need for further public transport
services, whilst the combination of an ageing and increasingly
social and ethnically diverse population will dnve the need for
new products and services to meet changing customer needs

Global urban population growth is propelled by the
growth of cities of all sizes

Urban areas smatler than 500 000 Large cities of 5 to 10 million
Cities of 500,000 to 1 milion Megacities of 10 rmidon or more
Medium-sized ctes of 1 to 5 mition

Modal shift

Modal shift 1s the move by indmvduals from one form of transport to
ancther For Natonal Express, the relevant move is from the pnvate
car to bus, coach and ral travel The biggest reason for this i1s an
increase In the cost of motonng, such as insurance pnaing, and the
increasing use of mobile devices, such as tablets and smartphones,
while travelling, although other factors such as environmental
concemns and congestion can also be important Geopoltical and
demographic changes in the Middle East are increasing dermand
for affordable, safe public transport Technology and innovation are
playing their part, with travel apps providing real-time information as
well as customised targeted offers helping to generate incremental
demand for joumeys on public transport Digital platforms are
Increasingly prowiding custormers with end to end joumey planning
and ticketing tools delivenng greater convenience for passengers

Opporturity Tha praliferation of real-ime travel nformation and
mobile devices improves the customer expsanence making public
transport increasingly more attractive compared with the car, whilst
the introduction of smartcards and contactless cards not only
provides greater converience for customears but help to build
stronger customer relationships

Environment and congestion

Environmental concems continue to have an nfluence on customer
behaviour Bus, coach and rall senaces are significantly more
environmentally fnendly forms of transport than the private car or air
travel, reducing both the level of carbon emissions per person traveling
and travel congestion Society as a whole and indwviduals are becoming
ncreasingly concermad about the effect of emissions on the environment
and are exphctly choosing public transport as an aftemative

Opportunity Improved access to city centre locations, such
as prionty bus lanss, for environmentally fnendly transport




Here we put each of our markets into context and highlight the main dnvers across all our dvisions

Spain and Morocco ->» Read more p38

ALSA holds the market-lsading postion in the regulated and highty
segmented bus and intercity coach rmarket in Spain and also
operates In four cities n Morocco Three levels of government
regulation apply In Spamn national long-distance coach), regional
{regional coach) and city (urban bus} Each concession 1s exclusive
to the operator, based on comphance with the public senace
obhgation Intercity competition comes from state-backed ratt and
low cost ailinas Bus and coach concessions are awarded through
competitive public tender, typically every ten years

Market size Concessions

€3.8bn 175

* 175 concassions 123 intercity coach concessions, 36 urban
bus contracts, 16 others

» Concessional renewal and new urban contract wins in Spain
and Morocco

* Revenue management generating passenger and revenue
growth in Span

* Continuing urbarisation of the Moroccan economy with rapid
migration to the major cihes

North America -» Read more p40

National Express is the second largest player in the North Amencan
school market with a 13% share of the outsourced school bus
market 33% of the market 1s outsourced with recent increases in
outsource conversion beng driven by pressure on public funding
Thes trend s lkely to continue as school distnct budgsts remamn
constrainad Typically customers are local school boards where local
refationships are key and service delivery 1s very important National
Express also operates i the North Amencan public transit market,
29% of which 1s outsourced and where there is an increasing demand
for accessible public transportation sences, for fixed route,
paratranstt and employee shuttle services

Market size Operates
$240n 21,800
school buses

= Bolt-on acquistion opportunities In school bus
* Neow business growth from winning contracts in school bidding
season and through new Transit contracts

UK Bus —> Read more p42

The largest five operators represent around 70% of the UK
deregulated bus market, with the remainder of the market made up
of a large nurnber of private operators  Active competition comes
from national and local bus operators, as well as private car and

ral In the short term the market has been impacted by economic
pressures from austerity and local unemployment, but longer term,
economic regeneration and environmentally dnven public transport
present growth cpportunites over the car

Market size Operates

£4.8on 1,677

(UK excluding London) buses, focused in the Wast
Midlands and Dundee markets

* [ncrease passenger volumes through imvestment in vehicles,
technology and people and through delivenng high quality services

* | ow bamers to entry — flexibility and scale of operations is key

¢ Devolved local transport budgets and services to regional
combined authonties may present opportunities to enter new
regional markets

UK Coach

=> Read more p44

National Express has the only natonwde network ¢of services with
other competitors tending to focus on specific regions or comdors
Selective competiion comes from rad, particularty on discourted
fares, and from large bus operators and localised services Drvers
for demand include the leve! of tare discount to rall, cost of private
motonng and environmental fnendiness  Custormer satisfacton s
also an important driver for longer-term loyalty through consistent
servica and high custorner safety standards

Market size Destinations
£300m 900+

of contested revenues in the UK scheduled coach
scheduled coach market market leader

* Revenue growth through competitive pricing, better distribution
channels and greater understanding of customars and therr needs
« [onger term mplementation of mproved retarling systems

Rail =>» Read more p46

The UK rail market 1s a regulated market and 1s broadly
dispersed between UK pnvate tran operators and overseas state
market participants In the past ten years, growth has been
dnven by passenger volumes with the levels of economic actwity
and employment also drivers A new framework for future UK
franchises 1s seeing franchise durations settle between seven
and 15 years with the introduction of a quality element alongsida
pncing Meanwhile the German rail market 1s liberalsing and
offering growth opportunties

Market size

£8.5bn

of UK franchise revenuss per
annum, with over £8 billon

of franchise revenues up for
renewal over the next five years
{based on proposed Department
for Transport pipaling)

€9bn

currently accessible German
regional and urban markat

* c2c ral franchise through to 2029

* Submitted bid to operate the East Angha rail franchise with
a decision due in summer 2016

e Cur first two German raill franchises commenced operatons
in Decernber 2015 for 15 years with two more commencing
in December 2019 and Decamber 2020 for 14 years and
13 years raspecively

¢ Growth through further bid wins in Germany and the UK

» | beralisation of Spanish rall market a future opportunity

www nationalexprassgroup com 7
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Group Chief Executive’s review

Delivering growth
in all divisions

Dean Finch
Group Chief Executive
25 February 2016

Introduction

National Express had a very successful year
Revenuse, profits and margins have incraased
In every dvision on a constant currency
basis We continue 10 generate a strong

and sustainable cash flow, which underping
a 10% increase n our proposed full year
dmidend and helps us to invest for further
growth Indeed, we started operations in
two new markets, Germany and Bahrain,
dunng 2015 and made a number of targeted
acguisiions in North Armenca and Spain

in kne with our growth strategy

| believe these results demonstrate that

our strategy of consistently focusing on
operational excellence to dnve cash and
returns, as well as opening up new growth
opportunties, contrnues to deliver National
Express has a uniquely diversified portfolo of
industry-leading businesses wiich, through
careful management, have provided growing
retums for shareholders and generated new
axpansion opporiunties | believe that by
maintaining this management focus on
consistently delivenng our strategy we will
contnue to drve retums and open new
growth opportunities Before | expand in
more detatl on this, | would like to cuting the
highlights from our results dunng the year

Highlights from the year

My first pnorty as Chief Executive is safety it
1$ one of our ¢ore values and 1s the first Issue
| discuss on my weekly call with Managing
Directors, at each Dmisional Board mesting

and at the PLC Board As long as | am Chief
Executive of National Express, it will rermain
our prorty | am therefore pleased we have
made further progress in improving on our
key safety measure the Fatalities and
Waeghted Inunes {PWI'yndex Since 2011
wa have reduced the harm caused by our
business on this measure by 56% We have
also won important safety awards dunng the
year, ncluding UK Coach being awarded the
prastigious Bntish Safety Council *Sword

consistently for cur customers the services
they want, at attractive pncas Across the
Group we camed over 2% more passengers
than in 2014, helping to increase Group
revenue by 3 8% on a constant currency
basis Group profit before tax increased by
25 2% on a normalised basis and by over
87% on a statutory basis We have again
dnven improved returns with Group ROCE
up 100 basis points to 11 7% and a strong
and sustainable free cash flow of £111 million,
beating our target of £100 millon This strong
performance allows the Board 1o propose an
increase in the full year dmdend to 11 33p, an
Increase of 10% and funded within our
robust policy of two times eamings cover
With ¢2¢ and German Raill secunng our
long-term future in rail, the Board announced
a new policy at 2015's haf year resutts, to
Include rail profits n the dvidend calculation

UK Coach's innovative digital marketing
approach 1s baing complsmentsd with new
partnership deals to both delver our services
rmore effectvely to existing customers and
reach new markets This has bean
augmanted by further contract wins,
especially in the second half of the year In
the cora coach business we camed nearty
2% more passengers In 2015 compared
with 2014 and increased revenue across the
division as a whole by 2 2% to £281 2 millon
With a relentless attention 1o costs and
afficiency, UK Coach has deliverad a 15 4%
increase In profit and a margin Improvement
of 130 basis points to 11 5%

In UK Bus the emphasis on parinership

1s worlang, with, for example, our record
irvestment n new vehicles dunng 2015
complemented by local authonty investment
at crucial pinch pomts This is helping to drve
strong passenger growth on these new
Platinum routes  Alongsids Centro we have
helped lead the industry with the launch of the
mutt-operator, mutt-modal Swaft smartcard,
which 1 also avalable as Pay As You Go
Together innovatons and investment like this

“Our strategy of consistently focusing on operational
excellence to drive cash and retums, as well as opening
up new growth opportunities, continues to deliver”

of Honour’ and our North Amencan School
Bus dwision being upgraded to the highest
possible rating by the Federal Motor Camer
Safety Administration, part of the US
Department of Transportation

Financially, the Group has performed well
dunng 2015 With all dvisions helping to
dnve iIncreased revenues, profits and
margins, { believe the whole business 1s
benefiing from a focus on operational
axcallence that requires us to deliver
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have helped sacure our highest ever customer
satisfaction scores n the ndependent Transport
Focus survey This 1s beng reflected in our
financial results wath revenue iIncreasing by
nearly 2% to £.286 4 milion and profits growing
by Just over 10% to £37 5 milion Qur margin
has increased by 100 basis points to 131%

Our Rall dmsicn has delivered an operating
profit of £0 6 millon compared with a £101
rmillon loss n 2014 These figures reflect the
fact idding costs are included in our dmsional




resufts and are no longer taken as exceptional
tems In 2015 we also absorbed over a
three-fold Increase in the premum paid to

the Government for the c2c service Targeted,
digtal marketing, combined with the best
punctuality n Brtam, has helped revenues
from c2¢ ncrease by nearly 10% to

£166 0 million, with overall passenger
numbers growing by 5 3% and off-peak
joumeys increasing by 76% We introduced
the largest tmatable change n a generation
during December to meet both the significant
passenger growth we have been expanencing
and the mproved central London connections
specified in the Department for Transport's
franchise agreement We have mace
amendments to address some passenger
concems and are working hard o secure
extra trans 1o provide addonal capacity

In North Amenca we continue to see the
bensfits of our focus on improving contract
pricing, mcluding through our ‘up or out’
stratagy Dunng the year we secured pnce
increases of 5 3% in those contracts that
want to market, which averaged out at a

2 B% increase across our whole portfolio
We have again maintained very high levels
of customer retention Cur 'up or out’ pneing
strategy means we exit unprofitable contracts
unless wa secure a sufficient pnce incraase
to ensure profitability; with those tenders
excluded, we retaned 98% of all contracts
re-bid dunng 2015, and if those tenders are
included, we still retained 96% of contracts
across our whole portfoho Cormbined with
further cost savings, including head office
efficiencies, these have helped dnve an
increase in profit on a constant currancy
basis of 6 1% to $102 2 milkon desprte nsing
pressure on dmver wages, with our margin
now at 9 8% (9 6% in 2014) Transit has also
delivered significant growth in the year, with
three new contracts secured, an extension
to an existing contract and one bolt-on
acquistion helping to increase annualised
revenues by 45%

In ALSA, our Spanish and Moroccan dmision,
revenue grew by 3 8%, profit ncreased by

5 8% and a record number of passenger
Journeys wera recorded in the year This
growth has been dnven in particular by the
continued successful roll out of our revenue
management system {'RMS’) and our
ongoing growth In Morccco RMS has

now been extended to over 200 flows that
compete directly with the discounted RENFE
ral services, with revenues up 2% and
passengers up 3% on these routes Morocco
continues s strong growth, with revenues up
nearly 14% as we axpanded our serices In
Tangier and started new operations \n our
fourth city, Khounbga Following recent prass
reports on the Portuguese Government's
proposed cancellation of our Porto bus

_)

The launch of a new coach service
between Cardiff and Bnsto! Airport
has proved popular with customers

contract — amongst others awarded by the
previous government — we have Just receved
official notificaton We will analyse the
arguments used to overtumn a previously
awarded contract and then constder our
next steps

Wa also successfully launched new Bahrawn
bus and German ral services dunng the year
Qur entry into these new markets was
secured, at least in part, because of our
reputation for excellence in our existing
operations We believe both of these markets

provide good growth potental and will help
strengthen our nterational reputation

Strategy

QOur consistent strategy of focusng on
operational excellence has demonstrably
improved returns for sharsholders and helps
position us for further growth opportunities

Delivering operational excellence
For a number of years | have made the
casa that our success as a business Is
dependent upon us secunng and
mantainng a reputation for operational
excellence For our existing customars this
means consistently delvenng the services
that they want at competitve prices they
can afford For new customers it means
demonstrating to them that we will prowde to
them the service they want in a convenisnt
way whila offenng good valuse for money

This has guided our operating phifcsophy for
a number of vears now, and | betieve these

results dermonstrate the benefits of this
approach We camed more passengers in
2015 than in 2014, with both ALSA and c2c
carrying record passengsr numbers in the
year Our customer satisfaction ratings agan
are often market-leading UK Coach s for the
third year running the most trusted ground
transportabon brand n the UK Institute of
Customer Service's annual survay, UK Bus
has secured ts highest ever customer
satisfacton scores in the independent
Transport Focus survey, c2c again has the
mghest customer satisfaction scores for
refiability and punctualty in London and
South East franchises in the Natonal Rail
Passengsr Survey; in our North American
School Bus business 92% of customers say
they would recommend us on the basis of
our service, safety and value, and ALSA has
achieved its best score In five years in the
annual ndependent Custorner Service Index
survey conducted by GFK

This philesophy waill also drive growth in our
existing businesses as we focus on delivenng
continuousty iImproving, ever mors punctual
and value tor money services This means
identifying opportunities to capture new
markets, such as UK Coach’s new Bnstol
Arport services launched in March 2015

It also means reforming our operations to
ensure they meet customer aspiratons and
challenges, such as launching the largest
tmetable change in a generation on ¢2¢

o meet the significant passenger growth
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Group Chief Executive’s review continued

“Our progress in embedding excellence across
the business has been recognised by leading

accreditaton bodies.”

we have been expenencing and making
significant progress in the ‘digital” arena

For some time we have been looking to
hamess new technology and approaches

to enhance our customer service and
operate more efficently Our targeted digial
marketing has already deivered results in UK
Coach 88% of emails sent to our customer
database are now targeted, compared with
69% in 2014 and 18% in 2013 We have
already embedded a similar approach in c2c,
with an increase in off-peak travel a particular
benefit from this approach, and we are now
roling 1t out to UK Bus and Spain We

have already picneered industry-leading
innovations, such as the personal
performance promise supported by
Automatic Delay Repay and personalised
performance reports, which c2c 1s

launching this year

Under a new Group Digital Officer, all
divisions are auditing their exasting digrtal
strategies and setting out how they can
make further, significant progress in the
coming years | balieve these new
technologies and appreaches provide the
opportunity to truly bnng the custorner into
the heart of our business They help create
personalised and talored relatonships with
our customers, helping to dmve innovation
and service efficiency so we can better
target customer needs

Wa have also been using new technology to
improve our safety performance and beleve

thera is the opporturuty for substantial cost
savings to be ganed through this Inhal plots
of ‘DnveCam' n UK Ceach and Nerth
Amencan Schoaol Bus have been very
posttive, already delvenng in-year cost
savings and providing detalled performance
reports for seach dnver, allowing talored
training programmes to Improve drving and
safety perforrnance This technology will now
be rolled out more widely in UK Coach and
North America and also to UK Bus and
ALSA We are also looking to ntroduce
‘colhsion avordance’ technology that

could deliver further savings and safety
improvements | belleve this 1$ an area of

real opportunity for our business, delivenng
both further safsty improvements and
meaningful cost reduction

Embracing technology and approaches such
as those outlined above demonstrates how
wa continue to nvest where it makes areal
difference to cur services In 2015 we
invested a record £34 miliion in UK Bus,
delivening 176 new buses, one third of which
were our state-of-the-art Platinum buses
Thasa buses are seeing strong passenger
growth and customer satisiachon scores of
94% We have also invested in an RMS in
Spain to effectvely counter the competitive
threat from heavity discounted rall services
and are launching an enhanced version in UK
Coach dunng the year ¢Zc has also been
investing in leading-edge customer initiatives
such as improved apps and WiFi provision,
first-to-last staffing at all stabons and the
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Wa have expanded
our oparations in
Morocco with the
{aunch of services
in Khourbga

N

The new Ptatinum
buses launched
dunng the year In
the West Midlands
ofter more leg room
and free WiFi

ground-breaking Autormatic Delay Repay
scheme for season ticket holders This will
prowide compensation for every minute of
dslay beyond two minutes and, as the
Secretary of State for Transport confirmed
last year, has set a new standard for the rail
Industry as a whole 1o follow

But, equally, these new technologes and
approaches are part of our continued
determination to operate as cos! efficiently
as possible Operating efficiently helps us
to maintain our pnces as compettve as we
can We have continued 1o target 1% cost
efficiency savings, with £18 milion delivered
In 2015 Cver the last three years wa have
taken nearty £80 milion out of our cost
base through efficiency sawngs and are
determined to continue to secure

further savings in the future

QOur progress in embedding excellence
across the business has been recognised
by lsading accreditaton bodies c2c has
had its five-star rating under the European
Foundation for Quality Management (EFQM)
re-confirmed, with a higher mark this year
than its last score UK Bus, UK Coach and
ALSA have all achieved four-star ratings in
thair intial assessments and are determined
to emulate c2c’s success Our North
Amencan Division has also secured a Bronze
Award in tts first assessment from the llinois
Performance Excellence Center (ILPEx)
2015 also saw us win a record number

of ndustry awards




As | have already mertioned, safety 1s

my pnonty and our Drmang Cut Harm
programme, infroduced in 2030, continues
to delver progress in this crucial area. We
have achieved a reducteon in our key safety
measure — the PW index Since 201 we
have reduced harm on ttus measure by 56%
across our business 2015's PWlis 12 242,
compared with 12 307 in 2014 and thus
progress comes desprte us camyng more
passangers and running more Services in
2015

It 1s through this approach to operational
excellence, combining service qualty,
customer satisfaction, cost efficiency,
targeted investment and innovation and

a fundamental focus on safety, that we
believe we will deliver our vision of earming
our customers’ ifsbme loyalty As | have
repeatedly satd, passengers are more lkely
to use our services above other choices
because they are receving a good service
at ageod pnce Equally, cantracting
authonties or businesses are less hkely

to retender services and are more

lkely to award us new contracts if

we consistenty deliver excellence

I amn particularly pleased that our reputation
1s helping to retan significant contracts and
services UK Bus has led the industry and
secured a five year ‘Bus Allance’ in the West
Midlands, building on our award-winning
partnership approach ALSA successfully

renewed one and obtained the highest score,
pending award, In the other for the only two
national franchises i our portfolio to come
up for renewal dunng 2015 ALSA also
extanded the Bilbao Urban Transport
contract by two vears | have alrsady
mentioned our INdustry-leading contract
retention rate N North Amencan School Bus,
with a 9% success rate In those contracts
we wanted fo retain

Superior cash and returns
The success of thrs strategy this year 1s also
evident In our strong cash and retums

We have again beaten our target for the vear,
delvenng £111 mulion of free cash flow, £11
milion ahead of our intial proagection Mantaining
a strong and secura cash flow In the coming
years s important for the dividends we pay
shareholders and to fund future growth

Qur net debt has increased by £81 milhorn n
2015 to £746 million, with a gearing ratio of
2 45 tmes EBITDA This increase in net debt
has been dnven by £106 milkon spent on
acquisthons and growth capital expenditure
projects, all of which are acerative within the
first 12 months and will continue to dnve
further profit growth As we made Clear

last year, a penod of debt reduction and a
successful programme to embed a strong
and sustainable cash flow wathin the
business prowvided a firm financial platform,
allowing us to ncrease nvastment to
capitalise on emerging growth cpporturities

Group ROCE has again increasad, up 100
basis ponts to 11 7%, demonstratng that
we continue to deploy capital in a disciplined
manner, targeting enhanced retums Cur
Group operating margin has also increased
agan this year, up 110 basis points to 101%
We continue to target both rmargin and
ROCE improvement in the coming years

As well as funding Investrment and growth,
our strong performance 1s also delivenng
improved returns for shareholders Qur
Group EPS has increased by nearly 24% to
23 4 pence and our strong and sustanable
cash flow means the Board s able to
recommend to shareholders at the Annual
General Meegting a final dividend of 7645
pence per Ordinary share (2014 6 95p)
gmvng a total dvidend for the year of 11 33
pence (2014 10 3p) This represents an
mcrease of 10% over 2014 and reflects our
new policy announced dunng the year of
having two times total Group samings cover

Subject to shareholder approval at the
Annual General Meeting to be held on

11 May 20186, the final dwdend will be
pad on 20 May 2016 to Grdinary
shareholders an the register of members
at the close of business on 29 Apnl 2016

Generating new growth opportunities
Last year we identfied North Amenca as the
pnncipal opportunity for Increasad investment
to deliver strong growth over the medium
term Our experience in the last 12 months -
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Group Chief Executive’s review continued

ncluding an encouragng pricing environment,
with over 5% price INcreases secured on
renewed contracts dunng the year - has
confirmed this wew and wa wall continue to
target North Amenca for further investment

In a highly fragmented market, with over
1,300 pnvate school bus businesses, we
believe there 1s significant scope for the
dentficahon and integration of operations
that are adjacent to our more than 220 sites
across North Amenca In the last 12 months
we have mads bolt-on acquisitions of this
type, deliverng management synergies and
mproved purchasing power, alongsioe
operational improvements Some of these
acquistions have also opened new markets
to us ~ for example shuttie services -
providing credenhals in growing sectors
From the integration of our significart
Petermann acquisition four years ago, to
these recent examples, our managemennt
tearn m North Amenca has unparalleled
expenence and expertise in this area We
also beleve our Transt business provides a
good opportuntty for further growth, bulding
on the 45% increase n annualised revenues
secured this year

BDunng the year we also started new
services In two new markets Our Bahran
bus services bagan in February and our
German rail services n December Both
began successiully and demonstrate that
operational excellence and working in
partnership work intemationally These
contracts are strengthening our intemational
reputation and opening further opportunities
In local markets For example, our new
services in Bahrain are opening other
contract opportunites within the Middle
East where we believe the prevailing fiscal
climate 1s encouraging authonties to
increasingly look at public transport as a
cost effective Investment. Across the region,
we are actively Involved in four bid processes
with annualised revenues of around $220
rmilion We beheve there 1s a good pipeline of

{further opportunittes here and are montanng
potential competiions In six countries in the
Middle East

In German rail we commenced our Rhine-
Munster Express (RME’) services n
December 2015 We are pleased with the
first few months of trading and are targeting
a break-even result a full year ahead of our
onginal plan Projected revenues for the
axssting RME senaces are expected to be
around €72 milion in 2016, with later years
benefitng from the operation of the €1 billon
Rhing-Ruhr Exprass services from 2018,
and subyect to a further legal challenge the
€1 4 bilion Nuremberg S-Bahn contract
This latest appeal by Deutsche Bahn comes
desprte the local authorty believing nt

had successfully demonstrated that the
condrions set in the previous appeal had
been met We will continue to provide any
necessary information: and hope the new
appeal Is concluded quickly so we can
prowde the people of Nuremberg with the
qualty of service they deserve The German
rall market remans very attractive, worth

€6 bilion of revenues per year averall In
2016 we have three active bids, themselves
worth a total of €3 billion in revenue over

the Iives of the contracts

Wa submitted a bid n December 2015 for
the East Angla rail franchise The outcome of
the franchise competrion, which is for up to
ten years, 1s due to be announced 1n July,
with the contract due 1o start in October
2016 Our approach to UK Raill remans
focused on delvenng bids that combine
improved servicas to customers and
competitve pncas to the Government while,
crugially, delivenng an appropnate retumn to
sharsholders Wa will continue to bid
selectvely While we continue to monior the
UK rat market for any opportunities that meset
our stnct cntena, our current focus 1S on
secunng smaller, lower nsk German rail
franchuses whem the nsk 1§ acceptable and
meets our capital-ight investment cntena
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11.33p

proposed total dmwidand

£111.0m

frae cash flow

(_

Qur principal focus
for acquisiions I1s
the North American
School Bus market

We are also currently working on a bid for
Manchester Matrolink, which 1s due to be
submitted in May, with the contract starting
in July 2017

Outloock

Dunng 2016 we expect all dvisions to
contnue performing well, with good profit
and cash performance secured as our
strategy of operatonal excellence delivers
the services our customers want. With
both businesses firmly established, we
axpect our new services in Bahrain and
Germany to support this as well We will
continus to target margin and ROCE
improvement and are again not anticipatng
any exceptional tems dunng the year Our
cash target for the year 1s again £100 milton,
reflecting our determination to mantain a
strong and sustanable free cash flow to
fund targeted investment in further growth
and improving shareholder returns

The pnncipal focus for acquistions will
remain the North Amencan school bus
market, where our ongoing strong
performance and management expertise,
tha encouraging trends in pricing and nature
of the market mean we are well placed to
deliver further growth Investment must
always meet our stnct financial and strategic
ctena and we are already encouraged by
the performance of cur acguistions made
dunng 2015

In Spain, we are still prepanng for the
concession renawal process to begin later
this year However, the detay in forming a new
government coupled with the ongoing legal
challengas in Span may serve to delay
elements of the renewal process further
While we would expect some pressure on
margins at renewal, as 1s normal, any impact
from the larger coneessions would not be felt
until 2017 #f they are indeed re-let this year
We expect the mpact on our Sparsh EBIT
1o be up to €2-3 miflon in 2017 Our
industry-leading team and the ocngoing




refinement of cur competitive strengths such
as our RMS, means we are detarmined to
rgtain our market share and compets
gffectnvaly

We believe there are further growth
opportunities within Morocco, the Middle
East and German rad, and we will remain
actve in all these markets With these
markets well established, the Group s
now considenng entenng other new
markets Our Business Development teamn
conbnues to examine opportunities for
further diversification whers through
targeted bids we can provide the authonies
with a winning combination of high quality
and pnice leadership

In January 2016, the Group entered into
new bank faciities totallng £450 million This
compnsed a £350 millon bndging facity, n
areipaton of the efinancing of the Group’s
aexisting £350 millon bond which matures in
January 2017, and a £100 millon general
corporate purpose facity These new
faciies provide us with flexibilty to the timing
of the bond refinancing {unti January 2019)
and we would anticipate a significant
reduction in cur future interast charge of
around £5 milbon at such tme as we choose
to refinance

We anticipate significant savings of around
£30 milion from lower fuel costs In 2018
compared with 2015, where currently 42%
of the Group’s annual fuel requirement for
that year ts hedged at an average pnce of
31 pence This compares with an average
price of 42 pence in 2016

We will also — of course — target further
Improvements in our safety results and
look to further hamess the opportunity and
efficiency provided by new technology in
detvenng better safety performance and
lower associated costs We beleve thereis
areal opportunity for progress here New
technoiogy will continue to allow us to
develop an Increasingly personalised
relatonship with customers, generating
demand and secunng loyalty But it will not
deflect us from a continued focus on pnce
leadershup — Including rolling out an ever
more sophisticated RMS further — consistent
attention on cost efficiency and mantaining
our reputabon as an excellent operator

Cur uriqusly diversified porticho of
companies has provided both a stability

of earnngs and new sources of growth
inrecent years We will continue to pursue
targeted bolt-on acquisitons and selectve
new bidding opportunities that buld on our
racent successes iIn Bahrain, Germany and
Span We believe that by contnuing o apply
our maodel of operational excellence n these
markets, we will deliver the serwces our
customers value, create new sourcas of
growth and thereby continue to generate
good retums for our shareholders

An integrated approach

Value creation depends on a wide range of tangible and intangible factors Our focused
and Integrated approach 1o sustanable value creation across the short, medium and fong
term delivers benefits for shareholders, employees and the communities in which we
operate

Our vision

Our Vision defines our Group, setting the overall objective, which I1s to earn the ifetime
loyatty of our customers by consistentty delwenng frequent, igh perforring public
transport services which offer excellsnt value
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Our business model and markets
The Group's markets are shaped by matenal trends in macro-econcmiIC, SOCK-8CONOITIC,

regulatory, competitton, human caprtal and a changing technology landscaps, these g o
trends present both nsks to value creation and significant opportunities and possibilities for 2 a
organisatonal nnovation and new competitive advantage Our business model 1s agile and 28
rasponsive, operating in the context of our marksts, leveraging our operational expernence 3 4
and know-how to prowide best In class transport seraces which, in tum, creates long-term e ]
sustanable value
=> Read more p14
Our strategy
Through our strategies of delivering operational excellence, generating supenor cash
returns and creating new business apportunhies we arg able to deliver strong,
sustainable results and improve shareholder retums .
H4m
Delivering operaticnal excellence ﬁ§
=
0
Generating superior cash and returns %,5_
o

Creating new business opportunities

=> Read more p16

Key performance indicators

We employ a range of both financial and non-financtal Key performance indicators
(‘KP1s"), which are used to measurs the progress of cur business as a whole and our
strategic direction in particular

=>» Read more p26

Resources and relationships

We recognise that we cannct run our business in 1solation, our business model and
strategy are dependent upon a range of factors which ars cntical to valus creation and
long-term success

~» Read more p18

Risk management

The Group has a well established governance structure with internal control and nsk
management systems The nsk management process provides a framework to identify,
assess and managa nsks 10 the Group’s overall strategy and the contnbution of ts divisions

=» Read more p28

Governance

Governance provides a framework within which the Board sets its values and delvers
long-term success for the Company and its investors, whilst recogrising its duties
towards the wader stakeholder commurity

=> Read more p50
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Our business model and strategy

Delivering long-term shareholder value
with the right business model and strategy

14

At National Express we believe our busingss model should start with our custormers By serving our
customers with operational excellence, we are able 1o create profit and cash, thereby generating
shareholder value The cash we generate 1s used to fund investment in the business, which drives
further growth enabling us to better serve our customers Allied to this, our core values of
excellence, safety, customers, people and community inform us as to how we should operate

National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015




1 Woe serve our customers

The customer I at the heart of what we do at National Express,
whether they be fare-paying passengers, government and local
authonties, or the wider community; and our mission Is to
relentiessly meet thair expectations Our Vision 1$ to sam the Ifstme
loyalty of our customers by congsistently delvenng frequent, high
performing public transport services which offer excellent value

Transporting 867 million passengers a year

By understanding and meeting the needs of our customers in
our local markets, we stnive to deliver high levels of customer
satisfaction and encourage more passengers to use our services
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2 With operational excellence

To create profit and cash,

3 generating shareholder value

Not only do our custormers require high performing transport
services, but they also need high levels of safety At Natonal
Express, safety 1s our highest prionty in whatever we do across
the business and i1s a key tenet of our core values High safety
standards also help to drive sustainable growth for the Group
through bulding customer loyalty and winmng new business in
our exisling markets and opening up new markets such as the
German rail market and the urban bus market In Bahran The
quality of our people, our employees, 1s integral to the provision
of high safety standards with continual training and focus on
safety standards at the core of our operations

Profit and cash

Ultirnately detivering operational excellence through excellert
customer service drives revenue and profit growth across the
Group and generates cash which can then be re-invested back
into each of our businesses to dnve further mprovements for our
customers and also fund new business opportunities, dnving
higher returns for our shareholders

Shareholder value

Through our robust and sustainable business modes! we aim to
deliver shareholder value through higher returns with growth in
dvidends supported by growth in earmings and strong cash flows

4 Funding investment

4 Driving growth

Our strong cash flow generation enables us to fund continual
investment across the business with the provision of new fleet,
technologies and services, drving tmprovaments for our
customers and encouraging further growth in passenger demand

Wa also use our strong cash generation to nvast N néew business
opportunities which drives further growth In our core markets as
well as developing our posttion in new markets, such as Germany
and the Middle East

Our strategy

Our Vision

Qur Vision 1s to eam the lifatime loyalty of our customers
by consistently delivering frequent, high performing pubhc
fransport services which offer excellent value

Our Values
Qur five values continue to underpin the Vision and help
us to pnontise what we focus on

Community People
Safety Excellence
Customers

=» Read more p18

Our three strategic prionities

Our focus on operational excellence allows us to deliver long-
term sustainable growth, through the generation of strong
and sustainable cash flows and returns, enabling us to create
new business opportunities m both our core dvisions and In
new markets

Delivering operational excellence
by driving revenue growth and margin progression

Generating superior cash and returnsg
A strong cash flow and improving return on capital
will drive better returns for our shareholders

Creating new opportunities
through our unigue portfolio of international bus,
coach and ral businesses

~» Read more p16
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Our strategy at a glance

Delivering on our strategy with
a strong track record on improving returns

Our strategy Performance Future outlook
» Excellent year n our c2¢ franchise, with * Continung programme of fleet upgrades

revenue growth of 8 5% and record in UK Bus to further improve tha quality
passenger numbers, named as of cur services

Dehverlng Passenger Operator of the Year * ALSA further mplementation of revenue

. » A racord year for passenger numbers management

operational I ALSA. vt e Speush e « Targeting frther pessenger growth
managemaent system an er In UK Coach through our digrtal and

exce"ence significant growth in Morocco, whers g o

Drving revenue growth and margin
pregrassion in our core divisions by
delwering excellent customer service

passenger volumes grew by 15%

92% customar satisfaction in North
Armerica with a 99% retention rate in
School Bus

UK Coach’s further development of
customer relationship management
{'CRM") and revenus management,
coupled with new strategic partnerships
drove an increase of 130 basis points in
cperating margin, whilst our focus on
safety was rewarded with the award of
the British Safety Council Sword of
Honour

UK Bus achieved an EFQM* four-star
rating at its first attempt and its highast
aver Transport Focus passenger
customer satsfaction scores

revenue management inihiatives

* North Amenca leveraging customer
reputation to win new business

* _evaraging rad credentials in c2¢ in the
UK and RME in Germany to win further
franchises

* Continue to draw on our internationat
reputation for excellence to expand in
new markets, with an active pipehne of
bids within Europe and the Middle East

Generating superior
cash and returns

A strong cash fiow and improving return
on the capital we nvest will drive better
returns for our shareholders

* Operating cash fliow of £165 milion

* Free cash flow of £111 milion,
£11 milion ahead of target

* Group ratum on capital Improved
by 100 basis points to 11 7%

* Targeting £100 mulion free cash flow pa
* Freg cash to be deployed In investing
in growth cppertunities in existing and
naw markets

« | everaging our expertise to take
advantage of capital-ight opportunities

Creating new
opportunities

Cur unique portfolio of internaticnal bus,

coach and rall businesses gives National
Express a significant opportunity to grow
in selected new markets

* Successful mobilisation and
commencement of first two rail
contracts In Germany

* Won two further German raill contracts
and preferrad bidder tor Nuremberg
S-Bahn

» Commenced operations for urban bus
service In Bahrain

* Fiva boft-on acquisitions in North America

* Built around $110 milion of annual
revenues in US Transit

¢ Further bid wins in UK and German rail
- shortlisted for East Anglia in the UK

* Further id wins in bus In the Middle East
* New opportuniias in Morocco

* Further selective bolt-on acquisitions
in North Amenca

European Foundaton for Quality Managemant — recognises operanonal excalance and awards ratings to businesses based on & number of ctena including quality of lsadership
and strategic direcbon together with developrment and mprovemnent of people partnerships and processes n order 1o dekver value-adding products and serices to ther customens
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Measuring our progress

There are a number of KPIs which help
us manage parts of the business

Read more p26

Key risks to manage

9
AT
2z
Om
30
o

Metric: Revenue growth (%)

KPI definition
Revenue growth year on year on
aconstant currency basis

Comment

Conbnuing to sea revenue growthon a
constant currency basis In all dwsions,
with a particularly strong performance
in c2¢

* Delivery of service standards
* Managing disruption {0 services
* Concession and contract renewal

= Managing stakeholder relationships
&g to mprove transport infrastructure

Read more p30

Metric: Margin (%)

KPI definition
Operating margin is tha ratio of
nomaltsed operating profit to revenue

Comment
Margin gains across each of
the businesses

* Control of cost base

* Managing margin risk with renewal
of concessions and contracts

Read more p30

Metnc: Operating cash conversion (%)

KPI definition

Operating cash conversion 1s the ratio
of operating cash flow to normalised
operating profit

Comment

Ceontinuing strong free cash flow
generation driven by strong operating
performances m our UK Bus and
Coach businesses and an improved
working capital performance in our
Spanish business

* Mantaning cash discipline through
penods of profit growth and expansion

» Mantaning disciplined approach t¢
capital expenditure

* Management of working caprtal
=» Read more p30

Metric: Contract wins by value {Em)

KPI defimition
Value of contracts won

Comment

Cortract wins across all divisions
including new contract wins in German
rail, the award of the Imserso contract
for pensioner travel In Spain and further
new contract wins n US Transrt

* Winning new business on attractive
economic terms

* Buillding sufficient scale in new markets

* Managing operational and safety nsk in
satting up In new markets

* Appropnatsly skilled management team

to develop and deliver new opportunities

-> Read more p30
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Managing our resources and relationships

Living our Values —
the foundation of our business

Qur Vision and Values remain the foundation of our business
Five years after their launch they are more relevant than ever
to how we operate as a business

Excellence
Woe constantly strive to be excellent in all that we do

Safety
Wa only do what is safe and stop any unsafe behawiour

Customers
We place them at the heart of our business and relentlassly
meet therr expactations

People
We develop the talents, reward the exceptional performance and
respect the nghts of all our employees

Community
We are active In the communities we serve to generate aconomic,
social and environmental value

Safety performance - Fatalities and Weighted Injurtes index

— Group = UK Coach — North Amenca
— UK Bus — Spain & Morocco — UK Rall
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Dunng 2015, Dean Finch, cur Group Chief
Executive, set out a 2020 Vision to ‘Drnive
Best Valug' and position us internationally
as a widsly recognised market leader
Making further progress on our Vision and
Values was at the heart of the strategy to
achigve this ambrtion

Our experience In recent years has only
strangthened our belisf that customers
increasingly want quality services at value
pnces Delivenng on our Vision and Values
remains the best way to help us achieve this

Excellence

Excellence was added as a new Value

in 2014 and dunng 2015 we mads
significant progress in embedding the
approach across the business and secured
external accreditations to demonstrate this
Embedding excellence to us means
focusing on delivenng the services
customers expact - froquent, punctual,
taking them where they want to go—in an
efficient manner so we can provids tham
at good value

Woe are therefore very pleased that all
divisions have now achieved an excellence
accreditabon Dunng the year c2c had its
Five-star EFQM rating re-confirmed,
securing a higher mark in this assessmeant
than its last UK Bus, UK Coach and ALSA
have all actueved four-star EFQM ratings in
tharr first assessments and are determined
to emulate c2¢’s sUCCEss as 5con as
possible North Amenca also secured a
Bronze Award in ther first assessment by
the lllinois Performance Excellence Centar

We have alsc had a record year for external
awards, including ¢2¢ being named
Passenger Operator of the Year at the
National Rail Awards and others outlined
below A full st iIs avalable on cur website

Safety

Safety 1s our highest pnonty as a

business Overall responsibility for safety
sits with Dean Finch, Group Chief Executive
and our Divisional Managing Directors who
set out annual plans and pnorities for
improved performance




Safety 1s the first agenda item on the weekly
'CEQ call’ with Managing Drrectors, at
each Divisional Board and Group Executive
mesting and at the PLC Board Asa
measurg of the senousness with which the
1ssue 1$ taken, the executive members of
each of our Dimsional Boards and Group
Executive conducted a combined 653
Safety Tours dunng 2015 We will publish
this figure annually as a demonstration of
our commitment

Arthur D Littte continues to act as our
external safety acviser It has confirmed
that in the five years since we introduced
Dnving Out Harm, the total responsible
harm caused by National Express Group
has reduced by 56% The pregress on this
measure — our key safety indicator, FWl —is
demonstrated on the facing page, with

a Group FWI of 12 242 1n 2015, compared
with 12 307 in 2014 This progress comes
dasprte us carmying more passengers and
runring rmore sarvicas in 2015, as this data
15 not normalised There 1S also further
safety data avarlable on our website

We have also been using new technology to
Improve our safety performance inval pilots of
‘DnveCam’ in UK Coach and North Amerca
School Bus have been very positive, prowiding
detaled performance reperts for each drver
allowng tailored trainving prograrmmss to
improve dnving and safety performance This
technology will now be rolled out more widety
In UK Coach and North Amenca and also to
UK Bus and ALSA

We have also been very pleased with

our safety awards dunng 2015 Two

highhghts in particular were UK Coach

being awarded the prestigious Bntish

Safety Council Sword of Honour and J

our North Amernica School Bus division The c2¢ team

beng upgraded to the highest possible celebrates being
rating by the Federal Motor Carner Safety chosen as Passenger
Adminustration, part of the US Qperator of the Year
Department of Transportation at the National

Rail Awards

Safety in North America School Bus

Arthur D Littte has been engaged as an independent safety
consultant at National Express since 2010, and worked
alongside National Express to creats and launch the Driving
QOut Harm safety programme Since the programme was
developed we have conducted five annual assessrments of
each of the dwsions’ safety progress and performance, with
additional specific reviews of safety as required, typicalty
following a serious incident and to assist with safe mobilisation
of new businesses Ultimately we report to the PLC Board and
make recommendations for improvements Through our work
we have visited a wide range of operational locations in all
businesses (US, Canada, Bahrain, Germany, the UK,
Morocco and Spain) From our expenence of a wide vanety

of client organisations we consider Driving Qut Harm to be

an exemplar safety programme with very strong leadership
trom the Chief Executive down, and highly effective safety
governance from the Executive and PLC Board

QOur 2015 safety review activity in North Amenca has revealed
a number of specific areas of further progress in safety

= A significant reduction in employee lost tirne iInjunes over 2014

= Upgrading and strengthenming of operational leadership roles
{eg in Philadslphia and Shelby County)

* Strengthening of the central safety team, with appointment
of new Senior Vice President Safety who 1s providing strong
leadership and bringing insights from the high standards in
the petro-chemicals sector

* An upgrading of the safety performanca rating to the highest
possible level by the relevant nationat body - the Federal
Motor Carner Safety Adrmiristration, part of the US
Departrment of Transportation

* Further upgrades and improvemants to the content of driver
training matenal (ncluding peer review by UK head of training}

= Further development of the gualty and consistency of driver
traming such as through launch of faciitabon guides, and
reviews of training delvery by senior safety roles

= Standards of vehicle mantenance have improved, shown by
the results of external audits which concluded a measurable
mprovernent in rasults of inspections and improvements in
preventative mantenance

* Participation with other dimsions of National Express In
the development and launch of the "World Class Dnving’
programme, which sets out a five-year plan tor improving all
aspects of safe dnving including people and technology

» In Shelby County, construction and opening of a new
training centre and significant strengthening of dnver
recruitment

* Development and launch of a programme to reduce the nsk
of worker occupational inunes

Qverall, we conclude that the approach to safety in North
Amenca IS very strong - as it 1s across the Group - and that
there has been tangible further progress in the managemant
of safety in 2015

Marcus Beard
Associate Director, Arthur D Little
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Managing our resources and relationships continued

>

Dunng the year, we secured a
five-year Bus Allance in the
West Midlands

Customers

As we have already mada clear, our Vision
and Values are focused on providing for
our customers Cur Vision is to earn therr
Iifetime loyalty For our existing customers
this means consistently delivenng the
services that they want at competrive
pnces they can afford For new customers
1t means demonstrating to them that we will
provide to them the service they wantina
convenient way white offenng good value
for moneay

Woe carried more passengers in 2015 than
In 2014, with both ALSA and ¢2¢ carrying
record passenger numbers in the year,
UK Coach also camed record passenger
numbers dunng important holiday periods

We measurs ourselves against ndependent
customer salisfaction ratings and are
dehghted that they again dernonstrate we
are often market-leading

¢ UK Coach 1s for the third year running the
most trusted ground transportation brand
in the UK Institute of Customer Service’s
annual survey

* UK Bus has secured its highest ever
customer satisfaction scores in the
Transport Focus survay

= c2c agan has the hughest customer
satisfaction scores for reliability and
punctuality n London and South East
franchises in the most recent National
Rall Passenger Survey

* 92% of our North Amencan School Bus
business customers say they would
recommend us on the basis of our
service, safety and value

+ Al SA has achueved its bast score
In five years in the annual Independent
Customer Service Index survey
conducted by GFK

To continue to deliver though we must
continue to Invest and innovate For
example, under a new Group Digital Officer,
all divisions are setting out how they can
make further, significant progress in the
coming years in this important area

New digital technologies and approaches
provide an cpportunity to truly brning the
customer into tha heart of our business
and help create personalised and talored
relationships as well as drnive innovation

We bslieve we have a proud racord to
butld on ¢2c, for example, has been
nvesting in Isading-edge customer
inatives such as improved apps and WiFi
provision, first-to-last staffing at all stations

20

and the ground-breaking Automatc Delay
Repay scheme for season ticket holders
This will provide compensation tor every
minuts of delay beyond two minutes and,
as the Secretary of State for Transport
confirmed last year, has set a new standard
for the rall iIndustry as a whole to follow

Uthmately we believe this reputation 1s helping
us to retan significant contracts and services
UK Bus has led the ndustry and secured a
five-year ‘Bus Allance’ in the West Midiands,
building on our award-winning partnership
approach Of the two national franchises to
come up for renewal dunng 2015, ALSA has
successhully renewed one and has obtaned
the highest score, pending award, In the
other Our contract retention rate in North
Amencan School Bus 1s industry-leading,
with 2 39% success rate in those contracts
we wanted to retan

People

Each division continues to conduct

an annual employee survey, except

in ALSA where they hold one every

two years These surveys are run by
independent companies VaLUENTIS in
the UK, TNS Employee Insights in North
Amenca, and ALCOR in ALSA The

table on the nght demonstrates the
employes engagement score from our
surveys over the last three years The data
demonstrataes our consistently igh results
across all divisions In 2015 specifically, all
dmsions that conducted a survey reported
an increased result, except UK Rall The
Corporate centre broke its own record

for the highest score in the VaLUENTIS
database

Our survays also ask employees whether
they would “recommend Nabtonal Express
as a good place to work™ and whether
“safety 1S taken senously in my business”

National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

The data again demenstrates the
congistently high score we achigve
and the progress made

Qur 2020 Vision sets out a radical and
significant commitment to nvest in our staff
The ambition 18 that workang for National
Express 1$ a badge of prde and a mark

of industry leadership This 1s why we are
roling out our Master Driver programme

s0 widely and aim that all engineers are
‘Master Technicians' by 2020 The

Employee, senior management
and Diraector numbers by gender
at end 2015

Male Female
Diractors 9 2
Senior managers 58 19
All employees 25,170 18,933

Employee engagement score*
213 2014 2015

* Maxirum score ts 1,000 Spain conducts emplayea
sabslaction surveys i-annually and 50 15 excluded




feadback from the staff who have been
through the Master Dnver programme
s0 far has been very posiive

As well as this Investment in our staff we are
delightsd that our innovative ‘Health Bus’,
which provides mechcal adwice and
traatment on board to cur UK Bus staff, has
been recogrused in several industry and HR
awards We have also recently launched the
‘National Exprass Network’ of cur
graduates across the business so they can
meet, work on joint projects and also move
between divisions to gan broad

expenence We have also mantaned our
commitment to apprentceships, with 111

in the Group In 2015

Wa were also very proud to become the
first private transport group to commuit to
becoming a voluntary Living Wage
employer After announcing our
commitment that all dvsions would secure
Living Wage Foundation accredrtation by
the end of 2017, UK Bus became the first in
January 2016 We have also committed
that across the Group, in any country we
oparate in, wa will always pay at least 10%
above the national minimum wage

These survay results, the commitment to
invest In our staff and the innovations we
are bringing to this area demonstrate the
sencusness with which we take our People
Value to ‘develop the talents, reward the
excaptonal performance and respect the
nghts’ of our employees

We hava a number of policies In place

to protect the rights of our employees

All of these, Including our workplace

and human nghts policies, are published
on our website We investigate and take
appropnate action to deal with any alleged
breaches of thesae policies Whergver our
employees choose to be represented by
urigng, we actively sesk to maintan
relationships based on mutual respect
and transparency

Employee engagement survey questions

| would recommend my company as a good place to work

2013 2014 2015

Safety is taken seriously in my business

2003 2014 2018

Community

As a major transport company, we play a
vital role in the daily Irfe of the communities
in which we operate So we recognise the
importance of being a good neighbour N
evarything we do We also have a duty te
protect the wider ervironment around us

We have strong links with local stakeholders
and maintan a regular dialogue on business
1ssues of mutual concern For example,
where changes are planned to routes we
engage with local poliical and community

representatives 1o builld understanding of
our positien  In addition, annual stakeholder
surveys are conducted to measure local
opirron and capture concemns

During the year, UK Bus increased its
neighbourhood engagement with the
appointment of community champions in
each garage and the selection of a local
chanty to support The employees in sach
garage were asked to choose a charity
which was relevant 1o them and would
becoms the beneficiary of fundraising
events Although they were launched
rmidway through the year, the partnerships
have already raised over £13,500 for
community groups

Through rts Youth Promuse, UK Coach has
continued to work with The Prince’s Trust
providing transport for the Palace to Palace
chanty cycle nde and offening mentonng and
work-expenence opportunmes to young
people UK Coach also offerad similar work
placements and traning to young people =»

«

Wa ware proud to become the first
private transport group to commit
to pay the Living Wage

www naticnalaxpressgroup com 21
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Managing our resources and relationships continued

from Whizz-Kidz Through our partnership
with Whizz-Kidz we also became patron of
its Accessible Travel Aliance UK Coach
has also set up a network of community
ambassadors in each coach station, to
driva local actvity in future

The Natonal Express Foundation, in its
fourth year, has continued to support young
peopte through educaticnal bursaries and
grants to community groups Since its
launch in 2012, more than 8,000 young
people have benefited from neary
£400,000 of grants from the Foundation
In 2016, the amount National Exprass
Group contnbutes to the Foundation has
ingreased by 50% to £150,000 a year In
the USA, the National Express Giving
Foundation awarded US$115,000

to students, community groups and
employees in need

The Employee Charity Panel, which
supports UK employess who carry out
fundraising or volunteer for community
groups made 53 awards dunng the year

In North Amanca, we have continued to
provide our buses to support the Special
Qlympics and vanous Stuff the Bus and
Toys for Tots collection events We have
also continued our programme of donating
surplus buses 1o community orgarmsations
Across the Group, we made charitable
donations totaling £530,431 (2014
£582,012)

Managing our environmental
impacts

Under our Community value, and as part
of the Group's clmate change strategy
for 2020, we are committed to working
in partnership with our stakeholders to
mitigate the iImpacts of cimate change

As a public tfransport company, we arg
constantly stnving to reduce our emissions
through the use of Innovative tuel efficiency
technolegies, carbon reduction programmes
{inked to energy and water usa In bulldings)
and the broader supply chain to address our
static emissions

In 2015, we dalivered a strong snvironmental
performance that witnessed significant
improvements and achievements in the
areas of voluntary carbon reporting, cimate
changs leadership, and ernaronmental
excellence

We made significant progress towards
achieving our snvironmental performance
targets to reduce fusl/traction energy,
site-based energy, waste, water and tolal
carbon emigsions per milion passenger
kilometres ('pass/km’} from our business
activities

¢ |n 2014-15 our fuel and traction energy
consumption saw a reduction from
8 B0% to 2 55% against the 2013
basetne This has been dnven by the
INcrease in passenger numbers in ALSA's
Moroccan market

Driving excellence in environmental performance — KP| targets 2014-2017

* The Group's site energy has increased by
7 49% against the 2013 baselne and
2 46% year on year as a result of
business expansicn in Morocco, North
America and Bahrain Accuracy of
reporting from 2014 has also contnbuted
to this increase

* An increased volume of waste to landiill
has caused carbon emission 10 Increase
by 5 43%, however, against the 2013
basebne we have achieved a 177%
reduction UK Rall saw waste recycling
levels reach 96%, an increase of 1% on
the previous year, despite a nsa In total
waste, surpassing the 90% franchise
agreement target

The reduction In water consumption
was due to improved data collechon
and accuracy of results

Total carbon emissions per passenger
kilometre reduced by 7 27% in 2015,

and 179% against the 2013 baseline

The significant nse to passenger numbers
N Morocco 1s of particular note As the
business grows, this metnc 1s likely to see
year-on-year fluctuahons within a
longer-term trend for improved efficiancy

% change

2013 % change against 2013
KPIs Matnc ({baseline) 2014 2015 201415 ({baselina}
Fuel/Traction enargy”
3% reduction In energy use MwWh/million
(fuel and electncity) passenger km 7764 B297 75 67 (8 80)% (2 55)%
Site energy
20% reduction in consumption tCOe 40,049 42,016 43,050 2 46% 749%
Waste
80% reduction in non-hazardous
waste to langfill maetric tonnes 5750 5,357 5,648 5 43% (177)%
Water
10% reducton in consumption m? n/a 1,008,363 §78,922 (292% -
Total carbon emissions tCOe
4% reducton in carbon emissions per milien
per pass/km pass/km 2295 24 24 2247 {727)% (1 79)%

* 2013 figure based on passenger kiometre data which includes UK Coach data which is not calcutated on the same basis in 2013 as for 2014 and 2015
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Her Majesty The Queen opens
the extansion to the Midland

Metro tram
Carbon emissions Carbon emissions by division
Each of the dmisions wathin the Group has 2013 2018 2015 % change
shown a year-on-year reduction in carbon National Express diislons (tCO,0) {#CO,0f {HCO,0 {2014/15)
emuissions with the exception of ALSA 55
In ALSA's case carbon emissions have Spain & Morocco 303,351 296,214 311,985 532% 38
Increased due to a substantial business UK Bus 143,485 142,312 138,822 -2 A5%, =¥ |
growth in Morocco Investment in new 52
fleet, driver traming and momitoring, and UK Coach 107173 104,381 99,714 -4 47% or
Investment in site-based energy efficiency UK Rail 42,816 44,724 43,408 -2 94%
intiatives have supported this reduction
2015 also saw operations start in Bahrain North Amenca 237,314 236,979 232,577 -1 86%
with emissions reported for the frst ime Bahrain - - 12,862 -
As a Group we have focused on Improving Leased vehicles &
data collection and reporting to improve business travel 611 4141 642 45 58%
accuracy The banefts of this approach can  Group total 834,750 825,051 840,010 181%
be seen in ‘Leased vehicles & business
travel' which saw a 45% increase in carbon
emission on the previous year
2015 saw a 1 8% Increase n total CO, National Express greenhouse gas emissions 2013 v 2014 v 2015 by division
emission for the Group from 825,000 {all scopes) 2013 2014 2015

tonnes CO,e in 2014 to 840,010 tonnes
CO,ein 2015 The increase In emission was
dnven by new business opportunities in
Bahrain and organic business growth

1n ALSA's Morocecan market which saw

a 2% growth in total passenger numbers
and a significant Increase In passanger
kilometres to 37 billon in 2015 This growth
N passenger numbers has been achieved
with only a 1 8% increase in total Group
carbon emissions, due to Investment in
new fleet, dnver franing and on-site
energy saving ntiatves  —»
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Managing our resources and relationships continued

National Express carbon disclosure performance (CDP score)

Voluntary reporting to the

Carbon Disclosure Project

In 2015 we receaved an increase in the
Carbon Disclosure Project ({CDP'} score,
an annual carbon performance reporting
programme, which supplies data to
investors, data and index providers, banks
and brokers for a growing range of uses

The Group was awarded a disclosure
performance score of 95 — a ten point
Increase in companson with the 2014 results

In 2015, the climate change performance
methodology was revised to put more
emphasis on action in terms of sclence-
based targeting This 1s a change which
the Group has endorsed as a key pnonty

This improvement in our score reflects the
work we have done dunng the year We
continue to measure, venfy and manage

our carbon footpnnt, through the seting

and meeting of carbon reduction targets

and implementing programmes to reduce
emissions in both our drect operations and
through our supply chain The CDP score
provides the evidence that our climate changs

strategy 1s delivenng tangible results, making
the Group more efficient and sustainable

Woe are committed to providing
comprehensive tnformation about

our cimate change strategy and nsk
management processes and outcomes

To complement the summary provided in
this report we provide more comprehensive
information on our Group website at

www nationalexpressgroup com/enaronment

Chmate change reporting
and science-based targets

Commit to report chimate change
information in mainstream reports as
a fiduciary duty

In 2015 we took some addition steps

In demonstrating climate change

best practice

QCur tirst commitment 1$ to continue to
work towards the production and use of
chmate change-related information in cur

>

Six veteran

Gurkha soldiers

now employed by
MNational Express, are
leading our campaign
1o recruit morg
ex-sarvice personnel

Annual Report, as set out In the
Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Directors’
Reports) Regulations 2013 Endorsing
this Iniiative sends a clear signal to
pohcymakars that we are committed
to addressing economic risks and
s812ing opportunities associated

with climate change

Commit to adopt a science-based
emissions reduction target

The second commitment was to raising
our ambitions around target-setting

with the adoption of science-based
targets This new approachis a
significant change for the Group as it
establishes a long-term trajectory for
carbon emissions reductions up until
2050 Thus still provide flexibility to review
and compare our short-term KPI targets
This science-based approach will help us
to drive more efficiency and resilience as
resources become increasingly mere
expensive, particularly those denved
from fossil fuels

Greenhouse gas emissions reporting for 2015 (tCO_e)

National Express Group total emissions

2013 v 2014 v 2015 (tCO,¢)

UK Coach 12%
UK Bus 18%
UK Rai 5%
Leased vehiclas & 0%
business wavel (UK)

Span & Morocco 37%
North Amenca 28%
Bahran 2%
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Driving sxcellence

One of our key goals in achieving
excellence In our environmeantal
performance 1s to ensure appropnate
external standards are achisved

and mantained

In 2015, we were able to extend our
existing 1SO/BS energy, environmental

and sustanable procurement standard
accreditation across the Group Significant
progress was made n our Spanish division,
maintaining both the ISO 14001 2004 and
50001 2011 managerment standards, whilst
our UK rall dmision successfully adopted
the BS 8903 Sustainable Procuremant
standard - the first in the Group

Improved performance reporting
Monthly reporting 1s a key monitonng tool
identifying aspects of our operattons where
we can reduce our impacts — direct and
indirect — on climate change and accelerate
our energy and carbon savings In 2015 all
dwvisions adopted a single web-based
sustainability reporting system for the
Company's greenhouse gas (‘GHG')
emissions reporting This has improved

the consistency of how we collect our

data, and simplrfies the process of
independent validation

Pioneering floet technologies

The year saw further investment in

new fleet, such as Eurg 6 buses, and
improvements to driver traming and
analysis Wa have faciitated the evaluation
and shaning of pioneerng technology
across our divisions to Improve sustanable
performance and the fuel efficiency of our
fleet We continue to examne innovative
low carbon solutions, such as hydrogen
fuel cell and lquid ar technology, and are
retro-fithing older vehicles with ‘traps’ to
reduce local arr poliution Looking ahead
we will be adding buses to the fleet which
use a smart slsctnc system

Reducing water consumption

Durning 2015 our water consumption
reduced by 2 92% In 2016 we will
voluntarly disclose our water impacts
through the Water Disclosure Framework
This will take account of all our operational
sites and those of our suppliers, to help us
better manage our consumption

Gold in Carbon Saver Standard

In 2015 a clear demonstration of our
continued commuitment in driving
sustamnability and cutting our energy costs,
with proven carbon emissions reduction
measures over the last four years, saw our
UK divisions achieving re-certification to
the Carbon Saver Standard, agan
retaining the top Gold Standard status

National Express Group 2015 - GHG
emissions reporting
National Express has reported on all of
the emission sources required under the
Companies Act 2006 {Strategic Report and
Drectors’ Reperts) Regulabons 2013 These
sources fall within our Consolidated Financial
Statement We do not have responsibiity for
any emission sources that are not included
In our consolidated staternent

Methodology

The methad we have used to calculate GHG
emissions 1s the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard {revised
edition), together with the latest emission
factors from recogrised public scurces
including, but not imred to, Defra, the
Intemational Energy Agency, the US

Energy Information Administrabon, the US
Environmental Protection Agency and the
Intergovemmental Panel on Climate Change

We have used a matenahty threshold of
5% and have accounted for all matenal
sources of GHG emissions

We are committed to ensunng that our
GHG accounting system, results and
accompanying reports remain robust,
continue to enhance our Group-level
emission performance year on year and are
In comphance with the mandatory
requirement of the Carbon Reporting
Framework (the Greenhouse Gas Emissions
{Drrectors’ Reports) Regulations 2013) -

a business requirement for GHG emissions
to be included in the annual report

Global GHG emissions data for calendar year 2015 2015 2014

Tonnes Tennes

Ermissions from ofCOe of GO

Combustion of fugl and operation of faciites

(GHG Protocol Scope 1) 765,434 750,623
Electricity, heat, steam and cooling purchased for

own use {(GHG Protocol Scope 2) 66,317 66,677

Other upstream emissions (GHG Protocol Scope 3) 8,257 7,853

Total 840,010" 825,053

% change

(2014/15

for KPIs

Intensity maetncs 2015 2014 2013 from 2014)

(Tonnes CO_e/Emillion revenue) 424 442 441 -398

Group totals {million pass/km}) 37, 380 35,459 36,379 980

Total tCO,e per million pass/km 22 47 2327 2295 727%

* Small vanabie in the figure as a resut of rounding
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Key performance indicators

Measuring our performance

across the Group

Qperating profit*
2015: £193.5m

em

Free cash flow*
2015: £111.0m

£m

Return on capital employed*
2015: 11.7%

%

KPI] definition

Group normalised operating profrt

Free cash flow 1s the cash flow equivalent
of normalised profit after tax

Return on capital employed {ROCE’)
15 normalised operating profit, dwvided
by tangible and intangible assets

2015 performance

* Further progress in Group operating profit,
driven by strong performances n our
UK Bus and Coach operations

* Growth in operating profit in every dmsion

* Operating profit margin increased by
110 basis points to 101%

* Generatad £111 milion of frge cash,
£11 milhon ahead of target

+ Operating cash flow conversion rate
of B5%, after significant increase in
maintenance captal expenditure

¢ Targeting free cash flow of £100 millon per

annum after returning to more typical levels
of maintenance capital expenditure

* Strong performances In our UK Coach
and ALSA operations drving higher
returns for the Group

* |nvested £112 million of net maintenance
capital, pradominantly in growing our
fleet in our existing operations

¢ Invested £36 milicn in growth capital
expenditure to support growth in Morocco,
Rail and revenue management systems
in our UK and Spanish Coach operations

Why we measure

We ars focused on drnving growth in
operating profit In order to drive twgher
and sustainable returns for our nvestors

A key part of the Group's strategy 15 to
maximise the cash generation across all our
operating dwvisions  Wa view cash generation
as a key driver for creating shareholder value

Qur core bus and coach operations are
strong cash generators, complemented by
our capital-ight model for rail
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Wa are focused on improving return on the
capital we invest, m order to drive better
retums for investors

Wa maintan a disciplined approach to
capital Investment, and continue to Invest
in those areas for which we can delver
the best returns
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Safety - Fatalities and
Weighted Injuries (FWI)
2015: 12.242

Passenger journeys
2015: 867m

m

Employee engagement score*
203 2014 2015

* Maximum score s 1000 Spain conducts employee
satistaction surveys bi-annuaty and so 15 eciuded

KPI1 definition

Safety incidents for which the Group

1s responsible 1s based on the Fatalties
and Weighted Injunes index used in the
UK raif industry

Passenger numbers as measured by the
aggregate of passenger journeys across
our five operating divisions

Qur numbers for North Amenca are
estimated as our School Bus services
are non-ticketed

QOur employee satisfaction survey is
conductad by ValLUUENTIS, a company which
s widely used as an employee survay provider
v the UK transport industry The survey
delivers an employee engagement scors for
aach ndrvdual drasion, with our score for
North America being partally estimated from
data prowvided by TNS, which conducts the
amployeeé survays in North Amerca

2015 performance

¢ Further reduction in FWI1 over the past
12 months reflecting ongoing success
of Dmviing Qut Harm safety programime
with bigimprovemnents in UK Bus
and Morocco

* 56% snprovement In the safety

performance since introduction
of Drving Out Harm in 2011

* Furthar growth 1n passenger numbers driven
by continued investment in flest, mproverment
nsenices and attractve fares

* Strong performance In ¢2¢ with passenger
growth up over 5%

* First full year of operations in Tangters,
and services commenced i a fourth
city in Morocco

* 6 4 mifion passengers in our first year
in Bahrain

s Our corporate functions have registered
the highest official engagement score In
the VaLUENTIS database at 806 versus
the Industry norm of 671

e Our UK Coach dmsion has the highast
score for all UK bus/coach operators

* ¢2¢ has the second highest score for all
train operating comparees in the UK

Why we measure

Safsty 1s at the heart of our Vision and
Values and Is our pnonty for hoth our
customers and employees

High safety standards also help to drive
sustamable growth through customer
loyalty and new business wins

* Histoncal results restated to adust for the impact of Rall and Middia East bid costs previously treated as exceptional costs

Passenger joumeys are reflective of
undertying demand for travel National
Express s targeting mcreased passenger
ndershep as a longer-term dniver of
sustamable value

“* 2014 FW1 data edusted to reflect a lower number of responsible accidents than premously recorded

Wa run employes surveys to measure the
engagement of our people Every year we
use the results to influence how we make
National Express a great place to work
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Risk and risk management

Committed to managing risk
both effectively and robustly

The Group has a well established
governance structure with internal conitrol
and nsk management systems The nsk
managerment process

» provides a framewaork 10 identify, assess
and manage risks, both positive and
negative, to the Group's overall strategy
and the contribution of its individual
component divisions,

gives business unit management forrmal
tools to identify and manage risks in their
day-to-day operations,

allows Group Executive management

to identify and manage the risks that are
Iikely to have a more significant impact
on the financial results and strategy and
share common 1ssues and solutions
across the Group, and

allows the Board to fulfil is governance
responsibiliies by making a balanced
and understandable assessmant of
the operation of the nsk management
process and its outputs

L]

Responsibilities and actions

The Board:

e has overall responsiblity for the
Group's system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness,

* has a mandate to define the Group's
nsk culture and to determine its
appette for nsk in order to deliver
the strategic objectives,

= mantans full control and direction
over appropriate strategic, financial,
operational and compliance ssues, and

+ has put In place an organisational
structure with formally defined lines
of responsibility, delegated authorities
and clear operating processes

The Audit Committee:

* has specific responsibility for reviewing
and validating the effactiveness of the
Group's internal control and nsk
management systems,

15 responsible for the identification,
assessment and management of risk,
including actions taken and processes
adcpted to do so,

reviews and approves all financial
information published by the Group, and

reviews the internal audit programme,
considers major findings of the internal
audit inveshgations and reviews
management's financial reporting

and nsk management

Risk assessment

Each division, plus the Group
corporate functions, 1s required to
make a formal review of all nsks to therr
business objectives, assess the mpact
and likelhood of the nsk occurrng

and put in place appropnate mitigating
actions, processes and systems to
manage the risk

Risk assessment review
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Identify

Identify nsks to business objectives on

a bottom up basis risks are described
and categonsed into Operational, Strategic
and Financial risks in order to help define
thair precise nature and potential impact
on the business

Assess

Assess and quantfy the potential impact

on business objectives and determing the
likelihood of the nsk ocoumng Thisis done

on a 'before’ and ‘after’ basis, where the
impact of management controls 1S assessed in
relation to the probability and seventy of ansk

Mitigating actions

Take miigating actions and implement
systems to manage the hkelihood and

impact of the nsk [dentify an individual
with responsibility for each nsk

Review

Risks are congsidered on a monthly basis

at divisional level and formally updated
twice a year These risks are documented
on a divisional nsk register Management 1S
encouraged to raview the nsk registers from
other divisions to identify commen issues
and potential soluttons

Each divisional register, including the Group
corporate functons register, 1s consolidated
nto a Group Risk Register

The Group Executive Committes reviews
the Group Risk Register twice a year,
followed by the Group Audit Committes
The Audit Committee reports in turn to
the man Board

Internal audit

The internal audit function has
responsibiity for monitonng the

risk management and internal control
systems and facilitates the twice-yearly
formal update of the nsk registers Internal
Audit reports to management and the
Audit Committee on the extent to which
nternal controls are adeguately designed
and implemented
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During 2015 the Group focused on the following key areas of risk:

Risk

Why?

Responsible

Concession and contract renewal

Continued bidding activity

Group Chief Executive and
dnvsional Managing Directors

Economic conditiens and austerity

Continued tight public budgets
despite improving economic conditrons

Divisional Managing Directors

Political and regulatory

Ongoing regulatory changes in
Spain, North Amenca and the UK

Group Chief Executive and
dmsional Managing Directors

Contract bidding

Bid assumptions maybe incorrect

Group Chief Executive and
dmsienal Managing Directors

Contract mobilisation

000 0O

Mobilisation for new bus and rail

Managing Cirectors of the

contracts in the Middle East and Germany  International and Rall dvisions

The following are ongoing risks within the business:

Fuel cost

Unplanned increases in the price of
tuel continue to be a nsk, despite
the significant fall in pnces since the
last quarter of 2014

Group Finance Director and
Group Treasurer

Insurance and claims

Continuing claims management and
safety systems in place

Group Finance Director and Group
Director of Insurance & Risk

Credit risk Customer debt levels stable, but nsk Drvisional Finance Directors
of default remains
Currency Exchange rates for key currencies Group Finance Director and

OO0 06

generally more stable over the last year

Group Treasurer

Risk given increased status in 2015

Cyber security

@

The digital world creates many nsks for
a globat business including technology
failures, loss of confidential data and
damage to brand reputation

Group Financial Director and
dwisional Managing & IT Directors
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Principal nsks and uncertainties

Looking forward, the Group will focus on the following key areas of nsk:

Risks Assessment Management Potential impact
Concession and contract renewal
Much of the Group's business Approximately 656% of the Group's tatal A reputation for high quality services helps ~ High
1s secured through renewing revenue Is either contract or concession to win and retain contracts The Group
contracts and concessions, based These contracts vary in length has a good record of retaming contracts
particularly in our North and are typically awarded for between on a historical basis no naticnal coach
America School Bus and Transit 12 months and 20 years concession In Span has been lost before
businesses, n Spain and N Rail Following ha successful retention of the and retention rates in School Bus are
typicatly very tugh (98% in 2015 and 97%

Essex Thames:de rall franchise, the Group In 2014)

has been shortlisted as a bidder for the

Greater Anglia franchise In the UK The ALSA 1s well prepared to submit hegh quality

Group ¢ontinues to bid for raill contracts bids on its own and oiher concessions as

n Germany and bus contracts in the and when they are called to tender

Middle East

The concession rengwal process In

Spain has changed with the most

significant difference baing the remaval

of the ncumbent advantage Following

a general delay in tendering, ALSA sull

currently expects about 50% of its

national coach concassions to be nd

for in 2016 and 2017
Economic conditions and austenty
The economic outlcck in Natonal Risk that revenues in the Bus, Coach and  The Group seeks to mitigate these risks High
Express key temtones contnues Rail businesses in the UK and Spain are through proactive cast control, reverue
o be generally posittve, although impacted by lower passenger dermand managemant systems, the careful economic
government austenty measures in there 1s also some positive risk that madelling of new and existing contracts,
the UK and Spain contnue tobe a  the Group will benefit from the prospect of including sensitivites around expected
nsk Whilst soma of the Group's modal shift towards its forms of transport  growth rates, and through sharing nsk
businesses have naturally defensive  In Spain, the division may be affected by with contracting parties
charactenstics, some of the more the effects of austerty but may benefit
discretonary parts of the busness  from the outsourcing of further urban
may be adversely affected by bus operations
reduced economic actvity
Political and regulatory
The Group's businesses ara Changes in political and regulatory The nsk 1s reduced by mantanng close Meadium
subject to numerous laws in the emvironments can have a significant mpact  relationshups with key stakeholders and
junsdictions in which they operate,  on regulated public transport operators ensuring that the economic advantages of
regulating the cperation of from adding significant cost to changing our business models are fully understood
concessions safety procedures, the fundamental nature of a market and considered
:?ntg?or:;r:nﬁchﬂ::rt:;l. For example In the longer term, the Group can mitigate
ernonmental procedures The proposed new Buses Bill inthe UK will  nsk by dwersifying its operations into
and other operating tssues provide new powers to local governmant other geographies

that are likely to have a significant impact

on the bus Industry in the madum term

The Sparuish Government has agreed the

imposition of a fag on new cCoONCessIons

and the removal of 4 5% incumbency

advantage on new national intercity

cOoNncessions
Contract bidding
The Group makes a significant An inherent nsk i contract bidding 1S The Group saeks to mtigate the nsk through Medium

invastment in bidding for new
contracts and concessions

2016 continues to see some
significant bidding activity, as
the Group continues to seek
1o expand its operations i the
Middla East and Germany

that bid assumptions might prove to be
incorrect If the Group's significant bid
assumptions prove to be incormrect this
could have an adverse effect on results
of the operations and the Group's
financial condition

careful economic modeling of new contracts,
and by sharing revenue nsk with the awarding
body, for example with the Departmant for
Transport in Rait

Proper mabibsation 1s a key part
of ensunng that nsk of divergence from
bid assumptions 1s minirmsad
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Risks Assessment Management Potential impact
Contract mobilisation
The mobilisation to deliver new While mobilisation 1s a core expertise of the  Start-up activities are formally managed Medwum
services following a contract Group, operating In new geographies and  with dedicated, skilled local teams
award 15 involved often requinng  cultures increases the complexity and supported by Group expertise Close
the purchase of new vehicles challange of successful new contract senior management oversight ensures
and In some cases, such as in start-up The Group successfully launched  any key nsks or issues are rapicly
Germany and the Middle East, a new bus operation In Bahrain and started  escalated and resolved
the creation of a new operating its new RME Rall franchise
business operation in Germany dunng 2015
The following are ongoing risks within the business:
Fuel cost
All of the Group's businesses are  Fuel costs constitute approximately 10% The Group seseks to mitigate nsks of Medium
exposed to fuel costs — pnmanly  of the Group's costs and consaguently, to  increases in fuel costs by entering into fusl
diesel for buses and coaches the extent that price increases cannot be swaps and forward purchase contracts in
Fuel prees are subject to passed on to customers, increases In fuel  line with the Group's hedging strategy
significant volatility due to costs will affect profitability discussed on page 36
economic, pohtical and climate
circumstances
Insurance and claims
The Group's policy Is to There 1s anisk that a successful clam or Throughout the business, a strong safety Medium
self-insure a number of potential  senes of successful claims may result In culture prevalls, led by the Safety &
claims withun (ts busness substantially ngher charges to profit and Environment Committee Where claims arise
cash outflow than expected they are managed by expenenced clams
handlers and professional advice is obtaned
In order to evaluate and minimise costs to
the Group
Credit risk
As contractual cperations, Payment terms and cash collections Recewnables in each business are closely Low

the North American and Spanish
urban businesses are exposed to
the risk that customers are either
late or unable to pay sums owed

to the Group

in North America are extremely good
In Spamn the level of outstanding debt
15 10 Iine with historical levels

monitored based on robust and thorough
documantation provisions are then made
where appropriate on a prudent basis for
a certamn level of non-collection Addrtional
contractual terms for interest accrual

and repayment of outstanding balances
have been agreed with overdue

debtors where necessary

Currency

The Group's exposure to
overseas earnings through its
Spanish and North American
cperations creates a nisk that
mavement In exchange rates
may adversely impact translation
of profit and cash flows together
with Group gearing

Foreign currency movements iImpact the
profit, balance sheet and cash flows of
the Group Over the course of 2015 the
Euro continued to depreciate against
Sterling whereas the US dollar continued
to appreciate aganst Stering The Group
holds Euro denominated debt and US
dollar finance leases

The Group uses currency debt and currency Low
swaps to reduce the impact and rmitigate the

nsk In addition, management has flexibilty

to adjust Group capital allocation

Cyber security

The digital world creates many
nsks for a global busingss
inctuding technology

fallures, loss of confidential data
damage to brand reputation

The Group views cyber secunty
as an emerging rtsk, which could
have serious consequences for
business operations

The Group s committed to increasa its Low
resilence in its secunty strategy, and seeks

to assess and manage ts ability to effectively

detend aganst current and future cyber

nisks by using analysis tools and experienced
professionals o evaluate and mitigate

potential mpacts

The Group refies upon a varnety of IT
systems in order to manage and delver
saervices and communciate with our
customers, suppliers and employees

We remain focused on the need to maximise
the effectivenass of our information systems

and technology as a business enabler and to
manage both costs and exposure as a result

www nationalexprassgroup com
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Group Finance Director’s review

Revenue, profit and margins grow in all divisions
driving strong cash generation

Sy

Matthew Ashley
Group Finance Director
25 February 2016

Presentation of results

We present our financial results on two
bases Nomalised resufts show the
performance of the business before
exceptional iterns and intangible amortisahon,
since the Board believes this gives the reader
a clearer understanding of existing business
performance IFRS results include these
tems to gve the statutory results

Revenue

Group revenue for the year was £1,919 8
milkon (2014 £1,867 4rm), an overall increase
of 2 8% Underlying revenue (on a constant
currency basis} Increased by 3 8%,
reflacting the strengthening of the US dollar
against Stering partially offseting the
weakening of the Euro

We have delivered revenus growth in local
currency in all five of our divisions, through
a combination of pricing, volume growth
and new business Rall was the strongest
performer, up 9 5% in the UK and 11 1%

overall This has included significant growth
in off-peak revenues of 8%, drven by new
fare promotions and an improved marksting
programme Commercial revenues in UK
Bus increased by 2 6%, seeing very strong
growth in the use of smartcards UK Coach
delivered revenue growth of 2 2% with

core revenuie growth of 3 1% and positive
momantum in contract revenues in the
second half of the year

Revenus In Spain grew by 2 9% and we
continue to see a positive response to the
revenue management system installed on the
main ral-competed corndors Morocco has
delvered ancther strong performance with
arevenue increase of 13 8% dnven by the
upscaling of operabons in Tangier, alongsida
the launch of senaces n September in a
fourth city, Khounbga Together these drove
an overall Increase in revenue for ALSA of

3 6% Undertying revenue in North Amenca
was up 4 0% on a constant currency basis
and up 2 2% on a reported basis as the

Revenue bndge £m % change
2014 full year revenue 1,867
Currency translation (17)
2014 full year revenue at constant currency 1,850
Organic growth 46 25%
Acquisitions 24 13%
2015 full year revenue 1,920 3 8%
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depreciation of the Canadian dollar to the

US dcllar affected the translation of Canadian
revenues The 4 0% growth in constant
currency reflacts the rate ncreases and
performance of new contracts, together with
anumber of acquistions and business wins
offset by exited contracts from our ‘up or
out' programme

Normalised profit

Group normalised operating profit ncreased
by 18 2% to £193 &5 miflion on a constant
currency basis, up 15 5% on a reported basis
(2014 £1676m) Group kke-for-ike operating
profit has Increased by 7 5%, after excluding
Raill and Middle East bid costs of £9 2 mifion
(2014 £25 5m) and a £3 9 milhon adverse
foreign exchange vanance as set out below
This reflected our focus on driving organic
growth and cost efficency to protect and
grow margn The £19 milion of cost
gificiencies delivered in the year largely
reflect the rationalisaton and restructuring
prograrmme in 2014 which targeted
annualised savings of around £15 milion

Group operating profit margin improved by
110 basis paints to 10 1% (with ike-for-like
operating prefit margin up 40 basis points
after adjusting for lower Incremental bd
costs and foreign exchange), despite
significantly increased franchise premium
charges in our ¢2¢ franchise




Profit bndge £m % change
2014 normabhsed full year operating profit 1931
Currency (39 2 5
Rait and Middle East bid costs in 2014 (25 5) b ﬁ
3D
Restated operating profit at constant currency 1637 "fg’
Incrementally lower Ral and Micdidle East bid costs in 2015 163
Like-for-like operating profit 1800
Growth 275
Acquisitions 34
Cost inflation (13 0}
Cost efficiency 191 Qo
o
Net rall charges (franchise premumj {28 8} ﬁg
-]
Fuel price benefit 47 E 3
-
Waather 06 mm
2015 normalsed full year cparating profit 1935 75%
Segmental profit performance of Sterling versus the Euro over the last
Our UK Coach and UK Bus busingsses year, with the result that profitis down 4 7%
were the strongest performers, with UK on currency translation
Coach profit increasing by 15 4% to In North Amenca profit was up 6 1% on a @
£32 3 mdion and operating profit margin constant curency basis, with the bengfit 52
improving by 130 basis paints UK Bus of rate Increases and gans from the §§
delivered profit growth of 10 3% with mpn ent i contract qualiy as a direct Eg_,
operating margin improving by 100 basis result of our ‘up or out' strategy, together with 5 E
ponts Profit (n Rall was £0 6 milion versus the benefit of acquistions and new business
aloss of £10 1 milion 1n 2014, reflecting the wins The gthening of the US Dollar
impact of lower incremental rail bid costs versus the Canadian Doflar has adversely
which combined with strong revenue mpacted the net operating profit for North
grov ﬁd n tCZC mort;:zan offlset m‘; Amenca by $17 millon dunng the year Ona
significantly ncreased premiun charges reported basis North Amenca profit grew by
Profit in ALSA was up 5 8% on a constant 12 3%, benefiting from the strengthening of
currency basis, reflecting strong revenue the US Dollar against Sterling zs
growth partlchaﬂy in Morooco togsther Central function costs were £1 9 milion §§
#’th lower;f‘ée cosr:s; an:LcScLstheﬂlf)lenues lower as a result of lower bid costs and cost z3
dserepo Bﬁ re;: orth N ash een savings delivered through the restructunng g;
adversely affectsd by the strengthaning programme implemented in 2014 zr
2018 2014
Local Local 2015 2014
Segrnental operating profit currency currancy £m £m
Span and Morocco 98.5 931 715 750
North Amenca 102.2 96 3" 66 8 595
UK Bus 375 340
UK Coach 323 280
Rail 0.6 (101)
German Coach - {17)
Central functions (15.2) (171
Group 183 5 16786

* FY2014 results resiated to adjust for mpact of Radl end Middie East bid costs prviously treated as exceptonal tems
* Operating profit at constant cumency adusting for Canadian Dolar to US Dollar foresgn exchange rate movernent n the year
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Group Finance Director’s review continued

Income from associates rose to £1 8 milion
(2014 £0 3m) and now iIncludes the
contnbution from our joint venture N Bahrain

Nat finance costs decreased to £45 2
miflion (2014 £48 Om), benefiing from

lower interest rates secured on the renewal
of the revolving credit facility (RCF') in
November 2014 Normalised profit befora
tax was £150 1 million {2014 £1199m})

2015 2014
Summary income statement £m om
Revenue 1,919.8 1,867 4
Operating costs {1,728 3) (1,699 8)
Normalised operating profit 193.5 1676
Share of results from associates 1.8 03
Net finance costs {45.2) (48 0)
Normalised profit before tax 1501 1199
Tax (28 95) (21 8)
Normahsed profit after tax 121.6 281

FY2014 resutts restated 1o adjust for mpact of Ral and Middle East bid costs praviously treated as exceptional items.

The normahsed tax charge was

£28 5 million (2014 £21 8m), a normalised
sffective tax rata of 19 0% (2014 18 2%)
The tax charge for 2015 included a number
of one-cff tems, with the main ones beng a
release of tax provisions following the
conclusion of a Spanish tax audit together
with moverments in deferred tax balances
due to changes in statutory tax rates in the
countries in which we operate

Looking forward, and depending on profit
mix, new business opportunitiss and the
future tax environment including possible
restnctons on tax deductions for interest
axpense, we expect the normalised
affactive tax rate to gradually increase from
2017 to a range between 22% and 25%
We would expect the cash tax raie toc be
less than 15% for the next two to three
years as we utilise brought forward tax
losses, mainly in the US, dunng this penod

Normalised profit after tax for the year was
£121 6 million (2014 £98 1m), gving a basic
EPS of 23 4 pence (2014 18 9p) An
increase of 10% in the final dwvidend to

11 33 pance has been declared, reflecting
our new policy of ensunng that full year
dvidends are covered around two tmes

by Group earmings, including earnings

from the Rail dwvision

Exceptional items

There ware no exceptional tems in the year
in line with our previously stated policy,
business development costs associated
with developing our ral and Middie East
markaets are ne longer treated as
exceptional items and are charged to the
relevant business dmision In 2014, £24 8
mullion was invested in the restructunng of
existing operations in order to mamtain their
market-leading positions and to respond to
both opportunities and challenges

2015 2014
Excepuonal items £m £m
Restructuring - {25 8)
Strategic rationalisation - (18 3)
Exceptional fue! credits - 193
Exceptional terms - (24 8)

* FY2014 rasutts restated to aciust for mpact of Rad and Middie East b costs previously traated as excepbonal tens
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IFRS results

Intangible amortisation decreased to £257
mithon (2014 £28 6m), due to ntangibls
assets on some Sparush concessions

becoming fully amortised Profit for
the penod, after amortisation was
£109 1 milion (2014 £60 6m}
Basic EPS, after amortisation

was 20 9 pence (2014 11 6p)

2018 2014
IFRS profit £m £m
Normahsed profit before tax 150.1 1199
Exceptional iterns - (24 8)
Intangible amortisation {25.7) {28 6)
Profit before tax 124 4 665
Tax charge {15.3) 59
Profit for the year 1091 606

FY2014 rasults restated o adust for the impact of Rail and Middle East byd costs previously treated as excepbonal tems.

Cash management

Cash generation 1s core to our strategy,
representing a key dnver of shareholder value
The Group's core bus and coach operations
are strong cash generators, complemented by
rail's capitaHight model In recent years the
Group has targeted improved cash flow
generation to drive better retums We believe
we have a strong, sustainable cash flow In
place now that allows us to retain a focus on
ROCE whila supporting a capttal Investment
programme that maintains fleet age at
acceptable levels Our current target 1s to
invest around 11 to 1 2 tmes depreciaton

In 2015, the Group defivered operating cash
flow of £164 9 milion (2014 £222 6m), reflecting
the increased level of mantenance capital

expenditure, net of disposals, of £111 7 millon
This represents 107% of the depreciation
charge and was £69 milion higher thanin
2014 The majonty of the maintenance captal
investment has been in flest replacemsnt n
the UK, Span and North Amenca

Working capital saw an outflow of £11 8 milbon
(2014 inflow of £4 8my} reflecting organic
growth, new business wins and acquistions

£111 0 mifion of free cash flow was generated
over the year (2014 £164 8m), reflecting the
higher level of mantenance capital expendrture
described above This free cash flow was ahead
of our £100 million target, We will continue to
target defivery of £100 milion of free cash flow
per annum, which we see as a sustanable level

of cash generation going forward

2015 2014
Free cash flow £m £m
Normalised operating profit 193.5 1678
Cepreciation and other non-cash items 104.6 1021
EBITDA 298.1 2687
Net maintenance capital expenditure 1m7) (432)
Working capital (increase)/decrease (11.8) 48
Pension contributions above normal charge (9.7) B87)
Operating cash flow 164 9 2226
Recsipts from assocates and minorities 07 13
Net interest paid 43 4 (461)
Tax paid (11.2) (13 0)
Free cash flow 1m0 164 8
UK rall franchise exit outflow {2.5) {16)
Exceptional cash expenditure {10.0) (192
Cash flow avaltable for growth & dividends 98.5 1440

* FY2014 resuits restated to adjust for impact of Rad and Micdie East bid costs previously tiated as excepbonal items

From free cash flow, there was an outflow

of £100 million from the run-off of 2014
excceptonal tems, leaving £98 5 milion (2014
£144 0rm) available to mvest in growth capital
projects, bolt-on acquistions and caprtal
retum to shareholders The mapnty of the
£36 4m growth capital nvestment has been in

growng our fleet on new services such as
Tangier In Morocco, Investment m revenus
management systems for our coach senices
in the UK and Spain, and investment to
support our growth in Rail, both in the UK and
Gemany

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Group Finance Director’s review continued

During the year we invested in six acquisiions,
five of which were in our North Amenca School
Bus and Transtt operatons, in ine with our
stated strategy to exploit new growth
opportunites in this market The acquisition In
Spain was for an urban bus contract in Madnd
Total net consideration was £82 rrillon for the
acquisthons N North Amenca and £16 milon
for the Spanish acquision, with a total of

£69 4 milion being pard in 2015

ROCE 1s a key factor in our mcremental
Investment decisions and we are pleased
with the progress we have made The

Group's retum on capital ncreased by 100
basis points to 11 7%, axcluding Rail and
Middle East bid costs

With dvdend payments of £54 4 milion
{2014 £51 8m), the net outflow of funds In the
year after foregn exchange movements was
£81 2 milion {2014 inflow of £81 8m} Net
debt increased to £745 5 milien as at

31 December 2015 (2014 £664 3m) hawng
Irvested £69 4 million on acquisitions and
£36 4 milhon in growth caprial axpenddure
dunng the perod

2015 2014
Net funds flow £m £m
Cash flow avaitable for growth & dividends 98.5 1440
Nat growth capital expenditure (36 4) (73
Acquisitions and disposals (69 4) 59
Didends (54 4) (51 6}
Other, including foreign exchange (19.5) 26
Net funds flow {81 2) 818

In previous years the focus of our cash flow
has been on debt reduction and growing
our dividend As we stated in last year's full
year results, we are now in a strong position
to exploit new growth opportuniies with a
focus on the North Amencan market, where
we have a strong track record of growing
profits We continue to believe that there are
excellent opportunities In this market given
its highly fragmented nature and the
continuing trend In conversions, and we will
continue to use our cash flow to generate
further growth through acquisitions, driving
future returns for shareholders

Dividend

Ag annhounced at the half year, the strength
of our cash flow and the continued growth
of secure, long-term revenue from our
axpanding UK ang German raill operations
led us to review our policy of excluding rail
earnings from our dvdend cover Our new
policy 1s to in¢clude ral profits, so that our
dvidend 1s covered around two times by
Group eamings This new policy enables us
to propose a 10% increase in the full year
dwidend to 11 33 pence

36

Treasury management

The Group mantans a prudent approach
to its financing and 1s committed to an
Investment grade credit rating The Board's
policy targets a ieve! of debt that allows
for disciplined investment and ample
headroom on its covenants, with net debt
to EBITDA at arahic of 2 0x to 2 5xin the
medium terrn Both Moody’s and Fitch
credit ratings have reaffirmed ther
invastment grade rating n 2015

The Group's key debt ratios as at
31 December 2015 were as follows

* Gearing ratio 2 45 tmes EBITDA
{31 December 2014 2 25x, bank
covenant not to exceed 3 5x)

s Interest cover ratio EBITDA 6 6 tmes
interest (31 December 2014 6 3x, bank
covenant not less than 3 5x)

The Group has a strong funding platform
that underpins the delivery of its strategy
Core funding i1s provided from non-bank
sources, to provide improved certainty and
matunty of funding At the end of 2015, this
represented £758 6 millon of funding,

National Exprass Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

prnmarily from two Sterling denominated
bonds compnsed of a £350 midlion bond
matunng In 2017 and a £225 milkon bond
maturing in 2020, a pnvate placement of €78
mifion matunng n 2021 and £128 million of
finance leases The residual debt balance s
funded from the Group's £416 million RCF,
with a margin of 0 6% cover LIBOR and
matunng N 2020 At 31 December 2015,
the Group had £440 millon in cash and
undrawn faciities avalabte

In January 2016, the Group entered into
new bank faciites totaling £450 million,
compnsing a £350 million bndging-te-bond
facility in anticipanon of the refinancing of
the Group's £350 milkon bond matunng in
January 2017, together with a £100 miulion
general corporate purposes facilty,
providing the Group with an appropnate
level of madium-term iguidity and funding
headroom Both facilmes ara for an initial
period of 18 months and include options to
extend the matunty date untl January 2019
This bndging facility gives the Group ample
flextbility with respect to the tming of the
refinancing of the bond, without incurnng
punitive refinancing charges

At 31 December 2015, the Group had
toreign currency dabt and swaps held as
net Investment hedges These help mitigate
volatiity in foreign currency profit translaton
with corresponding movaments in the
Sterling value of debt These corresponded
to 2 2 times EBITDA sarned in the US, held
in US Dollars, and 2 1 times EBITDA eamed
in Spain and Germany, held in Euros The
Group hedges ts exposure to Interest rate
movements to mantan a balance between
fixed and floating interast rates on
borrowings It has therefore entered a
senes of swaps that have the effect of
converting fixed rate debt to floatng rate
debt The net effect of thase transactions
was that, at 31 December 2015, the
proportion of Group net debt at floating
rates was 34% {2014 28%)

Group tax policy

We are committed to creating shareholder
valus through our strategic goals of
operational excellence, generating superior
cash and returns and creating new
business opportunities, and the Group

tax strategy supports these goals




We pursue a cautious approach to our
tax affars which are aligned to business
transactions and economic actmity Our
approach to tax can be evidenced by the
lack of outstanding tax audits as detaled
1n the Annual Report and Accounts

In order to gain as much certainty as
possible, tax matters are largely discussed
in ‘real ime’ with the tax authorries in the
markets in which we operate We have a
constructive and good working relationship
with the vanous tax authonties However,
due to the complexsty of tax legislation, the
Group and tax authories may sometimes
have differing opnions The Group
manages these nsks and accrues for areas
of tax uncertanty In ine with accounting
standard requirements, where appropnate
The Group Tax Department reports on a
regular basis on the Group’s tax matters,
with the Board and the Audit Committee
appnsed of any significant tax matters

Pensions

The Group's principal defined benefit
pension schemes are all in the UK

The combined deficit under |AS 19 at

31 December 2015 was £12 6 millon

(31 December 2014 deficit of £11 9m) The
Group has prevously reached agreement
with the trustees of its key schemes which
have fixed the deficit payments, under most
sventualities, to just under £10 milkon per
annum untl 2017, calculated on a scheme
funding basis The two pnncipal plans are

the UK Group schems, which closed to
new accrual n 2011, and the West Midlands
Bus plan, which remans open to accrual
for existing active members only

The IAS19 valuations at 31 December 2015
were as follows

* UK Bus {under the West Midlands
Integrated Transport Authonty Pension
Fund and the Taystde Transport
Superannuation Fund} £60 4 mitlon
deficit 2014 £50 6m deficrt)

* UK Group scheme £34 9 milion surplus
{2014 £30 6m surplus)

s UK Ral/other £129 million surplus (2014
£8 1m surplus) The Group's rall business
participates in the Raiways Pension
Scheme This exposure transfers to an
incoming operator in the event of a
franchise tarmination

Fuel Costs

The Group consumeas approximately 220
millon Itres of diesel each year for which it

15 at nsk (ie there 1s no direct fuel escalator in
the contract or concession pnce) This relates
to the non-ral dmisions and represented a
total cost (including delvery and taxes) to the
Group n 2015 of £167 mullion (approxmately
9% of related revenus), at an average fuel
component cost of 44 pence per ire The
Group has adopted a forward fuel buying
policy in order to secure a degree of certanty
Inits planning This policy 1S to hedge fully a
miremum of 15 months' addressable
consumption aganst movements in pnca

of the underfiying commedity, together with
at least 50% of the next nine months’

consumpton in the contract businesses
Currently, the Group 1s 100% fixed for 2016 at
an average pnce of 42 pence/litre {excluding
delvery and tax), 94% fixed for 2017 atan
average prce of 41p and 42% fixed for 2018
at 31p We anticipate fuel savings of around
£30 mulion in 2018 when compared with
2015, assuming the kalance of the fuel
hedging for 2017 and 2018 s transacted
around the current spot pnce for fuel

The continuing drop in the prce of crude

ol throughout 2015 resutted In an adverse
movement 1n the value of these hedges to a
habilty of £83 8 miflion, which will be offset
by the lower price pasd for fuel in 2016-2018

Where businesses have fresdom to pnce
services, this hedge provides sufficient
protection to recover fuel pnce Increases
through the fare baskst In contract
businesses, whera pnce escalation may
be restncted by a formula independent of
fuel costs, extended cover, up to the life
of the contract, may be taken, subject to
avarlability and quidity in the hedging
market The latter is rarely avalable
beyond three years from the trade date

St ity

Matthew Ashley
Group Finance Director
25 February 2016

Going concern

The Group's business actwities, together
with tha factors likely to aftect its future
development, performance and position
are set out In the Strategic Report The
financial postion of the Group, its cash
flows, liquidity position and borrowing
facilities are described in the Group Chief
Executive'’s review on pages B to 13 and
the Group Finance Director's review on
pages 32 to 37 In addition, note 2 to the
Financial Statements includes the Group's
objectives, policies and processes for
managing its capital, its financial nsk
management objectives, detalls of its

financial instruments and hedging
activities, and its exposure to credit
nsk and quidity nsk

The Group has a formahsed process of
budgeting, reporting and review, which
provides information to the Directors
which 15 used to ensure the adequacy
of resources available for the Group to
meet 1t$ business objectives

The Directors confirm that they have a
reasonable expectaton that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future Inreaching this opinion,

the Directors reviewed assumptions about
current trading performance, together with
information from the annual budget
process, which sets out the Group's plan
for 2016, and the strategrc planning
process which determines the Group's
trajectory for 2017 to 2020 Accordingly
the Directors contmue to adopt the going
cancern basis of accounting in prepanng
the annual Financial Statements

Viability statement

In accordance with provision ¢2 2 of the

UK Corporate Govemnance Code 2014,

the Board has assessed the wiability of the
Group over a three-year penod to December
2018 This takes into account the Group's
current position and the potential impact of
the prncipal nsks and uncertainties outined
on pages 28 to 31 of the Strategic Report

The Board has determined that a three-year
penod is an appropnate penod over which to

prowvide its viability statement, as thisis the
period reviewed by the Board as part of the
annual strategic planning process N making
this statement, the Board camed cut a
robust assessment of the pnncpal nsks and
uncertaintes facing the Group, including
those that would threaten the business
model, future performance, solvency and
hquidity Sensitmity analysis s applied to the
cash flows to model the potential effects
should pnncipal nsks actually occur; and

consideration 1s given to the avalabilty and
likely effectveness of mmgatng actons that
could be taken to avond or reduce the iImpact
or occurrence of the identified nsk

Based on this assessment, the Board confims
that it has a reasonable expectation that the
Group will be able to continue n operation

and meet s labilites as they fall due up to

31 December 2018
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Business review: Spain and Morocco

Record passenger numbers through
revenue management and Morocco

Francisco Iglesias
Chuef Executive, ALSA

Spain and Morocco

Overview of 2015

ALSA's continued roll out of its revenue
management system (‘RMS’), a record year
for passengers and sustained strong
growth in Morocco have helped dnve
ncreases n revenue, profit and marginin
the dmiston Total dwvisional revenue graw
by 3 6% to €691 8 milion (2014 €667 7m)
and normalised operating profit rose by

5 8% to €98 5 million (2014 €93 1m), both
In constant currency

In Spain, revenues rose by 2 9% dnven

by the implementation of RMSs on our
main ral-competed routes which 1s driving
growth in both revenue and passengers,
whilst In Morocco we have seen another
year of strong growth, with revenue growth
of 13 8% dnven by the upscaling of
operations and services In Tangter, together
with the launch of services In a fourth city,
Khouribga Operating margn rose to 14 2%
(2014 13 9%) dniven by revenue growth,
cost efficencies, lower fuel costs and
additonal Income from fuel duty rebates
ALSA still achigves the best In class margin
for a Spanish bus and coach operator

During the year only two national franchises
in our portiolio came up for renewal ALSA
sucecessfully renewed cne and has obtaned
the highest score, pending award, in the
other ALSA also extended the Bilbao
Urban Transport contract by two years

and was awarded one of the contracts to
operate part of the Spanish Government’s
flagship Imserso pension holiday scheme

With the appreciation of Stering against
the Euro dunng 2015, reported revenues
and profit declined to £502 2 milion
{2014 £538 1m)and £71 5 millon

{2014 £75 Om) respectvely

Operational excellence

ALSA 1s widely recogrused as an ndustry-
leading operator and In 2015 received an
award for Bast Practice in Occupational
Road Safety from the Spanish Foundahon
in Road Safety In addon ALSA has been
awarded a four-star rating by the European
Foundation for Qualty Managementin a
first EFQM assessment, and we are
working towards achigving a five-star
rating in the next assessment

2015 has been a record year for the
nurnber of passengers that ALSA cames,
with nearty 300 mition passenger journeys
on our services In Span and Morocco

Wa have continuad to see a successful
response to the RMS implemented on the
nine comdors expensncing the most
intense competiion from RENFE’s
aggressive ral ticket discounting With 216
long haul flows now within the RMS, nearly
80% of that sector's passengers and
revanue are benefiting from this more
sophisticated pncing approach For the
year as a whole, on those routes with RMS,
we Saw a 2% (increase In passsnger
numbers and 3% increase In revenus
ALSA remains focused on delivenng further
cost efficiencies in order to mitigate the
impact of lower fares and cost inflation In
2015 we drove a higher proportion of salas
through our digrtal channels and ticketing
machines, with nearly a third of transactions
now conducted this way, leading to a small
reduction tin headcount as we ook 1o
develop a more flexible sales structure
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Overview of 2015

Year endad 2015 2014
31 December m m
Revenue £502 2 £5381
Normalised

operating profit £71.5 £750
Revenus €691.8 €6677
Normalised

operating profit €98.5 €931

Operating margin 14 2% 139%

* FY2014 nommalised results restated 10 adust for the
impact of bed costs prevously treated as excephonal costs

We have delivered improvermaents in
productivity with higher fleet utlisation,
hugher mileage per vehicle and mproved
mantenance standards resulting in a 20%
reduction in breakdowns The 2% reduction
in fuel consumption achweved in 2014 has
been dslivered again in 2015 This 2%
reduction has been driven by a programme
of consumption Improvement measures,
including fuel efficient dnver training

Qur ongoing focus on improving safety
standards has delivered a reduction of 15%
In the Fatalites and Weighted Injunes index
in the year, with a strang emphasis on
traning and dnver assessments halping

to drve the sigruficant improvement in
safety performance




€m
2014 normalised operating profit 941
Bid costs in 2014 (10}
Restated operating profit 931
Lower bid costs in 2015 06
Like-for-like operating profit
in 2014 937
Net impact of revenue growth 49
Other cost inflation L 20)]
Cost efficioncias 65
Fuel 24
2015 normalised operating profit 985

Cash and returns

In 2015 ALSA delivered another strong
performance, generating operating cash
of €114 6 million with operating cash
conversion of 116%, with an improvernent
of €9 milllon 1n working capital We have
invested In a higher level of caprtal
expenditure year on year, with growth
caprtal expendture focused predorminantly
on new flest to support the upscaling of our
operations in Tangrer and the ongoing
development of the RMS

Creating new opportunities
Following on from the very encouraging
resutts we have seen with the
mplementation of revenue management
an some aof our intercity routes, we are
introducing further enhancements to our
systems that allow even faster decision
making on fares, drawing on real-time travel
information and competitor nformation We
will lock to roll out this enhanced revenue
management process across the whole of
our Spantsh businass to include both the
commuter and regional routes

Our business In Morocco continues to grow
with services now operating in four cities

We also sese further opportunities to
increase our digital capabilmies leveraging
the Group expertise In customised
e-marketing, wrth the development of new
apps offenng improved functionality,
together with personalised jouneay
planners, content and offers, bulding on
UK Coach's leadership, similar programmes
will be rolled out across the businesses

In 2015 we invested in a bolt-on acquisition,
Herranz, a business which operates around
70 buses through an urban contract as part
of the Madnd consortium  This business
offers synergy benefits with other contracts
we operate within the city, with the contract
runnmg through to 2024 Wa expect this
acquistion to be accretive wathin the first 12
months after transaction and synergy costs
and we will consider further bolt-on
acquistions where they meet our stnct
financial cntena

Following recent press reports on the
Portuguese Government's proposed
cancellation of our Porto bus contract -
amongst others awarded by the previous
government —wae have just recerved official
notification We will anatyse the arguments
used to overturn a previously awarded
contract and then consider our next steps
We will continue to monitor future prospects
for private sector development in the
domestic rall market and liberalisation of
other bus markets in Europe where we
believe we can leverage our expertise

and reputation to enter new markets

Wa continue to see strong growth
prospects In Morocco, where we started
operations in Khourbga, our fourth city,
in 2015 As well as continuing to grow our
axisting operations, we see further growth
opportunities with the addition of servces

in new crties, bulding on our reputation
for operational excellence and customer
service standards In 2016 we expect

to carry more passengers in Morocco
than in the whole of our Spanish business,
demonstrating the significant growth
expenanced In recant years and the
opportunity further expansion in the
country provides Qur continuing focus
1S to ensure we are well placed for the
upcoming concession renewal procass
which may continue to suffer delays
resulting from legal Issues We still,
therefore, do not expect any nsk of
significant impact on revenues or profits
untit 2017 We expect the impact on our
Spanish operating profit to be up to €2-3
milion in 2017 As a high quality, innovatve
and efficient operator, we believe that
ALSA 15 well possticned to retain and
secure concessions as and when
contracts do come up for renewal In
2015 we have successiully retained the
two small ntercity contracts which came
up for renewal and our Industry-leading
bidding tearn will continue to focus on
developing high qualty bids in order to
retain and win new contracts When

the main renewals process does begin,
wa do expect there to be pressure on
margins, but have already begun
programmes to mitigate this through,

for example, further cost efficiencies,

the ongoing roll out of revenue
management in Spain and addtional
opporturities for growth in Morocco
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Business review: North America

Strong bid season and growth

from acquisitions

David Duke
Chief Executive, National Express Corporation

North America

Overview of 2015

Our North Amencan business has delivered
another year of growth in revenue and
operating profit On a constant currency
basis™ revenue grew by 4 0% with operating
profit Increasing by 6 1% to $102 2 milien
(2014 $96 3m)

We continued to focus on Increasing
profitable growth and improving the guality
of our portfolio, exiting those contracts
that fall below cur minmum return cntena
{through an ‘up or out’ strategy} and
growing through acquisitions and

winning new business which generate
more attractive returns We have had a
successful bidding season, achiaving price
increases of 5 3% on those contracts up
for renewal and an average price Increase
across the entire portfolio of 2 8% This
trend of Increasing prices has continued
Nt the current bid season

We have added a further 450 buses from
new contract wins in 2015 both in School
Bus and Transit operations We have had
a particularly successful year in Transit,
growing annualised revenues by 45% to
around $110 million with three new
contracts, an extension to an existing
contract and one bolt-on acquistion

In ine with our strategy to Increase
nvestment in new growth opportuniies In
North America, we have made five small
bolt-on acquisitions, with three of those
made in the final quarter of the year Over
tha period we have added a net 1,100
buses, with the new business wins and
acquisitions more than offsetting the
contracts we chose to exit

Overview of 2015

Year ended 2015 2014
31 Decembar m m
Change in school bus numbers -
2015 bid season Revenue £683 2 £620 2
QOperating profit £66 8 £59 5
Number of
buses
Regretted losses {100} Revenue US$1,044.3 US$1,003 9"
Exited per ‘up or out' strategy (900} Qperating profit  US$102.2  US$H96 3-
Acquisttions 1,450 Operatng margin 9 8% 36%
Conversion and share shift 450 . ando orofit at constant c '
Organic growth 200 adjustng for Canadian Dollar to US Doflar foreign
exchange rate movemsnt i the year
Change in busas operated
tor 2015/16 school yaar 1,100

We have maintained a relentless focus on
costs and the streamiining of operations
and increased operating margin by 20 basis
points to 9 8%, with the benefits of the ‘up
or out' strategy helping to offset pressure
on dnvers’ wagas

$m
2014 normalised operating
profit 880
Exchange movemeant
{CAD to USD) a7
2014 normalised operating
profit at constant currency™ 96 3
Net impagct of revenue growth 48
Acquisitions 52
Fuel cost 24
Other cost inflation (18 0)
Cost savings including
synergies 86
Weather 09

2015 normalised operatng profit™ 1022
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Operational excellence

Qur North Amenca operation afready
delivers best in class margins Tradimionally,
the school bus Industry 1s a capital-
intensve, low cash generation business

In the past year we have continued to focus
on increasing the returm on caprtal across
our portfolio of 500 confracts By tocusing
on contracts which generate adequate
capital returns, we have relationship-based
contracts where our service quality 15 valued
by the customer Where we are not able to
obtain financial returns above our mimum
cntena, wa have exited the contract —in

the 2015/16 school year bid season we
relinquished eight contracts for 900 buses,
which has contributed to the 20 basis point
improvement In the cperating margin to

G 8% We have continued t¢ cascade buses
whare they meet the approprate age
cnteria, thereby increasing fleet utiisation

We continue to deliver supenor service
standards, with 92% of cur customers
wiling to recommend us on the basis of
qualty of service, safsty and value In 2014
wa expenenced pressures on drver
recruttment with some shortages and wage
pressure evident Dunng 2015 we reviewed
our approach, Including starting our
targeted recruitment rounds earlier and




improved wage packages in highly
competitve markets Whitle we continue to
see some wage pressure we are pleased
that the success of our new approach 1s
supported by a 3% improvement in the
Back to School Survey, with 80% of
customers satisfied with the serce they
recaive Our focus on service standards
and our customers Is also reflected in our
industry-lsading contract retention rate
which remains very high, achieving nearly
99% for the last tidding season, excludng
those contracts which we have not
contested as they do not meet our mnimum
retumns critena

We continue to leverage our previous
nvastment in technology 1n order 1o achieve
further improvements in cur operatons and
services, with further improverments in
mantenance helping to dnve cost
efficlencies and higher service standards,
and our ability to monitor on-time
parformance i1s driving higher service
standards for our custommers, with a 1%
improvement yaar on year in 2015 t0 94 1%
In 2015 we piloted a "Where's My Bus' App
which provides parents with real-bme
tracking information and we will continue to
rofl this technology out across our business
In response to positive custorner feedback

Wa have also built the first full-seed school
bus simulator in the US, n our regonal franing
centre n Memphis The ongong focus on
safety 1s demonstrated by a reducton of 5%
in the Fatalites and Weighted Injunes index
accompanied by a reducton in lost tme
nunes We will continue to stve for bigher
safety standards across our business

We were delighted that our commitment to
excellence and our pursuit of continueus
improvement has been recognised with a
Bronze Award from the llinais Partormance
Excsllence Center This 1s a North Amencan
equivalent to EFQM and s presented to

Five small bolt-on acquisitions were
made dunng the year complementing
our existing businesses

organmsations that adopt and apply
contnuous mprovement pnnciples

Cash and returns

Operating cash flow represented a
conversion of 61% of operating profit with
$62 milllon of operating cash delivered in
the year As previously ndicated, we have
retumed to a constart level of fieet
replacement in 2015, n ine with
depreciation The lowsr level of cash
conversion when compared with 2014
reflects tha higher leve! of caprtal investment
in flest on both new and axisting contracts
together with increased working capital from
growth in new contracts and acquisitions

We continue to cascade flest from our
exited confracts and actively manage our
spare capacity within our fleet in order to
increass assst utiisation and IMprove
returns This drive for more efficient capital
deployment has delivered a significant
improvement In return on assets over the
past three years nsing from 17 2% in 2012
to 23 9% in 2015 We have delvered over
$5 milion of savings through new strategic
relationships with suppliers and dnven
further efficiencies in maintenance (through
increased standardisation of proceduras)
and headquarter costs (through the merger
of Transit and School Bus corporate
functiong) Alongside disciphned contract
rmanagernent and bidding and asset
management programmes, these measures
have helped further grow our ndustry-
leading operating margin by 20 basis points
10 9 8% We will continue 10 employ pncing
disciphne in order to ensure we delver an
appropnate return on capsal

Creating new opportunities

Last year we highlighted thea attractive
growth opportuntties avadable in the North
Amenican school bus market and incicated
our intention to Increase our lavel of
investment The schooal bus market remains
highly fragmented with over 1,300 prnivate

school bus businesses inthe US Our
expenence N the last year has only
confirmed our belief that there 1s real
opportunity in the market

In 2315, in ine with this strategy, we iInvasted
£82 millon in five small bolt-on acquistions
that are aither close to our existing business
and we can therefore drive synergies and
operational iImprovemsants, or that provide
strategic entry to new markets The
acquisttions included four school bus
businessas and one transit employes
shuttle business, with all acquisitions
axpected to be accretive within the first 12
months after transaction and synergy costs
In January 2016 we have acquired ancther
business which operates both School Bus
and Transit contracts and we have an active
pipeline of further opportunities

Wa continue to see the transt market as a
strong busingss development opportunity
and look forward to building on a very
successful year in 2015, where we grew
annualised revenues by 45% In most bids,
wehicles are funded erther by the Federal
government or local authonty, resuftng in a
low capital nvestrment requirement and high
retums on capital Using our operational
expertisa and supenor track record of service
delvery, we will continue to seek further bid
opportunties in this attractve market

The increasing standardisation of
procedures across the business will help
drve further efficiencies From mantenance
and purchasing, through to schedulng and
electronic clocking on, we believe there 1s
further progress to be made We will again
approach the upcoming bid season in a
chisciplined manner, Including addressing
the ongoing wage pressure the industry 1s
experniencing We will also continue to seek
further capital-ight opportunities through
corversions and further mprove the quality
of the existing portiolio
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Business review: UK Bus

Partnership approach secures
groundbreaking Bus Alliance

Peter Coates
Managing Director, UK Bus

UK Bus

Overview of 2015

UK Bus had a good year, leading the
industry with the signing of a five year
‘Bus Alliance’ in the West Midlands and
this pioneenng approach to partnership 1s
dnwving strong financial resutts Commaercial
revenue growth of 3% has been partally
offset by a reduction In concessionary
revenues, but has delivered total revenue
growth for our UK Bus dwvision of 1 9%
The reduction in concessionary revenues
reflects local government austenty
pressures on Centro leading to a new
agresment which has reduced
reimbursement rates We anticipate

a further reduction in Income from
concessions in 2016

£m

2014 normalised operating profit - 340
Net impact from revenue growth 30

Fue! cost 09
QOther cost inflation (4 4
Cost stficiencies 4Q

Growth
%

Uke-for-ike commercial
revenue 3
Mileage 0
Underlying commercial revenue 3
Concession and other revenus 1
Total revenue 2

Normalised operating profit was strong,
with growth of 10 3% to £37 5 million (2014
£34 Om), reflecting both revenue growth
and cost efficiencies The operating margin
has increased by 100 basis points to 13 1%
(2014 1219%)

2015 normahsed operating profit 375

Operational excellence

Natonally there has besn a reduction in
regional commercial passenger numbers
as the effects of congestion, reduced petrol
pnces and some changes in shopping
habits appear to have suppressed demand
In the West Midlands our commercial
passenger numbers are broadly flat, and
we believe that the actions we are taking

in partnership with Centro and the local
authonties in the West Midlands - including
combining the introduction of premum
sarvices with local authonty Investment in
bus prioritisation — are the nght ones to
drive future increases

Wa belleve our partnerstip approach s
a key dnver of our success, alongside
investment in quality service standards
and industry-leading safety Bulding on
our award winring “Transforming Bus
Travel 3’ partnerstup with Centro — where
we successfully launched alt 83 of our
pioneenng commitments - we have
recently signed an industry-leading ‘Bus
Alliance' with West Midlands Integrated
Transport Authonty (ITA) for five years

Wa are delighted that our continued focus
on delivering operational excellence and
superor service standards has been
recognised with a number of further
industry awards, including the National
Transport Award for Improvements to Bus
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Overview of 2015

Year endad 2016 2014
31 Decambers £m £m
Revenue 286.4 2810
Operating profit 37.5 340
Operating margin 13.1% 121%

Services Dunng 2015 we also achievad
our highest ever Transport Focus customer
satisfaction score of 87%, 1 percentage
point higher than 2014, and 9 percentage
points higher than 2012

In 2015, we reinforced our leadership
credentials on smart tteketing with the
further roll out of the Swift smartcards to all
of our buses and trams, in partnership with
Centro Swift now provides the industry-
leading capability of muth-operator,
multi-modal season tickets, alongside Pay
As You Go and camets This is the first such
card in an [TA and 1s agan a demonstration
of the strength of our partnership working
with Centro We continue to see strong
growth in the use of Swift across our
network, with growth of 172% in the year,
and a smartcard transaction every four
seconds on our buses

Extending our approach to partnership,
we launched ‘Transforming Tram Travel'

n 2015, with Centro This partnership
contains 50 commitments to improve the
Midland Metro and was recognised at the
Light Raul Awards for “Vision of the Year'
Towards the end of 2015, Her Majesty The
Queen opened the first of the city centre
extensions, with services due to extend

to Brmingham New Street soon

In Dundee we relaunched our servicas
with new branding designed by the local
commurnity Cur Xplore Dundes services
areg lsading the way with smartcards —
for example, we are the first operator in
Scotland to allow users to load travel
passes onto the widely held National




Entitlernent Cards In line with our approach
to partnership we hope to shortly launch a
similar ‘Transforrming Bus Travel’ agreement
i1 Dundee

We also continued our strong track record
of improving safety, bath for custorners and
amployees, resulting In a lower number of
Ijunes and assaults and reduced cost of
clams A key focus 1s occupational health,
and our 'Health Bus' was recegnised by
saveral industry and HR awards

UK Bus has been awarded a tugh four-star
rating by the European Foundation for
Qualty Management in its first ever EFQM
assessmert, demonstrating a commitment
to achreving excellent operational standards
UK Bus 1s working towards achieving a
five-star rating in its next assessment

Finally LK Bus was the first privately
owned public transport company to
introduce the Living Wage Foundation
Living Wage for all staff

Cash and returns

The UK Bus business generates an
axcellent retum on capital, delivenng good
asset utiisaton and profitable returns on
investment As we highlighted last year,
capital nvestment has nsean significanthy n
2015, reflecting a record level of nvestment
in new busas This resuited in a lower level
of operating cash of £17 milkon Our new
Platinum buses in particular are already
drving strong growth In passenger volumes

We continue to maintain our disciphned
approach to investment, targeting areas
which will deliver the greatest returns

-3

During 2015 we achieved our highest ever
Transport Focus customer satisfaction
score of 87%

Creating new opportunities

As mentioned above, building on our West
Midlands partnership, wa have unlocked
local authonty funding to complement our
record investment in new buses durng
2015 On key routes in Bimingham and
Solhull, the local authonties are investing in
bus pnortty measures that will significantly
improve journey tmas Platnum growth s
already strong and when completed this
addtional pronty will increase demand
further We will also deploy further Platinum
routes on these comdors

Investment will continue to be targetad
where it makes the most significant
ditference to the business As well as more
state-cf-the-art Platinum buses, the digital
marketing lessons leamed in c2c and UK
Coach are being appled to UK Bus We
are refocusing advertising spend to digital
channels and developing an enhanced
CBEM approach to improve targeted
marketing and personalised communication
with customers This will be combined with
further iInnovahon In pricing to target
specific groups, for example off-peak
travellers and famites Further progress

on ticketing is also targeted with the
introduction of contactiess payment and
mobile tickets towards the end of this year

There are further opportunities for cost
efficiency, with the continued roll out of
fuel efficiency measures {alongside the
contnued investment in more fuel efficient
buses} and driver schedufing optimisation
software Scophisticated data analysis 1s
also being apphed to our engineering

processes to proactively target vehicles for
repar Again, drawing on expenence from
across the Group whaere its use has
already delivered cost savings and

safety improvements, UK Bus 1s pileting
‘DriveCam’ and investigating the use of
colision avordance technology to achieve
simitar benefits

in 2015, our tram service was extended nto
the centre of Brmingharn, with the first phase
of the Midland Metro extansion opening in
Decernber and the next phase due to open
n March 2016 The new, longer trams have
acided nearly 50% addional capacity

We have also invested in new services and
additional routes responding tc changing
patterns in demand This includes new
axpress services to Warwick University
and routes into Staffordshire, as well as
contracts to serve new business parks and
distnbution centres for companies such as
Amazon We are currently working on a bid
for Manchester Matrolink, with submission
In May, and the seven-year contract, plus a
possible three-year extension, 1s due to
commence in July 2017

Despte the regional market challenges
axpenenced nationwide, UK Bus provides
a good opportunity for further growth as
we look to benefit from the stabilty of a
five-year 'Bus Allance’, combined with
nvestment in new vahicles and technology
and a continued focus on cost efficiancy
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Business review: UK Coach

Record passenger numbers
driving strong growth

Tom Stables
Managing Director, UK Coach

UK Coach

Overview of 2015

UK Coach continues to focus on
delivenng frequent, value for money
services efficiantly and marketing them
in an increasingly persenalised and
targeted way using sophisticated digital
technologies and techniques This has
again been comptemented by new
partnership deals that help customers
access our services mora sasily and
efficiently and reach new markets

This approach has delivered another year of
axcallent performance, with profit growth of
15 4% to £32 3 milkon (2014 £28 Om) This
means that since the difficult year of 2012,

UK Coach has delivered a 57% increase n
operating profit Operating margin has also
shown a further increase followang on from the
strong gains in the previous two years, nsing
130 basis points m the year to 11 5% (2014

10 2%) Passenger numbers on the core

£m

2014 normalised operating proft 280
Net impact of growth and

new routes 42
Cost inflation 42
Cost efficiencies 38
Fuel 05

2015 normalised cperating profit 32 3

network also grew by nearly 2%

Growth %
Passenger yield 1
Passenger volume 2
Change in core express
revenue 3
Other revenues (n
Total revenue 2

Total revenue increased by 2 2% to

£281 2 millon 2014 £275 2m) Core
network revenue increased by 3 1% with
new partnership arrangements, digital
inthatives, addional routes and our
anhanced marksting and CRM activities
more than offsetting reduced rail
replacement revenues and lower contract
income durng the first half of the year

Operational excellence

Our customer service strategy has
continued to focus on providing frequent
coach services at low pnces Lower pnces
ware sustained throughout the year and
passenger growth has been achieved
through an active pricing strategy that
optimises revenues by responding to
changing market conditions This has
been supported by increasing our sales
distnbution through the development of
existing refationships and the creation of
new partnership arrangements with
companigs such as Tranline, Singapore
Aurlines, Webloyalty and RBS

Dunng 2015 we continued to leverage our
enhanced CRM capabilities, with strong
price intiatives and targeted marketng
campaigns - whera customer
communications are more tallored to the
indmdual - helping to drive record
passenger numbers N our core network
and a very strong year in festivals and
events Of the emails we send to our
database, 88% are now targeted compared
with 9% in 2014 and 18% in 2013

Following the success of Chnstmas Day
sarvices, first launched in 2013, we achiaved
significant further growth in 2015 with
addtional routes and services resutting
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Overview of 2015

Year andad 2015 2014
31 December £m £m
Revenue 281.2 2752
Operating profit 323 280

Operating margin 11.5% 10 2%

In a 47% increase In revenues on the day and
significantty enhancing our customer offer

While lower in the first half of the year, we
have secured new contracts in the last six
months of 2015 For example we won a new
three-year contract with Briish Airways to
provide buses tor Heathrow staff together
with inter-airport transfer servces for both
passengers and crew, we secured a five-year
contract for arport work at Stansted, bussing
passangers between the car parks and
terminals, and signed a ten-year contract
with the University of West London for
student transportation between campuses

During the year we have further reduced
the level of vehicle accidents and employee
njunes and our commitment {0 high safety
standards has been recognised with two
significant safety awards We were delighted
1o be presentad with the prestigious British
Safety Counctl Sword ot Honour and
National Express has also been recognised
by the Royal Society for the Prevention of
Accidents with a Gold Award We are the
first coach operator in the UK to invest n
‘DriveCam’, a leading safety and dnver-aid
technolegy, demonstrating our commitment
to dnving up safety standards The resutts
from the inhal pilot have bean very
encouraging, Inciuding a reduction in costs
Alongside the introduction of collision
avoidance tachnology, the roll out of these
safety measures will — we are confident -
dnve a reduction of both accidents and the
associated costs We believe thisis an
opportunity for real progress in the

coming years




——— ——

Cash and returns

The UK Coach business model has a
particularly strong return on capital and
cash generation, outsourcing the majorty
of flest provision and services to its partner
operators In a capital-ight model In 2015,
wa delvered another strong performance,
generating operating cash of £38 rmilion
with cash conversion of 117% of operating
profit Capital expenditure remans primanly
focused on enhancing our retail systems,
amed at delivenng improved CRM
capabilities, enhanced mobile and online
bocking options for customers and a mere
sophisticated RMS We will also invest
further in technology to deliver enhanced
safety results and lower assoclated costs

Creating new opportunities
Attractive pnoing, coupled with improved
yield management, will allow the dmsion to
continue to grow volume, improve load
factors and drve prcfitability We wil!
continue to explort our enhanced CRM
capabiimes developing further tallored and
customised offers for our customers

We see signficart opportuniies to engage
with our customers on an increasingly
personalised tevel as ws imptement further
improvements to our digital platforms,
providing improved functionality across all
our digital channels This is driving higher
conversion rates for online transactions, for
exampla with the introduction of a PayPal
payment system which significantly reduces
the transaction times for customers In 2016

_)

Strong price initiatives and targeted marketing
campaigns have helped achiave record
numbers in our care Coach network

we will launch an enhanced mobie app
with greater functionalty, including
personalised journey planners and the
ability to track and share journey progress,
togsther with personalised content and
otfars which should help dnve incrementat
revanue growth

2018 will ses the Introduction of an even
mere sophisticated RMS across our
network which will significantly enhance our
capability to actively manage pricing ona
real-tme basis through the use of dynamic
pneing technology This will net only drive
load factors but also improve route
profitability We will also complement thus
with targeted promotional oHers and the
dnve to a greater personalised relationship
with customers

As wall as reviewing our network efficiency,
we also look to add new routes where we
sea growth opportuniies In 2015 we
launched new services serving passengers
between Kent and Gatwick and new
services to Bnstol Airport which should
dnve further growth in 2016 and beyond

By leveraging the strength of our brand,
we will continue to grow the number of
distnbution channels to customers,
together wath an ongoing focus on
operational efficlency We reman
commitied to maintaining our competrtive
posihion aganst rail, our key competitor

www nationalexprassgroup com
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Business review: Rail

Strong progress in the UK

and Germany

Andrew Chivers
Managing Director, Rall

Rail

Overview of 2015

National Express’ Rail dvision has bad
another successful year with the first full year
of the new c2c franchise maintaining s
position as the most punctual operator,
further success in secunng German rail
contracts and the launch of our first German
rall services on the Rhine-Munster Express
{{RME’) network

Total revenue in 2015 increased by 111%

o £168 4 millon 2014 £151 6m} supported
by strong passenger growth of 5 3%
Normalised operating profit was £0 6 milhon
(2014 loss of £10 1m), with the results in 2014
restated to refiect the change in accounting
treatment for bid costs which had prevousty
been treated as exceptional tems The
Improvement N operatng profitability 15

also after incurnng a significant increase N
franchise premiums of £29 millon under

the new ¢2c franchise agreement.

The contribution from our German ral
business has been minimal given that our
first senvices bagan in mid-December, we
are pleased with the inibal response to our
servicas Although we are only in the first few
weeks of trading in a new market, we are
targeting a break-even result a full year ahead
of our onginal plan  Projected revenues for
the exssting RME services are expected o be
around €72 milllon in 2016, with later years
benefiing from the operation ¢f the €1 bilkon
Rhine-Ruhr Express services from 2018,

and subject to further legal challenge the
€14 bilion Nuremberg S-Bahn contract

Operational excellence

Qur Rall dwvision 1s at the forefront of the
Group's drive for oparational excellence

In 2015 c2¢ mantaned (ts pesiion as the
most punctual UK franchise with an annual
average of 97 1% We were delighted to be
recognised with the National Rail Award
for Passenger Operator of the Year,
demonstrahng our ambition and

capabity to be at the forefront of
standards for customer service

We have also been awarded a five-star rating
by the European Foundation for Qualty
Management for a second successive
assassment, recording our best ever score,
demonstrating once agan our commitmsnt
to achieving the highest operational
standards This remains an important
credential for rall bidding

We continue to introduce industry-leading
Inatives, Including proneenng the
introduction of an automatic compensation
schemea for smartcard custemers We have
seen a very strong uptake of ¢2¢ smartcards
since their ntroducten, with nearty a quarter
of all ssason-tickst holders now using

tham, we believe the highest level for

any tran operator

Wea continue to éxpand our offenng to
customers and wall be the first operator
outside the Transport for Londor: boundary
to introduce new contactiess payment
systems next year Later this year we will
be intreducing digital medha screens and
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Overview of 2015

Year ended 20156 2014
31 December £m £m
Revenue 168 4 1516
QOperating profit 0.6 (101)

Operating margin 0.4% {6 6%}

* FY2014 rasults restated 10 adiust for tha impact of rail
bid costs previously traateq as exceptional tems

content on all our frains and enhancing the
free WiFi services already avallable, helping to
keep our passengers connacted, productive
and entertained dunng therr journey

We have introduced first-to-last staffing at all
our stations which not only enhances seracea
levels for our customers, but also Improves
revenue protection across our network with
associated margin benefits

Our strong destination-nspired marketing
campargns have helped to dnve significant
mcremental growth with off-peak revenues up
8%, almost double the average growth rate for
London and the South East, and weekend
revenues up 15%, resutting inmproving load
factors and drving higher profitabilty We also
introduced the largest tmetable change In
ageneration to meet both the significant
passenger growth we have seen and the
improved Londen connechons required in our
franchise agreement with the Department for
Transport Wa have responded to customer
feedback and amended the timetable 1o
address some concems and are seeking

1o ntroduce additonal trans as quickly as
possible to mest the curment and projected
future dermand




In December 2015 we saw a successful start
to the operaton of senaces for our first two
German ral contracts in North Bhine-
Westphalia and we are pleased with the inthal
response, where we are already seaing an
mproved performanca in terms of punctualty
relative to other operators

Cash and returns

Raul offers a caprtal-ight mocde! with relatively
lower marging but high returns on capital

In 2015 our Raill dmsion delivered £8 2 mifhon
of operating cash In the current year, we
anticipate a higher level of growth caprtal
expenditure than normal as we commence a
programme of further service mprovements,
in Ine with our bid plan commitments for c2¢

Creating new opportunities

We will continue our digital marketing
approach to Increasa passenger numbers
and revenue on off-peak services This will
be complemented with the enhanced
personalised services we are roling out this
year, including the automatic compensation
for delays, Personalised Performancs
Raports and ive jourmney nformaton
avalable through the c2¢ Live app

We have had another successful year in
Germany, secunng a further €1 billon of
future revenues with the award of two
contracts to operate servicas on the
Rhine-Ruhr Express, in the North Rhirne-
Westphalia regron The first of the contracts
will commence operations in December
2018, with the second one starting in
December 2020, with both contracts running
through to 2033 In addition, we await the
outcome of a further appeal for the award of
the Nuremberg S-Bahn where we have been

In 2015 ¢2c maintained Ks position as
top-rated performer of all UK rail franchwses
for punctualty

announced as prefermad tidder The
successful conclusion of this appeal would
add a further €1 4 billion of future revenues
over a 12-year penod With at least 20
contracts coming to markat in the next three
years in German rail, we see a strong pipeline
of opportunites and we will contmue to be
selective In our bidding approach in order

to drve the best returns We have already
successfully pre-qualfied for a further
franchise In 2016 and are currently targeting
contracts with revenue of around €3 bilon

c2c 1s consistertly the best perferming rail
franchise In the LUK and this strength in
operatonal performance 15 helping to dmve
growth (in naw rall markets We submitted

a bd to operate the East Angla franchise

in Decermber 2015, with the award of the
franchise due in the summer Should we be
successful in cur bid, we expect 1o begn
operating sarvices in October 2016, with the
contract lasting up 1o ten years Beyond this,
our currant focus 1s on secunng smaller,
lowear nsk German rall franchisas where the
nsk 1s acceptable and mesets our capital-igiht
investment cntena We will, of course, also
continue to monrtar the UK market and
consicler competbons as they anse and

will bid for new franchises where they

meet our stnct financial cntena In addition,
we will continue to monrtor the regulatory
ermarcnment across Europe and may look
to enter other markets as they Iberalise

=> Read more about our German
rall business on pages 48 and 49
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Business review: Rail continued

Our new trans offer more space
for passengers than other German
regional operators

g

Revenue protection 1s managed by
a dedicated team equipped with
the latest technology
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Building our
presence in
Europe’s largest
rail market

The latest addition to our rail business I1s
In Germany National Express became
the first Briish company to competitively
anter the German raill market when it was
awarded two contracts in February 2013
1o run services in the North Rhine-
Westphala region

With the largest ral market In Europe, the
(German ral market provides an attractive
growth opportunity for National Express

This market 15 attractive not only due to its
size, but also dus to the capital-kght nature
of some of the rall franchises [n addion,
the bid costs associated with the tendenng
of rall franchise competitions tend to be
lower In Germany than in the UK rail market,
wiath contracts also typically longer than in
the UK and margins similar to those in the
UK, typically around 3-5%

Services started on Sunday 12 December
last year on two lines the REY regional
axpress service between Krefeld and
Rheine and the RB48 regional stopping




service between Bonn and Wuppertal
Both Iines share the same route between
Cologne and Wuppertal The two services
form part of the Rhine-Munster Express
(RME) and we expect to carry around

18 millon passengers per annum

New trains

To operate the new services, wa procured
35 new Bombardier Talent 2 trams on
behalf of the regional transport authorthes
that are responsible for the routes They
compnse sets of three and five carnages
which can be linked to provide extra
capacity dunng peak hours

The trains have been fitted to a different
specification to those run by other German
operators, with more leg room and
alectnerty sockets under every pair of seats
They are also fully accessible for disabled
passengers, and each tran can carry up
to ten bikes securely

New team

In Britain, when a company takes over
arall franchise it transfers the existing
staff over under TUPE arrangements

In Germany it 1s different, and as a result
we have successfully recruited a whole
new team to cperate our services

New dnvers were trained for mne months
to become fully qualfied, and these were
joined by a team of revenue nspectors
and head office support staff n Cologne
We now have a team of just over 100
working for us

New way of working

Although the routes are not new sarvices,
the marketing team in Germany has scught
to differentiate what we do from the
previous operator Adverts have promoted
a 'very Bntish' expenence, highhghting the
new on-board features which passengers

€2.6bn

projected annual revenue
resulting from contract wins in Germany

35

new frains procured

<«
One of our new Talent 2 trains In Cologne
central radway station

benefit from This has helped bulld
the National Express profile as the
new operator In the region

Future growth

Alongside the start of RME operations,
2015 has seen further significant
successes, winning two rail contracts
to operate services on the Rhine-Ruhr
Express We have also been named as
prefarred bidder to operate services on
the Nuremberg S-Bahn In a relatively
short penod of trme, we have buitt a
business worth €2 6 bilion of revenues,
secunng our position N the Garman rail
market through to 2033 and we have a
turther €3 billon in our actve pipeline of
future bids

Our 2015 Strategic Report, from page
1 to page 49, has been reviewed and

Dean Finch
Group Chief Executive
25 February 2016
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Corporate Governance

Chairman’s introduction to governance

Committed values

result in good governance

Sir John Armitt CBE
Chairman
25 February 2016

Thus year we are reperting in ine with

the 2014 varsion of the UK Corporate
Governance Code {the ‘Code’) which
apphed to the Company for the whole of the
financial year snded 31 December 2015
The tull report detaling how we have
complied can be found on the following
pages As a Board, we aspire to apply high
standards of governance to our conduct
around the Board table and we comrmut to
ensure that these standards, values and
behaviours are applied consistently by the
Executive team and cascaded throughout
the Group Strong governance remains a
framework within which the Board sets its
values and delivers long-term success for
the Company and its investars whilst
racognising its duties towards the wider
stakeholder community

I would like to share with you a few key

areas which have receved focus during
2015 as the Board puts into practice its
governance procedures

Board changes and succession
Dunng the year, we have continuad to
refresh the Board to ensure that, as the
Group evolves to take account of changing
axternal dynamics, we have Directors

with the appropriate balance of skills,
experience, independence and relevant
knowledge In order 1o deliver our strategy
and fuffil our duties as Directors

In January 2015, the Board appointed
Matthew Ashley as Group Finance

Director Matthew was formerly the Finance
Drrector of the UK Bus business, having
also previously held the position of Group
Financial Contraller Matthew has made a
signrficant contnbution to the business in
hus first year and we look forward to his
continued support in developing and
implementing Group strategy

The Board had set itself the specific
obyective of recruting a Non-Executive
Director wath a strong customer focused
background with particular ernphasis on
digital marketing expertise | am delighted
to report that we filled this role with the
appointment, in May, of Matthew Crummack
as an independent Non-Executive Director
Matthew brings with him sigrificant
knowledge of the digital landscape from
his previous role as CEO at lastminute com
His digital experience is directly relevant to
National Express as we place customers
and digital nnovation at the heart of our
strategy and focus on delvenng
continuously Improving services

| am also delighted to report that we have
further strengthened the financial expertise
on our Board with the appointment of

Mike McKeon He brings significant

financial and corporate knowledge, coupled
with wide-ranging intermational axpernsnce
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through his 15 years in the role of Group
Finance Director within the isted company
anvironment and latterly at Severn Trent plc
Mike took over as Chaiman of the Audrt
Commuttee on 1 August

The appointment of Dr Ashley Steel as a
Non-Executive Director and member of the
Audit Committee from 1 January 2016 15 also
very welcome Ashley has a distinguished
track record of providing strategic adwice

to companies across a range of sectors,
particulady transport, and we will benefit
from her knowledge and expenence

Effective engagement

with shareholders

In ine with Code recommendations,

the Board recognises and values the
importance of mantaning healthy

and open communications with

our shareholders to ensure mutual
understanding of the Group's strategy,
objectives, governance and performance

As a resuit of a maintaned dalogue with
our institutional shareholders dunng the
first faw months of 2015, | am pleased to
report that we gained a substantial increase
in the level of shareholder support for our
remuneration frameawork from 64% at our
2014 Annual General Maeting {AGM’)

to just under 99% at our 2015 AGM We
remamn committed to an open dialogue
wath our shareholders and to full disclosure
of tha rationale for the decisions rmade by
the Remuneration Committee

Similarly, we engaged with our investors
ahead of last year's AGM on presenting
clearly the Board’s position In response

to the Teamsters corporate campaign
aganst National Express which included
ther requisitioned resolution put to the
2015 AGM In line with the Board's
recommendaton that sharsholders

vote against this resolution, the special
resolution falled to gain the support of 85%
of our sharsholders and was thersfore not
passed The Board remans firm that we waill
protect cur employess’ nght to freedom of
choice in a free and far election on whether
or not 1o 10N a union

Governance in practice

This year, we have included an addibonal
sechon within our Corporate Governance
Report which provides an insight into how our
Non-Executve Directors play an actve role

In engaging directly wath our businesses

and workforca We focus on a vanety of ste
wsits mads during the year by cur Non-
Exacutve Directors to show how they fulfi
their governance oversight role in a practical
way through supporting and challenging
management | hope you find this new
section to ba of value and that it adds to your
understanding of how we operate as a Board




Annual General Meeting

This year we are back m our heartland
in the West Midlands with our AGM
being held at 2 00pm on Wednesday

11 May 2016 in Hall 9 at the International
Convention Centre, Broad Street,
Brmungham B1 2EA | would encourage
o] attend to meet me and the Board

Y oot

ir John Armitt CBE
Charman
25 February 2016

Audit Committee

“The Audit Commuttee continues to play a key oversight role in the
governance of the Company and | am pleased to report to you on
the work undertaken by the Committee dunng 2015

Mike McKeon, Audit Committee Chair
How the Audit Committee spent its time in 2015

Fnancial Statements and reports 33%
External aLsdit 10%
Rsk management 12%
Intermal auci 17%
IT nsk strategy/Cyber secunty 8%
Tax/Treasury %
Corporate governance 1%

=>» Read more p64

Nomination Committee
“ am pleased o report to you on the work undertaken
by the Comrmittee dunng 2015”

Sir John Armitt CBE, Nomination Committee Chair
How the Nomination Commirttee spent its time in 2015
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New NED appoiriments 55% »
Hection/Re-election of Dusctors 10% 32
New Executive Director appointrent 15% m ;
Succession planning 10% ﬁ (74
Board diversity 0% | 3
=» Read more p68
Code principles Safety & Environment Committee
How tha Company has cornplied with the “l am pleased to report that in 2015 we continued to make progress in
2014 UK Corporate Governance Code our safety performance and in the management of the Company's Z»
Loadershi environmental responsibiities gg
eadership Z3
How the Board provides leadership for the Chris Muntwyler, Safety & Envwronment Committee Chair 52
Group and direction for management How the Safety & Environment Committee spent its time in 2015 gF

-» Read more p56

Effectiveness

How we seek to bulld an effective Board with
the appropnate balance of skills, expenence,
independence and knowledge

=>» Read more p60

Accountability

How the Board discharges its responsibilities to prasent
a far, balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company's positon and prospects

> Read more p62

Relations with shareholders
How we maintain relations wrth our investors

=» Read more p62

Remuneration

How we align Executive pay with performance and
the long-term success of the Company and the
nterests of shareholders

=>» Read more p72

External audit of corporate governance of safiety 9%

Dmvang Out Harnm annual review 10%
Salety performance review 40%
Erraronmental revew 33%
Health and weltbang 8%

=» Read more p70

Remuneration Committee
*l am pleased to report 1o you on the work undertaken by the
Committee dunng 2015"

Jane Kingston, Remuneratton Committee Chasr
How the Remuneration Committee spent its time in 2015

Executve Directors’ remuneration 20%
Senior Management Group remuneration 15%
Long-Term Incentive Plan 20%
Bonus awards 20%
Charmman's fee 5%
Executve Dwrectors' service contracts 5%
Rernuneration budget 5%
Other employae share scherres 5%

Corporate govemnance — Remuneration Report 5%
-» Read maore p72
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Corporate Governance - Govemance in practice

Building a deeper understanding

of our business

A clear framework for the Board

Governance provides the framework within

which the Board sets its values and delivers

long-term success to the Company and s
investors, balancing this with its duties to
the wider stakeholder community

Every year our Non-Executwe Drrectors
draw on therr respective breadth of
experience and knowledge when visiting
frontine operations across the Group
These offer a great opportunity to gst to
the heart of business, and deliver a unigue
insight Into how the business operates
This, in turn, Informs Board discussions

This section illustrates a number of these
wvisits Our Safety and People Values wera
the focus of two visits wath ancther forming
part of our iInduchon programme for new
Board members

AA
Chris Muntwyler meets the team
at Trans Express in Brooklyn

.)
Jane Kingston tnes out the bus
simulator at Memptus

>
Mike McKeon visits the Customer Service
Centre in Aurora

Safety - our
number one priority

Safety 1s our highest priority in whatever
we do as a business, and our performance
18 monitored by our Safety & Environment
Committee

All of our Non-Executive Directors are
members of our Safety & Environment
Committee which 1s responsible for
reviewing and challenging constructively

the structure, content and operation of the
safety management arrangements put in
place by management Chns Muntwyler
chars this Committee and, in addition to the
formal Committee meetings, receves regular
input from the Group Safety Director on
safety performance across the Group and
its independent meritonng by Arthur D Litle

To complement the formal reporting lines
in place and to witness first-hand how our
safety management arrangements are
embedded within our operations, Chns
takes the opportunity, wherever possible,
to wisit key sites and engage with local
management

In Septernber, he paid a visit to one of

our newly acquired businesses in North
Amenca — Trans Express based in

Brooklyn, New York He met with the
pravous owners, including the General
Manager, Mary Rubing, in order to welcome
them to National Express and to gain an
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insight Into how they manage and ive our
Safety values

Following meetings with local management
and a tour arcund theirr bus mantenance
facility, Chns ganed a better understanding
of their business and the new opportunities
beng explored Considenng the high
standards and initiatives set across the
Group, Chns sad ¥l am vary pleased to
ses how dedicated everybody is at frans
Express to safety and how stable the
respective processes are ™ He left Trans
Express with the impression of a very
strong and motivated team under Mary
Rubino’s leadership

Qur first Garman rai servicas on the
Rhine-Munster Express hnes launched

in mid-December with 35 new Talent

2 electric trains, built by Bombardier, .
which we procured on behalf of the

local authonties Prior to the start-up of
operations, Chris took the oppertunity to
visit the train manufacturer in Berlin to gan
a first-hand impression of the quality of the
new trains and to meet with Bombardier
management They replace older and,

In many cases, less accessible trans

“With these new trains, we hope to
achieve a dramatic quality and relability
mprovement for our tran customers in the
Cologne area Not only did we choose the '
latest and most reliable technology. but

these trains bear the full National Express !
brand inside and out,” he said




People — a great
place to work

Jane Kingston, having served on the

Board over the past two years, took over
from S Andrew Foster as Charr of the
Remuneration Cormmittes on 6 May 2015
Given her background, expenence and
specffic nterest N People issues generally
across the Group, Jane has created the
time and opportunity to visit some ten sites
across all our dvisions in the UK, Span and
North Amenca in order to better understand
how she might add value and influence, as
well as challenge, human reseurce intiatves
In her Non-Executve capacity

In the North Amencan School Bus business,
Jane has been impressed by some great people
on the front ne — drivers, mamtenance teams —
all of whorm are committed to the safe transport
of children and serang the cient school boards
Whist i the US pnor to the September Board
meeting, Jane was actively mvolved in an
employee focus group at the Memphis
Customer Service Centre She and the local
management team wanted to hear directly from
our peopie on thetr thoughts on what tislke to
work for the Durham School business

Jane said “This intative worked very
well with some insightful and positve
contnbutions being made at every level

Induction delivers
broad business
insights

The objective of an effactive nduction
process 1 to prowde a new Director with
the information he or she will need to
become as sffective as possible in ther
role within the shortest practicable ime

Dunng the year, wa appointsd three new
independent Non-Executive Directors
with each followng ther own induction
programme As part of bus induction
programme, Mike McKeon, Chairman

of the Audit Committee, visited our North
Amercan School Bus Custorner Service
Centras in Memphis and Aurora

Mike's wisit to a Durham School bus site

in Aurora coincided with the mid-morning
retumn of all the yellow buses simuttaneously
which, In his eyes, created the impression
of something important happening “In

both Memphis and Aurora hundreds of

our staff had safely delivered that day soms
thousands of children to therr school and
would do the reverss |ater In the day No
doubt this was replicated several thousand
tmes over the US and Canada that day and
it was only later on my tnp home it really
sunk in to me the importance of what our
staff and ourselves are doing here

“Our staff are taking the next generation

of Amencans and Canadians to therr
schooling In safety every day of therr school
Iives That 1s a significant responsibility and
great pnvilegs that we, as Board members,
must not forget

“This realisation alone merits the tnp in rmy
eyes and adds greatly to my induction as
a new Director It 1s not something | could
sasly comprehend Just by reading a
document back home,” he said

Mike was impressed by the canng qualiies
demonstrated by our people “It was very
clear to me that what they do really matters
to them Staff were enthustastic and
engaged with me as a visitor — they wanted
to tell me what they were doing - a clear
sign of enthustasm for the job "

The benefits of Mike's direct engagermert
with local management and frontine staff
within our cperations has allowed him {o
understand what we do and, more
importantly, why we do it Mike concluded
by saying “The bedrock of what | saw in
our peopla suggested, above all, that they
wanted to get the kids to school and back
safely Safety s inther DNA”

The conclusion was reached that Durham
Schools was a good place to work with some
thoughtful ideas having emerged which wil
be followed through over the coming year”

The focus group programme will be
developed and rolled out across a number
of sites In North Amenca and the UK

As part of our talent development and
succession planning process, we launched the
‘National Express Network” in early December
The Network, probably the first worldwide
gathenng of its kand within the transport
Industry, enables graduates from our bus, ral
and coach operations in the UK, Spain and
North Amenca to leam from each other and
work more closely together as wel as
maximising their own indnvidual potential

Jane attended the launch event held at the
Warwick Business School along with the
Exacutive Directors and other members of

the Seror Management Group. Jane prased
the structure of the naugural meeting of the
Network which had been well receved by our
young talent pool across the businesses Jane
believes that such opportunites to meet Board
mernbers and the Seror Management Group
are valuable and Inspirational “This type of
inbatrve 1s very powerful for our graduates,
enabling therr eyes to be opered to the range
of opportunities available to thermn dunng the
course of their career with National Express

They know what they belong to,” she sad
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Corporate Governance — Board of Directors

A strong and experienced Board
delivering the right blend of skills

1 Sir John Armitt CBE

Chairman {70)

Appointment: 1 January 2013 and

as Charrman on 1 Febwuary 2013

Exparience Sr John Amitt CBE s currently
Deputy Charman of Berkeley Group Holdings PLC,
Chawman of the City and Guilds Group and a member
of the Board of Transport for London and of the
National Infrastructurs Commission Ha s also
President of the insttution of Cvl Engineers  Sir dohn
was Chairman of the Oympic Delivery Authonty from
2007 to 2014 and Chaiman of the Engineenng

and Physical Science Rasearch Councl from 2007
to 2012, From 2001 1o 2007 he was Chief Executive
of Network Rad and its predecessor, Raltrack. in
1897 he was appointed as Chief Executive of Costam
Group PLC a position he held untd 2001 Before this,
Sr John was Chief Executive of Union Rasways,

the company responsible for the development

of the fugh speed Channel Tunnel Ral Link This
followed a 27-year career at John Lang PLC

2 Dean Finch

Group Chief Executive {49)

Appointment 15 February 2010

Experience Pnor to joining National Express,
Dean Finch was Group Chisf Executive of Tube
Linas from May 2009 Before that he worked for
over ten years In senor rolas within FirstGroup PLC
He joined FirstGroup in 1999 hawng qualified as
a Chartered Accountant with KPMG where he
worked for 12 yaars specialising in Corporate
Transaction Support Services, including working
for the Office of Passenger Rall Franchising on
the privatisabion of train operating companies

At FirstGroup, he was Managing Director of the Rall
Dmision from 2000 to 2004 and then was appaintad to
tha man board as Group Commercial Director in 2004,
before being made Group Finance Director With the
completion of the Ladlaw acquisition, he became
Chief Operating Officar in North Amenca before
returning to the UK as Group Chief Operating Officer
Bean s also currently a Non-Executive Dwvector of the
Raoyal Free London NHS Foundation Trust

54

3 Mike McKeon

Independant Non-Exacutive Director (59)
Appolntment. 3 July 2015

Expertence Mike McKeon was Group Finance
Director of Severmn Trent pic from 2005 unul hes
retirement from the beard m 2015 Pnor to that
between 2000 and 2005, he was Group Finance
Dwector of Novar ple He has held vanous senior
roles, both In the UK and ntemationally, at
Rolls-Royce pic CamaudMetalbox, BIf Atochem
and PncewaterhouseCoopers Mike Is currently
Senior Independent Cirector and Charman of the
Audit Committae at investment trust, The Merchants
Trust PLC Hels a Chartered Accountant

4 Matthew Ashley

Group Finance Deector 42)

Appomntment. 28 January 2015

Experienca Matt Ashlay joined National Express

as Group Financial Controlier in 2010 from Deloitte
where he was a Director specialising n transport

and infrastructure and the auditing of bsted
companies havng previously qualfied as a Chartered
Accountant in 1998 He was then promoted 1o the
role of Finance Dwrector of the UK Bus dvsion in 2013
before becoming intenm Group Finance Director in
October 2014 Matt has no external drectarships

5 Jorge Cosmen

Deputy Chairman {47)

Appointment. 1 December 2005

Experience Jorge Cosmen was appomted lo the
Board at the time of the ALSA transaction He was
appontad Deputy Company Chatman in October
2008 Hewas Corporate Manager for the ALSA
Group from 1995, becorming Chairman in 1989
Between 1986 and 1995, he worked in sales
distnbution and banking He 1s a Business
Administration graduate and has an International
MBA from the Institito de Empresa in Madnd

Hea s a Non-Executrve Duector of Bankia,

as well as of other private comparnues
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6. Dr Ashley Steel

Independent Non-Executive Director (56)
Appointment. 1 January 2016

Experience: Dr Ashley Steel 1s a former Vice
Charman at KPMG and was Global Charr for ts
transport, kesure and logistcs practice untl her
retrement from the firn in September 2014 Ashlay has
signficant intematonal axpenence and has adwised
numarous FTSE and Fortune 500 boards Her other
sactor expanence naiudes professional services,
technology, madia, business senaces and healthcare

Ashley 1s curmently a Non-Exacutive Director of the
Cwil Aviation Authority and serves on the International
Busness Advisory Board at Briish Awrways Sha is
also Spacal Advisor to a global anation technology
company owned by Warburg Pincus and an
Independent Non-Executive Dyector to global law
fim Ince & Go Ashlay has a PhD n Management
from Henley Business School.

Committee membership

B Chairman

§
® Member 3 53 53 B3
£ FE ZE whEE
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55 5 Bt Eis
Directar 28 28 &8 &
Sir John Armitt CBE [ | ®
Jorge Cosmen @ [ ]
Lea Sander ® @ o ®
Joaguin Ayuso ® ®
Matthew
Crummack o g
Jane Kingston [ ] ®
Mike McKeon [ ] ®
Chris Muntwyler ® o |
Dr Ashley Steel [ ] ®

'
:

Dean Finch*

Matthew Ashley*

may attend Board Commatise meetings at the iIntation
of the raspective Committes Chairman No Director
attends any discussion or participates n any decison
concayming their own remunaration




7. Chris Muntwyler

Independent Non-Executive Director (63)
Appolntment 11 May 2011

Experlence Chns Muntwyler 1s CEO and Chairman
of the Swiss Management Consuling company
Conlogre Ltd He 1s also Non-Executive Directar

of Panalpina Workd Transport (Helding) Ltd
{Swatzerland) and the Austnan Pest Lid (Austna)
Ounng his 27 years at Swissar he held top

executve posilions n Switzertand Sweden and
North Amenca In 1999 he joined DHL Express
seriing as Managing Director of Switzedand,
Germany and Central Europe and from 2005 o 2008
as CEQ of DHL Exprass (UK} Ltd based in London

8 Matthew Crummack

Indspendent Non-Executrve Director (45)
Appointment 6 May 20:5

Experience Matthew Crummack Is currentty a
Member of the Strategic Advisory Commuttee of
lastminute com group the onfine travel and letsure
retailer where he was previousty CEQ from 2011 until
1ts aGquistion by the Bravoity Rumbo Group in March
2015 He served as Deputy CEO and Chief Integration
Officer untl 31 December 2015

Matthew was formerly a Serior Vice President of
Lodging at Expedia and has previously worked for
Nestié UK and spent eight years at Procter &
Gambia in a variety of roles Ha 15 also a Director of
his own UK based compary, Interventus Limited

2 Joaquin Ayuso

Independent Non-Exacutive Director {60)
Appolntment 1 Juna 2011

Experence Joaguin Ayusc s Board Vice
Chairman for Ferrovial the €3 billon Spanish
transport infrastructure and sarvices group that
employs over 70 000 people woridwide He has
been with Ferrovial sinca 1981 and was appointed
CEOQ in 2002 and held that posshon until October
2009 Durng this pericd, Ferrovial expanded
internaticnally with business nterasts in the UK
US Canada Latn Amenca and Eurcpe Hets
also currently a Non-Executive Director of Bankia,
President of the Board of Autopista del Sol SA,
Independent Director of Hispania Actevos
Inmobiharos SA and Semor Advisor to AT
Keamay n Spamn and Portugal

10. Jane Kingston

Independent Non-Executive Director (58)
Appointment 26 February 2014

Experianca .Jane Kingston saerved as Group
Human Resources Drecter for Compass Group
PLC from 2006 until her retrement in 2016 Pnor
1o thig, she served as Group Human Resources
Director for BPB PLC from 2002 untl As acquisition
by Saint Goban SA in 2006

Jane's earlier career in HR has spanned a variety of
sectors mcluding engineenng and bulding matenals
with Enodis PLC and Bhue Circle PLC {now Lafarge
SA) and garment and textiles with Coats Viyalla
PLC as well as the Bnuish car industry She has
significant intemational expenence hawing had
responsibiity for the people agenda in most parts
of the world at some point dunng her career

11 Lee Sander

Senior Independent Director (59)
Appointment 1 June 2011

Experience Eliot ‘Lee’ Sander is the fonmer Chief
Executive Officer of the Metropolitan Transportation
Authonty of New York and the former Commissioner
of the New York City Department of Transportation
Hae s the Chairman of the Regional Plan Association,
a non-governmental organisation that has played

a guding rola i the planning of the New York
Matropolitan aree Lee was Group Chief Executive
for Global Transpartation at AECOM, a global
architecture and engineeting firm Ha served as
President of The HAKS Group Inc and The | Grace
Company, which also specialised in architecture
engineenng and construction in the public and
prvate sectors In addition, Lee founded the Rudin
Canter for Transportation Policy and Management
at New York University

12 Sandra Forbes

Group General Counsel

and Company Secretary

Appolintment 2 June 2014

Experience Sandra Forbes s a qualifled
solicitor and, prior to joiming National Express
was a specialist banking and transport partner
at Burges Salmon where she was the Head of
tha Ceorporate and Financial Institutions
Department and the firm's Banlung Sector
Head Sandra s also a Governor at the University
of the West of Engtand where she chairs the
Strateg Planning and Performance Committee

Board tenure

0-2 years 2 farmale, 3 male
2-4 years 1 male
4-6 years 3male
B6-10 years 2male

Board experience

Board composition
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Corporate Governance

Governance Report

Compliance with the UK
Corporate Governance Code
The Governance Report set out below,
together with the Directors’ Remuneration
Report, I1s designed to provide shareholders
with a summary of the Group's governance
policies and practices and an explanation
of how the Company has applted the man
principles of the UK Corporate Governance
Code {the ‘Code") that was published in
2014 by the Financial Reporting Gouncil
and which applied to the Company for

the whole of the financial year ended

31 December 2015 The Directors beleve
that the Company has complied with the
provisions set out In the Code during 2015
save as described below A copy of the
Code 15 avallable at www frc org uk

Until his retirement from the Board following
the conclusion of the AGM on 6 May 2015,
Sir Andrew Foster had served on the Board
for more than nine years and was no longer
deemed to be ndependent under the Code
Given his significant expenence, Sir Andrew
continued to char the Remuneration
Committee until 6 May 2015 upon which
date Jane Kingston became Chaur of that
Committee Sir Andrew alsc remamned a
member of the Nomination and Audrt
Committees untll he stepped down as

a Director as mentioned above Following
the appointments of Matthew Crummack
and Mike McKeon as independent
Non-Executive Directors on 6 May and

3 July respectively, the opportunity was
taken to review the membership of the
Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Commitiees As a resuft of thus review

and the subsequent appointments to the
Committees as set out on page 58, the
composttion of the Comrmittees became

in ine with Code requirements The
appointment of Dr Ashlsy Steel as an
addihonal Non-Executive Director to the
Beard and to the Audit Committee from

1 January 2016 has strengthened further
the collective expertise of this Committee

Leadership

The Role of the Board

The Board provides leadership of the
Group and direchon for management |t

15 collectively responsible and accountable
to the Company's shareholders for the
long-term succass of the Group and for
ensuring the appropnate management
and operation of the Group in pursuit of

its objectives The Board 1s responsible ior
setting the Group's strategy, values and
standards and ensunng that the necessary
controls and resources are in place to
deliver these

The Chairman and the Group

Chief Executive

The roles of the Charman and Group
Chief Executive are held separately and
the division of responsibilities betwseen
these roles 1s clearly sstablished as

shown below The Charrman 1s responsible
for leading the Board and ensuring its
effectiveness The Group Chief Executive
1s responsible for running the business

of the Group and implementation of the
strategy and policies adopted by the Board

Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors collectvely
represent a robust element of the Board
and each brings with them his or her own
expertise gained in a vansety of business
sactors They constructively challenge and
scrutinise the performance of managesment
and help develop proposals on strategy as
wall as ensunng high standards of financial
probity and corporate governance The
termns and condiions of appointment of the
Non-Executive Directors are available for
inspection at each AGM, on the Company’s
wabsite and at its registered office dunng
normal business hours The Non-Executive
Directors disclose to the Board their other
significant commitments The procedure
adopted by the Company In relation to
Directors' conflicts of interest 1s detailled

on page 86
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Chairman’s responsibilities

* Channg and managing the business
of the Board

* Together with the Group Chief Executive,
leading the Board in developing the
strategy of the business and ensuring
its effective mplementation by the
Executve management team

* Ensunng effective dralogue with
Investors concerning mutual
understanding of objectives

= |n comunchen with the Nomination
Cormmittee, taking responsibility for
the composition and replenishment
of the Board

* Pencdically reviewing with the Board its
working practices and performance

= Ensunng thers 1S an effective contnbution
from the Non-Executive Directors and
a constructive relationship between
Executive and Non-Exacutive Directors

The Charman's other significant
commitments are detaled in his biography
on page 54

Group Chief Executive’'s

responsibilities

* Communicating a shared purpose
and the culture, vision and values of
the Group

= The davelopment and implemantation
of management strategy

* The day-to-day management of the Group

* Managing the Executive management
tearn

* Fostenng relationships with key
stakeholders

* Leading the Group Executive Comrmittee

* In conunction with the Group Finance
Director, communicating the Group’s
financial performance to investors and
analysts

» Liaising with the Charman to ensure
effectve dialogue with investors
and stakeholders




Senior Independent Director

Lee Sander became the Sentor
Independent Director ('SID'} from 6 May
2015 replacing Jackie Hunt who stepped
down from the Board on that date, having
not sought re-election at the AGM As well
as being avallable to shareholders whose
concerns have not been resolved through
normal channels or when such channels
would be inappropnats, the SID provides
a sounding board for the Chairman and
serves as an intermediary for the other
Directors, where necessary

Executive Directors

The Executiva Directors are responstble for
the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses, implementation of its strategy,
policies and budgets and s financial
performance Executive management
mestings compnse the Executive Directors
and senior managemsnt from the divisions
and are held ragularly to discuss current
1ssues The Group Finance Director
supports the Group Chief Executive In
developing and iImplementing strategy in
relation to the financial and operational
pertormance of the Group

Company Secretary

The Board has access to the advice and
sarvices of the Company Secretary, Sandra
Forbes, who 15 a qualfied solicitor The
Compary Secretary supports the Charrman
In the delivery of the corporate governance
framework and i1s responsible for acvising
the Board, through the Chairman, on all
governance matters, including the planning
of agendas for the annua! cycle of Board
and Committee meetings so that all key
Issues are considered at the appropnate
tmes Every effort 1s made to ensure that
nformation reported to the Board 1s of

high appropriateness, comprehensiveness
and currency Directors are able to seek
clanfication or amplfication from
management where necessary

The Company Secretary also facilitates
the nducton process and assists with
professtonal development for Directors

as required The Company Secretary acts
as Secretary to the Board and each of its
Committees The appointment or removal
of the Company Secretary 15 a matter for
the Board as a whole As well as the
support of the Company Secretary,

there is a procedure in place for any
Director to take ndependent professional
advice where considered necessary

Corporate governance framework
The Board discharges its responsibilities for
the leadership and control of the Group by

* providing strategic direction and support
in & manner which maximises
opportunites to develop the business
profitability, whilst at the same time
assessing and managing associated nsks,
engaging at Board meetings with, and
challenging, the Group Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director and other
members of the Senior Management
Group, as appropnats, on the financial
and cperating performance of the
Group and external 1ssues matenal

to the Group's prospects, and

ensunng that the financial, management
and cther resources required to mest

its objectives are In place

To help discharge its responsibilities,

the Board has a formal schedule of
matters specifically reserved for its
decision, which forms the core of

the Board’s agenda The Board has

also delegated certan aspects of its
responsibilities to the followang principal
Committees the Audit Committes, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Safety & Environmeant
Commuttee More detals on sach of these
Commuttees can be found in this report

Key matters reserved for

Board approval

Group strategy and nsk management

* Formulation and approval of long-term
objectives

e Approval of changes to capital structure

* Approval of major changes to
management and control structures

* Approval of extension of activihias into
new businesses or gepgraphical areas

Financial and internal controls

* Oversight of nsk management and
internal control framework

* Approval of Financial Staterments and
results announcements

+ Approval of shareholder
communicatons, crrculars and notices
of meetings

= Approval of the auditor's remuneration
and recommendations for their
appomntment/removal

* Recommendation and declaration
of dvidends

+ Monitonng the Group's businesses
aganst plan and budget

« Approval of major capital expenditure
projects

* Approval of matenal contracts

Board membership and Committees

* Appointment of Directors

* Approval of remuneration of the
Non-Executive Drrectors

* Setting of Board Committess’ tarms
of reference

= Approval of new share incentive plans

Corporate governance

¢ Undertaking formal performance
reviews of the Board, Committees
and indwvidual Directors

* Determining the independence
of Direciors

» Recaving reports frorm the Company’s
major shareholders

Policies

* Review and approval of Group policies,
for exarnple
— health and safety

— anti-¢corruphon and bribery

— nsk management strategy

— anvironment

— chartable and political donations
— workplace nghts

— human nghts
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Corporate Governance

Governance

Reporting framework

Remuneration
Committee
Reviews and recommends to the
Board the Executive
Remuneration Policy and
determines the retnunaration
packages of the Executive
Direg e and mermbers, at e
Senior Management Group.

More details on pages 72 10 95

Nomination Committee
Raviews and recommends (o the
Board the structure, siza and
composition of the Board and its
Committees. It also has oversight
tor succession planning of the
Board and senior management.

Mare delails on pages 68 and 69

Board meetings

Report continued

Group Board
Provides leadership of the Group and direction for management. Itis
collectively responsible and accountable to the Company's shareholders
1ot the loe g-tetim s iecews 0 the Group ndd o en wing the ppors e
management and operation of the Group in pursuit of its objectives.
I al shdeoy, vilue and st €l ds atidd ensoae - frat e nac oy
controls e i plac g 10 cehiver thewe,

Group Executive Committee
Under tha leadership of the Group Chiet Executive, this Comunittee comprises
the Executive Directors, Group General Counsel, Managing Direclors ol each
of the businesses and tunctional heads. 1t meets on a monthly basis and is
tasked with considaring and approving operational business matters.

In adidition, the UK & Middle East, Spanish and North American Executive
groups meet on a manthly basis and matters dealt with at these meetings
are reported 16 the Group Executive Cominittee.

UK & Middle East Spanish
Executive Executive

North American
Executive

Audit Committee
Reviews and is responsible for
oversight of the Group's financial and
reporting processes; the integnty of
the Financiat Staternents; the
extemnal and ntemal awdit processas;
WLy e o mrer et
and tisk maragoment.

More details on pages 64 1o 67

Safety & Environment
Committee
R oemant ules pocorsines
Mg vt e etllet Qe o e linn o

[IERS R TR I R AR

8 [T
SUIAN &N A

More details on pages 70 and 71

The Board and its Committees have regular scheduled meetings and hold addiional mestings as and when reguired Directors are
expected, where possible, to attend all Board meetings, relevant Committee meetings, the AGM and any general meetings The Board
met eight times dunng 2015 sox meetings were held in the UK, one in Spain and one in the US During 2015, strategy was reviewed
as part of both the January and September Board meetings Each Director attended as follows

The Board Audit Nomination Remuneration Envxrsoar:::::i
Number of Board mestings of Diractors Commitise Committes Caommittee Committea
Total meetings in 2015 8 4 4 7 3
Executive Directors
Dean Finch, Group Chief Exacutive 8 - - - -
Matthew Ashley, Group Finance Director’ 8 - - - -
Non-Executive Directors
S John Armitt CBE 8 - 4 - 3
Joaguin Ayuso 7(8) - 4 - 3
Jorge Cosmen 8 - 4 - 3
Matthew Crummack? 5(5) - - 5(5) 2{2)
Sr Andrew Foster® 33 22) 2(2) 2(2) 101}
Jackie Hunt® 3(3) 2(2) - - 1(1}
Jane Kingston 8 - - 7 3
Mike McKeon® 4(4) 2{2} - - 101}
Chns Muntwyler 8 4 2(2) - 3
Lea Sander 8 2(2) 2(2) 7 3

Group Genaral Counsel and Comparty Secratary Sandra Forbes also acts as Secratary to the Board Committees
' Appointed to the Board on 28 January 2015 From 10 October 2014 untilinis date of appaintment, Matthew was intanm Group Finance Director
2 Appointad to the Board on 6 May 2015 Ebgible meetngs are shown in brackats
3 Resigned from the Board on 6 May 2015 Elgible meetings are shown in brackats
* Apponted to the Board on 3 July 2015 Elgible meetings are shown in bracksts
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Board activity throughout 2015
{excluding standing items)
Strateqy, operational and funding
* Reviewed the Group Strategic Plan for
2016-2018 with external viewpoints
being provided
* Reviewed strategy updates ona
quarterly basis
* Reviewed, approved and receved
regular updates on bids In each of
the Group's dvisions
* Reviewed and approved boft-on
acquisitrons in North Amenca
* Receved presentations from each of the
Group's drvisions providing opportunities
for the Board to engage with members
of the Senior Management Group
* Reviewed and approved capital
expenditure requests
* Reviewed and approved the £1 bilion
Euro Medium-Term Note Programme to
provide a flexible means of 1Issung bonds
N vanous currengies and maturities

Financial performance

* Considered the financial performance of
the business and approved the budget
and key performance targets

* Reviewed the half year and annual results
and approved the Annual Report

Leadership and people

* Reviewed the compositon of the
Board and its Committees including
consideraton of diversity inits
widest sense

+ Appointed three new Independent
Non-Executive Directors to the Board

* Reviewed succassion planning for senior
roles and the devstopment of people and
talent wathin the Group

internal controls and risk management

¢ Reviewed the Group's Risk Register and
reviewed and validated the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control and nsk
management systems

* Assessed significant and emerging nsks,
quantified the potentiat impact on
business cbjectives and reviewed the

effectiveness of the mitigating actions
in place

Governance, stakehoiders

and shareholders

* Reviewed the Group's five Values and
the extent to which they continued to
underpin the Group's Vision

* Reviewed regular safety updates togsther
wath the structure, content and operation
of the safety management arrangements
in place and the iniatives to enhance the
Group’s salety profile

= Reviewed and monitored the Group's
environmental performance and targets
ncluding the impact of the business on
the communities the Group serves and
the environment

* Reviewed developments In corporate
governance and receved regular key
legal updates

* Reviewed regular feedback from investors
and other stakeholders

* Discussed the cutcome of the Board
evaluation and effectiveness review and
agreed development opportunities

if a Director 15 unable to attend a Board or
Committee meeting, he or she still receives
all the papers and matanais for discussion
at the meeting He or she will review them
and then adwvise the Board Charman or
Committee Chairman of ther views and
cormments on the matters to be discussed
so that they can be conveyed to others at
the mesting Due to a prior engagement,
Joaguin Ayuso was unable to participate
in the addittonal Board mesting held by
telaconferance in December

Only members of the Board are entitled to
attend Board mestings, with the Company
Secretary in attendance to formally record
gach meetng This is also the case n
respect of Committee members and
meetings The Executive Directors and
representatives of management, together
with the Company’s advisers, are also
invited to attend Committee meetings as
required Diractors have the nght to raise
any concemns they may have about the
runring of the Company, or a proposed
course of action which cannot be resolved,
and have them recorded in the relevant
meeting minutes and may also provide

a wntten statement to the Chairman for
circulation to the Board, setting out such
concerns During the year the Chaimman
met on several occasions with the
Nen-Executives without the Executive
Directors present to allow informal
discussions on a vanety of 1Issues

Board agenda, oversight

and benchmarking

The Chairman and the Company Secretary
are responsible for ensunng that the
Directors recesve accurate, timely and clear
infermation on all refevant matters so that
they are property briefed in advance of
mestings and the information 1s of sufficient

quality to assist Directors in making
informed contnbutions and decisions

The Beard regularty and ngorously reviews
and benchmarks operational and functional
performance At each meeting the Board
receives a report from the Group Chief
Executive on operational performance, and
frorn the Group Finance Director on the
financial performance of the Group as a
whole and each of the Group’s businesses
indmdually Other regular reports for the
Board’s constderation at ts meetings
nclude capital expenditure requests, key
project reviews, summary actvities of the
Board Committees and human capital,
legal, governance and investor relations
reports Presentations from erther a
business Managing Director or a funchonal
head are also given at each meeting

The core achvihes of the Board and its
Committees are documented and planned
on an annual basis and a list of matters
ansing from each mesting 1s mantaned
and followed up at subsequent meetings
The main tems of business addressed by
the Board dunng the year are shown in the
table above

Principal Committees of the Board
The man Committees established by

the Board are the Audit Commiitee,

the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Safety &
Environment Committee Each Committes
operates within defined terms of reference,
the full versions of which ¢an be found

on the Company's website at

www nationalexpressgroup com Each
Committes reports s proceedings to the
Beard through the submission of raports
and minutes as appropnate A Disclosure
Committee of the Board 1s also established
wath its membership compnsing the

Chairman, Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director This Committes
meets as required to deal with the control of
price sensitive Information within the Group
and to ensure that timely announcemants
are made In accordance with the
Company's obhgations under the Listing
Rules and the Disclosure and Transparency
Rules Rs terms of reference are also
avalable on the Company's websrite at
www nationalexpressgroup com

All Board Committees are authonsed to
obtain legal or other professicnal advice
as necessary, to secure the attendance
of external adwvisers at therr mestings
and to seek information required from
any employee of the Group n order to
perform therr duties

Reports of each of the principal
Committees are provided on pages 64
to 95, and include information on each
Committee's membership, duties and
activities throughout the year

The Group Chief Executive heads the
Group Executive Committee which mests
on a monthly basis and s tasked wrth
approving operational business matters

In addition, the UK & Middle East, Spanish
and North Amencan Executives mest on
a monthly basis and matters dealt wath

at these meetings are reported to the
Group Executive Commitige

The reporting framework of the Board
Commuitteas and of the Group Exscutive
Committee and its sub-committees i1s
shown on page 58
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Corporate Governance

Governance Report continued

Effectiveness

Composition of the Board

Woa seek to bulld an effective and
complementary Board which comprises
the correct balance of Individuals whose
capabilities are appropriate for the scale,
complexty and strategic positioning of

our business The Board ¢onsists of an
appropnate balance of Executive and
Non-Executive Directors who collectively
bring a strong and in-dapth mix of business
skills and experience and considerable
knowledge to assist with Board decisions
The process for Board appointments 1s led
by the Nomination Committes and 1S
descnbed on page 69

A list of the individual Directors, therr
biographies and Committee memberships
as at the date of this report are set out on
pages 54 and 55

Independence

The Board constders all of the Non-
Executve Directors to be independent
other than Jorge Cosmen Sir John Armitt
was consicdered to be independent prior
to his appointment as Charman

Jorge Cosmen Is not congidered to be
ndependent by the Board due to hus close
links with the ALSA business and significant
interests in the shares of the Company

whuch are held through European Express
Enterpnses Ltd Despite his non-
independence, the Board feels that it benefits
greatly from Jorge Cosmen's extensive local
market knowledge and expensnce

Non-Executive Directors do not participate
in any of the Company's share option or
bonus schemes and ther service 1S
non-pensionable

Time allocation

It 15 1n the Board's interest 1o ensure that
all Drectors have sufficient tme to comrmit
to thew responsibiliies as Directors The
Chairman monitors the extent of Directors”
other interests to ensure that the
eifectrveness of the indwvidual and the
Board i1s not being compromised

In respect of the appointment of new
Non-Executive Directors to the Board,
candidates are made aware of the ime
commitment expected of them which is
reflected in therr indmdual tetters of
appointment with the Company The
Board considers that all the Directors are
currently able to devots sufficilent time and
attention to thetr duties and responsibilites
to the Company

As part of their continuing development,
and recognising the significant benefits to
be denved to both the Company and the
individual, Executive Directors are permitted
to accapt one external non-executive
directorship with & non-competing
company provided they first obtain Beard
approval Dean Finch continued to hold an
axternal directorship of the Royal Free
London NHS Foundation Trust throughout
2015 Matthew Ashley does not currently
hold any external dirsctorships

Induction of new Directors

On appointment, Directors are offered
training as appropnate and are thareafter
encouraged 1o keep abreast of matters
affecting ther duties as a Director and 1o
attend training courses relevant to therr role

An induction process Is In place for new
Directors, the am of which1s to

* build an understanding of the nature
of the Group, its businessas and the
markets in which it operates

¢ gstablish a ink with the Group’s
employees

* builld an understanding of the Group's
main relationships including stakeholders
and customers

The following Information 1s provided as
part of the induchon and ongoing training
and development of Board Directors

On appomntment

* Governance Information in relation to the
Group, including the terms of reference
of the Board and its Committees

» Guidance for Directors of British public
companies generally ncluding under the
law, the Code and the rules of the UK
Listing Authonty

e Board rminutes covering the
previous year

» information on key Group policies

Following appomtment

* Business briefing mestings with the
Chairman, the Group Chief Executive
and the Group Finance Director

* Mesting with the Company Secretary
to discuss the Group structure, the
Company’s constitution and Board
procedures and terms of reference
of the Beard and its Committees

* Meetings with senior management
in the five dwvisions

» Masting with the Director of Safety for
an overview of the Group's health and
safety policy and satety record
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= Mesting with the Group's audrtor and
remuneration consuftants

Board, Committees, and Chairman's
performance evaluation

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the
Board and its Committees 18 conducted
annually In accordance with tha

following cycle

Year 1 - Evaluaticn by independent

External consuftants (2014 -
Advanced Boardroom
Excellence}

Year 2 - Evaluation focused on Year

Internal 1 1ssues rased and any
specific new 1ssueS ansing
{questionnaire based}

Year 3 - Progress review generally

Internal (questionnaire based) with
follow-up interaews with
the Charman

This year was the second in the Group's
three-year performance evaluation cycle
The overall airm was to focus on those areas
identitied for development resulting from
last year's external Board evaluation
through assessing current performance,
prograss mads and opportunities for
improvement These were captured by
completion of surveys for the Board and
each Committee compnsing a number

of open questions on the workings

and effectiveness of the Board and its
Committess The outcome of the internal
evaluation was fed back to the Board at
its meeting In November and a senes of
actions agreed Lee Sander, the Senior
Independent Director, ted the evaluation
of the Chairman with participation by both
Non-Executive and Executve Directers

Conclusions from the 2015 Internal
Board Evaluation

The Board concluded that, overall,

the outcomae of the 2015 Internal

Board Evaluation was very positive in
respect of the Board, Committees and
Charrman’s perfoermance it was agreed
that the workings of the Board and its
Committees remained effective and they
continued to operata to a tugh lavel In
particular, the Board composition was
considered strong and reflective of the
Group's current operations with a good
cross sechon of expenence and sector/
non-sector, geographical and functional
knowfedge with relevant expertise




Director, concluded that the Chairrnan
continued 1o operate to a high level,
hawving a good understanding of the
varying mterests of shareholders and

Good progress has been made aganst
the areas for improvement identified in
the previous external evaluation

Dwversity, in its wider sense, 1s prasent
with four different nationalities There was
consensus that the matenals presented

to the Board are of very high quality, with The review of the performance of the

this year’'s discussion matenal on strategy
being singled out for particutar praise

Chaiman, led by the Senior Independent

representing a strong and credible
external face for the Company

Progress against 2014 external Board evaluation recommendations

2014 recommendations

Actons taken in 2015

Non-Executive Director compositton
Non-Executive Director skills to be kept
under review In relation to future digital
knowledge and skills needs

Matthew Crummack, former CEOQ of lastrminute com Group with the requisite identified
digital marksting knowledge and skill set, was appomnted as an independent Non-
Executive Director on 6 May 2015

A search led by the Nomination Committes for a new Non-Exacutive Director to
replace the departing Char of the Audit Committee was undertaken over the course
of Q1 2015 with Mike McKeon, former CFO at Severn Trent PLC, having been
apponted on 3 July 2015, becoming Audit Committee Chairman on 1 August

Additionally, Dr Ashley Steel was appointed to the Board with effect from 1 January
2016 She brings valuable transport, lersure and logistics experience

Strategy the Board to further enhance
its processes for strategy setting

Measuras have been taken to ensure that Group strategy 1s subject to more
comprehensive debate and more clossly aligned to the annual budget setting process
More opportunities for discussion outside of the annual strategy review meetings have
been created as part of the annual roling Board calendar
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Communication to shareholders the
Board to continue to develop a more
structured shareholder engagement plan
following on from the direct shareholder
engagement on remuneration undertaken
in 2014/15

The Board continues to operate o best practice on shareholder engagement
as recommended by the UK Corporate Governance Code Plans for continuing
shareholder engagement are on the agenda for discussion at the Remuneration
Committes and are also discussed and agreed with the Seror Independent
Director The Charman also continues to engage regularly with shareholders

Succession the Board to have enhanced
sngagement with the scheduled regular
review of the Executive succession
pipaline

Successton planning for the leadership group 1s reviewed on an annual basis to fit
alongside strategy discusston Detailed reports on succession planning and talent
management are prepared for Board consideration by the Group HR Director under
the direction of the CEQ

SINIWALVLIS
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Board information the Board to build
further on exemplary Board information
provision

Enhancements continue to be made to the content and delivery of Board and
Committes papers and presentations The objective 1s to ensure that Directors
continue to receive accurate, timely and clear information on all relevant matters
so that they are properly briefed in advance of mestings and the information is of
suffictent quahty to assist Directors in making informed contributtons and decisions

Risk assessment the Board to continue
1ts proactive approach 1o risk
assessment

The Board's current robust and proactive process and approach will be continued
and enhanced to address ongoing operational matters as the Group extends into
new geographical areas and businesses

Documentation the Company Secretary
to action the appropnate
recommandations on tightening tha terms
of refarence, agenda develepments for
the Board and its Committees

A thorough review was mihated in 2015 to review the roling annual agendas of
the Board and its Committees, the terms of reference for the Audit, Remuneration
and Executive Committees and matters reserved for the Board

Anmproved framework for the Board and Commuttees planning process 1s now in place

The key areas for focus in 2016

Tha conclusions reached and the key areas identified and agreed for the Board's development for 2016 are set out below

Area for focus during 2016

Comments

Gender dversity

Female representation on the Board currently stands at 18% following the recent
appointment of Dr Ashley Stee! as an additional Non-Executive Director The Board
will take svery opporturity, when available, {o ncrease the gender diversity of the
Board further

Executive pipeline and
succession planning

Whilst the Nomination Committee continues to lead the way in the Board's
consideration of its own future succession and replacernent needs, succession
planning for the Senior Management Group and the level immediately below remains
an area where additional engagement and dalogue would be welcomed

More external viewpoints to be heard

Further opportunities will be created for external presentations to be made to the
Board on relevant topics

Educational/development opportunrtes for
Oirectors to be provided

Greater focus on key areas of relevant education and development for Directors will
be addressed dunng 2016
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Corporate Governance

Governance Report continued

The outcomes ansing from this mternal
evaluation process will be further reported
In next year's Annual Report

Re-alection of Directors

In accordance with the Company's Articles
of Association, and the Code, all Directors
of the Company will offer thernselves for
etther election or re-election at this year's
AGM Non-Exscutive Drrectors are
apponted for specific terms, subject to
re-election Non-Executive Cirectors will
only be put forward for re-election i,
following performance evaluation, the
Board belisves the Director's performance
continues to be effective and demonstrates
commitment to the role

Accountability

Internal control statement

Tha Board's rasponsibilities

The Board has overall responsibility for the
Group's system of internal control and for
reviewang 1ts effectiveness The Beard
mamntains full control and direction over
appropnate strategic, financial, cperational
and comphance 1ssues and has put in place
an organisational structure with fermally
defined ines of responsibility, delegated
authonties and clear opsarating processes
The systems that the Board has established
are designed to safeguard both the
sharsholders’ iInvestment and the assets

of the Group, and are descnibed as follows

Key elements of the control
frarmnework

Financlal reporting process —
Management and specialsts within the
Finance Department are responsible for
ensunng the appropnate mantenance of
financial records and processes to ensure
that all information ts relevant, reliable and
In accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations, and distnbuted both intemally
and extemally n a timely manner A review
of the consolidation and Financial
Statemnents 1s completed by management
10 ensure that the financial postion and
results of the Group are appropriately
reflected Al financial nformation published
by the Group 1s subject to the approval of
the Audit Committee and Disclosure
Committes, where appropnate

Performance management - The
performance of each dvision and operating
company aganst s plan s closely
monitored by a formal menthly reporting
process and by the attendance of the
relevant Exaecutive Directors at monthly
dvisional Executive meetings
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Annual fitness check process — Group
internal audit undertakes an annual review
at each operating company to assess the
integrity of the balance sheet and to check
the effective operation of key financial
reporting and informaton systems controls
The results of the reviews are presented to
both dwisional and Group finance with any
required actions agreed with the relevant
dmistonal Finance Cirector

Strategic and financial planning — An
annual budgeting and strategic planning
process has been established whereby
each dmision and constituent operating
company assesses its competitive posiion
and goals, taking account of the strategic
nsks faced This strategy 1s translated into
a financial plan with clear milestones and
performance ndicators

Capital invesiment - A clear process
15 in place for the approval of capital
aexpenditure, which includes detaled
apprasal of the benefits of the proposed
investment and any asscciated key nsks
Matenal capital expenditure requires
Board approval

Moalth and safety — Health and safety
standards and benchmarks have been
established in all of our businesses and
the performance of operating comparias
In meeting these standards 1s

closely monitored

Risk management reporting process
— Each division and operating company
evaluates its internal control environment
and key risks, and the results are reviewed
at management level and passed to the
Audit Committes before beng presented
to the Board This process Is reviewed

on a regular basis to ensure the validity
and relevance of the key nsks included

In reports The review covers strategic,
financial, complrance and nsk management
controls These procedures are mandated
and dasigned to manage the nsk In order
to ensure that the operations achieve their
business objectives

Internal audit — The Internal control
systermn Is Independently monitored

and supported by a Group nternal

audtt functon The Group internal audit
function reports to management and

the Audit Committee on the Group’s
financial and operational controls, and
monitors and reviews the extent to which its
recommendations have been implemented
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Board-level reporting [
on internal control |
Dunng the year the Audit Committee \
reviews regular reports from the intermal

audit function, the external auditor and

Group Executive management on matters

relating to internal contrel, financial

reporting and nsk management The Audit

Committee provides the Board with an

independent assassment of the Group's

financal position, accounting affars and

control systems In addrtion, the Board

receves regular reports on how specific

risks that are assessed as material to the

Group are being managed

Review of internal control

effectiveness

The system of internal control and nsk

management, descrnbed above, has been

in place for the year under review and up to

the date of approval of this Annual Report

and Accounts Such a system 1s designed

to manage, rather than to eiminate, the

risks inherent in achieving the Group's

business objectives, and can therefore

provide only reasonable and not absolute

assurance aganst matenal misstaternent or I
loss The eftectvensss of this system has
been regularly reviewed by the Directors
in kne with the Guidance on Audit
Committees, published by the Financial
Reporting Council in December 2010
Whare significant control falings or
waaknessas have been identified,
appropnate corrective action has

been taken

Going concern and longer-term
viability

The Directors’ going concern and longer-
term viability statements, as required to be
made under the Code for the year ended
31 December 2015, are set out on page 37
of the Group Finance Director's review

Remuneration

The Directors' Remuneration Report,
ncluding detals of Rermuneration Policy
and service contracts, 1S set out on
pages 72 to 95

Relations with shareholders

The Board recogruses the wnportance of
maintarning good commurucations with the
Company’s shareholders to ensure mutual
understanding of the Group's strategy,
objectives, governance and performance




Dunng the year shareholders are kept
informed of the progress of the Group
through regular corporate communications
the Pretminary Results Announcement,
the Annual Report and Accounts, the

Half Year Results Announcement, the
Notice of Annual General Meeating,

Intenm Management Statements and
press releases regarding any other
significant developments, as wall as the
disseminaticn of regulated information
Such communications are made avalable
to the London Stock Exchange and are
simultaneously avallable on the Company’s
websie, www nationalexpressgroup com

The Company's website houses a wide
range of information about the Group,
mneclucing the Annual Report and Accounts,
press releases, share pnce data and Imks
to subsidiary company websites

From time to time the Company inwtes
research analysts and institutional investors
to presentations and site wsits that are
designed to provide more understanding
of the strengths and capabiites of its
business operations and strategy

Shareholders can receve documentation
such as the Annual Report and Accounts
electronically and are also able to cast ther
votas by proxy electromically The Company
also has an electronic proxy appomtment
service for CREST members

Institutional shareholders

The Board 1s committed to mantaining

an open dialogue with shareholders

and recogrises the importance of that
relationship in the governance process

A focused and proactive investor

relations programme 1s In place The
Chairman, Group Chief Executve and
Group Finance Director have held a number
of mestings with existing and prospective
instrtutional shareholders durng the year as
well as given presentations following the fulk
year and half year results They have also
met and given presentations to research
analysts and stockbrokers’ sales teams
The Company's appointed brokers ancd
nvestor relations acdvisers in tum have
provided regular confidential feedback

to the Company on the views of the

maor institutions

The Charrman, Senicr Independant Director
and other Non-Executve Directors are also
gven the opportunity to mest nstrtutional
shareholders and are available by contact
through the normal channels Curing 2015
the Chairman met with major sharsholders
to discuss the governance and direction of
tha Company

Dunng the earty part of 2015, mambers

of the Remuneraticn Committee continued
its focused engagement with the
Company’s key institutional shareholders
and representative bodies in order to gain
a greater understanding of their views on
Executve Directors’ remuneration Asa
result of this open dialogue, a restructured

remuneration package for the Executve
Directors and a revised Remuneration

Policy were designed to address the specific
concems raised by sharshoiders The revised
Rernunerahon Poficy was put to sharsholders
for a binding vote at the 2015 AGM wath the
resolution being passed by a maonty of 39%
The Directors’ Rermuneration Report on
pages 72 to 85 prowdes full detals of the
Remuneration Folicy which cumently applies

The Board 1s provided with regular updates
on the views and issues raised by the
Company’s invastors Dunng the year the
Board received external presentations
from adwisers on shareholder and market
perception of the Group's performance
and strategy Formal written responses
are given to correspendence receved
from shareholders, as well as bilateral
engagement through the Group Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director and
the Company’s nvestor relations functon

Analyst coverage

The Company 1s aware of 15 analysts
who have published equity research notes
covenng National Express Group PLC
during 2015 and we provide names

and contact numbers of therr firms on

our website

Private shareholders

We welcoma contact from our

private shareholders and are pleased to
answer therr quenes We encourage our
sharsholders to make use of our websiie
to access Company reports, notces of
mesting and general sharaholder and
dmidend information The website also
provides a direct link to Shareview
{www shareview co uk) which enables
shareholders to view and manage their
shareholdar account onling

Annual General Meeting

Notice of the AGM and related papers are
sent to shareholders at least 20 working
days before the mesting Last year's AGM
included a presentation by the Group Chief
Executive on the progress of the business
and an opportunity for shareholders to

ask questions All of our Directors were
avalable formally to answaer questions
curing the meeting and many circulated
and talked to sharsholders inforrnally
afterwards Voting on the resolutions was
conducted by poll Some 83% of the shares
N 15sus were voted and all the resolutions
ware passed with the exception of the
requisthonists’ resolution

The results were published on the Group's
waebsite shortly after the mesting We look
forward to welcoming sharsholders 1o

our 2016 AGM and updating them on the
progress of the business this year

www nationalexpressgroup com
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Corporate Govermance - Audit Committee Report

Throughout 2015, the Audit Committee
has continued to play a key oversight

role for the Board

Dear shareholder,

| am pleased to introduce my first report

as Charrman of the Audit Committee (the
‘Committes’), having taken over from
Jackie Hunt who stepped down from the
Board on 6 May 2015 and Chns Muntwylar
who held this position on an interim basis
pending my own appointment as
Committee Chairrman on 1 August 2015

{ should like to take the opportunity to
thank thern both for their work in this role
dunng the year | would also like to thank
Sir Andrew Foster, who served on the
Committee since 2004, for his valuable
contnbutions and welcome, in his place,
Les Sander, our Senior Independent
Director, who joined the Committes on

6 May From 1 January 2016, Dr Ashley Stesl
has joined the Committee As a former Vice
Chaiman at KPMG and Global Charr for its
transport, leisure and logistics practice, we
welcome the contribution she will bnng to
the Committee

Membership

Throughout 2015, the Commuttee has
continued to play a key oversight role

for the Board Through its actvities,

the Committes focuses on maintaining

the integrity and quality of our financial
reporting, considenng the sigrificant
accounting judgements made by
management and the findings of the
external auditor it also reviews the
appropnateness of our system of nsk
management and mntamal controls, and
the effectiveness of both our internal and
external audrt processes The Comrmittea’s
actvities have continued to grow n the ight
of the new best practice recommendations
of the UK Corporate Governance Cede
2014 (the ‘Code’) and compliance with
these has enabled the Committee to

add further value to the Group The
Committee’s terms of reference were
updated in February to reflect changes
introduced to the Cede and which apply to
the Grroup for the first time in respect of the

2015 financial year These relate to the
more forward looking nature of the going
concern statement, a more nNgorous

and regutar review of nsk management
and the introduction of a longer-tarm
viability statement We have reported on
compliance with these new requirements
in this Audit Committee Report, the
Corporate Governance Report and
elsewhers in the Strategic Report The
regular challenge and engagement with
management, internal audit and the
external auditor, togsther with the timely
and clear receipt of a huigh standard of
reporting and information frorn them,
has enabled the Committee to discharge
its duties and responsipilities effectively
On behalf of the Committee, | thank
them for therr contributions

| hope you find my review and the report
that follows helpful in understanding the
work of the Committee dunng the year

The membership of the Committes during the year ended 31 December 2015 1s set out below Attendance at meetings held dunng the

year 1s shown on page 58

Membars {biographios appear on pages 54 and 55}

Position

Appoirtment date

Mike McKeon

Committee Charman and
Non-Executive Director

Chairrman from 1 August 2015 and
member since 3 July 2015

Chrnis Muntwyler

Former Committee Chairman and
Non-Executive Director

Member since 21 Novernbar 2011
and Charman (interim} from 6 May
to 1 August 2015

Jackie Hunt!

Former Committee Chawrrnan and
Senior Independent Director

Member and Charr from 13 September 2012
untl 6 May 2015

Sir Andrew Foster'

Non-Executive Director

Member from 23 November 2004
untik 6 May 2015

Les Sander

Senior independent Director

Member since 6 May 2015

' Retred from the Board on & May 2015

Other attendees at Committee meetings:

Attendee

Company Secretary
{as Secretary to the Committes)

Company Chairman

Group Chief Exacutive

Group Finance Director

Head of Group Internal Audit

Group Financial Controller

External Auditor Deloitte LLP
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Qualifications of Audit
Committee members

| am considered by the Board to meset the
requirements of the Cods that at least one
Committee member has recent and
relevant financial expenence

Role and responsibilities

The primary role of the Committes 1s to
assist the Board in fulfilling s oversight
responsthiliies with regard to financial
reporting, nsk management and internat
controls procedures and the work of its
internal audit funchon and external audrtor
The Committee’s terms of reference are
reviewed annually and are avalable

on the Company's website,

www nationalexpressgroup ¢com

The Committee’s marn duties and
responsibiiies in adwising the Board
include the following

* reviewing the half year and annual
Financial Statements including
accounting policies, key accounting and
auditing 1ssues, significant financial
Judgements and the financial control
environment

= QOverseang the process for selecting the
external auditor, assessing the continuing
independence of the extemal auditor and
recommending approval of the audit fee
to the Board

* Ensunng that prowision of non-audit
services does not Impar the external
auditor's independence or objectvity

* Liaising with the extarnal auditor on
matters relating to the nature and scope
of the audit and any 1ssues or concerns
ansing from the audit process

* Reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company's internal control and nsk
management systems, including fraud
prevention and operation of the
Company's whistleblowing policy

+ Supervising the planring of activibes
under the intermal audrt programme and
reviewing the major findings 1dentified
from internal audit nvestigations

Meetings

Four Committee meehngs were held In
2015 Detalls of attendance at these
meetings can be found on page 58
Outside of the meeting process the
Commuittee Charman has regular contact
with the Executive Directors, other
Committes members and the internal/
external auditor on a variety of topics The
Committes itself meets with both the Head
of Group Internal Audit and the external
auditor at least once a year wathout the
Executive Directors being present

At the inwitation of the Committes,

and as appropnate to the matters under
discussion, meetings may be attended by
the Executive Directors, other members
of senior managerment and intemal and
external audtors Full minutes are kept by
the Secretary of the matters considered
and decisions taken by the Committee

Audit Committee activity

The key areas of Commuttee actvity dunng the year, and through to the date of this report,
included the planning, monitonng, review and approval of the following

Financial reporting

» Quality and appropnateness of the half
year and annual Financial Statements
fincluding accounting polictes, key areas
of financial judgement and associated
reports from the external auditors
regarding therr audit findings)

= Assessment and management of
sigrificant rsks for the Group for the
2015 financial ysar

* The information, underlying assumptions
and stress test analysis presented in
support of the going concern statement

* Consistency and appropnateness of the
firancial control environment

* Extent to which the Annua! Report 1s farr,
balanced and understandable

Viability Statement

s The Committes considered the
introduction of the new enhanced
requirernents of the Code for the Board
to assess the Group's future viability and
considered the following points before
recommending to the Board the statement
on viability included on page 37

* An assessment of the prospects of the

Group, taking into account the Group's

current postion, opportunities, strategic

plans and nsk appetite

The future penod over which itis

appropnate for the Group to assess

its viability

ldentification of nsks which have the

potential to affect the Group's strategic

plans over the lookout penod, including

those pnncipal nsks and uncertanties

descnbed in the Strategic Report and

others which could impact the Board's

assassment of the Group's viability

Qualification of the risks identfied in the

context of the Group's internal control

framework and of potential miigating

actions, and the ability of the Group

to wathstand severe but plausible

downside scenanos

* Any qualfications necessary to inform
or support the reader’s understanding
of the viability statement

External audit

* Scope of the 2015 external audit plan
and fees

* Review of the effectiveness of the
external audit procass and assessment
of the performance, contnued
indspendence and recommendation to
the Board of the re-appontment of the
external auditor

* External audit tendering policy

* Lgvel of fees paid to the external audior
for non-audrit senaces

* Selection of the new engagement partner
from Deslortte for the 2016 financial year
following the mandatory rotation of
Nigel Mercer after his five yaars of
engagement Stephen Gnggs, Head of
Audtt and Risk Advisory for Deloitte In the
UK, will take up his duties from the start
of the 20186 financial year

Risk management and internal

control

* Scope of the internal control and nsk
management programme

» Adequacy and sffectiveness of the
Group's internal control and nsk
managernent systems

¢ The resuits of ntemal audt reviews
and the progress made against agreed
management actions

* The results of mtemnal audit compliance
testing of financial controls (annual fitness
checks) within the subsidranes

« Bi-annual detaled review of the Group’s
Risk Register, including significant and
ernergng nsks

* Reviaw of the Group's IT nsk strategy
and disaster recovery plan

* Establishment during the year of a Cyber
Secunty Commitiee, chaired by the
Group Finance Director and constituting
the Group IT Director, dvisional heads
of IT and the Group's external secunty
consultants This committee mests
pencdically to assess, pnontise and
monitor significant cyber secunty thraats
facing the Group, and to develop plans
for thew management

* Renvew of reports on fraud and
whistleblowing

Internal audit

* Scope of the internal audit plans for
2015 and 2016

¢ Eifectiveness of the Group's internal audtt
tunction and infemal controls including
feadback from divisional managing
directors

* Review of annual Indspendence
complance statement

= Selection of a new Head of Group
Internal Audit following the appontrment
of tha previous incurnbent to the postion
of Finance Director of the UK Bus division

Tax and treasury

« Review of the Group's treasury policy,
ncluding consideration of the key
treasury risks facing the Group (foreign
currency, interest rate, fuel pnce and
counterparty nsk) and the approach
to therr management

* Review of the annual update of the
Group's tax affars

Other

* Rewview of corporate govemance and
legal and regulatory compliance

* Review and update of the Commuittee's
terms of reference

* Intarnal review of the effectiveness of the
Cornrmittee concluding that it continued
to operate effectively

+ Review and approval of the Comrnittee's
report forinclusion in the Annual Report
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Corporate Governance - Audit Committee Report continued

Audit Committee Report continued

Financial reporting

and significant financial
Judgements for 2015

* Goodwill impairment

As itis required to do annually, the
Committee considered whether the
carrying value of goodwill and intangible
asssts held by the Group shoutd be
impared The judgemants largely related
to the assumptions applied n calculating
the value in use of the Spanish Goach
and Bus and the North American School
Bus businesses When testing for
impairment, the key considerations were
the underlying cash flows, the discount
rates and the future growth rates The
Committee received a detatded report on
the outcome of the mparment reviews
performed by managemeant and took into
account the views of the extarnal auditor
The Committse concluded that the
goodwill and intangible assets of the
Spanish Coach and Bus and the North
American School Bus businesses were
not impatred and it approved the
disclosures included in the 2015
Financial Statements

Insurance and other claims

The Committee considered the
adequacy of the provisions assocated
with insurance and other claims risks,
particularty in North America The
assessment focused on the advice
recened from a third party actuary n
connecton with the Group's exposure
to auto and general lability ang workers’
compensation insurance claims
Consideration was also given to the most
likely outcome, and associated financial
effect, of other claims and exposures
facing the Group The Committee
receved a report from management

on North American insurance and

other clams and considered the views
of the external auditor The Committee
concluded that the insurance and other
clams provision was farly stated
Taxation

The Committee considers the adequacy
and suftficiency of the disclosure of the
Group's tax affars in the Annual Report
and the appropnateness of the
accounting treatments adopted to
reflect the Group's tax charge, assets
and provisions 1n accardance with
International Financial Reporting
Standards Tax legislation across the
markets in which the Group operates 1s
complex, and sometimas management
and the ralevant tax authonties differ in

the interpretation and apphcation of tax
law, which can lead to uncertainties in the
estimation of provisions and recognition
of deferred tax batances On complex
Issues managemsent may seek external
tax advice to ascertain whether
provisions should be made Where tax
exposures can be guantified and mest
the critenia for recognition, best estimates
are made and provisions recognised
These estmates are based on the
judgement of senior management in the
hight of the facts and availabie information,
and are reviewed by the Commities
The Committee also reviews reports
from the Company's external auditor as
to the appropnateness of the judgements
made by management The Committoe
is satisfied that the treatment and
disclosure of the Group's tax affars in
the Consolidated and Company Financial
Statements are appropnate and sufficient
+ Other matters
The Committea also consicisred the key
assurmnptions underpinning the Group's
desfined benefit pension obligatons, and
the accounting for the Group’s inancial
denvatives and the associated tests for
hadge effectiveness The Comnttee
receved reports from management and
considered the views of the external auditor
on the appropnateness of the defined
benefit pension assurmptions with
reference to the latest market assumptions
and employee pension benefits Reports
were also receved from management and
the external auditor on the far value of the
Group's financial denvatives and support
for the tests for hedge effectveness,
particularty on the Group’s fuel denvatives
following recent changes in market values
Following considerabon, the Committee
concluded that the defined benefit pension
assumptions were reasonable and that
financial denvatives were farly stated

Fair, balanced and
understandable

At the request of the Beard, the Committee
undertook a formal review of the annual
report process In terms of praparation,
qualty of content, key themes and
messages, consistency of information and
presentation From the information and
assurance provided by management and
the review conducted by the external
auditor, the Committes was able to confirm
1o the Board that the 2015 Annual Report,
taken as a whale, is farr, balanced and
understandable and provides the
necessary information for shareholders
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to assess National Exprass’ performance,
business model and strategy

Risk management and

internal controls

The Board as a whols, including the
Commuittee members, considers the
nature and extent of National Express’
nsk management framework and the nsk
profile that is acceptable to achieve the
Company's strategic objectives As a
result, it 1s considered that the Board

has fulfilled its obligations under the Code

The Committee continues to be responsible
for reviewing and monitonng the adequacy,
design and sffectiveness of the Group's
ongaing systems of internal control and nsk
management In that regard, the Committee
receved reports from management and the
Head of Group Internal Audit as well from
the external auditor

Further detalls of the interna! controls

are set out on page 62 A summary of the
Company's nsk management framework
and an overviaw of its principal risks are
detalled on pages 28 to 31

Internal audit

The Committes has oversight
responsibiiities for the internal audit
function which 15 led by the Head of
Group Internal Audit

The purpose of the internal audrt function

15 fo provide an independent, objective
assassment of the effectiveness of intermal
controls, nsk management and governance
processes throughout the Group The
function adds value by

+ contnbuting to the continuous
improvement of internal control
and related processes, including
identifying and sharing good practice
across the Group,

* addressing the safeguarding of assets,
compliance with applicable laws and
regulahons and achievernant of
management’s operational objectives,

= promoting business procasses that
delver effective internal control at
reasonable cost, and

s providing allgnment with the Group's
nsk management process

An Internal Audit Charter sets out the
responsibilties of both the internal audit
function in terms of its focus, programme
of activity, scope of investigations and
reporting ines, and management in terms
of it providing support and co-operation at
all levels of the business




During 2015, a carefully targeted intemal
audit plan was agreed and undertaken on
certan of the Group's operabons, systems
and support functions with subsequent
reports, Including management responseas
and recommendsd action plan, considerad
by the Audit Commitiee in January, July
and November

The performance of the Group mntemal

audtt function itself continues to be assessed
on an ongoing basis and the Committes
believes it 1S effective in the role it cames out

Anti-bribery policy

A Group anh-brbery policy has been
established and 1ssued to all Group
companies and Is also avallable

an the Group's website at

www nationalexpressgroup com The
policy prohibits any nducement which
results In a personal gain or advantage

to the recipient or any person or body
associated with them, and which s
intended to influence them to take action
which may not be solely in the interests

of the Group or of the person or body
employing them or which they represent
The prevention, detection and reporting of
bnbery s the responsibility of all employees
throughout the Group

Whistleblowing policy
‘Whistleblowing’ policies are in place in
each of the Group's businesses and are
also available on the Group's wabsite,
www nationalexpressgroup com The
Board supports the highest standards of
corporate governance and ethical practices
withun all ts operattons and continues to
review its policies on an ongoing basis

Tha Board has endorsed a set of pnnciples
which establish the framework for how its
businesses operate Key to these 1s working
In an open and honest manner The Group
15 committed to the highest standards

of quality, honesty, openness and
accountability Employees are encouraged
to rause genuine concerns under the policy
aither by contacting their ine manager or
telephoning a dedicated external helpline
Any concemns raised are investigated
carefully and thoroughly to assess what
action, if any, should be taken and
confidential records are mantaned The
Company Secretary reports any matters of
significance to the appropnate commitiea
In 2015 there have been no significant
cases relating to fraud or financial
misconduct

External audit

The extemnal auditor 1s engaged to express
an opinion on the Comparny's Financial
Statements The audit includes the reviaw
and test of the systems of intemal financial
control and the data contaned In tha
Financial Statements to the extent necessary
to express an audrt opinion on the truth and
farness of the Financial Statements

External audit tendering policy

The Committes confirms its complance for
the financial year ending 31 December
2015 wath the provisions of the Statutory

Audit Sernces for Large Companias
Market Inveshgation (Mandatory Use of
Competitive Tender Processes and Audit
Committee Responsibiliities) Order 2014
The Company last put its external audt
contract out to tender in 2011, following
which Deloitte LLP replaced Ernst & Young
Ll P and was appointed as the Group's
auditor The Committee regularty considers
the marketptace, benchmarking the current
level of audit services that the Company
recaves along with the fees it pays and

the value being delivered The Committes
recognises that audit tenders and
transitions to new auditors require
significant resource On the basis that the
quality of service remains high and the audit
fes represants good value to shareholders,
the Committee will next tender the audt for
the year ending 31 December 2021

Asgsessment of the effectiveness
and independence of the
external auditor and external
audit process

The Audit Committee assesses and reviews
on a regular basis the independence and
gffectveness of the extemal auditor As part

of its determination, the Audit Committee
revewed the scope, matenalty threshold and
fees for the external audt plan and receved
and considared the extemal auditor's
assessment of the significant nsks affecing
the Group (as detalled above) The Committee
also considered a report by the external
audrtor on the firm's independence which 1s
requrred in order 1o cary out its professional
duties and responsibilities as auditor

Additionally, the effectveness of the 2015
extermal audit process was formally assessed
by the Committes to meet the expectations
set out In provision C3 2 of the Code This
was camed out through the use of a survey
and analysis approach taking imo account
the views and opinions of the Group finance
team and dmsicnal Finance Directors In 50
doing, the Commuttee's review and qualitative
assassment focused on feedback and
insights, process and commurication,
handing of iIssues and quality of team The
Committee 1s satisfied that the external audit
process continues to be effective and
provides an appropnate Independent
challenge to the Group's senior management

Having completed its assessment of both
the external audit process and the extemal
auditor for the finanaial penod under review,
the Committes is satisfied that the auditor
has performed satisfactonly in 2015, that
the audit process implemented was
effective and that the external auditor
remains independent

The Commitiee 1s thersfore happy to
recommend to the Board that Deloitte LLP
be put forward for re-appointment at the
2016 AGM

Non-audit services

The Committee has an approved policy on
the provision of non-audit servces by its
auderor for the following types of service

* Services that are considered to have
‘ganeral pre-approval’ by the Audit
Committee, by virtue of the approval
of the policy

* Services that require ‘specific pre-
approval’, on a case-by-case basis,
before any work can commence

= Services that cannot be supplied by the
external audtor {prohibited serces)

The services that have general pra-approvat
are tax, transacton mvestigation, and
advisory and corporate finance services
The fees for thase services are pre-
approved up to £50,000 for each non-audit
assignment undertaken and subject to an
overall imit of 75% of the total fees pard to
the external auditor For servwces exceeding
this imit specihic pre-approval 1s required

In deciding whether or not to grant approval
for the provision of specific services by the
axternal audtor, the Audit Cornmittee
Includes in its consideration the

following factors

+ Whether the external auditer 1s best
placed to provide an effective and
efficient service, given its knowledge
and understanding of the Company’s
processes, systemns and people

* The level of non-audit fees paid to
the external auditor in the year as
a proportion of the annual externat
audit fee

The majonty of non-audit work undertaken
by the external auditor dunng the year
relates to advice in respect of tax advisory
and other regulatory services The split
between audit and non-audt fees for the year
ended 31 December 2015 appears in note 6
to the Consolidated Accounts

The Comnuttee is aware of the Audit
Regulation and Directive issued by the
European Parlament and Council of the
European Union in 2014 which, t1s
expected, will require changes to both the
Ethical and Audriting Standards and the
Cods, iIncluding the prowision of non-audit
services by auditors The Group 1s closely
menitonng the process by which the Audit
Regulation and Directive will utimately be
adopted inthe UK and the Committes will
make changes as necessary to its policias
to ensure comphance with the new
regulation ahead of its effective date

Committee effectiveness
Feedback from the annual performance
evaluation of the Board and its Committees,
as descnbed sarlier in this report on pages
60 and 61, confirmed that the Audi
Committee contnued to be seffective In
fulfiling rts duties

-

Mike McKeon
Audit Committee Chair
25 Febnuary 2016
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Corporate Govemnance - Nomination Committee Report

We continue to strengthen
our Board in order to compete
effectively in the marketplace

Dear shareholider,

The main focus of the Comimittee this year
has been to review the composition of our
Board and its Committees to ensura
continued effsctiveness Keeping in mind
the strategic ams of the Company and to
ensura its ahility to compeate effectively In
its marketplace, we have evaluated the
balance of skills, knowledge, experience
and dvarsity on tha Board to identify
those addibional key skills required In
additton to the Executive appointment of
Matthew Ashley as Group Finance Director
n January, which was reported in last
year's Nomnaton Committes Report, three
further key Board appointments have been
made this year

The Board had set rtself the specific
objective of recrurting a Non-Executive
Director with a strong customer focused
background with particular emphasis on

Members (biographies appsar on pages 54 and 55)

digital marketing expertise | am delighted
to report that we filled this role with the
appointment, n May, of Matthew Crummack
to the Board as an independent Non-
Executve Director Matthew brings with
him significant knowtedge of the

digital landscape from lastminute com

His expenence rs directly relevant to
National Express as we place customers
at the heart of our strategy and constantly
focus on defivering continuously
IMProving senices

I am also pleased to report that we have
further strengthened the financial expertise
on our Board with the appointment of

Mika McKeon He bnngs significant
financial and corporate knowledge, coupled
with wide-ranging international expensnce
through hus 15 years in the role of Group
Finance Director within the listed company
emarcnment Mike took over as Charman
of the Audit Commuttes on 1 August

Pesition

The appointment of Dr Ashley Steel as a
Non-Executive Director from 1 January
2016 15 also very welcome Ashley has
a distinguished track record of prowiding
strategic advice to companies

across arange of sectors, especially
transport, and we will benefit from her
knowledge and expenence

In the comtng year, we shall renaw focus
On revigwing succession plans across the
Group and lead the proceass for Board
appointments in order to align 1t to the
Company's long-term operational needs
and governance oversight

Membership

The membership of the Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2015 1s set
out below Four mestings were held dunng
the year with attendance by members
shown on page 58

Appointment date

Sir John Armitt CBE

Committee Charr and Company Chairman

1 January 2013

Joaquin Ayuso

Independent Non-Executive Director

26 February 2013

Jorge Cosmen Deputy Company Charman 2 June 2008
Chris Muntwyler Independent Non-Executive Director 6 May 2015
Lee Sander Senior Independent Director 6 May 2015

Other attendees at Committee meetings

Attendee

Company Secretary (as Secretary to the Committes)

Group Chief Executive

Group Human Resources Director

External advisers as appropriate

Full minutes are kept by the Secretary of the matters considered and decisiens takan by the Committee
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Role and responsibilities

The pnmary role of the Normination
Commuttes 1s t0 ensure that the Board s
appropnately structured and has in place
the correct balance of ndmduals to
discharge its duties effectively, and to lsad
the process by which new Board members
are appointed |t alsc adwvises the Board

on succession planning for Cirectors

The Committee’s terms of reference
are reviewed annually and are available
on the Company's website,

www nationalexpressgroup com

The Committee’s main duties and
responsibiliies in adwising the Board
are summansed below

* Responsibility for identifying and

nominating, for the approval of the Board,

candidates to fil Board vacancies as and
when they anse

» Giving full consideration 1o succession
planning, and keeping under review the
leadarship needs of the organisation,
both Exscutive and Non-Executive

* Reviewing the time required from and
spent by a Non-Executve Director
in fulfiling his or her dutres

* L eading the process for Board
appomntments and making
recommendations to the Board,
preparing a descnption of the role
and requirements for any particular
appointment based on its evaluation
of the Board as a whole

Advisers

Burning the year, the Committee worked
with search consultants, the Zygos
Partnership, to undertake a search for two
independent Non-Executive Directors

Wea also worked with Russaell Reynolds to
identify candidates for the role of Group
Finance Director to replace Jez Maiden
who stepped down from the Board as

an Exacutive Director with effect from

31 December 2014 Nesther the Zygos
Partnership nor Russell Reynolds has any
other connection to the Company With
raspect to Dr Ashley Steel's appointment,
a search consultancy was not used on this
occasion Dr Steel had previcusly come fo
the attention of the Nomination Comrmittee
as part of an earlier search process
conducted dunng the latter part of 2014
which had led to the appointment of
Matthew Crummack

Nomination Committee activity
Dunng the year the Committee

+ made a formal recormnmendation to the
Board for the internal appaintment of
Matthew Ashley as Group Finance
Director with eftect from 28 January 2015
foliowing a search conducted by Russell
Reynolds and subsequent interview and
Nngorous assessment process,
evaluated the balance of skills,
expenence, Independance, diversity
and knowledge on the Board and then
prepared a description of the role and
capabilities required for the recrutment
of a new independent Non-Executive
Director and Audit Committee Chairman,
* oversaw the appontments process for
three new independent Non-Executive
Directors and imterviewed shorthsted
candidates, following which the
appomntments of Matthew Crummack,
Mike McKeon and Dr Ashley Steel were
subsequently recommended to the Board,
recommended to the Board that Lee
Sander, with his substantial intemational
and transport infrastructure expenance,
succeed Jackie Hunt as Senior
Independent Director with effect from
6 May 2015, and
¢ oversaw the Induction process for newly
apponted Non-Executive Directors

Diversity

The Board takes the view that an increasing
diversity at Board level Is acknowledged

as an essential element in mamtaning a
cormnpetitive advantage A truly diverse
Board will nclude and make good use

of dfferences in the skills, regional and
industry knowledge/expenence,
background, race, gender, Independence
and other qualties of Directors These
differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and
will continue to be balanced appropnately
All Board appointrnents are made on ment,
in the context of the skills and expenence
that the Beard as a whole requires in order
to maintain and enhance its effectivenass

Female represantation gn the Board s
currentty 18% and we are mindful of the
recommendatons of the Dawvies Review,
‘Women on Boards’, published in October
2015 and the voluntary target of 33% for
female Board representation to be achieved
over the next five years The Board remains

comrmitted to mantan a mimmum ratio of
18% and we shall take every opportunity,
when available, to increase the gender
diversity of our Board further With respect
to Board appointments, we also take into
account the guidance ssued by the
Equality and Human Rights Commussion on
appomtments to boards and equality law

Committee evaluation

As part of the 2015 intemal Board
performance evaluation, it was confirmed
that the Committee was both effective

and efficient in its operation and leadership
Areas identified for improvement concerned
the timing and frequency of meetings and
undertaking a more regular review of

the structure, size and compositon

the Board

Sir John Armitt CBE
Nommation Committee Charr
25 February 2016
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Corporate Governance - Safety & Environment Committee Report

Strong and effective, with the
highest levels of leadership

commitment

Dear shareholder,

Satfety 1s our highast priority as a

Board and s embedded throughout

our businesses as one of our Values we
only do what 1s safe and stop any unsafe
behaviour The managerment of the
Group’s environmental impact on the
communities it serves alsc forms a key
component of our Community Valus
The Safety & Environment Committee
{the ‘Committee’), compnsed solely

of Non-Executive Directors, plays

a fundamental role in reviewang and
challenging the structure, content and
operation of the safety management
arrangements which have besn put In
place by the Executive and in monitoring
environmental performance and targets

| am pleased to report that in 2015 we
continued to make progress in our safety
performance with a further reduction in the
Fatalties and Weighted Injunes index ((FWI')
which provides a mearningful measure of
responsible harm for our busnesses
Further details on this KPI can be found on
page 27 During the year, in ine wth our
Global Standard on Safety Audit and
Management, we commissionsad safety
consultants, Arthur D Little, to conduct its
annual audit of corporate governance of
safety in order tc provide an expert

Mambears (biographies appear on pages 54 and 55}

independent review of the effectiveness

of the Group's corporate governance
arrangements implementad throughout
the course of the year, together with
recommendations for development As
Committee Chairman, | am pleased to
report that the conclusion they reachsd
was that governance of safety continues
to be strong and effective and has further
developed over the last 12 months Therr
independent view was that governance of
safety continues to be driven down through
to the divisions by the Group Chief
Executive’s strong and effective safaty
leadership, enhanced by regular checks of
divisional progress and performance The
Group Safety Director 1s hughly regarded
both by Board members and i the
dnisions for supporting safety governance
through reviewing prograss, undertaking
specific Interventions following accidents,
reporting upwards and engaging with
dvisions The Committes was also pleased
to nota the results of external mantenance
inspections over 30 locations n our North
America School Bus business undertaken
by SGS, the world's leading inspection,
venfication, testing and certfication
company SGS considered the results to be
very good with a noticeable Improvement
over the inspections carned out In 2014

Position

With respect to the management of the
Company's enviranmental responsibilities,

| am pleased to report that, for 2015, the
Group continued to have zero prosecutions,
enforcement notices or viclatons The
Group received extemal recognition by the
Carbon Disclosure Project for its significant
improvement in environmental performance
and sustamability as a UK public company
for 2015, our disclosure score rose from

85 to 95, representing a 36 rating point
movement In Just two years The Committes
also welcomed management’s prasentation
on the Group’s Environment Strategy
Rewview forming part of the Vision and
ambxtion for 2020 Thus strategy has the aim
of developing and embedding a consistent
set of processes and procedures across
the Group's businesses for environmental
perforrmance to support a reduction in
operating costs, delivery of environmental
commitments and extension of asset life

Membership

The membership of the Committee during
the year ended 31 December 2015 15 set
out below Three meetings were held dunng
the year with attendance by members
shown on page 58 Subsequent to the ysar
end, Dr Ashley Steel was appointed to the
Committee from 1 January 2016

Appointment date

Chnis Muntwyler Committee Charrman 11 May 2011

Sir John Armitt CBE Company Charrman 1 January 2013
Jorge Cosmen Deputy Company Chairman 14 Decemnber 2005
Lee Sander Senior Independent Director 1 June 2011
Joaquin Ayuso Independent Non-Executive Director 1 June 2011

Sir Andrew Foster

Non-Executive Director

9 November 2004 untl 6 May 2015

Jackie Hunt

Former Senior Independent Director

13 September 2012 until 6 May 2015

Jane Kingston

Independent Non-Executive Director

26 February 2014

Matthew Crummack

Independent Non-Executive Director

6 May 2015

Mike McKeon

Independent Non-Executive Director

3 July 2015

Other attendees at Committes meetings:

Attendes

Company Secretary (as Secretary 1o the Committee)

Group Chief Exacutive

Group Finance Crrector

Group Satety Director

Group Property & Environment Director

External adwvisers Arthur D Little

Full minutes are kept by the Secretary of the matters considered and decisions taken by the Cormmittes
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The Committee's terms of reference
are reviewed annually and are avallable
on the Company’s website,

www naticnalexpressgroup com

Role and responsibilities
The Committee's kay responsibilities are
summansed below

+ Responsibility for reviewing and
challenging constructively the structure,
content and operation of the safety
management arrangements put in

place by members of the Executive
management of the Group’s

operating companies

Raporting, after avery Committee
meeting, to the Board on its observations
on the safety managerment arrangements
In place and reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on any

Safety & Environment
Committee activity

The key areas of Commuittee actvity during
the year, and through to the date of this
report, ncluded the following

* Reviewed the findings and approved the
recommendations of the comprehensive
external annual Audit of Corporate
Governance of Safety undertaken by
Arthur O Little in ine with our Global
Safety Standard

+ Reviewed the findings and approved
the recommendations from the 2015
ndependent review of the Group’s
Driving Qut Harm programme

* Moniutored progress of the divisional
action ptans arising from the Drving
Qut Harm review

+ Approved the world class dnver training
programme forming part of the Group’s
Visicn for 2020

* Reviewed the independent findings of an
external maintenance audit undertaken
at 30 locations In the North Amenca
School Bus business by SGS

* Monitored safety practices and
procadures across the Group

» Raviewed actvity In health and wellbeing
in the Divisions

* Reviewed envircnmental policy, strategy,
managernent and key environmental
performance indicators across the
Group with particular emphasts on
the environmental Vision and ambition
for 2020

specific satety management 1ssues
relating to the Company or any
subsidiary company

* Reviewing and monitonng the Company's
environmental performancs and targets

The Company's detalled mandatory report
on greenhouse gas emissions in all of its
businesses dunng 2015 can be found on
pages 23 to 25

Committee effectiveness
Feedback from the annual performance
evaluation of the Board and ts Committees,
which was conducted intemally this year

as descnbed earlier in this report on pages
60 and 61, confirmed that the Safety &
Ermaronrment Committee continuad to

be effective in fulfiling its duties with no
particular areas of concern identfied for
development

Conclusion

The safety of our employees and customers
1s of crihical importance to the Board, as

1$ the responsible management of our
envirorumgntal abligations | would like to
thank Dean Finch and his tearn for the
leadership they show in these areas and,
In particular, ther personal engagement
with safety matters across the Group over
the course of the past 12 months his
apparent that, increasingly, dvisions are
Ivng and breathing the desirable safety
culture and tone as set from the top

@umw

Safety & Environment Committee Charr
25 February 2016
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Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report

Annual Statement

by the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee

Dear shareholder,

I am pleased to introduce my first Directors’
Remuneration Report as Chair of the
Committes, having taken over the role from
Sir Andrew Foster on 6 May 2015 Andrew
chared the Committee from May 2012 and
| would ke to take this opportunity to thank
hirn, on behalf of the Board, for his work as
Chair and his support dunng our handover
penod In addion, | would ke to take

this opportunity io welcome Matthew
Crummack who joined the Committee

on 6 May 2015

Revised Remuneration Policy
Following our extensive sharehalder
consultation process, which concluded
dunng the early part of this year, the
Remuneration Committes was pleased to
note that the rewised Remuneration Policy,
which was put to a binding vote at the
Company's 2015 AGM in May, receved a
very posiive 98 91% support in favour The
changes made to our Remuneration Policy,
which applied from 6 May 2015, seek to
ensure effective aignment of the interests of
management with those of shareholders and
to reward for the long-term success of
National Express

For this yaar, the current Remuneration
Policy 1s once agan set out in full on
pages 74 to 82

The Annual Report on Remuneration on
pages 83 to 95 sets out In detail how the
Company has implemented its Remuneration
Policy for Directors dunng 2015 and how it
will be implemented for 2016

Company highlights for the
2015 financial year

The following financial results were
achieved in 2015

* Group ravenus of £1 92 billion, a3 8%
Increase on 2014 on a constant
currency basis

* Normalised Group profit before tax of
£1501 milion which was a 29 3% increase
on a constant currency basis from the
prior year

* Statutory Group profit before tax of
£124 4 milien, which was an 87 1%
increase from the pnor year

* Froe cash flow was €111 million and net
dabt was £746 millon (2014 £664m)

Summary of major decisions
made in 2015

The Group’s financial performance for
2015 was considerably ahead of

expectations Dunng 2015, our share price
increased by 34% which far exceeded the
returns of our direct competitors In
addition, the Exacutive Directors performed
strongly aganst the nen-financial targets
set for 2015 Bonuses equal to 182% of
salary for the Group Chief Executive and
150% for the Group Finance Diractor were
therefore determined by the Remuneration
Committee for the year to reflect the strong
performance of the Executive Directors In
accordance with the Remuneration Policy,
a portion of their bonus has been deferred
into shares This wll assist with retention of
the Executtve Directors and will align ther
interests with shargholders The Long-Term
Incentive Plan ('LTIP') awards granted in
2013 are due to vest In 2016 at 73 4% of
maximum which is also reflective of strong
corporate performance

We appointed Matthew Ashley to the role
of Group Finance Director at the end of
January 2015 The Committes set
Matthew's base salary at £300,000 with the
intention to increase this as he develops in
his role Matthew has made a significant
contnbution to the business in his first year
and performed strongly against the
objectives set for him at the start of the
year Therefore the Committee has
determined that it would be appropnate

to Increase his salary from £300,000 to
£325,000 in line with our intention to bring
him to a more competitive level of base pay
over tme This new ncrease positions his
base pay between the lowsr quartile and
median against a comparator group of
simiarly sized businesses

The Committee 1$ also ncreasing the
salary level of our CEQ from £561,000

to £689,000 which maintains the market
competitiveness of his salary when
compared aganst direct peers and
cornparies of similar size In the last five
years, he has only received one increase
{2% N 2014) A 5% increass also reflects
the aggregate average annual employee
Increase over the last few years and over a
penad dunng which corporate performance
has been strong

Looking at the wader pay ervironment

for the Group, | was delighted to learn

that National Express has become an
accradited Living Wage employer and the
UK's first private transport group to pay the
Living Wage With our UK Bus division
leading the way, hundreds of workers
across our UK Bus, Coach and Rail
businesses (ncluding all agency and
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contracted staff) will benefit as the Living
Wags 1s rolled out over the course of the
next two years

Following shareholder approval, the National
Express 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2015
LTIP"}y was mplementad with the first awards
beng made under the 2015 LTIP n June
Awards of nil cast options were granted to the
Executive Directors and to a small number of
the Servor Managementt Group whom the
Committee considers in a position to drve the
Group's performance The awards were made
subject to stretching performance targets over
a penod of three years The performance
condiions set for the 2015 awards were
based equally on a third each of EPS,

ROCE and TSR (sphit between 50% FTSE 250
comparator group and 50% bespoke Index of
competitors) In the case of the Executive
Drrectors, the Committee determined that the
addrional two-year holding penod of shares
post vasting and the malus and clawback
provisions under the 2015 LTIP would apply
Full detals of the awards made to the
Executve Directors under the 2015 LTIP

In 2015 are set out on pages 87 to 89 of the
Annual Report on Remuneration

The full ist of issues considered by the
Committes dunng the year are summarised
on pags 83 of the Annual Report on
Remuneration

Looking forward

| am confident that the provisions of our
current Remuneration Policy, which receved
such a positive vota of shareholder support,
will ensure that the leaders of National
Express are focused on delivenng supenor
retums for shareholders The introduction of
the post-vesting holding penod for shares,
the tighterung of the malus and clawback
provisions and the increase In the
shareholding guidetnes to 200% measured
at the end of a five-year period, will all
coninbute 1o a longer-term focus from the
Executve Directors on behalf of
shareholders

©On behalf of the Board, | would hike to
thank sharehclders for ther continued
support | am always happy to hear from
the Company's sharsholders and you can
contact me via the Company Secretary If
you have any quastions on this Report or
more generally In relation to the Company’s
remuneration framewaork

Y @w’ﬁ\%

Jane Kingston
Char of the Rem
25 February 2018

Committee




At a glance

Introduction

In this section, we summarise the purpose
of our Remuneration Policy and its inkage
to our corporate strategic objectives, and
we highlight the performance and
remuneration outcomes for the 2015
financial year More detal can be found in
the Annual Report on Remuneration

Our principles of remuneration
The Remuneration Policy 1s based on
the following broad principles set by the
Committee to

+ provide a cornpetiive remuneration package
to attract and retain qualty indmviduals,

» align remuneration to drive the ovarall
objectives of the business,

+ align the interests of management with
the interests of sharsholders, and

Strategic iInhatives

» provicde the foundation for overall reward
and remuneration beyond the speciic
roles falling within the direct remit of the
Remuneration Committee

In mplementing its policy, the Committee
gves full consideration o the pnnciples set
out in the Code with regard to Directors’
remuneration and due regard I1s given to
the guidance 1ssued by investor protection
bodies and institutonal Investors

rmore generally

Remuneration policy is reviewed on an
ongoing basis agamnst the Committee’s
broad principles and in ight of emerging
best practice in corporate governance

Link to strategy

Our focus 1s to delrver sustainable growth
and profitability and we seek to achieve this
through the following strategic intiatives

Measurement through tha Incentives

Revenue growth

Short term through the profit targets in the
annual bonus plan and longer term through
EPS growth targeted by the LTIP

Cost efficiency and better margins

Targeted through the ROCE metric under
the Performance Shares and indirectly
through relative TSR condition attached
to the Performance Shares

Operational excellence — safety,
customers, people, community

Measured by non-financial metncs in the
annual bonus plan

Notes

This Directors’ Remuneration Report has
been prepared in accordance with Schedule
8 to the Large and Medum-sized Companies
and Groups {(Accounts and Reports}
(Amendment) Reguiations 2013 (the
‘Regulations’} and the provisions of the 2014
UK Corporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code)

The report consists of the following sections

* The Annual Statement by the
Remuneration Committee Chairman,

* The ‘At a glance’ section providing
a summary overview,

* Fhe current Remuneration Policy
report which sets out the Company's
Remuneration Folicy for directors and
the key factors that were taken nto
account In setting the policy This policy
1s currently in operation, having beean
approved at the 2015 AGM It 1s intended
that the policy will apply until the
conclusion of the 2018 AGM, and

* The Annual Report on Remuneration
which sets out payments made to the
directors and detauls the ink between
Company performance and
rermuneration for the 2015 financial year

The Charrman’s Annual Statement and the
Annual Report on Remuneration will be
subject to an advisory vote at the AGM

Supertor cash and returns

Measured by free cash flow metric
N the annual bonus plan and ROCE
and TSR conditions attached to the
Performance Shares

Creating new business opportunities

Measured by non-financial metrics i the
annual benus plan

How we have performed in 2015

Bonus KPis (£m) Thrasheld Target Maximum Actual
Normalised profit before tax 1228 1364 1500 1501
Free cash flow 862 947 104 2 1Mo
Single total figure of remuneration for Executive Directors for 2015
Pension
Base Taxable Performance- Value of ralated 2015 2014

£ 000 salary  benefits related bonus  LTIP vested bensfits Total Total
Group Chief 561 27 1,077 1,385 196 3,266 1,562
Executve

- Dean Fnch

Group Finance 276 126 413 457 69 1.3#1 N/A
Direxstor

- Matthew Ashley'
' Appointed on 28 January 2015

#The increase N the single total figure for the Group Chesf Executve from 2014 to 2015 1s pnmanly due to the vesting of the
2013 LTIP gward at 73 4% of maxmum The valua of tha LTIP vested 1s basad upon the average share pnce for the last

quarter of 2015 {£3 07) There was no LTIP vestng in 2014

73
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Corporate Governance — Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report

Remuneration structure from 2015

The table below sets out the key elements of the Company’s
Remuneration Policy for the Executive Diractors which was
approved at the AGM held on 6 May 2015 and will cont|r|1u9 to
apply for the penod of three years from that date The policy
balances the desire to align remuneration to the long-term succass

of the business and shareholders whilst also enabling the
Company to effectively recruit and motivate key indwiduals

Consideration of shareholder views

The Committee 1s committed to an ongoing dialogus with
sharsholders and seeks shareholder views when any significant
changes are being made to remuneration arrangements

Remuneration policy table for Executive Directors

Elamant

Heow element supports businass strategy

Operaton

Base salary

To prowide a competitive level of
salary as the matn component of
fixed remuneration Enables the
Group to recruit and retain
Executive Directors of the calibrs
reguired to fulfil the role and (s key
to developing and implementing
business strategy without paying
more than 1s necessary to do so

The salary of ndvidual Executive Directars 1s paid monthly in cash and
15 normally reviewed annualty

In determining base salares, the Committee considers

* pay levels at companies of a smilar size and complexity in the FTSE 250,
« external market conditions,

* general performance of the Company,

* pay and conditons elsewhere in the Group, and

= individuad performance, skills, expenence in post and potential

When considering pay increases the Committee will use comparator
groups that will be based on groups of transport/leisure and general
sector companies of a similar size The Committee retains discretion to
amend the comparator groups as necessary In order to remain relevant

Any changes to the comparator groups will be dis¢losed in the part of
the report setting out the operation of the policy for the future year

Pension-relatad
benefits

To provide competitive benefits in
line with market practce To
provide funds to allow Executives
to save for retrement Pension
benefits are a fixed eternent of
remuneration

Executive Directors are provided a cash allowance in lieu of a pension
provision In ine with market practce

The Group CEO receives a cash supplement In lisu of pension at 35%
of salary

The Group FD receives a pension contribution or a cash supplement
in lieu of pension at 25% of salary

Only basic salary counts for the purposs of the allowance

Benefits

To prowide competitive benefits as
part of fixed remuneration in ine
with market practice to enable the
Group to recruit and retan talent

Exscutive Directors receive family pnvate healthcare, death in service and
life assurance cover {4 x base salary), long-term sickness and disability
insurance, a cash alternative to a fully expensed car, free travel on the
Company's services and professional membership subscriptions

The Committee has discretion to provide additional benefits or remove
benefits in order to remain competrtive or to meet the needs of the
business, for example to provide relocation expenses, including financial,
tax and legal advice If applicable Any change to benefit provision will be
dstaled on an annual basis
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In particutar, the Committee consulted with a number of major
shareholders in the formulaton of the current Bemunearation
Policy to understand their iews and o inform the Committea's
approach The Committee believes that the feedback receved
has been crucial in the development of the new structurs which

1S NOw In place

Maxmum potential value

in addition o the components descnbed below, it 1s the policy

of the Company to honour any commitmeants made to a Director
before this policy took effect or before he/she became a Director
Such commitments include the Group Chief Executive’s unfunded
pension arrangement, which 1s descnbed on page 80 and his
Five Year Award, which 1s descnbed in the Annual Report

on Remuneration

Performance conditions and assessmant

The Commttee’s policy 1s to set base salary
at an appropnate level taking intoc account
the factors outlined in this table

The maximum annual salary increase will not
normalty exceed the average mcrease which
applies across the wider workiorce However,
larger increases may be awarded in certain
circumstances including but not limited to

* ncrease N scope of responsibiities of the role,

* to apply salary progression for a newly
appointed Director, and

* where a Director's salary has fallen significantly
below market position

In these circumstances, subsequent Increases
may be staged over a number of years unti
the target posihoning (and desired performancs}
1$ reached

In such circumstances, the increase will not
exceed RP1 + 10%

The Company will set out In the section
headed 'Statement of implementation of
Remuneration Policy’ in the following financial
year the salanes for that year for each of the
Executive Directors (see page 93)

Not applicable

The Committee's policy Is that the maximum
cash allowance payable in lleu of a pension
will be 35%

Not applicable

The cost to the Company of pronding

the benefits may vary from year to year

in accordance with market conditions and
will, therefore, determine the maximum
amount that would be pard in the form

of benefits during the policy period

Not applicable
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Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report continued

Remuneration policy table for Executive Directors continued

Element

How elament supporis business strategy

Operation

Performance-
related bonus

To incentivise delivery of

performance objectives which are
directly inked to the financial and
strategic prionties of the business

A portion of bonus i1s deferred
into shares, assisting retention of
Executive Directors and aligning
ther financial interasts with thoss
of shareholders

Bonus payments are based on the achievement of specified corporate
{financial and non-financial) objectives over a one-year performance penod

A proportion of the bonus payments is subject to mandatory deferral
into shares for one year from award as follows

* 25% of the bonus earned up to 125% of salary
= 50% of the bonus earned from 125% to 150% of salary
* 75% of the bonus earned above 150% of salary (applicable to Group CEQ only)

Dindends or dwdend equivalants (which may assume notonal re-investment}
are paid on these shares

The Remuneration Committee retains the discretion to standardise the
percentage of the bonus deferred into shares if this 1s deemed appropnate in
the future Unless the Committee determines otherwise, the market price per
share on the date of the award will be calculated on the basis of the average
market price share in the five days preceding the date of the grant

Bonus payments are paid folowing year end and are not pensionable

Only the Executive Directors currantly participate in the Company's bonus
deferral arrangements Other employees may be invited to participate in
future years at the Commuittee’s discretion

Achievernent of each selement of the bonus 1s assessed independently

Prowisions exist that require the deferred shares to be forfeited or repad
should 1t be necessary for the Company to restate matenally the fmancal
results upon which the bonus was awarded within a two-year penod
following the deferred bonus being awardad The proportion of the bonus
that would be subject to this provision would depand on the extent to
which the onginal bonus payment turned out to be false following

the publication of corrected results

Long-Term To drive performance, aid Parformance Share Awards (in the form of condihonal awards, nil cost
Incentive Plan retention and align the interests options or forfeitable shares) are granted annually and vesting 1s
- Performance  of Executive Directors with dependent on the achieverment of performance conditions measured
Shares shareholders over a three-year period
The performanca conditions An additional two-year holding penod has been introduced to increase
are aligned with the long-term alignment with shareholders Dividend equivalents can be paid on
performance of the business, these shares
thereby drivin riicipants
toe;gh?évé out%gfnesc tFI:aat Awards are reviewed annually to ensure that grant levels, performance
realise shareholder value criteria and other features remain appropnate to the Company's currant
circumstances
Malus and clawback provisions are attached to awards made under the
LTIP which apply over a two-year perniod post vesting
Shareholding Executive Diractors are encouraged to build up a shareholding over a five-year penod from 2015 The requirement
requirement for the Group CEO 15 equivalent to 200% of salary and for the Group FD the requirement 15 150% of base salary

Adherance to these guidslines i1s a cendition of continued participation in the equity incentive arrangements
This policy ensures that the interests of Executive Directors and those of shareholders are closely aligned
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Maximum potenbal value

Parformance conditions and assagsment

Maximum 200% of base salary

The targets for the bonus in respect of 2016 are as follows

* 75% bonus s subject to normalised profit and free cash flow targets
* 25% Is subject to non-financial targets

The Committes retains discretton in exceptional circumstances to amend the
waightings of the financial and non-financial elements of the bonus from year
to year and for each Executive as appropnate

The targets attached to the financial condmon wall typically relate to profit and/or
cash generation, are set on an annual basis and are Intended to be achievable
at threshold and stretching at maximum The numerncal values of the target will
not be disclosed in advance as the Committee considers this information
commercially sensitive Actual targets, performance achieved and awards will be
published at the end of the performance pencd in order that shareholders can
fully assess the basis for any payouts under the annual bonus

The non-financial targets will be set annually based on strategic objectives for the
year The non-financial targets include safety, customer, operational excellence
and pecple objectives and will be determined by the Committee on an annual
basis The proportion of the bonus determined by performance against non-
financial targets will only becoms payable when the Company achieves a
threshold level of normalised profit

It 15 a pre-condition to the award of any bonus that the Remuneration Committee
has determinad that there has been an improvement in safety processes,
procedures and outcomas during the year In the relevant business unit before
any bonus 1s paid

For further detaills on the measures and targets which applied to bonuses in 2015,
please see pages 85 and 86

The annual bonus contains malus and clawback provisions

The Group CEC 1s eligible to receve a
conditional award of Performance Shares up
to an equwalsnt of 200% of salary per annum

Tha Group FD I1s eligible to receve a
conditional award of Performance Shares
up to an equivalent of 150% of base salary
per annum

Awards will be subject to stretching performance targets over a penod of
three years

The Committee may change the balance of the measures, or use different
measures for subsequent awards, as appropnate No matenal change will be
made to the type of performance conditions without prier sharsholder consultation

For 2016, the awards will be based equally as follows

* 1/3 eamings per share (EPS')

* 1/3 return on capital employed (ROCE')

* 1/3 total shareholder retumn (spiit between 50% FTSE 250 comparator group and
50% competitors { TSR}

Achigvernent of thresheld performance in respect of the EPS and TSR targets
results in 30% vesting for each part of the award Achievement of threshold
perfarmance in respect of the ROCE target resufts in 0% vesting

There i1s no ability to retest any of the performance conditions

The Committee retains discretion under the rules of the LTIP to amend existing
performance conditions to take account of any events that may anse which would
mean In its opinion, § such adjustments were not made, the performance conditon
would not constitute a fair measure of the Company’s performance over the period
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Corporate Governance — Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report continued

Elements of remuneration applying under the previous policy applicable for 2015

Elemant How slement supports business strategy Operation

Long-Term Incentive  To drive performance, aid retention and Executive Directors are eligible to receive awards of Matching

Plan - Matching algn the interests of Executive Directors Shares that are based on a personal nvestment in National

Shares with shareholders Express Group PLC shares funded esther through using an
Part t | Match annual bonus award to purchase shares or through the

aruicipants only recewe vatching pledging of shares held not already allccated to the LTIP

Shares subject to investing into the Matching awards are made cn the basis of up 1o four
business and therefore this mechanism Matching Shares being awarded (based on the value of
adds an slement of buy-in 1o the the Investment) for each National Express share pledged
remuneration or purchased
The performance condttions are aligned Reviewed annually to ensure that grant levels, performance
with the long-term performance of the cniteria and other features remain appropriate to the
business, thereby dmang participants Company's current circumstances, and to ensure that there
t%achueve outcomes that reakise are no features of the plans that could inadvertently motivate
shareholder value irresponsible behaviour

Performance conditions for the National Express Group PLC 2015
Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘2015 LTIP?)

EPS, TSR and ROCE were chosen for the 2015 LTIP as appropriate measures of the Group's long-term performance Thae table below
summarises the ratonale for the inclusion of these measures in the 2015 LTIP

Measure Rationate for parformance measura

EPS * Important growth measure considered within the Company and a dnver of shareholder value
« Provides a transparent and accessible method of gauging the financial performance of the Company
* Ensures the annual profit performance targeted by the annual bonus plan flows through to long-term
sustanable EPS growth
* The Company calculates performance aganst this measure by referenca to the EPS figures reportad in the
Company's audited accounts

TSR * Improves shareholder alignment
* Consistent with the Company’s objective of providing superior long-term returns to shareholders
ROCE + Demonstrates how efficiently the Company 1s operating with the resources avallable

It the Committee changes the performance conditions within the Ife of the Remuneration Policy, it will inform shareholders of the changes
made and the reason for making any change

On a change of control, Performance Shares will vest, except to the extent they are exchanged for awards over shares in the acgquinng
company Vesting will be subject to any performance conditions and will normally be reduced to reflect earty vesting, untass the
Remunearation Cammittee determines that a reduction n the number of vested shares 1s cansidered inappropnate The nurmber

or class of shares under award may be adjusted on a nghts 1ssue, vanation of capital, demerger or similar transaction

Comparison with approach to remuneration across the Group

National Express Group operates internationally and accordingly, the remuneration policy for employees generally reflects the legislative
and labour market regquirements In each separate junsdiction The Group will always meet or exceed national minmum standards for
terms and conditions of employment in each of our business areas, offenng pay, terms and conditions that are appropriate to each
labour market in which we operate Base pay 1s set at a lavel that allows us to recruit and retain staff n each relevant labour market

and performance-related pay arrangements are based on the achievement of business unit and indivdual goals, objectively assessed
Other than for a small number of sentor Executives In each business unit, long-term incentive plans are only applicable at Executive

Director level
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Maximum potential value Performance conditions and assessmant
The maximum value of investment in any year 1s 30% Half of any award will be subject to EPS growth The remaining
of base salary half will be subject to the relative TSR of the Company measured

agamnst an appropnate group of companies

Achievement of threshold performance results in 30% vesting
for each part of the award

Thare 1s no ability to retest either parformance condition

The Committee retains discretion under the rules of the LTIP to
amend existing performance conditions to take account of any
aveants that may anse which would mean in its opimon, If such
adjustments were not made, the performance condition would
not constitute a far measure of the Company's EPS or TSR
growth over the penod

Approach to recruitment remuneration of Executive Directors

In the event that the Company recruits a new Executive Director (either from within the orgarnisation or externally) when determining
appropnate remuneration arrangements, the Committee will take into consideraticn all relevant factors (including but not mited to
quantum, the type of remuneration being offered and the junsdiction the candidate was recrurted from} to ensure that arrangements
are in the best interests of both the Company and its shareholders without paying more than 1s necessary to recrut an Executive

of the required calibre

The Committes's policy 1s for all Exacutive Directors to have rolling service contracts with a notice penod of 12 months, unless on an
excaptional basis to complete an external recrutment successtully, when a longer initial penod reducing to 12 morths may be used

The Committes would generally seek to align the remuneration of any new Executive Director following the same prnciples as for the
current Exacutive Directors (set out In the table above)

The elements that would be considered by the Company for nclusion in the remuneration package tfor a new Director are

= salary and benefits including defined contnbution pension participation or a salary supplement in lieu of pension prowvision,

« participation in the performance-related bonus pro-rated for the year of recrutment to reflect the proportion of the year for which the
new recruit was in post (meaxamum of 200% of salary) If the commencement date is after 1 September In the year, no award would
normally be made for that year,

= participation in the LTIP The Performance Shares granted will be in ine with the grant levels for that grade In the case of the
appantment of a new Group Chief Executve, this grant would be a maximum of 200% and for any other position a grant of 150% would
be made The grant may be pro-rated depending on the time of appointment through the year, and

* costs relating to but nat mited to relocation, London allowance, legal, financial, tax and wisa adwice, and pre-employment medical checks

The Committee may make awards on appointing an Executive Director to 'buy out' remuneration arrangements forfeited on leaving a
previous employer The Committee would take into account both market practice and any relevant commarcial factors In considerng
whether any enhanced and/or one-off annual ncentive or long-term incentive award was necassary Awards made by way of
compensation for forferted awards would be made on a comparable basis, taking account of performance achieved {(or likely to be
achieved), the proportion of the paerformance penod remaning and the torm of the award Compensation could be In cash or shares

In the event of recrutment or retantion {other than buy-out awards as descnbed above), the Committee may also grant awards to a new
or existing Executive Director under Listing Rule 94 2 up to an equivalent of 200% of salary per annum The Remuneration Committee
does not currently intend 1o exercise this discretion to grant total awards in excess of 200% of salary and 1s committed to fully disclose
the nature and reasons for any such discretion usad in future
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Corporate Governance - Directors' Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report continued

Executive Directors
The contract dates and nohce pertods for the Executive Directors are shown in the table below

Executive Directors’ service contracts and notice periods

Nouce period from MNotica penod from
Diractor Contract date the Cempany the Dwrector
Dean Finch 16 December 2009 12 months 6 months
Matthew Ashley 16 July 2015 12 months 6 months

The service contract of Dean Finch, which 1s a rolling contract, contans a provision, exercisable at the option of the Company, 1o pay an
amount on termination of employment aqual to one ysar's salary, salary supplement in keu of pension and car allowance The Director will
not be obliged to mitigate his loss I relation to any payment In lieu of notice The Company will use the payment in lieu of notice prowsions
when the speed, certanty and protection of restrictive covenants afforded by such clauses are thought to be in the best interests of the
Company and the circumstances surrounding the departure of the Director justify therr use

Thae senvice contracts for the current Executive Directors are available to view on request from the Company Secretary

The Committee continuously reviews its policies on Executive remuneration and severance in the best interests of sharehclders Guidance
on best practice expectahons 1s taken nto account prior 1o agreeing Directors' contractual provisions

The Group Chief Executive 1s entitled, under an unfunded pension arrangement, to a pension based on the value of nctional contributions
of 25% of his salary, plus a 5% per annum notonal retum On 3 June 2015, the Group Chief Executive was given 12 months’ notice of
the cessation of this ongotng accrual The benefits under the unfunded pension arrangement will cease to accrue on 5 June 2016

The pension normally becomes payable, at the earliest, on 1 April 2022 All or part of it may be pad as a lump sum

Executive Directors are also provided with Diractors’ and Officers' hability nsurance and are indemnified by the Company aganst certan
labilities incurred In the course of their duties, including the costs of defending actions aganst them

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Under the terms of thar service agreements, Board approval 1s required before any external appointment may be accepted by an
Exacutive Director The Executive Director 1s paermitted to retain any fees pad for such semices

Details of the fee receved by the Group Chief Executive in 2015 are shown below

Durector Fas Extarnal appointment
Dean Finch £13,700 Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
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Executive Directors’ termination payments
The Company may at its discretion pay in leu of notice Payment In heu of notice could potentially include up to 12 months’ base salary,
benefits and penston {which may be payable in instalments and subject to mitigation)

The tabla below sats out the treatment of other elements of remuneration that would normally apply for Executive Directors whose service
with National Express terminates

Salary and Partormance-related Unwvested deferred
Reason for termination contractual benefits bonug awards bonus awards Unvasted LTIP awards Other
Rettrement, disability,  Payment equal to Bonus awarded Award vests onthe  Awards vest on the Fees for
redundancy, death, the aggregate of (subject to date of cessation date of cessation of outplacement
sale of part of the basic salary satisfaction of of employment ermployrment, unless and legal advice
Company that and the value of parformance the Remunsration may be pad
employs participant, any contractual targets) for Committee
or any other reason benefits for the the relevant determines it should
that the Remuneration  nohice penod financial year vast at normal vesting
Committee decides ncluding any date

accrued but

untaken holiday The amount of award

vesting will be subject
to the satisfaction of
performance
conditions as at the
date the award 15
deamed to vest

Awards will normalty
be reduced tme pro
rata to reflect time
elapsed between
grant and cessation
of employment

' Pursuant to Dean Finch's serace contrect dated 16 December 2009 1f hes contract 1s termunated for reasons other than for an evont of default by the Executiva (such as gross
mesconduct) he is entitied subyect 1o the applicable performance conditions to a pro rata borws calculated up te the termination date from the commencerment of the relevant
bonus year n which termanation takes place

Subject to the circumstances surrounding the termination, the Committee in tts discretion may treat the individual as an approved
leaver (i@, under the first section in the table above) The Committee will consider factors such as personal performance and conduct,
overall Company performance and the specific circumstances of the Executive's departure including, but not restnicted to, whether the
Executive 1s leaving by mutual agreement with the Company

In addition, the Committee will consider the above circumstances in considanng whether awards in respect of approved leavers should
be pro-rated to reflect the service completed

The Committee reserves the nght to make additional exit payments where such payments are made in good faith

+ 1n discharge of an existing legal obligation {or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation), or
+ by way of settlement or compromise of any claim ansing in connectron with the termination of a Director's office or employment

Remuneration policy for Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors’ appomtments

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service contracts with the Company and do not participate n the Group's pension scheme,
annual bonus scheme or long-term incentive schemes Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment and are appointed for an
mnitral three-year term Non-Executive Directors are typically expected to serve for two three-year terms, although therr appointment can
be terminated either by them or by the Company on one month's wnitten notice It 1s open to the Company to invite a Non-Executive
Director to serve for a further penod after the expiry of two three-year tarms The letters of appomntment for the current Non-Executve
Drrectors can be found on the Company's website, www nationalexpressgroup com

Non-Exgcutive Directors are also provided with Directors’ and Officers’ hability insurance and are indemnified by the Company aganst
certan habiities ncurred m the course of thar duties, including the costs of defending actions against them
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Corporate Governance — Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report continued

in accordance with the requirements of the Code, all Directors are required to stand for election or re-election by shareholders each year
The onginal appontment dates of the Charrman and Non-Executive Directors are shown n the iable below The remuneration of any new
Non-Executive Director will be determined following the same principles as for the current Non-Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors' appointment dates

Notice penod by either
Diractor Data of appointmant Company or Director
Sir John Armutt CBE 1 January 2013 3 months
Joaguin Ayuso 1 June 2011 1 month
Jorge Cosmen 1 December 2005 0 months
Sir Andrew Fostar! 1 August 2004 1 month
Jackie Hunt' 13 September 2012 1 month
Chris Muntwyler 11 May 201 1 month
Lee Sander 1 June 2011 1 month
Jane Kingston 26 February 2014 1 month
Matthew Crummack 6 May 2015 1 month
Mike McKeon 3 July 2015 1 month

' Retired from the Board on 6 May 2015

The table below sets out the current Company’s Remuneration Policy for the Non-Executive Directors which became effective from the 2015 AGM

Elament Purpose Operation Maximum potential value
Non-Exacutive To attract and retain The fees of the Non-Executive Directors are set by The Committee’s pohcy
fees persons of a suitable the Board as a whole and those of the Charrman are 15 to set base fees at an
calibre for a group of set by the Remuneration Committee The fees are appropriate tevel taking
this size and to pay reviewed at appropriate intervals {(normally once every  into account the factors
feas which are reflactive year} The review takes account of fees paid for outlined Iin this tabte
of responsibilities and similar positions in the market, the tima commitment
compatitive with required from the Director ([estmated to be 60 days
peer companies per year for the Charman and 20 days per year for
without paying more the other Non-Executive Directors) and any additional
than is necessary responsibilities undertaken, such as acting as

Chairman to one of the Board Committees or fulfiling
the role of Senior Independent Director

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to receive
pension entittements or bonuses and may not
participate In long-térm Incentive arrangements

A travel allowance may be paid to Non-Executive
Directors for attendance at Board meetings held
outsids the continent in which the Non-Executive
Director Is resident

Statement of conditions elsewhere in the Group

The Group operates across a number of countries and accordingly sets terms and condrtions for employees which reflect the different
leguslative and labour market conditions that operate in each of our junsdictions We set Global People Standards to provide a framework
for recognition and rewards internationally We wall always meet or exceed national miremurm standards for terms and condibons of
employment in each of our business areas Pay arrangements 1n our businesses also reflect local performance with personal Increases
based on achisvement, individually assessed National Express beleves in the value of continuous improverment, both for the Indwvidual
and for the Company The Company did nat censult with employses tn drawing up the Directors’ Remuneration Policy

When determining the remuneration of Executive Directors, the Remuneration Committes takes into account business und performance,
including both financial performance and safety iImprovements in the year Because of the wide vanety n labour market conditions and
in exchange rate movements, pay rates locally are not normally considered when considering Executive Director base pay reviews

The Remuneration Committee reviews and notes the salanes of the Senior Management Group LTIP awards are cascaded down below
Executive Director leve! to the Seruor Management Group, aligning the senior team to deliver value for the Group

82 Natoenal Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015




Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration

Tha relevant sections of this report have been audited, as required by the Regulations

Remuneration Committee composition and terms of reference
The indviduals who served on the Remuneration Committee dunng 2015, and those indviduals who attended Remuneration Committee
meetings, are set out below
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Member (biographies appear on pages 54 and 55) Position Appointment Date

Jane Kingston Commutteg Chaur Charr from 6 May 2015 and member since
26 February 2014

Sir Andrew Fostar? Committea Chaymman Chairrnan from 10 May 2012 until
6 May 2015

Lee Sander Senior Independent Director 22 November 2011

Matthew Crummack Independant Non-Executive Director 8 May 2015

1 Agtired from tha Beard on 6 May 2015

Role and responsibilities
The key responsibilities of the Committee are to

» determine the fees of the Chairman,

« determine the remuneration and conditions of employment {including any terrination arrangements; of the Executive Directors and
the Company Secretary,

* raview the remuneration and condittons of employment of the Senior Management Group, and

« select and appoint any ramuneration consutants who advise the Committes

The full terms of reference of the Commities are avalable on the Company's website at www nationalexpressgroup com

Meetings
The Committee met seven times during the year Details of attendance at the forral Committee meetings can be found on page 58

Remuneration Committee activity
The key areas of Committes actwity dunng the year were as follows

» Completed the extensiva shareholder consuttation commenced in 2014 in connection with the formulahion of a revised Directors’
Remuneration Policy which was put to a binding vote at the 2015 AGM

» Considered and approved a new long-term incentive plan for the Executve Directors and Semor Managemant Group, iIncluding the
types and range of performance conditions to be used, which was approved at the 2015 AGM

» Approved the remuneration arrangements for the ncoming Group Finance Director

* Reviewed salary levels for the Executive Directors, Company Secretary and Senior Management Group

+ Approved annual bonus payments to the Executive Directors, Company Secretary and Senior Management Group having duly
considared the overall strong financial performance of the Company

= Reviewed the Chairman's fee

+ Considered and approved 2015 award levels under the new 2015 LTIP

» Tested performance conditions for awards made under the previous 2005 LTIP granted in 2012

» Reviewed approach to measuring EPS performance in the ight of a change in accounting treatment for bid costs

* Set targets for the Group's 2015 bonus scheme

* Reviewed the fees pad to the remunerabion adwisers

= Reviewed comorate governance and legal and regulatory compliance with regard to Directors’ remuneration

* Reviewed and updated the Committee’s terms of reference

« Undertook an internal review of the effectiveness of the Committee, concluding that it continued to operate effectively

* Reviewsd and approved the Committee’s report for inclusion in the 2015 Annual Report
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Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

The Committee Is authonsed by the Board to seek any information that it requires from any employee of the Group

The Committee members and managemant attendees did not participate in ary discussions directly relating to their own remuneraton
or performance dunng the year

Adwvisors to the Committee
Material advice or services were provided to the Committee dunng the year by

* PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’) - Independent Remuneration Consultants,
+ Dean Finch — Group Chief Executive,

« Matthew Ashley — Group Finance Director,

* Mike Goddard — Group HR Director, and

* Sandra Forbes — Group General Counsel & Company Secretary

The Group Chief Executve attends mestings of the Committes to make recommendations relating to the performance and remuneration of
the Senior Management Group The Group HR Director guided the Commuittee on reward matters relating to the Executive Directors and the
Senior Management Group and the broader Group HR strategy and policy The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Committee

Dunng 2015, PwC provided adwice to the management of the Group on vanous matters including pensions, nternational taxation and
business consulting

From time to time, the Company submits the remuneration consultant functon to tender

PwC 15 a member of the Remuneration Consuttants Group and the voluntary code of conduct of that body 1s designed to ensure objective
and indepandent advice 18 given to remuneration committees

The Committee 1s satisfied that advice received was appropnate, ohjective and independent

Advisor Fees in retation to remuneration advice {£ 000)

PwC 170

Single total figure of remuneration

Executive Directors

The table below sets out the single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Exscutive Director in post dunng the 2015
financial year Comparative figures for 2014 have also been provided

2015 204
Performance- Value Pension Performance Value Pension-
Base Taxable related of LTIP related Base  Taxabls related  of LTIP related
£000 salary benefits' bonus vested?  benafits? Total salary  benefits' bonus  vested  benefits® Total
Dean Finch 561 27 1,077 1,395 196 3,256 561 27 778 0 196 1,662
Matthew Ashley* 276 126 413 457 65 1,341 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

1 Taxabla benafits compnse a cash alternative to a fully expensed car {£20,000 for Dean Finch and £10,500 for Matthew Ashiay} health msurance and death in service and ife
assurance cover Taxabio benefits for Matthew Ashigy also include £112 000 in respect of relocation expenses

7 The value of LTIP vested 1s based upon the average shara prce for the last quarter of 2015 {£3 07)

3 In addibon, Dean Finch has an enytiement under an unfunded pension amangement as described on page 80 From 5 June 2016 benefits under thes amangement will cease to accrue

* Appowted on 28 January 2015

Base salary

For 2015, the Committee determined that the salary for the Group Chief Executive should remain unchanged at £561,000 Matthew
Ashley was appointad to the role of Group Finance Director on 28 January 2015 His base salary was set at £300,000 which will be
ncreased based upon development in role
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Performance-related bonus
A summary cf the 2015 performance-related bonus scheme s summansed below

The maximum potential bonus payable for 2015 to the Group Chief Executive was 200% of salary and, in respect of the Group Finance
Director, 150% of salary

« For the Group Chief Exacutive, 25% of the bonus earned up to 125% of salary, 50% of the bonus earned from 125% to 150% and
75% of the bonus eamed from 150% to 200% of salary was to be deferred

+ For the Group Finance Director, 25% of the bonus earmed up to 125% of salary and 50% of the bonus eamed frorm 125% to 150%
of salary was to be deferred

The amounts deferred under the bonus plan in 2015 are deferred into shares awarded under the Executve Deferred Bonus Plan (EDBPY)
for one year Receipt of the deferred shares i1s subject 1o continued sernce and good leaver provisions under the EDBP The 2015 bonus
also ncludes provisions that require the deferred sharas 1o be forfeited or repaid should it be naecessary for the Company to restate
matenally its 2015 results within a two-year penod following the deferred bonus being awarded The proportion of the bonus that would
be subject to these provisions would depend on the extent to which the onginal bonus payment turned out to be false followng the
publication of corrected results

The Committee has reviewed the performance against the condmions attached to the performance-related bonus and, in addition,
made an assessment of the performance of the Group as a whole dunng 2015

The Committee has full discretion in the payment of annual bonusas For any financial elemeant to be payabls, the Group must have
achieved a thrashold level of normalised profit target for the year In addion, it 1s a pre-condition to the award of any bonus that the
Remuneration Committee has determined that there has been an improvement in safety processes, procedures and outcomes during
the year

In respect of the targets apphying to the annual bonus for 2015 for the Group Chief Executive and Group Finance Director, a maximum of 150%
and 112 5% respectively of salary was payable based on achwevemnent against a sliding scale of challenging financal targets A maximurm of
50% of salary for the Group Chief Executive and 37 5% for the Group Finance Director was payable based on non-financial targets that
encompassed customer, operational excellence and people objectives

The targsts set in relation to non-financial performance are key strategic Group objectives that are taillered to the responsibilities of
each ndwidual Executive Director and, in aggregate, are considered to be similarly challenging to the range of financial targets set

The tables below summanses the performance conditions attaching to the 2015 awards and the actual performance and bonus
value achieved

Bonus structure for 2015

Group Chief Executve Group Finence Diractor

Percentage of base salary Parcentage of base salary Details
Maxamum bonus potential 200% 150% Proportion of bonus subject to

mandatory daferral nto Company
shares for one year from award

Bonus potental at 90% of 0% 0% Awarded on achieving threshold level
budgeted normalised profit
before tax ('PBT'}
On-target bonus potential at 100% 50% 37 5% Awarded on achieving budget
of budgeted normalised PBT
Stretch bonus for 110% of budgeted 100% 75% Awarded on achieving a stretch target
normalised PBT of 110% of normalised PBT
Bonus potential at 830% of budgeted 0% 0% Awarded on achieving threshold level
free cash flow
On-target bonus potential at 100% 25% 18 75% Awarded on achieving budgst
of budgeted free cash flow
Stretch bonus potential at 110% 50% 375% Awarded on achieving a stretch target
of budgeted free cash flow of 110% of budgeted free cash flow
Non-financial targets {underpinned 50% 375% Awarded on meeting key strategic
by achieverment of 90% of budgeted Group objectives tallored to each
normalised PBT) Executive Director's responsibiliities
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Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

A summary of performance dunng 2015, the targets set and the extent to which the targsts were met 1s set out In the following tables

Summary of bonuses paid

Bonus valua achiovable for
Threshold On targst Maximum maetng threshold and Actual bonus

Performance performance performance Performance Actual Maximum parformance value achieved
condiion Weighting required required required  pertormance {Percentags of salary) (Percentage of salary)

Dean Matthew Dean Matthew

Finch Ashlay Finch Ashlay
Normalised profit 50% £1228m £1364m £1500m  E1501m  0%-100% 0%-75% 100% 75%
Free cash tlow 25% £85 2m £947m €1042m  £1110m  0%-50% 0%-375% 50% 375%
Non-financial targets 25% See detal below 0%-50% 0%-375% 42% 375%
Total awarded 192% 150%

salary salary!

£1,077,120 £413,784

Of which deferred
in shares

75 25% 43 75%
salary salary

£422,153 £120,687

Of which paid in cash

11675% 106 25%
salary salary

£654,967 £293,097

' Figuras are pro-rated based on salary received since joining the Board on 28 January 2015

Summary of non-financial conditions for 2015

Dean Finch
Qbjective Performance
Safety + Total harm {measured by the PWI) has further reduced year on year

» Deliver a year-on-year improvement in the Fatahties and
Weighted Injunies index ('FWTI’) for ike-for-ike operatons

* Achieve a successful Arthur D Little audit

» Davelop and implement plans to improve professional
driving and defensive driving techniques across the Group

by 0 5% — a 56% reduction since 2011

* CEO extarnally recognised for strong and effective leadership on Safety
matters ‘World Class Dnver' inmiative launched During 2015 all dnvers
across the Group have undertaken practical defensive dnving training

Business development
» Allccate growth capital to North Amenca and identify
bolt-on acquisition opportunities that are value enhancing
» Develop revenue management systems in UK Coach
and in Span
* Increase llaison with Non-Executive Directors on strategy

* Acquisitions in North Amenca contributed a combined $5 3 million
of profit dunng 2015, net of deal and synergy costs

¢ UK Coach has continued to develop its revanue management capability
and grown profits for the third consecutive yaar, Spain has successfully
rolled out its revenue programme but has still to deliver full benefits

» CEO provided clear direction on key strategic issues refemng back
to NED guidance to ensure delivery

Operational

= Maintain and improve punctualty, reliability and customer
satisfaction targets across the Group

* Successfully launch Bahrain and RME

= Whilst customaer satisfaction targets were positive, punctualty
improvements in UK Bus and Coach wera not fully met

* Bahrain bus contract successfully mobthised in new region, cpening
up the Middle East In Germany, RME succesfully launched in
early December

Talent development
* Develop graduate and apprenticeship schemes
* Successton planning

» 'National Express Network’ launched for graduates across all dwvisions,
apprentceship programmes have been developed in a number of
disciplines across the UK busineses

« Greater focus on MD succession and good progress on identfication
of talent have been undertaken

tnvestor relations
» Continue to promote strong Investor relations and buying
support for National Express shares

« Success recognised by a 34% increass in the value of the Group
in a year when the FTSE 250 increased by 8 4%
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Matthew Ashley

Objective

Parformance

Safety

+ Deliver a year-on-year improvement in the FWi for
lke-for-like operations

» Achigve a successful Arthur D Little audrt

+ Total harm {measured by the FWI} has further reduced year on year
by 0 5% - a 56% reduction since 2011

* External recogrution of strong leadership of the Executive team
in governance of safety across the Group

Business development

* Allocate growth capital to North Amenca and identfy
bolt-on acquisition opportunities that are valus enhancing

* Support the bid for the East Angha franchise, In particular
ensuring the iIntegrty of the model and the completeness
of revenue and costs

= Acquisitons in North Amenca contrnibuted a combined $5 3m of profit
during 2015 net of deal and synergy costs

* Took the fead review on property and stabhon management, property
and retal income, digital and IT CFO's challenges were considerad far
and constructive and his input deemed cntical to the bid subrrission

Operational

= Put in place robust financiat review mechanisms for the
new start-up businesses (Bahrain and German ratd)

* Develop and implement a plan for the refinancing of
the £350 million bond expinng in January 2017 including
appontment of bookrunners

* Financial control improvernents identified and appropriate resources
allocated to implement them Internal audit follow-ups venfied the tight
controls now In place

+ Following a competitive process, six banks appointed as bookrunners
and £450 rillion brdge facility negotiated to allow the Group to repay
the bond when It expires in 2017

Talent development

+ Significant sffort has been made in upgrading the finance talent,

* Reviaw the strength of the finance teams and develop plans  both at divisional and corporate level, accomplished through both

to upgrade talent across the business

developing and promoting intsmally and alse bringing in frash talent

« Quickly become established as the Group Finance Director ¢ Significant effort has been made in acting as a conduit for information

developing positive working relationships with the Group

Chief Executive, Charman, and the Board and Committees

between the businesses and the CEQ Recognition by the Non-
Executive Directors on clanty of the budget process was made
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Investor relations

* Continue to promote strong investor relations and buying
support for Nattonal Express stock

» Establish strong personal relations with key investors
and analysts

+ CFO has developed in the role significantty dunng the year and has
become established i the wider finance community as the Group
Finance Director

* CFO has now met with most significant shareholders and has had
success In presenting the nvestment case for the Group

Based on the above assessment against the objectives set, the Committee determined that the performance of Dean Finch warranted
42% payout out of a maximum 50% of salary, and Matthew Ashley warranted maximum payout for the non-financial elements of their

respective bonuses
LTIP awards

Performance Share Awards and Matching Share Awards granted under the LTIP in 2013 are scheduled to vest In 2016 The performance
penod relating to these Awards ended on 31 December 2015 Details of the perfermance conditions and the extent to which they have

been satisfied are set out below

Porformance Shares and Matching Shares

Thrashold Maxtmum

performance performance Actual
Performance condition Waighting required {30% vesting} required (100% vestng) performance % vesting
TSR! 50% Median of Upper quintile Between 46 7%

comparator of comparator median and

group group upper quintile

(7th out of

15 companies)
EP3? 50% 2015 EPS of 22 1p 2015EPS ot 24 7p 24 8p 100%
Total 100% 73 4%

1 TSR was measured aganst a bespoke comparator group of transport companies taken predominanty from the FTSE Industnal Transportation and FTSE Travel & Lasure sectors

2 Tha Committea considerad and agreed changes to the performance conditions for outstanding ewards made under tha previous 2005 LTIP whereby the growth in EPS for
outstanding awards under thrs plan would be based on a consistent CcoUNting basis to exclude actual bd costs Incurred This adjustment serves to ensure that the EPS element of
the LTIP cantinues to Incentvise and reward delivery of normalised EPS growth now that bid casts wath effect from 1 January 2015, are treated as a normalised expense which has the
)mpact af reducing normalised EPS in 2015 and subsequent yeara. Bid costs of £9 2 milion for 2015 were added back to the normalised EPS of 23 4p 10 give an outcome of 24 Bp for

the LTIP awards tested at the end of the year

Vesting of Awards

Dean Finch was awarded 280,898 Performance Shares and 337,076 Matching Shares in 2013 and therefore, following 73 4% of the
performance conditions being met, a total of 453,283 shares are due to vest In 2016 Matthew Ashley was awarded 94,484 Performance
Shares and 108,000 Matching Shares in 2013 and therefore a total of 148,522 shares are dus to vest n 2016
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Corporate Govemnance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Pension entitlements and cash allowances
Under the terms of thesr service agreements, Executive Directors are not entitied to bacome members of one of the Group pension schemes

The Group Chief Exgcutive receives a 35% salary supplement in lieu of pension contrbutions
Benaefits under the Group Chief Executive’s unfunded penston arangament will ceasa to accrue with eftect from 5 June 2016
The Group Finance Director receives a combination of pension contnbution and salary supplement worth 25% of salary in total

Long-term incentives awarded in 2015

The tables below set out the details of any long-term incentive award granted in the 2015 financial year whare vesting will be determined
according to the actuevement of performance conditions that will be tested in future reporting penods In addition, the Company has
granted market value options to Dean Finch under the Company share option plan section of the LTIP {CSOP Options’) over sharas with a
face value of £30,000 The exercise price of each CSOP Option 1s £3 149 per share  The number of shares that 1s capable of exercise will
be reduced by such number of shares as has a market value (at the dats of exercise of the linked CSOP Option) equal to the gain made on
the exercise of the CSOP Option  Overall, the participant’s pre-tax economic gain from the award I1s the same as if the CSOP Option was
not In place

Dean Finch
Parcentage of award
Face value vesting at thrashold
Basis on which of award' performance Performance Parformance
Grant date Award type award made €'000 {ROCE 0%) period end date condiions
110615 LTIP — MNil cost options 200% 1,123 30% 311217 TSR, EPS and
of satary ROCE equally
weighted
Matthew Ashley
Percentage of award
Face value vaesting at threshold
Basis on which of award' performance Performance Performance
Grant date Award type award made £000 (ROCE 0%} penod end date conditions
110615 LTIP — NIl cost options 150% 450 30% 311217 TSR, EPS and
of salary ROCE equally
weighted
1 The face value In the tables above has been calculated by muthplying the maximum number of shares that could vest by the closing shara pnoe at the date of grant.
The share prce was 315 4p on 11 June 2015
Performance conditions for LTIP awards made in 2015
Part C - TSR condition
v FTSE 250 comparator Part D - TSR conditon
Part A - EPS Part 8 - ROCE group rank over thres years to v Index' over three years
Performanca condition {1/3 condition (1/3 31 Decambar 2017 1o 31 Decamber 2017 Vastng percentage
level of the award) of the award) {1/6 of the award) {1/6 of the award}® of the award
Below threshold Less than 24 8p Below 9% Below median Below Index 0%
Threshold 24 8p 9% Median Equal to Index 30% (with
exception of
ROCE for which
thrashold 1s 0%)
Target 26 3p 10% Straight hne between Straight ine 50%
median and upper quintie betwesn Index and
Index + 10% pa
Maximum 28 6p or abovae 12% or above Upper quintile Equal or above 100%

index + 10% pa

' Index compnsing of the total retums of threa comparator companies
Straight-ine vesting occurs botween ntermechate points
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Indicative percentage of LTIP awards vesting based on performance to 31 December 2015

The table below sets out the percentage of each extant award that would have vested if the performance conditions had been tested
at 31 December 2015 (without making any allowance for pro rata reduction for ary penod of trme that 1s less than the length of the
performance penod)

EPS RQCE TSR measura 1 TSR measura 2

Total
Award Weighting Vesting  Waghtng  Vestng Details Waighting  Vesting Detals  Weighting Vasting  {max 100%)
2012 — Chief 50% 0% - - Bespoke 50% 00% n/a - - 0%
Executive's Five comparator
Year Award group
2013 ~ Chief 50% 50% - - Bespoke 50% 467% n/a - - 48 4%
Executive's Five comparator
Year Award group
2014 — Performance  50% 100% - - FTSE250 25% 565% Bespcke 25% 709% B19%
Shares and Matching index
Shares
2014 - Chuef 50% 51 4% - - FTSE250 25% 565% Bespoke 25% 709% 576%
Executive’s Five Index
Year Award
2015 — Performance 33 3% 30% 33 3% 90% FTSE250 167% 953% Bespcke 167% 100% 72 6%
Shares Index
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The National Express Group Executive Deferred Bonus Plan (‘EDBP’)
Defarred bonuses awarded in 2015 {based on performance dunng 2014) will vest on 18 March 2016 as set out In the table below

As at Dunng year At Market
1 January 31 December price at date Data of Dato of
2015 Granted Vested Lapsed 2ms of vesting grant vesting
Dean Finch 2014 73,378 - 73,378 - o 29010p 280214 020315
2015 - 76,643 - - 76,643 180315 180316

The market pnce per share on the date of award was calculated on the basis of the average market price share in the five days preceding
the date of the grant

Deferred shares will be required to be forfeited or repaid should it be necessary to restate matenally the Company's 2014 and 2015 results
within a two-year period following the award of the bonus The propoertion of the bonus subject to these prowisions would depend on the
extent to which the onginal bonus turned out to be false following the publication of corrected results

Non-Executive Directors
The tabla below sets out tha single total figure of remuneration and breakdown for each Non-Executive Director serving dunng 2015
The table includes only those columns in respect of elements of remuneration receved by Non-Executive Directors

2015 teas 2014 feas
£ 000 £'000 Notes
Sir John Amuitt CBE 225 225
Joaguin Ayuso 51 81
Jorge Cosmen a7 A7
Sir Andrew Foster 24 57 Rasigned on
6 May 2015
Jackie Hunt 26 60 Resigned on
6 May 2015
Jane Kingsten 54 a0
Chns Muntwyler 63 61
Lee Sander 73 71
Matthew Crummack 32 - Appointed on
6 May 2015
Mike McKeon 28 - Appointed on
6 July 2015

Included in the above 1s a trave! allowance of £4,000 payable to each of Joaguin Ayuso, Chns Muntwyler and Lee Sander for attendance
at each Board mesting held outside the continent in which the Non-Executive Director 1s resident Lee Sander attended five meetings
outside the continent in which he 1s resident
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Corporate Governance — Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

There was no increase In the fees for ether the Chairman or the Non-Executive Directors from 1 January 2015

Payments to past Directors
Other than the payment made to Jez Maiden in respect of the cash slement of his performance-related bonus for 2014, as disclosed
in last year’s Directors’ Remuneration Report, there were no payments made to past Directors

Payments for loss of office
Thers were no loss of office payments made dunng the year to any person who has served as a Director of the Group

Statement of Directors’ shareholdings

Directors’ shareholdings - Executive Directors’ interests and share ownership guidehnes

In order to align the interests of the Directors more closely with the shareholders, the Remuneration Committee has determined that
the Executive Directors are encouraged to buld up a shareholding over a five-year penod from 2015 as set out In the share ownership
guidelines as described on page 76 of the Remuneration Policy From 2015, the requirement for the Group Chief Executive is the
equvalent of 200% of salary and, for the Group Finance Director, the requirement I1s the equivalent of 150% of salary Matthew Ashley's
shareholding will continue to be built up following his appointment in January 20156

The beneficial and non-benaficial Interests of the Executive Directors in office and thewr connected persons as at 31 December 2015
and the details of long-term incentive interests are shown below

Other
Shares held directly sharos heid
Current
shareholding
as at 31 EDBP intarests LTIP intarests
Shareholding Dacember not subject 10 subject to Shareholding
requirement 2015 Beneficially performance performance raquirerment
(Parcentage of salary) (Percentage of salary}' owned condiions conditions currently met?
Executive Directors
Dean Finch 200% 220% 294,598 76,643 2,148,121 Yes
Matthew Ashley 150% 76% 68,597 0 496,727 No

' The share price of 332 8p {as at 31 December 2015) has bean taken for the purpose of calculating the curent shareholding as a percentage of salary

Please see the appendix on page 95 for more information on outstanding LTIP awards

Directors' shareholdings - Non-Executive Directors’ interests
Non-Exacutive Directors are not subject to a shareholding requirement Details of thair interests in shares and those of ther connected
persons as at 31 December 2015, all of which are held outright with no attaching performance conditions, are shown below

At 31 Decamber 2015

Sir John Armitt CBE 6,000
Joaquin Ayuso 0
Jorge Cosmen' 88,860,685
Chns Muntwyler 0
Lee Sander 0
Jane Kingston 0
Matthew Crummack 0
Mike McKeon 5,000

' Jorge Cosmen's holding mcludes shares held by European Express Enterpnses Lid which ara shown on page 88 in the list of major shareholdings in the Company

The Register of Directors’ interests mantained by the Company contains full details of the Drectors’ holdings of shares and options over
shares in the Company The closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares at 31 December 2015 was 332 8p (2014 248 4p) and the
range during the year ended 31 December 2015 was 247 9p 1o 334 4p
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Changes since year end
There have besn no changes in the shareholdings of the Directors between 31 December 2015 and the date of signing of this

Annual Report

History of CEO’s pay
The table below sets out the total remuneration deliverad to the Chief Executive over the last six years, valued using the methodology
apphed to the single total figure of ramuneration

Year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Chief Executive R Bowker' D Finch D Finch D Finch D Fin¢ch D Finch D Finch
Total remuneration (£°000) 465 1,356 1,454 1,701 1,553 1,562 3,256
Annual bonus payment 0% 100% 100% 78% 95% 93% 96%
(% maximum opportunity)

LTIP vesting level achieved? n/a n/a n/a 32 5% 0% 0% 73 4%

(% maximum opportunity}

* R Bowher resigned as Chief Executve on 10 July 2009
2 The incumberit Chisf Executive dunng sach of 2010 and 2011 did not have entittement to any LTIP awards with ettaching performance conditions whose final year of performance

ended dunng that ysar

Comparison of overall performance

The first graph below shows a compansen of National Express Group PLC's seven-year total cumulative shareholder return against that
achieved by the FTSE 250 Index This index has been selected because the Company 1s a constituent of this index and the Committee,
therefore, feels that this I1s the most appropnate index with which to represent the Company’s relatve performance

The second graph shows a companson of National Express Group PLC's cumulative shareholder return and annual return since the
commencement of the tumaround of the business from 31 December 2009 (and subsequent recrutment of the current CEC in February
2010) and also over the last three years against that achieved by the FTSE 250 Index

Shareholder returns - seven-year history - FTSE 250 - Cumative retum # FTSE 250 — Anrual retum
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Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

The Group achieved a very strong performance during 2015, with revenues, profits and margins up in every division beating the budgeted
profit before tax by 10% This excellent result, underpinned by a strong and sustamnable free cash flow, mented an increase in the full year
dndend by 10%

Ral's first full year running its new 15-year c2c franchise achieved growth in revenues of 10%, the dvsion ended the year successfully
mobilising its first German rail services Good revenue growth combined with tight cost control saw UK Coach increase its margin by
130 basis points and UK Bus by 100 basis points ALSA's revenue management prograrnma in Spain contributed to revenue growth of
3%, revenue In Morocco grew by 14% Profit in North Amenca grew by 6% on a constant currency basts due 10 a successful bid season,
delivery of the contract margin Improvement ‘up or out’ strategy and bolt-on acauisitions net of deal and synergy costs The Group also
commenced operations in a second new market In the year, running bus services in Bahrain

Together, this performance contnbuted to a very strong share pnce performancs in the year compared to both our peer group and the market

Group Chief Executive pay increases compared with total remuneration for UK employees
The following table sets out the change in certan elements of the remuneration paid to the Group Chiet Executive from 2014 to
2015 compared with the average percentage change for the UK employee population

The Group uses the UK workforce (who receive taxable benefits and bonus) as an appropriate comparator group as this avoids
complicated exchange rate adjustments that would have to be used if we ncluded employees in the Group's overseas operations
in the calculation

The Group Chief Executive’s remuneration disclosed in the table below has been calculated to take into account base salary, taxable
benefits and annual bonus {including any amount deferred) on the basis used for determining the single figure The UK employee
remuneration Is based on the base salary, taxable benefits and annual bonus of those UK employees who recerved taxable benefits
and bonuses

Average percentage increase/decrease from 2014 to 2015

Base salary Taxable benefits Performance-related bonus
Group Chief Executive 0% 0% 38 4%’
UK employee rermuneration 20% -8 0% 439%

' Under the current Remuneration Policy the 1otal vanable pay for the CEO reduced from 470% to 400% of salary warghted equally Detween an ncrease in short term (from 150%
to 200%) and balanced by a reducton in kong-term {from 320% to 200%) ramunerabon. The increase from 2014 10 2015 15 therafore pnmanly due 10 8N KIKIBAsHe N MM bonus
opporiunty

Relative importance of the spend on pay
The table below sets out the total spend on pay in the 2015 financial year and 2014 financial year compared with distributions
to shareholders

2015 2014 % ncreasa from
(Em) (Em) 2014 to 2015
Qverall Group spend on pay including Directors 8791 8503 34%
Profit distnbuted by way of dmvidend 54 4 516 54%

Profit distnbuted by way of share buyback - - -

Statement of voting at 2015 AGM
At tha AGM held on 8 May 2015, votes cast by proxy and at the mesting in respact of the Directors’ remuneration were as follows

For Aganst
Percentags
Percentage Percentage of 1Issued
Number of praxy Numbrar of proxy Total share capitat Volas
Resolution text of votes votes cast of votas votas cast votes cast vated' withnald?
2 To approve 408,174,050 98N 4,431,155 109 412,665,205 8064 16,293,308
the Directors’
Remuneration
Policy report
3 To approve the 413,984,166 94910 3,757,165 090 417,741,331 81863 11,201,974
Annual Report

on Remuneration

' Tha total voting nghts in the Company as at the date of the meeting were 511738 648 ordinary sharas of 5p each, each camyng one vote on a poll
2 A vote withheld 15 not a vote in law and 15 not counted in the calculaton of votes for or against the reschutions
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Statement of implementation of Remuneration Policy in 2016

Executive Directors’ base salaries

The Committee determined that the salary for the Group Chief Executive would be increased from £561,000 to £589,000 with effect
from 1 January 2016 The Commmittee agreed that this increase was warranted in order to mamtain the market competitiveness of his
salary when compared aganst diract peers and companies of similar size In the last five years, Dean Finch has only receved cne
ncrease (2% in 2014) over a penod dunng which corporate performance has been strong

Matthew Ashley was apponted to the rols of Group Finance Director on 28 January 2015 His base salary upon appointment was sst at
£300,000 As Matthew has madea a significant contnbution to the business in his first year and performed strongly against the objectives
set for hun, the Committee determined that it would be appropnate to ncrease his salary from £300,000 to £325,000, in line with our
intention to bring him to a more competitive leve! of base pay over time This new Increase, effective from 1 January 2018, postions his
base pay between the lower quartie and median against a comparator group of smilary sized businesses, and still allows for future salary
progression as he completes his development in the role

Pension entitlements and cash allowances
The Group Chief Executive will receive a 35% salary supplement and the Group Finance Director will receve a pansion contnbuton and
salary supplement worth 25% of salary in fotal

Benefits under the Group Chief Executive’s unfunded pension arrangement will cease 1o accrue with effect from 5 June 2016

Performance-related bonus
The annual bonus for the 2016 financtal year will operate on the same basis as the arrangements in place dunng 2015

The structure of the annual bonus for 2016 will be as follows

* a maximum bonus of 200% of salary for the Group Chief Executive and of 150% of salary for the Group Finance Director,

+ the proportion of the bonus linked to non-financial measures will be 25% based on operational excellence, safety standards and other
strategic objectives,

+ a proportion of bornus earmed will be deterred in shares for one year For 2016, 25% of the bonus earned up to 125% of salary,
50% of the bonus sarned from 125% to 150% of salary and, for the Group CEQ, 75% of bonus earned above 150% of salary
will be deferred, and

* the ramaining 75% of the bonus will be based on achtevemant of financial targets, namely profit before tax and free cash flow

When setting the bonus target for 2016, the Committee has taken into account

= stock market consensus for 2016 profit,

¢ the Directors’ commitment to continue to record all bid costs as normabksed operating expenses,
* the significant Increase in rall franchise premium in c2¢ compared with 2015,

¢ tha increased competitive pricing pressure from RENFE in Spain, and

¢ the intercity concession renewal process In Spain

Targets will be set on a basis consistent with accounting measures, 1e, without reference 1o exceptionals

The Committes will set calibrated targsts for the bonus measures and intends to disclose actual performance aganst these targets in next
year's Directors’ Remuneration Report As a matter of commercial sensitivity, the Committee has decided not to disclose performance
targets in advance

Long-term incentives

Long-term incentrve awards granted n the 2016 financial year will be granted in accordance with the policy detalled in the Remuneration
Pahcy section of this report Awards will be made worth 200% of salary for the Group Chief Executive and 150% of salary for the Group
Finance Drrector

The performance maasures, their weightings and targets for the 2016 awards will be as set out below EPS targets will be set consistent
with normalised EPS for accounting purposes, in particular after the deduchon of bid costs

Threshold

(EPS TSR 30% vesting
Matric Waighting ROCE 0% vesting) Target (50% vesting) Maximurn (100% vesting)
2018 financial year EPS 1/3 25 Bp 271p 29 5p
Average ROCE financial years 2016-2018 1/3 9% 10% 12%
Relative TSR vs FTSE 250 1/6 Median - Upper quintie
Relative TSR vs Bespoke Index’ 1/6 Equal to Index - Index + 10% pa

' Nobonal Index compnsing Go-Ahead Group, First Group and Stagecoach Group

Straight-line vesting will occur between ntermechate lavels of performance

Performance will be measured over a three-year penod and awards will be subject to a two-year holding pencd post vesting
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Corporate Governance - Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

lllustrations of application of Remuneration Policy fer Executive Directors
The chart below illustrates the remuneration that would be paid to each of the Executive Directors under three different performance
scenanos () Minmum, (i} On-target, and (il Maximum

Remuneration (£'000) @ Fixed & Annual vanabla @ PSP vanabke

3,500
3,000 W77 77174
o

2,500

2,000

L HA5Y o
—_ 7

Mirarmum On-target Maximum Minimum On-target Maanum
Dean Finch Matthaw Ashley

The alements of remuneration have been categonsed into three cormponents (i) Fixed, (1) Annual vanable, and {(iu) Multiple reporting period,
which are set out In the future policy table below

Elament Descriptions

Fixed Total amount of salary, pension and benefits

Annual vanable Performance Related Bonus {including deferred slement)
Multiple reporting vanable Long-Term Incentive Pian

Assumphons used In determining the level of payout under given scenanos are as follows

« Salanes are as at 1 January 2016 for both the Group Chiet Executive and the Group Finance Director

* Benefits are those paid to both the Group Chief Executive and Group Finance Director in 2015 (excluding ene-off relocation banefits)

» Performance Share Awards are granted at the maxirmum level permitted under the policy

+ Minimum pertormance scenano assumes fixed pay only and no vanable payments

« On-target performance scanaro assumas parformance in ine with the Company’s expectations, resulting in 30% of maximum vesting
in respect of long-term incentive awards and 50% of maximum payout, assuming 50% achievernent of personal objectives, in respect of
the annual bonus Whilst the bonus scheme has targets for threshold, on-target and maximum, the LTIP only has targets for threshold
and maxirmum for some metncs The value shown above in the on-target scenano includes the values for on-target bonus and threshold

LTIP performance
« Maximum performance scenanc assumes outstanding level of performance, 1e maximum bonus and full vesting of long-term incentives

Share pnce appreciation 1s not allowed for

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

With effect from 1 January 2016, it was agreed that, n order to maintain market positiorung, the Charman's fee would be increased by

2 29 from £225,000 to £230,000 to reflect general levels of movemant in Chairman fees The fees of the Non-Executive Directars would
be Increased by 4 26% from £47,000 to £49,000 to reflect general levels of Increase in Non-Executive Director fees The current fees for
the Chairrman and Non-Executive Directors with effect from 1 January 2016 are as follows

Role Fees (£'000)
Chairman 230
Non-Executive Director 49
Senior Indspendent Director 5
Chairman of Board Committea 10

In addition, a travel allowance of £4,000 is payable to Joaguin Ayuso, Chns Muntwyler and Lee Sander for attendance at Board meetings
held outside the continent in which the Non-Executive Director is resident
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Appendix

LTIP Awards to Executive Directors

At

At

Market price Market price

Date from

LTP Share 1 January 31 December on date at date Date of which Expiry
Awards 2015 Granted Exarcised Expirad 2015 of award of exercise award exercisable date
Performance 240,069 - - 240,069 - 228 4p - 110412 110415 111015
Shares
Matching 288,080 - - 288,080 - 228 4p - 110412 110415 111015
Shares
Performance 280,898 - - - 280,898 199 9p - 100413 100416 101016
Shares
Matching 337,076 - - - 337,076 199 9p - 100413 100418 101016
Shares
Performance 204,520 - - - 204,520 279 5p - 090414 090417 091017
Dean Shares
Finch Matching 245,424 - - - 245424 279 5p - 090414 090417 091017
Shares
Performance - 356,303 - - 356,303 354p - 110615 050318 050320
Shares
Five Year 261,407 - - - 261,407 211 7p - 030812 030817 030818
Award
Five Year 257973 - - - 287,973 2100p - 230513 230518 230519
Award
Five Year 204,520 - - - 204,520 279 5p - 090414 090419 0904 20
Award
At At Market price  Market price Crate from
LTIP Share 1 January 31 December on date at date Date of which Expiry
Awards 2015 Granted Exercised Expired 2015 of award of exercise award axarcisable date
Performance 38,192 - - 38,192 - 228 4p - 110412 110415 111015
Shares
Matching 40,392 - - 40,392 - 228 4p - 110412 110415 111015
Shares
Performance 94,484 - - - 94,484 199 9p - 100413 100416 101016
Shares
Matthew Matching 108,000 - - - 108,000 189 9p - 100413 100416 101016
Ashley Shares
Performance 68,793 - - - 68,793 279 5p - 090414 090417 091017
Shares
Matching 82,548 - - - 82,548 279 5p - 090414 090417 091017
Shares
Performance — 142,902 - - 142,902 3154p - 110615 050318 0503 20
Shares
By order of the Board

\V\C\% |

Jane Kingston

Remuneration Committee Char

25 February 2016
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Comporate Governance

Other statutory information

This section contains additional
information which the Directors are
required by law and regulation to
include within the Annual Report
This section, along with the
information from the Chairman's
{etter on page 4 to the Statement

of Directors’ Responsibilities on
page 100, constitutes the Directors’
Report in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

The informaton to be included in the
Annual Report and Accounts, where
applicable under Listing Rule 9 8 4R, 15
set out in this section or otherwise on
the following pages

Page
Long-term incentive scheames 128
Waiver of dividends 155

Strategic Report

The Cempany Is required by the
Companias Act 2006 to include a strategic
report In this document The information
that fulfils the requirements of the strategic
report can be found on pages 1 to 49,
which are incorporated in this report by
reference

Company status

The Comparty {company number 2590560)
was incorporated under the Companies

Act 1985 as a lmited company on 11 March
1991 and re-registared as a publc comparny
on 20 October 1992 as National Exprass
Group PLC The Company holds a premium
histing on the London Stock Exchange's main
market for listed securtes LON NEX}and s a
consttuent member of the FTSE 250 Index.

Disclaimer

This Annual Report and Accounts s
intended to focus on matters which are
relevant to the interests of shareholders
of the Company The purpose of this
Annual Report and Accounts 15 fo assist
shareholders in assessing the strategies
adopted and performance delivered by
the Company and the potential for those
strategies to succeed tt should not be
reked on by any other party or for any
other purpose

Forward looking statements are made

In good faith, based on a number of
assumptions concerning future events
and information available to Directors at
the tme of thewr approval of this report
These forward fooking statements should
be treated with caution due to the inherent
uncertanties undertying any such forward
looking information The user of this
Annual Report and Accounts should

not rely unduly on these forward looking
statements, which are nct a guarantes of
performance and which are subject to a
number of uncertainties and other facts,
many of which are outside the Company's
control and could causs actual events to
differ matenalty from those in thase
statements No guarantae can be given of
future results, levels of activity, performance
or achieverments

Branches outside the UK
The Group has branches in Spain

Results and dividends

The profit on ordinary activihies before
tax from continuing operations for the
year ended 31 Decembar 2015 was
£124 4 millon (2014 £66 5m) and a
profit attnbutable to equity shareholders
of £107 0 milhon 2014 £53 1m) was
transterred to reserves

The Directors recommend a final dwdend
for the year of 7 645p per ordinary share
{2014 6 95p) which, together with

the intenm dividend of 3 685p per ordinary
share {2014 3 35p), pad on 25 September
2015, gives a total dividend for the year of
11 33p per share (2014 10 3p) Subject

to shareholder approval, the final dvdend
will be paid on 20 May 2016 to ordinary
shareholders on the register of members
at the close of business on 29 Apni 2016

Directors

The Directors of the Company as at the
date of the approval of this Annual Report
are listed on pages 54 and 55, together
with therr biographical details and
dentification of the Board Committees
on which they serve

On 28 January 2015 Matthew Ashley was
appointad as an Executive Director and
Group Finance Director, having fulfiled
the role of intenm Group Finance Director
from 10 October 2014 following the
announcerment that Jez Maiden would be
stepping down as an Executive Director
with effect from 31 December 2014

On 6 May 2015, Sir Andrew Foster

96 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

and Jackie Hunt both retired from the
Board having not sought re-etection at the
Company's AGM On the same day, the
Board appointed Matthew Crummack a
Non-Executive Director of the Company
On 3 July 2015 Mike MciKeon was
appontad a Non-Executive Director of
the Board and, subsequent to the financial
year end, Dr Ashlay Steel was apponted
an additonal Non-Executive Director

with effact from 1 January 2016

Powers of the Directors

Subject to its Articles of Association and
relevant statutory law and to any dwection
that may be given by the Company in
general mesting by special resolution,

the business of the Company shall be
managed by the Directors, who may
exercise all powers of the Company
which are not required to be exercised

by the Company in general meeting

Appointment and replacement
of Directors

The rules for the appointment and
replacement of Directors of the Company
are sat out In the Articles of Association,
the UK Corporate Governance Code

{the ‘Code’), the Companies Act 2006 and
related legislation In accordance with the
Code, all the Directors will retire at the 2016
AGM and offer themselves for election or
re-alection The Board is satisfied that each
of those Directors standing for etaction

or re-election is gualified by wirtue of therr
skills, experience and contnbution to

the Board

Directors’ conflicts of interest
The Board has a procedure n place to
deal with a situation where a Director

has a conflict of interest, as required by
the Companies Act 2006 As part of this
process, the members of the Board
prepare a list of other posttions held and

all other confiict snuations that may need
authonsing either in relation to the Director
concerned or his or her connected
persons The Board considers each
Director’s situation and decides whether to
approva any confliict situations, taking into
consideration what 1s in the best interests
of the Company and whether the Director’s




ability to act in accordance with his or her
wider duties is affected Each Director is
required to notfy the Company Secretary
of any potential or actual conflict situahons
that will need authonsing by the Board
Authonsations given by the Board are
reviewead annually

Directors’ and Officers’

liability insurance

The Company recognises the potential
personal liabites that the Directors are
subyect to by agreeing to act as a Board
member and believes that it s both far and
reasonable to protect them from nnocent
error or omission The Company therefore
maintains Directors’ and Officers’ lability
Insurance In respect of legal action that
might be brought against its Directors which
operates In certain circumstances This does
not extend to cover the Directors where it 1s
proved they acted fraudulently or dishonestly
Pursuant to the Company's Articles of
Association the Company has indemnified its
Directors and Officers in accordance with the
provisions of Section 233 of the Companies
Act 2006 A copy of the Articles of
Association 1s avalable for nspection

at the Company's registered office

Directors’ interests in contracts
Except as stated in note 35 to the
consohdated accounts on page 165, no
contract existed dunng the year in relation
to the Company’s business in which any
Director was materially interested

Directors’ interests in shares
The Board of Directors' interests in shares
n the Company are detailed on pages S0
and 9

Directors’ share options
Detalts of Directors’ share options are
provided in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 95

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has entered into deeds of
indemnity with each of its Birectors, which
are qualifying ndemrity prowvisions for the
purpose of the Companes Act 2006 and
remain in force at the date of this report

Accountability and audit
Statements of the respective responsibilities
of the Directors and auddors are set out on
pages 100 to 105

Corporate governance

A fult report on corporate governance can
be found n the Governance section of this
document and the Company's governance
staternent 1s on page 56 Both are
incorporated by reference into this report

Post balance sheet events
There were no post balance sheet events

Employment policies

The Group strives to meet its business
objectives by motivating and encouraging
its employees to be responsive to the
needs of its customers and continually
improve operational performance The
Group 1s commitied to providing equality
of opportunity to employees and potential
amployees This applies to recrutment,
training, career development and promotion
tor all employees, regardless of physical
ability, gender, sexual onentation, religion,
age or ethnic ongin Al busingsses in the
Group report diversity data

Full and farr consideration is given to
applications for employment receved from
disabled persons, according to ther skills
and capabilities The services of any
axisting employes disabled dunng ther
penod of employment are retained
wherever possible

Employee involvement

The Group encourages employes
involverment in its affars Subsidiary
companies produce a range of internal
newsletters and circulars which keep
employees abreast of developments
Seanior management within the Group mest
regularly to review strategic developmants
and management conferences are held at
Group and business levels to bnng our
senior managers together to share ideas
and develop policy Members of the Senior
Management Group are also visible within
the businesses and undertake a range of
visits where they meet {ace to face with
employees to gather feedback on safety
and other issues Dialogue takes place
regularty with trade unions and other
employee representatives on a wide

range of issues

Employee views are also sought

through regular employee satisfaction
quastionnares, both within business units
and across the Group Following such
surveys, results are shared with employges
and action plans are put in place to deal
with issues ansing The Group encourages
innovation from all levels of employees and
has a structured programme to encourage
suggestions and to recogmise employees
through awards The Group also has a well
developed succession planning process In
place and succession plans are reviewed
by the Board annually As a key part of this
process, the Company focuses on
emerging talent to ensure the Group

has the nght pecple being developed to
meet our future business needs Talent
management remains an important

pnonty for the Group

Informaticn regarding the Company's
safeguarding of human rights forms
part of the People secton on page 21
and on the Company's website,
www nationalexpressgroup com

Environmental policy

Information on the Group's environmental
intiatives, Including the mandatory
reporting disclosure on greenhouse

gas emissions, can be found in the
Strategic Report on pages 22 to 25

and on the Company's website,

www nationalexpressgroup com

Political contributions

it 1$ the Group’s poltcy not to make pohtical
donations and accerdingly nons were
madse In the year However, the Company
did attend party political conferences
dunng the year for which total expenditure
was £13,000 {2014 £10,500)

Financial instruments

Detatls of the use by the Compary and tts
subsidianes of financial Instruments and

any related nsk management cbiectives

and palicies (including hedging policy} and
axposure (ncluding pnce, credit, iquidity or
cash flow nsk) of the Company in connection
with such financial nstruments can be found
n the notes to the Consoldlated Accounts on
pages 111 te 171 and are ncorporated by
reference nto this report
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Corporate Governance

Other statutory information continued

Major shareholdings

As at 23 February 2018, the Company had been notfied under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules {DTR 5} of the following
interasts i its shares which represent 3% or more of the veting nghts in the Company These shareholder levels are unchanged

from 31 December 2015

Parcentaga of Nature of

Ordinary shares share caprtal’ holding

European Express Enterprises Ltd 78,795,062 154 Direct
Prudential PLC 50,987,079 99 Direct
Jupiter Asset Management Ltd 26,288,829 51 Indiract
Schroders plc 26,647,716 52 Direct
Newton Investment Management Ltd 26,433,003 52 Diract

1 The holdings for European Express Enterpnses Lid are included in Jorge Cosmen s holdings which are shown in the Directors Remuneration Report on page 90

Percentage of
Number of total number Numbaer of Percentage of
Analysis of ordinary shareholdings at 19 February 2016 accounts of accounts shares  ordinary caprtal
By size of holding
1-500 5,744 47 63 794,735 016
501-1,000 1,473 12 21 1,154,452 023
1,001-5,000 3,270 2712 7,695,557 150
5,001-50,000 1,334 1106 15,769,038 308
50,001-1,000,000 185 1563 51,843,511 1013
Over 1,000,000 54 045 434,481,355 84 90
12,080 10000 511,738,648 100 00
By investor type
Individuals 11,214 92 98 22,360,154 4 37
Institutional investors 428 3556 400,103,272 7818
Other corporate investors 418 347  B9,275,222 1745
12,080 10000 511,738,648 10000

Share capital and

rights attaching to the
Company's shares

Under the Company's Articles of
Association, any share in the Company
may be 1ssued with such nghts or
restrictions, whether in regard to dividend,
voting, return of capital or otherwise, as the
Company may from time to tme by ordinary
resolution determine (or, In the absence of
any such determination, as the Directors
may determing)

The Company has one class of ordinary
shares with a nominal value of 5p At the
date of this Annual Report, the 1ssued share
capital consisted of 511,738,648 Ordinary
shares of 5p gach

At a general meeting of the Company every
member has one vote on a show of hands
and on a poll one vote for sach share held

The Notice of AGM will spacify deadlines
for exercising voting nghts either by proxy
or by being present i person in relation

to resolutions to be passed at a general
meeting Detaills of the authorised and
issued share capital of the Company and
detalls of shares issued during the year

can be found in note 31 to the consolidated
accounts on page 155

No sharsholder 1s, unless the Board
decidss otherwise, entitied to attend or vote
either personally or by proxy at a general
meeting or to exarcise any other nght
conferred by being a shareholder if he or
she or any person with an interest in his or
her shares has been sent a notice under
Section 793 of the Compares Act 2008
(which confers upon public companies the
power to require Information with respect
to Interests in their voting shares) and he
or she or any interested person faled to

a8 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

supply the Company with the information
requested within 14 days after delivery of
that notice The Board may also decide that
no dvidend 1s payable in respect of those
default shares and that no transfer of any
default shares shall be registered These
restnctions end seven days after receipt by
the Company of a nctice of an approved
transfer of the shares or all the information
required by the relevant Section 793 notice,
whichever Is earlier

The Directors may refuse to register any
transfer of any share which 1s not a fully
pad share, aftthough such discretion may
not be exarcised N a way which the
Financial Conduct Authority regards as
preventing dealings in shares of that class
from taking place on an open or proper
basis The Directors may ikewise refuse
any transfer of a share in favour of more
than four persons jointly




The Company is not awars of any other
rastrictions on the transfer of ordinary
shares in the Company other than

+ certan restrictions that may from time to
time be mposed by laws and regulations
{for example, insider trading laws), and

= pursuant to the Listing Rutes of the
Financial Gonduct Authonty whereby
certain employees of the Company
require approval of the Company to
deal in the Company's shares

The Company IS not awars of any
agreements between shareholders that
may result In rastnctions on the transfer
of secunties or voting nghts

Resolutions will be proposed at the 2016
AGM to authonse the Directors to exercise
all powers to allot shares, or grant nghts for,
or to convert any secunty into, shares, and
approve a imited disapphcation of statutory
pre-emption nghts Details will be set cut in
the Notice of AGM which will be posted on
8 Apnl 2016

The Company was granted authonty at the
AGM 1n 2015 to purchase its own shares up
to an aggregate value of 10% of the issued
nerminal capital The authonty was not used
during the year The authonty s renewed
annually and approval will be sought at

the AGM in 2016 for its renewal Further
details will be set out In the Notice of AGM

Share schemes

First Names (Jersey) Umited 1s Trustee of

the National Express Group Employee Benefit
Trust As at 19 February 2016 15 held
2495467 shares {0 49% of the 1ssued share
capital) of the Company for employee share
schernes Further detals of the Company’s
employee share schemes can be found In
note 7 to the consoliciated accounts on
pages 125 and 126 and are incormorated
by reference into this report The Trustee
may vote the shares held by the Trust at

its discretion

The current Investment Association {'IA’)
gudance on dilution imits provides that the
overall dilution under all shara plans
operated by a company should not exceed
10% over a ten-year penod in relation to the
Compary’s share capral, with a further
imitation of 5% In any ten-year penod on
executive plans National Express share
plans operate within 1A recommended
gudelines on dilution imns

Articles of Association

Any amendments to the Company’s
Articles of Association may be made
In accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 2006

Annual General Meeting

The AGM will be held at 2 00prm on

11 May 2016 in Hall 9 at the Intermational
Convention Centre, Broad Street,
Birmingham B1 2EA At the Mesting,
special resolubions will be proposed to
authonse the Directors to issue shares
without applying statutory pre-emption
nghts, to authonse the Company to

maka market purchases of ts own shares
and to authonse the calling of general
meetings (other than Annual General
Meetings) on 14 clear days’ notice

Full detatls will be provided in the

Notice of AGM If you would like to

register any question you may have n
advance of the AGM you can do so at
agm@naticnalexpress com or you ¢an
wnite to the Company Secretary at National
Express Group PLC, National Express
Heouse, Birmingham Coach Station, Ml
Lane, Digbeth, Birrmingharm 85 6DD

Matenal contracts and change
of control agreements

There are a number of agreements that
taka effect, alter or terminate upon a
change of controt of the Company following
a takeover bid Save as disclosed below,
none of these are considered significant

Under the terms of the Company's revolung
credt facility, upon a change of control, the
Company would have five days to enter Into
negotiations with the lenders

{o alter the terms Following ten days of
negctiations, if no agreement has been
reached, outstanding balances may
become repayable

Under the termns of the £1,000,000,000 Euro
Medium-Term Note Programme under which
the Company issued Medium Term Notes
('MTNs’) to vanous institutions on 13 January
2010 {as updated on 2 October 2015), there
1s a change of control put option such that,
upon a change of control event, any holder
of any MTN may require the Company to
recdeern or purchase that MTN

The Company entered into a private
placement Note Purchase Agreemaent on
30 July 2012 relatng to the 1ssue by the
Company of €78,500,000 4 55% Senior
Notes dug 16 August 2021 Under the terms
of the Agreemant the Company 15 required
to offer to Nots helders to repay to them the
entre unpaid pnncipal amount and interest
thereon upen a change of control

The National Express Group PLC Long-Term
Incentve Plan 2015 {the ‘Plan’} contains
provisions as a result of which options and
awards may vest and become exarcisable
on a change of control of the Company n
accordance with the rules of the Plan

The Company's UK rail subsidiary, NXET
Trans Limited, which operates the Essex
Thameside franchise, 1s party to a franchise
agreement with the Department for Transport
{DfT) The franchise agreement contains an
avent of default on a change in control of the
franchisea fwhich would be tnggered on a
change in control of the Comparny) f such
change in control s not approved by DT, as
well as the nght for DT to charge a faciitation
fes on such change in control. Similarty, the
licences issued by the Office of Rad and Road
(‘ORR’) to NXET Trains Lirmited in connection
with the franchise all contain change of control
provisions which could result in the icences
being revcked if the change in control s not
approved by ORR

The Group's UK Bus business operates the
Midland Metro tram sarvice and the UK Bus
operating subsidiary Is party to a contract
with Centro governing certain aspects of
such operation The contract wrth Centro
centains an event of default on a change

in control of the LK operating subsidiary
{which would be tnggered on a change in
control of the Company} if such change in
contrel s not approved by Centro

The Group's UK Coach business performs

a number of coach and bus services from

or at certan UK arports and the UK Coach
operating subsidiary 1s also contracted to
provide passenger transport services for certain
other third parties A number of these contracts
contain nghts for the counterparties to terminate
them on a change of control of the relevant
subsidiary compary party to such contracts
{certan of wihich would be tnggered by a
change n control of the Company)

While no one of these confracts 1s considered
significant m the context of the Group's
business as a whole, the iImpact on the Group
if all such contracts were terminated could

be significant

Directors’ and employees’
service contracts

There are no agreements between the
Company and its Directors or employess
providing for compensation for loss of
office or employment {whether through
rasignation, purported redundancy or
otherwise) that occurs because of a
takeover bid

Risks

A surnrnary of the Company's nsk
managerment framework and an overview
of its pnnaipal risks are detaled on pages
28 to 31 and are Incorporated by refarence
into thes repont

Auditors

Resolutions to re-appoint Delortte LLP as
audror of the Company and to authonse the
Directors to determing its remuneration wil
be proposed at the 2016 AGM

Disclosure of information to auditors
The Directors confirm that, so far as they are
aware, there 1s no relevant audit information
of which the Company’s audrtor 1s unaware
and that each Director has taken all the steps
that they cught to have taken as a Director n
order to make themselves aware of any
relevant audrt information and to estabhsh
that the Company's audrtor 1s aware of that
iformation s confirnation s given and
should be interpreted in accordance with
the provisions of Section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006

By order ¢f the Board

/z»%///%

Sandra Forbes
Company Secretary
25 February 2016

99

www nationalexprassgroup com

140d3d
JIDALYHLS

o
2]
Qo
m=
ny
z0Q
» T
z>
o3
mm

SINIWILVLS
IYIONVYNIY

NOLLYWHOZNI
AVYROLLIQAY




Corporate Governance

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and the Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations

Company law requires the Cirectors to
prepare such Financial Statements for each
financial year Under that law the Directors
are required to prepare the Group Financial
Staternents in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs’) as
adopted by the European Union and Article
4 of the IAS Regulation and have also
chosen to prepars the parent Company
Financial Statements in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framewocrk Under company law
the Directors must not approve the
Financial Stataments unlass they are
satisfied that they give a true and farr view
of the state of atfars of the Company and
of the profit or loss of the Company for

that penod

In prepanng the parent Company Financial
Statements, the Directors are required to

* select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistentty,

+ make judgments and accounting
estimates that are reasonable
and prudant,

» state whether Financial Reporting
Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework has been followed, subject
to any matenal departures disclosed
and explained in the Financial
Statements, and

+ prepare the Financial Statements on
the going concern basis unless it 1s
Inappropnate to presume that the
Company will continue in business

In prepanng the Group Financial
Statements, International Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Directors

* property select and apply accounting
policies,

* present information, including accounting
policies, in a manner that provides
relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information,

» provida addricnal disclosures whean
comphiance with the specific
requiremants in IFRSs are insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact ot
particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the entty’s financial
position and financial performance, and

* make an assessment of the Company’s
abiity to continue as a going concem

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the
Company's transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the Financial
Staternents comply with the Companies
Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and
other rregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and irtegnty of the corporate
and financial Information included on the
Company’s website Legslation in the United
Kingdorn goveming the preparation and
dissemination of Financial Statements may
differ from legislation in other junsdictions
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We confirm that to the best of our
knowledge

¢ the Financtal Statements, prepared in
accordance with the relevant financial
reporting framework, give a true and farr
view of the assets, llabiiies, financial
position and profit or loss of the Company
and the undertakings ncluded in the
consolidation taken as a whole,

the Strategic Report includes a far review
of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the
Company and the undertakings included
n the consolidaton taken as a whole,
together with a descnption of the pnncipal
risks and uncertainties that they face, and
the Annual Report and Financial
Statements, taken as a whole, ars far,
balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Company's
position, performance, busingss model
and strategy

This responsibility statement was
approved by the Board of Directors
on 25 February 2016

By order of the Board

\ LanAl ~

Dean Finch
Group Chief Executive
25 February 2016

Matthew Ashley
Group Finance Director
25 February 2016




Financial Statements

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of National Express Group plc
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Opinlon on Financial Statements
of National Express Group PLC

In our opinion

+ the Financial Statements give a true and far view of the state of the Group's and of the
parent Company’s affars as at 31 December 2015 and of the Group's profit and the parant
Company's loss for the year then ended,

+ the Group Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards {'IFRSs') as adopted by the European Union,

* the parant Company Financial Statemants have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework, and

= the Financial Staterments have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the
International Accounting Standards ('IAS') Regulation

The Financral Statements compnse the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement
of Comprehensive Income, the Group and parent Company Balance Sheets, the Group
Statemant of Changes in Equity, the Group Cash Flow Staternent and the related notes

1 to 38 for the Group Financial Statements and 1 to 21 for the parent Company Financial
Statements The financial reporting framework that has been applied In the preparation of
the Group Financial Statements 1s applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European
Urnion The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
parent Company Financial Statemaents Is applicable law and Unrted Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), ncluding FRS 101
Reduced Disclosure Framework

Going concern and the Directors’
assessment of the principal risks
that would threaten the solvency
or hgurdity of the Group

As required by the Listing Rules we have raviewed the Directors' statement regarding the
appropriateness of the going concem basis of accounting contained within note 2 to the
Financial Statements and the Directors’ statement on the longer-term wiabiity of the Group
contained within the Strategic Report on page 37

Woe have nothing matenal to add or draw attentron to in relation to

+ the Directors’ confirmation on page 28 that they have carned out a robust assessment of
the principal nsks facing the Group, iIncluding those that would threaten its business model,
future performance, sohvency or iguidty,

¢ the disclosures on pages 30 and 31 that descnbe thosea nsks and explan how they are
being managed or mitigated,

= the Directors’ statament in note 2 to the Financial Statements about whether they
considered t appropnate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing them
and therr identfication of any matenal uncertainties to the Group’s abiity to continue to do so
over a penod of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the Financial
Statements,

« the Diractor's explanation on pags 37 as to how thay have assessed the prospects of the
Group, over what panod they have done so and why they consider that perod to be
appropnate, and therr statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the
Group will be able to continue in operation and mest its liabilities as they fall due over the
penod of therr assessment, including any retated disclosures drawing attention to any
necessary qualifications or assumptions

Wae agreed with the Directors’ adoption of the going concern basis of accounting and
we did not identify any matenal uncertanties However, because not all future events or
condiions ¢an be predicted, this statement 1s not a guarantee as to the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern

Independonce

We are required to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors and we confirm that we are indepandent of the Group and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards We also confirm we have
not provided any of the prohibited non-audit services referred to in those standards

Our assessment of nsks
of material misstatement

The assassed nsks of material misstaternent descnbed below are those that had the
greatest etfect on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing
the efforts of the engagemeant team

Last year our report included a nsk around exceptional tems As there have been no
exceptional items reported in the current year we have not included this nsk in cur report
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Financial Statements

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of National Express Group plc continued

Risk How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Goodwill and fixed asset impawrment Qur procedures for challenging management's methodology and assumptions focused on the
This 1s included In note 2 as one of the Group's Interests in Spain and North Amernica and Included

significant accounting jJudgements and
key sources of estimation uncertanty * assessing the appropriateness of any changes to assurmptions since the prior penod,

given thera are a number of key + validating the integnty of the impairment models through testing of the mechanical accuracy

assumptions used in the assessment of ~ and venfying the application of the input assumptions,
the carrying value of goodwill and fixed ~ * understanding the underlying process used to determine the nsk adjusted cash flow

assets These are described in note 13 projections and challenging them with refarence to hustorical forecasts, actual performance
and Include future projected cash flows, and expected future changes to tha business,
the perpstual growth rate and the * working with our valuation specialists to benchmark the discount rates and perpetuity

appropriate chiscount rate Note 13 also growth rates applied to external macro-economic and market data This involved

includes detalls of the extent to which the  consideration of the impact of temtory-specific nsk adjustments to the discount rate versus
goodwill and fixed asset imparrment test  the nsk adjustments made to the underiyang cash flows, and

s sensitive to changes in the key INPUTS  « agsessing the appropriateness of the disclosures Included in the Financial Statements

Total goodwill and fixed assets at ncluding the sensitivity analysis provided

31 December 2015 were £2,031 8 million

The most significant goodwill balances
relate to the Sparush division (£634 6
milion) and the North Amencan division
(E371 3 million})

Noarth American insurance and We used our actuanal specialists to challenge the assumptions inharent in the valuation
other claims provisions produced by the Group’s actuary in North Amenca for the high volume lower value claims,
Estimation of insurance provisions 1s such as the loss development tactors and ulimate expected losses, and 1o re-petform the
highly judgemental and i1s based on actuanal calcutation to develop a valuation range This also Included a separate assessment

assessment of the expected settfement  of the discount rate applied In the actuarial valuation
on known ¢laims together with an
astimate of sattiements that will be made For the indwvidually large clarms not subject 1o actuanal review, we discussed the nature of

in respact of Incidents incurred but not  each claim with the US general counsel and those respongible for claims handing and tested

reported at the balance sheet date a sample of tems to supporting evidence to assess the expected range of possible outcomes
This has been highlighted as a key This included testing the tair value of prowisions recognised on acquisitions dunng the year
accounting estmate and judgement

In note 2 J U9 We compared the overall teve! of provision recorded to the range determined by management

and the Group's actuary, to conclude whether the level of provision was appropniate This
Of the total Group claims provision of  involved congideration of the audit evidence supporting the range as well as the independent
£60 9 milion at 31 December 2015, assessment of the range for higher volume lower value claims produced by our actuanal
£54 5 milhon relates to the North speciahsts
Amerncan division and includes amounts
ansing through acquisition in the year
that have required separate far value
consideration Detalls of the Group
clams provision are given in note 25

The measurement of the sel-nsured
claims provision in North America uses
a combination of actuanal assumptions
around loss development and
management judgement to ensure that
the Group I1s appropnately provided
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Tax provisions

Judgement is required mn relaton to the
value of the tax prowvisions recorded In
respect of a number of uncertain tax
positions across the Group which have
not yet been agreed by the tax authonties
Including potential future tax audits I
the UK, Spain and North America, as
well as certain elements of the financing
structures within the Group Accordingly
tax provistoning is included in note 2

as one of the significant accounting
judgemants and key sources of
astimation uncertainty

As outlined in note 10 there was a
release of £8 6 million of tax provisions
dunng the year reflecting the finalisation
of the tax audits in Spain for years 2009
through 2011 and the fact thers are now
no outstanding tax audits in the UK,
Spain, the US or Canada At 31
December 2015 the Group tax
provisions totalled £12 7 milhon

We used our tax specialists to assist us In appraising the hkely outcome of technical tax
treatments based on therr expenence working with the revenue authorties, and reviewed
comraspondence with the authonhes to challenge the reasonableness of the provisions made,
including considenng consistency and approach to judgerments Our tax specialists also
considered management's assessment of the nsk inherent in current tax postions taken
around the world which could be subject to challenge in the future

Pensions accounting

The measuremant of the Group’s net
pension habiity of £12 6 millon requires
management to make jJudgements on
assumptions including price inflation,
discount rates, pension iNcreases,
martalty rates, earnings growth and
the recognition of pension scheme
surpluses The net habiity position
reflects a liability on the UK Bus schema
which i1s largely offset by net surpluses
on the Rail and Group schemes

As explained In note 2, the significant
accounting judgements and key sources
of estimation uncertainty, changes Iin
these assumptions ¢outd significantly
impact the amount of the Group’s
retirernant benefit obligations As outlined
in note 33, this sensitvity 1s a function of
the stze of the gross pension assets being
£663 8 millon and the gross pensicn
habity being £676 4 milion

Wo reviewsd the actuanal assumptions used to calculate the net pension llabiity and our
actuanal specialists performed a cntical assessment of the key assumphons as described
In note 33 with reference to comparable market data

We also tested a sample of the pension asset valuatons and the data used in the actuarial
valuation

Fuel hedge accounting

It 18 the Group's policy to hedge fuel
price ftuctuatrons in order to provide
short-termn cost certainty Due to the
continued decline In global otl prices
during the year, partially offset by the
utiisation of 2015 hedge contracts,
the far value of the hability in respect
of the forward fuel hedge contracts
has increased from £71 3 million at
31 December 2014 to £83 8 million
at 31 December 2015

The accounting policy 1s ncluded in note 2
to the Financial Statements and
accounting for fugl commodity contracts is
an inherentty complex area The continued
dechne in cil pncss and the resultant
increase to the denvative liability
recognised has meant the complexty and
sensitvity of the hedge effectveness
testing has increased

We have worked with our treasury accounting specialists to

» challenge the valuations of a sample of forward fue! hedge contracts by calculating
independent far values,

= raview the hedge documentation with reference to the requirements of 1AS 39 and
best practice,

* completed independent effectiveness testing for a sample of hedges, and

= challenged the Group's assessmant of the highly probable assumptions in respect
of the forecast transactions

The description of nsks above should be read in conjunction with the stgrificant 1ssues considered by the Audit Committee

discussed on page 66

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters
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Financial Statements

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of National Express Group plc continued

Qur application of materiahty

We define matenality as the magnitude of misstaterent in the Financial Statements that makes
it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be
changed or influenced We use matenality both in planning the scope of our audit work and

in evaluating the results of our work

Wae determined mateniahty for the group to be £8 milton, which 1s 5 3% of normalised pre-tax
profit {profit before any exceptional tems and intangible amartisation}, and below 1% of equity
In 2014 this was also £8 millicn which was 5 5% of profit before normalised pre-tax profit
Normalbsed profit 1s one of the key metncs used both externally and internally as excluding
excaptional items, although there are none in 2015, which are volatile, as well as amortisation
costs, facilitates a better understanding of the underlying trading performance

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committes all audit
differences in excess of £160,000 (2014 £160,000), as well as dfferences below that
threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualtative grounds We also report to
the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall
pressentation of the Financial Staterments

An overview of the scope
of our audit

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment,
including Group-wide controls, and assessing the nisks of matenal misstatement at the Group
level Based on that assessment, as in the prior year, we focused our Group audit scope
primanly on the audit work at the five operating dvisions and the Group head office function
Each operating dmision was subject to an audit that was scoped relevant to its component
matenalty level, which did not exceed £5 2 milion in either the current or prior year The Group
head office work was performed te a component matenalty level of £6 4 milion

The five operating divisions and the Group head office function contnbuted 100% (2014 100%y}
of Group revenue and Group operating profit and 99% (2014 100%;) of Group net assets

Group-level analytical review procedures were performed over the amounts held in the
Banhrain joint venture

At the parent entity level we also tested the consohdation process

The Group audit team continued to follow a programme of planned visits that has been
designed so that the Senior Statutory Auditor or a senior member of the audit team visits
each of the five pnmary divisions where the Group audit scope was focused at least once
a year in addition to the work performed at the Group head office

Opinion on other matters prescribed
by the Compamies Act 2006

In our opinion

+ the part of the Directors' Remuneration Report to be auditad has been properly preparad in
accerdance with the Companies Act 2008, and

« the information given n the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial year
for which the Financial Statements are prepared Is consistent with the Financial Statements

Matters on which we are required
to report by exception

Adaquacy of explanations received
and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2008 we are required to report to you ff, in our opinion

= we hava not received alt the informaton and explanations we require for our audit, or

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns
adequate for our audit have not baen received from branches not visited by us, or

« the parent Company Financial Statements are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companias Act 2006 we are also reguired to report if In our opinion certain
disclosures of Directors’ remunaration have not been made or the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited 1s not in agreement with the accounting recerds and
returns We have nothing 1o report ansing frormn these matters
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Corporate Governance Statement Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review part of the Corporate Govemnance
Staternent relating to the Company's compliance with certan provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code Wae have nothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other information Under Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Irefand), we are required to report to you
in the Annual Report if, in our opiren, nformation in the Annual Report 1s

* matenally inconsistent with the information in the audited Firancial Statements, or

= apparently materially ncorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, our knowledge
of the Group acquired in the course of performing our aucht, or

* gtherwtse misleading

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have denttied any inconsistencies
between our kKnowledge acaurad during the auvdit and the Directors’ statement that they
consider the Annual Report s fair, balanced and understandable and whether the Annual
Report appropriataly discloses those matters that we communicaled to the Audn
Committee which we consider should have been disclosed We contirm that we have

not iIdentified any such inconsistencias or misleading statements

Respoctive responsibilities As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiities Statement, the Directors are

of Directors and auditor respansible for the preparation of the Financial Statements and for being satshed that they
gve a true and far view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the Financial
Statements in accordance with appiicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and lreland} We atso comply with International Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and treland)
Qur audit methadology and tools aim to ensure that our quality control procedures are
efiective, understood and applied Our guality controls and systems include our dedicated
professional standards review team and independent partner reviews

1H0d3ay
J1DALVHLIS

FONYNUIAQD
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This report 1s mada solely to the Company’s mermbers, as a body, n accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
mught stale to the Company’s mambers those matters we are required 10 stale to them in an
auditor's repont and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibilty to anyone other than the Company and the Compary's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Scope of the audnt of the An audit involves obtaiming evidence about the amounts and disciosures in the Financial
Financial Statements Statements suffictent to give reasonable assurance that the Financial Statemments are free from
material misstaternent, whether caused by fravd or emor This ncludes an assessment of
whether the accounting policias are appropnate 1o the Group's and the parent Company’s
crcumstances and have been consistently appled and adequately disclosed, the
reasonabteness of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the Financial Staternents  In additen, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Annual Report to identify matenal inconsistencies with the audided Financial
Statements and to idantify any information that is apparently matenally ncorrect based on,
or materially Inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing
the audit. If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or inconsisiencies
wa consider the mphcations for our report

Nigel Mercer (Senior statutory auditor) /l/a"-'\ /\W\-’b

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
Birmingham, United Kingdom

25 February 2016
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Financial Statements

Group Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Total before
ntangble Intangible
Total before amortisation and amorhisation and
tangible intangible exceptondl tems  exceplional tems
amortisation amortsation Total (restated)’ [restatech) Totat
2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014
Note £m Em £m £m m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 35 1,916.8 - 19198 18674 - 18674
Operating costs before ntangible
amortisation and exceptional items {1,726.3) - {1,726.3) (1,699 8) - {1,699 8)
Intangible amortisation 513 - 2s.n (25.7) - (28 8) (28 6)
Exceptional tems 5 - - - - {24 8) {24 8)
Total operating costs & {1,726.3) 257) (1,752.0) (1,699 8) 534) (1,7532)
Group operating profit 5 1935 {251 167.8 167 6 (53 4) 1142
Share of results of associates 17 18 - 18 03 - 03
Finance income 39 59 - 59 65 - 68
Finance costs 9 (51.1) - {51 1) {54 5) - (54 5
Profit before tax 150.1 {257) 1244 199 (53 4) 665
Tax charge 10 {28.5) 132 {153) (21 8) 158 {59)
Prefit for the year 121.6 (12.5) 109.1 98 1 (37 5) B0 6
Profit attributable 1o
equity shareholders 1195 {12.5) 1070 96 6 (37 5) 59 1
Profit aftnbutable 1©
non-controling mterests 21 - 21 15 - 15
216 (12.5) 109 1 28 1 375 606
Eamings per share:
- basic earmings per share 12 . ¥ 20.9p 116p
- diluted earnings per share 12 209p 1 5p
Normalsed earmings per share
- basic eamings per share 12 234p 189p
- chluted earmings per share 12 233p 189p

restatad for the reclass+icabion of business development costs from except:onals as d sClOSed N Note 2
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Note £m £m
Profit for the year 109.1 606
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss*
Actuanal flossesygains on defined benefit pension plans 33 {9.4) 10 1
Deferred tax on actuanal {osses)/gans 14 23
(8.0} 78
ems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss’
Exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations {net of hedging} (31.0) (250
Exchange differences on retranslation of non-controling interests (0.6 ©8)
Loss on cash flow hedges {52.5) {80 3)
Less reclassfication adjustments for gans or losses included in profit 36.1 1253
Tax on exchange differences {1.1) 01
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges 1.2 136
{47.9) 80 1)
Total comprehensive income/(expenditure) for the year 53.2 {11n
Total comprehensive income/(expendrture} attnbutable to:
Equity shareholders 51.7 {12 4)
Non-controlling nterests 15 07
532 17
www nationalexpressgroup com 1 07
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Group Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2015

2015 2014
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 1,230 7 1177 4
Property, plant and equipment 14 801 1 7299
Avallable for sale investments 16 65 68
Denvative financial instruments 16 222 265
Deferred tax assets 26 311 299
Investments accounted for using the equity method 17 106 54
Trade and other receivables 19 40 18
Defined benefit pension asset 33 497 406
e i 21559 20183
Current assets o
Inventones 20 225 218
Trade and other recevables 21 2419 1996
Denvative financial instruments 16 24 15
Current tax assels 14 13
Cash and cash equivalents 22 604 837
A o 3286 3079
Totalassets _ _ _ ; . 24845 23262
Non-current iabilities
Borrowings 27 (752 3) {741 8)
Denvative financial instruments 27 {39 6) {36 1)
Deferred tax llabildy 26 : {53 8) {66 0}
Other non-current habilites 24 (16 0) 41)
Defined benefit pension hability 33 (62 3) {52 5)
Provisions 25 (321) (235}
{956 1) (924 0)
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 23 {499 5) {4157)
Borrowings 27 {991) (559)
Denvative financial instruments 27 (46 0) {35 8)
Current tax habilities {16 1) (233)
Provisions 25 (36 6) (353)
o _(6973)  (5660)
Total habilities (1,6534)  (1,4900)
Net assets B311 B36 2
Shareholders’ equity
Called-up share capital K3 256 256
Share premium account 5327 5327
Capital redemption reserve 02 0z
Own shares {7 8) (15)
Other reserves 32 {80 1) (328)
Retained earnings 3456 2993
Total shareholders’ equity 816 2 8235
Non-controlling interests in equity 149 127
Total equity 8311 8362

D Finch Group Chief Executive
M Ashley Group Finance Director
25 February 2016
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2015

Share Caprtal Own Other Non-
Share premium redemption shares reserves Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve (note 31} {note 32} eamungs Total nterests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £fm fm m
At 1 January 2015 256 532,7 0.2 {1.5) {32.8) 2093 B235 12.7 836.2
Shares purchased - - - {8.5) - - (85) - (8.5)
Own shares released to satisfy
employee share schemes - - - 22 - {2.2) - - -
Total comprehensive income
and expenditure - - - - 47.3) 99.0 51.7 15 53.2
Share-based payrments - - - - - 3.2 3.2 - 3.2
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - 0.7 0.7 - 0.7
Owvidends - - - - - (54.4) (54.4) - (54.4)
Ondends paid to non-controling
mterests - - - - - - - (0.1) {0 1)
Contnbution from non-controlling
nterest - - - - - - - 0.8 0.8
At 31 December 2015 256 532.7 0.2 (7.8} {80 1) 3456 8162 14.9 831.1
Share Captal Own Other Non-
Share  premum  redemption shares reserves  Retaned controling Total
capital account reserve  (nhote 31) {note 32) eamngs Total nterests equity
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2014 256 5327 o2 08 465 2824 8866 107 8973
Shares purchased - - - 32 - - B2 - 32
Own shares released to satisfy
employee share schemes - - - 25 - {2 5) - - -
Total comprehensive Income
and expenditure - - - - {793 669 (12 4} 07 (R irg!
Share-based payments - - - - - 31 31 - 31
Tax on share-based payments - - - - - 10 10 - 10
Dmdends - - - - - (51 6) (51 6} - (516)
Dmdends pad to non-contraling
Interests - - - - - - - 02 02
Contnbution from non-contralling
interest - - - - - - - 15 15
A1 31 December 2014 256 5327 02 (15 {32 8} 2003 8235 127 8362
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Financial Statements

Group Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31

December 2015

205 2014
Note £m £m
Cash generated from operations 36 264.1 2452
Tax pad {112) {130)
Net cash from operating activities 2529 2322
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments to acqurre businesses, net of cash acquired 18(a) (62.3} 52
Deferred consideration for businesses acqured and disposed 18(a} 0.2) {0 5}
Purchasse of property, plant and equipment {107.5) {55 7)
Proceads from disposal of property, plant and equipment 10.2 139
Payments to acquire mtangble assets (16.4) 7 9)
Payments to acqurre associates {3.5) 02
Interest receved 56 59
Net cash used in investing activities (174.1) {49 3}
Cash flows from financing activibes
Purchase of own shares (8.5) 32
Interest paid 467 497)
Finance lease pnncipal payments {25.8) (28 8)
Net koan receipts/{payments) 443 @7}
(Payments)/receipts for the matunty of foreign currency contracts {111) 24
Dmvidends paid to non-controling interests 0.1) 02
Contnbuton from non-controfing interest 08 15
Dwidends paud to sharsholders of the Company (54 4} ©16)
Net cash used in financing activities {101.5} 139 3)
{Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (2.7} 436
Opening cash and cash equivalents 837 409
{Decrease)increase in cash and cash eguvalents (27 136
Foreign exchange {0.6) 08
Closing cash and cash equivalents 22 60.4 837
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1]
For the year ended 31 December 2015 25
or
S
1 Corporate information
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Natronal Express Group PLC and its subsidianes (the 'Group’} for the year ended
31 December 2015 were authonsed for issue In accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 25 February 2016 National
Exprass Group PLC 1s a public imited company incorporated in Englang and Wales whose shares are publicly traded on the 20
London Stock Exchange =9
ne
The principal activities of the Group are described in the Strategic Report that accompanies these Financial Statements £ g
=
O -
2 Accounting policies T
Statement of compliance
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Internatronal Financial Reporting Standards {‘IFRS') and

interpretations of the Internationa! Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee ('IFRIC’) as adopted by the European Urion (‘EUY),
and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 apphcable to companies reporting under IFRS

Basis of preparation
These Financial Statements have been prepared on the going concern basis (see Group Finance Director's Review on page 37} under
the historical cost convention, except for the recognition of denvative financial instruments and availlable-for-sale investments

These Financial Statements are presented in pounds Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand pounds
(£0 1m) except where otherwise indicated
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A summary of the Group’s accounting policies applied in prepanng these Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
IS set out below

Significant accounting jJudgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilties at the date of the Financial Staterments and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting pericd Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge, actual
results may ultimately differ from those estmates

The key accounting estimates and judgements are

Goodwill impairment

Determining whether goodwill 1s impaired requires an estmation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill has
been allocated The value in use caleulation requires the entity to estmate the future cash flows expected to anse from the cash-
generating unit and a sutable discount rate in order to calculate present value Details of the assumptions used and key sensitivities
are set out In note 13 to these Financial Statements

NOILLYWHO4NI
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Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

Determining the amount of the Group’s retirement benefit obligations and the net costs of providing such benefits requires assumptions
to be made concerning long-term interest rates, inflation, salary and pension increases, Investment returns and longewvity of current

and future pensioners Changes in these assumptions could significantly impact the amount of the obligations or the cost of providing
such benefits

The Group makes assumpticns concerning these matters with the assistance of advice from independent qualified actuanes
Detaits of the assumptions made are set out In note 33

Insurance

The estimation of the insurance provisions Is based on an assessment of the expected settlement on known claims together with an
estimate of setflements that will be made in respect of Incidents occumng pnor to the Balance Sheet date but for which claims have not
been reported to the Group The Group makes assumgtions concerming these judgemental matters with the assistance of advice from
independent qualified actuanes

Tax provisions

Assessing the outcome of tax uncertainties requires jJudgements to be made regarding the result of negotiations with and enquines from
tax authonties in a number of junisdictions  Management assessments are supported by external advisors where appropnate, based on
our business transaction facts and circumstances and the status of ongoing discussions wath the relevant tax authonties
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2 Accounting policies continued

Basis of consolidation

These Consolidated Financial Staternents compnse the Financial Statements of National Express Group PLC and all ts subsichanes
drawn up to 31 December each year Adjustments are mads to bring any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist into ine with
the Group's accounting policies

On acquisition of a business, the purchase method of accounting 1s adopted, and the Group Income Statement includes the results
of subsidianes and businesses purchased during the year from the date control Is assumed The purchase consideration is allocated
to assets and llabilities on the basis of fair value at the date of acquisiion On the sale of a business, the Group Income Statement
includes the results of that business to the date of disposal

Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gans and losses on trangactions between Group companies are eliminated

Non-controlling interests represent the porticn of comprehensive income and equity In subsidianes that 1s not attnbutable to the parent }
Company shareholders and Is presented separately from parent shareholders' equity in the Consolidated Balance Sheet |
|

Certain comparatives have been reclassified to be consistent with the current year's changes in presentaton

Changes in accounting policies and the adoption of new and revised standards |
The accounting policies adopied are consistent with those of the previous financial year and there have been no changes in accounting .
standards dunng the year that have had a matenal effect on the Group

Restatements

Following recent successful bidding in both Rail franchise contracts and public vehicle contracts in the Middle East, the Directors have
decided to classify business development costs as part of the recuming operations of the business and hence part of the normalised
performance in 2015 For comparability, the similar costs in 2014 (which were treated as exceptional items) have been reclassified to
be consistent with the current year presentation, along with the imputed tax credits The reclassification has no effect on the IFRS

reported results
A reconcihation of pnor penod operating profit i1s as follows

Operating profit before ntangble amortisation and exceptonal tems £m
As previously reported 193.1
Business development costs in Rail {19.8)
Business developrment costs in Spain and Morocco {0.8)
Business development costs iIn Central functions {4.9)
As restated 167.6

A reconciiation of prior penod taxation is as follows

Tax charge on operating profit before ntangible amortisation and excepuonal kems £m
As previously reported 27.7
Tax credits relating 1o restated business developrnent costs {5.9)
As restated 218

Interests in joint ventures

The Group has a number of contractual arrangements with other parties to share control of other entities which represent joint ventures
The Group recognises Its interest in the entities’ assets and labilities using the equity method of accounting The Group Balance Sheet

ncludes the appropnate share of these jont ventures’ net assets or labilites and the Income Staterment includes the appropriate share

of therr results after tax

Financial Statements of joint ventures are prepared for the same reporting penod as the Group Adjustments are made in the Group's
Financial Statements to elmmnate the Group’s share of unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures The Group ceases to use the equity method from the date it no longer has joint control over the entity
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2 Accounting policies continued

Interests in associates

Companies, other than subsidianes and joint ventures, in which the Group has an investment representing not less than 20% of the
voting nghts and over which 1t exerts significant influence are treated as associates The Consolidated Financial Statements include
the appropnate share of these associates’ results and net assets based on therr latest financial statements under the equity method
of accounting

Income Statement presentation

The Group Income Statement has been presented in a columnar format to anable users of the Financial Statements to view the
normalised results of the Group Normalised results are defined as the statutory results excluding loss on the sale of a business,
intangible asset amortisation, exceptional items and tax relef thereon

Exceptional items

Exceptional tems are matenal tems of iIncome or expenditure which, in the opinion of the Directors, due to ther nature and infrequency
require separate identification on the face of the Income Statement to allow a better understanding of the financial performance in the
year, In companson to preor years

Revenue recognition

Rendenng of services

Revenue comprses income from road passenger transport, train passenger services and related activites in the UK, North Amenca
and Europe Where appropriate, amounts are shown net of rebates and sales tax

Revenue 1s recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the customer’s travel or services provided under contractual
arrangements as a proportion of total services to be provided

Rail revenue in the UK includes amounts attrbuted to the train operating companies (' TOCs'), based principally on agreed models of
route usage by Ralway Settlement Plan Limited {which administers the income allocation system within the UK rall industry), in respect
of passenger receipts In addition, net franchise agreement receipts from the Department for Transport Rail Dsision (DT Rall) and local
Passenger Transport Executives {PTES) are treated as revenue Net franchise agreement payments to DIT Rail are recognised in
operating costs UK Coach revenue compnses amounts receivable generated from ticket sales UK Bus and Spam and Morocco
revenue compnses amounts receivable generated from ticket sales and revenue generated from services provided on behalf of local
transport authonties, which is recognised as the services are provided For all the divisions noted above, the relevant share of season
ticket or travelcard income 1s deferred within llabilities and released to the Income Statement over the life of the relevant season ticket
or travelcard North America revenue from school boards and similar contracts 1s recognised as the services are provided

Rental income
Rental income 1s accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Finance income
Revenue 1s recogrised using the effective mterest method

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the income Statement on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate Specifically, government grants relating to property,
plant and equipment are included in habiities as deferred income and are credited to the Income Statement over the expected useful
aconomic life of the assets concerned

Segmental reporting

Each of the Group's reportable segments provides services that are subject to nsks and returmns that are different from those of the
other segments Due to the nature of the Group's operations the distinct business segments align directly with geographical segments
which are operating In separate economic environments, with the exception of the Ral segment that compnses operations in both the
UK and Germany The German rail operation forms less than 10% of the Group's total revenues, assets and capital expenditure and
therefore has not been disclosed as a separately reportable segment

The Group's segments compnse UK Bus, UK Coach, Rall, North Amenca {operates school bus and transit services), Spain and
Morocco (operates bus and coach services), and Central functions These segments are descnbed in more detail in the Business review
accompanying these Financial Statements

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed to the
Group are capitalsed in the Balance Sheet as property, plant and equipment Finance leases are capitalised at the kower of the farr
value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments The capital element of future obligations under
hire purchase contracts and finance leases 15 Included as a hability in the Balance Shest The interest element of rental cbligations
15 charged to the Income Statement over the penod of the lease and represents a constant proportion of the balance of capital
repayments outstanding Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the
useful Iife of the asset or the lease term
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2 Accounting policies continusd

Leases continued

Leases of property, plant and equipment where a significant portion of the nsks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease Incentves received under operating leases and inihial direct costs In negotiating the lease are amortised
to the Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease -

All material arrangements and transactions entered into by the Group are reviewed to check whether they contain elements that meet
the accounting definition of a lease, although they may not follow the legal form of a lease

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred except where they are directly attnbutable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualfying assst, in which case they are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset

Current tax and deferred tax

Current tax 1s provided on taxable profits earned according to the local tax rates applicable where the profits are earned Income taxes
are recognised in the Income Statement unless they relate to an tem accounted for in Other Comprehensive Income or Equity, in which
case the tax I1s recognised directly in Other Comprehansive Income or Equity The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the cumrent
tax are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date

Deferred tax 1s provided in full in respect of all matenal temporary differences at the Balance Sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabiites and ther carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, apart from the foliowing exceptions

» where the temporary difference anses from the inttial recogniion of goodwill,

+ where an asset or liability 1s recognised In a transaction that 1s not a business combination and that at the hme of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and

« In respect of Investment in subsidianes, associates and joint ventures where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the temperary
difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difierence will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax s measured on a non-discounted basis at tax rates that are expected to apply in the penods in which the temporary
differences reverse based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s considered more likely than not that future taxable profits will be availlable
aganst which the underfying temporary differences can be deducted Thewr carrying amount 13 reviewed at each Balance Sheet date
on tha same basis

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to Income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty and when the |
Group intends to settle sts current tax assets and labilities on a net basis |

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately that meet the recognition cntena of 1AS 38 Intangible Assets are capitalised at cost and when
acquired in a business combination are capitalised at far value at the date of acquisition Following intial recognition, finite ife assets
are amortised on a straight-ine basts and indefinite life assets are not amortised The amertisation expsnse Is taken to the income
Statement through operating costs

Finite Iife ntangible assets have a restdual value of £nil and are amortised over thar estimated useful lives as follows

Customer contracts — over the Ife of the contract (between 1 and 33 years)
Contract mobilisation costs —over the life of the franchise (15 years)
Brands — over the life of the brand (5 years)

Intangible assets with indefinite Llves are testad annually for mparment The useful lives of finite Iife Intangible assets are examined on
an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis Finite life assets are reviewed for imparrment
where indicators of impairment exist

The Group's only indefinite hfe intangible asset s goodwaill

Software

Computer software that 1s not integral to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised separately as an intangible asset
and is carmed at cost less accumutated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses Costs include software licences, consutting
costs attnbutable to the development, design and mplementation of the computer software and internal costs drrectly attrbutable |
to the development, design and implementation of the computer software Costs In respect of training are expensed as incurred |
Amortisation Is calculated using the straight-line method so as to charge the cost of the computer software to the Income Statement 1
over Its estimated useful life (3 to 7 years}

The carrying value of Intangibles i1s reviewed for imparment If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable
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2 Accounting policies continued

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition 1s imtially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the bustnass combination over the Group’s miterast
in the net far value of the identifiable assets, labilites and contingent liabilitiles Following intial recognition, goodwill 1s stated at histoncal
cost less any accumulated impairment If an acquisition gives nse to an excess of the acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the
acqurree's identifiable assets, habilites and contingent iabilities over cost {previously referred to as negative goodwill), this Is credited
immediately to the Income Statement
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In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwillis not amortised All goodwaill 1s subject to an annual test of imparment and an mparrment charge
recognised as required

Far value accounting adjustments are made in respect of acquisitions Farr value adjustments based on prowisional estimates are
amended within one year of the acquisiion if required, with a corresponding adjustment to goodwaill, in order to refine adjustments
to reflect further ewidence ganed post acquisition

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and all or part of that unit 1s disposed of, the associated goodwill 1s Included
n the camying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal of the operation

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment 1s stated at histoncal cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses Under
the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1, the Group elected to deem the farr value of certain revalued assets to be equivalent to cost
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Land and bulldings compnise manly vehicle depots and garages, and offices Freehold land s not depreciated Other property,
plant and eguipment are depreciated on a straight-ine basis over therr estmated useful lives as follows

Freehold buidings —-30to 50 years
Long leasehold property —-15t0 40 years
improvements

Public service vehicies -8to 15 vyears
Plant and equipment, fixtures -3toc15years
and fittngs

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and adjustments, where applicable, are mads on a prospective basis Repairs
and maintenance are charged to the Income Statement dunng the financial penod in which they are incurred

NOILYWHO4NI
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An item of property, plant and equipment 1s derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to anse
from the continued use of the asset Any gain or loss arsing on the derecegnition of the asset 1s included in the Income Statement
in the pencd of derecogrition

Impatment of non-financial assets

All non-current assets are reviewed for imparment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carmyng amount
may not be recoverable, except for Indefinite life intangible assets and goodwill which are reviewed annually An imparment loss s
recognised for the amount by which the carmying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amaunt which i1s the higher of an asset’s
far value less costs to sell and its value In use For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows

In assessing value in use, the estimated nsk adjusted future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the tme value of money Imparment losses are recognised in the Income Statement
In expense categornies consistent with the function of the mparred asset

Except for goodwill impairments, a review 18 made at each reporting date of any previous imparrment losses to assess whether they

no longer exist or may have decreased If such ndication exists, the asset's recoverable amount 1s estimated and any previously
recognised iImpaiment 1oss 1s reversed only if there has been a change in the estmates used to assess the recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset 1s increased, subject to a inut of the asset’s
net book value had no previous impaimment loss been recognised Such reversal 1s recognised in the Income Statement Future
depreciation or amorbsaton 1s then adjusted to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount over its remaining useful economic life
Impairments to goodwill cannot be reversed

www nationalexpressgroup com 1 1 5




Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2 Accounting policies continued

Financial instruments

The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition: The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and avallable-for-sale The classification depends on
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading A financial asset is classified in this category
il acguired principally for the purpose of selling i the short term Dernvatives are also categonsed as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges Assets in this category are classified as current assets

Financial assets at far value through profit or loss are nitially recognised at farr value, and transaction costs are expensed in the Income
Statement Gains or losses ansing from changes in the farr value of the 'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the Income Statement within finance costs in the penod in which they arse

Loans and receivables

Loans and recervables are non-derivatwe financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
They are included In current assets, except for maturties greater than 12 months after the Balance Sheet date which are classified as
non-current assets The Group's loans and recevables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the
Balance Sheet

Available-for-sale financial assets

Avallable-for-sale financial assets are non-denvatives that are etther designated in thus category or not classified in any of the other
categones They are ncluded in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the
Balance Shest date

The Group's Investments i entities that are not subsidianes, associates or joint ventures are classified as avalable-for-sale financial
assets After nitial recogrition these assets are measured at far value with gans or losses being recognised as a separate component
of equity until the investment is derecognised or the investment Is determined to be impaired, at which tme the previously reported
cumulatve gain or loss 1s included in the Income Statement Where there 1s no active market for the Group's investments, far value Is
determined using valuation techriques Including recent commercial transactions and discounted cash flow analyses In the absence
of any other reliable external nformation, assets are carred at cost or amortised cost as appropnate

The Group assesses at each Balance Sheet date whether there 1s objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets
1s imparred In the case of equity secunties classified as avallable for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the far value of the
secunty below Its cost 1s considered as an indicator that the securities are impared If any such evidence exists for avallable-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference batween the acquisition cost and the current farr value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — 1s removed from equity and recognised in the Income
Staterment Imparrment losses recognised in the Income Statement on equity iInstruments are not reversed through the Income
Statement

Financial habiliies

When a financial liability 1s recogrised nitally, the Group measures it at its far value Financial labilities include trade payables, accruals,
other payables, borrowings and denvative financial instruments  In the case of a financial Lability not at fair value through profit or loss,
an adjustment 1s made for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 1ssue of the financial habilty Subsequent measurement
depends on its classification as follows

Financial habilities at fair value through profit or loss
Einancial labilties classified as held for trading and dernvative iabilities that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are
classified as financial labilities at farr value through profit or loss These liabilities are camed on the Balance Sheet at fair value with
gans or losses being recogrised in the Income Statement

Other
All other financial iabiliies not classified as farr value through profit or loss are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method
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2 Accounting policies continued

Denvative financial mstruments

The Group uses denvative financial Instruments such as foreign currency forward exchange contracts, fuel denvatives and interest

rate dervatives to hedge its nsks associated with foreign currency, fuel price and interest rate fluctuations Such dervative financial
instruments are imtially recogrised at far value and subsequently remeasured to far value for the reported Balance Sheat The far value
of foreign currency forward exchange contracts, interest rate and fuel denvatives 1s calculated by reference to market exchange rates,
interest rates and fuel pnces at the penod end

The Group's fuel denvatives are designated as cash flow hedges The gan or loss on the hedging instrument that 1s determined to be
an effective hedge 1s recognised In equity, with any matenal ineffective portion recogmsed in the Income Statement The gains or losses
deferred in equity in this way are recycled through the Income Statement in the same penod in which the hedged underlying transaction
or firm commitment 1s recognised in the Income Statement

The Group's interest rate dervatives are designated as fair value hedges The gan or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised
immediately i the Income Statement The carrying amount of the hedged item 1s adjusted through the Income Statement for the gain
or loss on the hedged item attnbutable to the hedged nsk, in this case movements in the nsk free Interest rate

Forergn currency derivatives are used to hedge the Group's net investment in foreign currency dencminated operations and to the
extent they are designated and effective as net investment hedges are matched n equity against foreign exchange exposure in the
related assets and liabibties Gans and losses accumulated in equity are (included in the Income Statement when the foreign operation
1s partially disposed of or sold Foreign currency forward contracts are also used to hedgs transactional exposures These contracts
are not hedge accounted and all gans and losses are taken directly to the Income Statement

For dervatives that do not qualfy for hedge accounting, gains or losses are taken directly to the Income Statement in the period

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, s sold, terminated, exercised, or no longer qualfies
for hedge accounting

Inventones
Inventones are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first In-first out basis, after making due allowance for obsolete
or slow moving items

Contract mobilisation costs

Costs assoctated with secuning new rall franchises and other significant non-rail contracts are expensed as incurred up to the point
when a bid 1s awarded From this point in tme, appropnate costs are recognised as an asset and are expensed to the Income
Statement over the life of the contract Costs associated with the commencement of all new contracts other than these contracts
are expensed as incurred

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other recewvables are recognised and carried at onginal Inveice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts
Doubtful debts are provided for when collection of the full amount 1s no longer probable, whilst bad debts are wntten off when identfied

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as defined for the cash flow statemment comprise cash in hand, cash held at bank with immediate access,
other short-term investments and bank deposits with matunties of three months or less from the date of Inception and bank overdrafts
In the Consolidated Balance Sheet, cash includes cash and cash equivalents excluding bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts that have no
legal nght of set-off against cash and cash equivalents are included within borrowangs in current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at far value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

Interest-beanng borrowings

All loans and borrowings are inttially recognised at cost being the net farr value of the consideration received plus transaction costs that
are directly attnbutable to the issue of the financial asset or labiity After initial recognition, interest-beanng loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective iInterest method
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

2 Accounting policies continued

Insurance

The Group's policy 1s to seff-nsure high frequency claims within the businesses To provide protection above thess types of losses,

the Group purchases insurance cover from a selection of proven and financially strong insurers The insurance prowision ts based on
estimated exposures at the year end pnncipally for clams ansing in the UK and North Amenca prior to the year end date, subject to

the overall deductble within the Group’s Insurance arrangements The majonty of provisions will be utlised within five years, and the
provisions have been discounted to take account of the expected timing of future cash settiements

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
The Group has a number of pension schemes, both of a defined benefit and defined contnbution nature Full details are prowided In
note 33

The Balance Shest position in respect of defined benefit schemes compnses the net of the present value of the relevant defined benefit
obligation at the Balance Sheet date and the farr value of plan assets Recognition of a net asset 1s imited so that it does not exceed the
economic benefits avalable in the form of refunds from the scheme or reductions in future contabutions to the scheme The trustees
complete a full actuanal valuation triennially, separately for each plan, but the obiigation 1s updated annually for financial reporting
purposss by independent actuanes, using the projected unit credit method The present value of the obligation 1s determined by the
estimated future cash outflows discounted using interest rates of high quality corporate bonds which have terms to matunty equvalent
to the terms of the related lability

The current service cost and gains and losses on settlements and curtalments are recognised 1n staff pension costs within operating
costs in the Income Statement Past service costs are ncluded in operating costs where the benefits have vested, otherwise they are
amortised on a straight-lne basis over the vesting pencd Net interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit
hability or asset and I1s recogrised within finance costs Actuanal gains and losses ansing from expenence adustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to Other Comprehensive income in the penod in which they anse

Our UK TOCs participate in the Raitways Pension Scheme (‘RPS), a defined benefit scheme which covers the whole of the UK rail
industry This 1s partitioned into sections and the Group 1s respensible for the funding of these sections whilst it operates the relevant
franchise In contrast 10 the pension schemes operated by most businesses, the RPS 1s a shared cost scheme, which means that costs
are formally shared 60% by the employer and 40% by the employee A liabibty i1s recognised in ine with ather defined benefit schemes
in the Group, although this i1s offset by a franchise adjustment so that the net lability represents the deficit that the Group expects to
fund dunng the franchise term

The charges in respect of defined contnbution schemes are recognised when they are due The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further contributions into a defined contnbution scheme if the fund has insufficient assets to pay all employees benefits
relating to employse service in the current and prior penods

Share-based payment

The Group awards equity-settied share-based payments to certain ernployees, under which the Group receves services from
employess as consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group The fair value of the employee services recewved In exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense The total amount to be expensad 1s determined by reference to the far value
of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market service and performance vesting conditions (for exampile, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified tme pericd) Non-market vesting conditons are included
in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest The total amount expensed is recognised over the vesting
period, which 1s the penod over which alt of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied At sach Balance Sheet dats, the entity
revises Its estmates of the number of options that are sxpected to vest based on the non-market vesting conditions It recognises the
impact of the revision to onginal estimates, If any, in the Income Statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, itis probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made Provisions are
measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the Balance Sheet date, and are
discounted to present value where the effect 1s matenal using a pre-tax discount rate The amortisation of the discount 1s recognised
as a finance cost

Contingent llabiliies are obligations that anse from past events that are dependent on future events They are disclosed In the notes
to the Financial Statements where the expected future outflow 1s not probable
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2 Accounting policies continued
Share capital, share premium and dividends
Where erther the Company or employee share trusts purchase the Company's equity share capital, the consideration paid, including

any transaction costs, 1s deducted from total shareholders’ equity as own shares unhl they are cancelled or re-issued Any consideration g o
subsequently received on sale or re-issue 15 Included in sharsholders’ equity = 2
£ R
Dmdend distnbutions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a lability in the Group’s Financial Statements on the date £ S
when dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders Intenm dividends are recognised in the period they are paid gﬁ
m

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets {or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when therr carrying amount 1s 10 be recovered pnncipally
through a sale transaction and a sale 1S considered highly probable They are stated at the lower of canying amount and far value less
costs to sell if therr carrying amount 1$ to be recovered pnncipally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group that has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale and it either represents
a separate major Ine of business or geographical area, 15 part of a plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or gecgraphical
area, or was an acquired subsidiary intended for resale The resulting profit or loss from discontinued operations 1s reported separately
in the Income Statement

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised

sl
z
>
z
o
»
-~

Foreign currencies

The trading results of foreign currency denominated subsidiaries, joint ventures and assoctates are translated into Sterling, the
presentation currency of the Group and functional currency of the parent, using average rates of exchange for the year as a reasonable
approximation to actuai exchange rates at the dates of transactions

4
X
m
=
m
z
=
«

The balance sheets of foreign currency denominated subsidianies, joint ventures and associates are translated into Sterling at the rates
of exchange ruling at the year end and exchange differences ansing are taken directly to the translation reserve in equity On disposal of
a foreign currency denominated subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in the translation reserve (since 1 January 2004
undger the transitional rules of IFRS 1) relating to that entity 1s recogrised in the Income Statement All other translation differences are
taken to the Income Statement, with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowngs and forward foreign currency
contracts which are used to provide a hedge aganst the Group net investments in foreign enterpnses These are taken directly to
equity until the disposal of the net nvestment, at which tme they are recognised in the Income Statement

New standards and interpretations not applied
At the date of authonsation of these Financial Statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied
in these Financial Statements were in 1ssue but not yet effective, and have not yet been adopted by the EU

NOILYWHOLNS
TYNOILIGaY

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — effective for periods beginming on or after 1 January 2018 The standard deals with the classiffication,
recognition and measurement of financial assets and habditres

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers — effective for penods beginrung on or after 1 January 2017 The standard establishes
the principles for reporting the nature, amount, tming and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows ansing from contracts with customers

IFRS 16 Leases ~ effective for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases

The Directors have assessed the following IFRS 9 may impact both the measurement and disclosures of the Group’s financial
instruments IFRS 15 1s not Iikely to have a significant impact on future financial statements IFRS 16 1s expected to result iIn a matenal
increase to both the assets and liabilies of the Group and may also iImpact the timing of recogrition of operating and finance costs

A full assessment of the impact of these new standards will be undertaken prior to therr application
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

3 Revenue
2015 2014
£m £m
Rendenng of services 1,9165 1,8650
Rental ncome a3 24
Revenue 1,9198 1,867 4
Finance ncome 59 65
Total revenue from continuing operations 1,925.7 1,8739
4 Exchange rates
The most significant exchange rates to UK Sterling for the Group are as follows
2015 2015 2014 2014
Closingrate  Average rate Closing rate Average rate
US dollar 147 1.53 156 1865
Canadian dollar 204 1.95 181 182
Euro 138 1.38 129 124

If the results for the year 1o 31 December 2014 had been retranslated at the average exchange rates for the year to 31 December 2015,
North Amenca would have achieved normalised operating profit of £63 Om on revenue of £656 8m, compared to normalised operatng
profit of £59 5m on revenue of £620 2m as reperted, and Span and Morocco would have achieved a normalised operating profit of
£67 8m on revenue of £484 7m, compared to normalised operating profit of £75 Om on revenue of £538 1m as reported

5 Segmental analysis

The operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the public transport servces they provide
The geographical markets they operate in match the nature of public transport services provided, with the exception of the Rall segment
that compnses operations in both the UK and Germany The German rail operation forms less than 10% of the Group's total revenues,
assets and capital expenditure Commentary on the segments 1s included in the Strategic Report

Revenue 1s analysed by reportable segment as follows

Inter- Inter-
External segment Segment External segment Segment
revenue sales revenue revenue sales revenue
2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014
£m £m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus 285.1 13 286.4 2808 oz 2810
UK Coach 280.9 03 281.2 2746 06 2752
Rail 168.4 - 1684 1516 - 1516
North Amenca 683.2 - 683.2 620 2 - 6202
Span and Morocco 502.2 - 502.2 5381 - 5381
German Coach - - - 21 - 21
Inter-segment sales efirmination - (1.6) {1.6} - 0 8) {08
Total revenue 1,919.8 - 1,919.8 1,867 4 - 1,867 4

Inter-segment sales in UK Bus represent the provision of coach services on a small number of routes to UK Coach and intemal
commission on ticket sales Inter-segment sales in UK Coach represent rail replacement services provided to Rail Inter-segment trading
13 undertaken on standard arm’s length commercial terms Due to the nature of the Group's businesses, the ongin and destination of
revenue Is the same No single external customer amounts to 10% or more of the total revenue
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5 Segmental analysis continued
Operating profit 1s analysed by reportable segment as follows

Intangile o
amortisation & g
Normalised and w3
Normahsed operating exceptional E ¢
operating Intangible Segment proﬁiﬁ tems. Segment =2
profit  amortsation resuft (restated) {restated) resut | m™
2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014
£m £m fm £m £m £m
UK Bus 375 - 375 340 70 270
UK Coach 323 {0.5) 31.8 280 35 245
Ral 0.6 - 0.6 (101} (0 8) (107)
North Amenca 668 (15.2) 516 595 (27 5) 320
Span and Morocco 715 (9.9) 61.6 750 (6 4) 6s6 R
]
German Coach - - - (17 @21 38 [P
mo
Cantral functions (152} {0.1) {15.3) (17 1) 63} (234) EE
Operating profit from continuing @
operations 193.5 {25.7) 167 8 1676 (53 4) 1142
Share of results of associates 18 03
Net finance costs {45.2) {480)
Profit before tax 1244 B6 5
Tax charge {15.3} 59
Profit for the year 100.1 606 z z
o
* restated for the reclassificaton of business development costs from exceptionals as raconcied below g %
>
a4z
Group g 3
Spain and Central operating
Rail Morocco functions profit
£m £1m £m £m
As previously reported 9.7 75.8 (122) 193.1
Business development costs {19.8) {0.8} {49) (25.5)
As restated {(10.1) 75.0 {17.1) 167.6
Intangible asset amortisation 1s analysed by reportable segment as follows
2015 2014
£m £m
UK Coach 0.5 05
North Amenca 15.2 113
Spain and Morocco 9.9 163
German Coach - 04
Central functions 0.1 01
Total 25.7 286
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

5 Segmental analysis continued
Exceptional costs/(ncome) are analysed by reportable segment as follows

2014
2015 (restated)"
£m £m
UK Bus - 70
UK Coach - 30
Ral - 06
North Amenca - 162
Spain and Morocco - @9
German Coach - 17
Central functions - 62
Total - 248
restated for the reclassification of businass development costs from excepuionals as ¢isclosed in nota 2
Exceptional costs/{income) are further analysed by type as follows
2014
2015 {restatedy”
fm £m
Restructunng - 258
Strategic ratonalisation - 183
Exceptonal fuel credits - (16 3)
- 248

restated for the reclassification of businass development costs from exceptionals as disclosed in note 2

In 2014 the Group ncurred net exceptional costs of £24 8m refating to restructunng, the rationalisation of onerous contracts and

exceptional fuel credits
Further details are disclosed in the Group's 2014 Annual Report and Accounts
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5 Segmental analysis continued

Assets, labihties and capital expenditure are analysed by reportable segment as follows

Of which Of which

non-current Caputal* nen-current Capttal*
Assgets assets’ Liabdibes expendrture Agsets assets”  Libites  expendture
2015 2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 2014
£m £m £m m £m £m £m £m
UK Bus 177.3 168.9 (157.5) 30.0 1562 1358 (144 3) 49
UK Coach 58.3 35.1 {47 8} 3.9 507 359 393 23
Ral 537 19.7 (50 3) 8.5 241 46 419 29
North Amenca a726 859.3 {265.9} 36.1 8245 7384 (1937 227
Spamn and Morcoco 1,052.0 951.2 (210.9} 274 10844 986 3 (1780 218
Central functions 599 7.6 {65.3) 1.6 451 63 (53 1) 11
Unallocated 124.8 - (6879.8) - 1505 - (8490 -
Intercompany elmimaton {14.1) - 14,1 - Q3 - 93 -
Total 24845 2,031.8 (1,653.4) 1075 23262 19073 (1,4900) 557

* Non-cuerent assets only include intangible assets, property plant and equipment
“The net capetal expenditure after aBowang for finance leasa addtions disposal of fixed assets and payments to acquire intangibles was £148 tm (2014 £50 Sm)

Capital expenditure comprnses property, plant and equipment additions as disclosed above and in note 14 In 2015, software intangible
assets of £6 2m (2014 £6 Om) were acquired as disclosed in note 13

Unallocated assets and kabilities comprise the following tems

Unallocated  Unallocated Unallocated Unallocated

assots liabilthes assets labilties

2015 2015 2014 2014

£m Em £m £m

Cash and cash equvalents 60.4 - 837 -
Other debt recenvables 0.8 - 08 -
Current tax 1.4 {16.1) 13 (233)
Avalable-for-sale nvestments 8.5 - 68 -
Denvative financial assets/(labilities) 248 {85.6) 280 (7119
Bomrowings, excluding finance leases - (7123.8) - 687 2)
Dividends payable - (0.5) - ©8)
Deferred tax 311 {53.8) 299 (660)
Total 1248 (879.8) 1505 (8430

www nationalexpressgraup com
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

6 Operating costs

2015 2014

£m £m

Cost of inventones recognised In expense 60.1 708
Staff costs {including exceptional costs in 2014 of £8 5m) 879.1 8503
Depreciation — Owned assets (including exceptional costs in 2014 of £3 4my 864 864
- Leased assets 17.9 185
Amortsation of fixed asset grants {0 6) 08
Operating lease charges Roling stock capital element 234 290
Rolling stock non-capital element 0.5 -

Public servce vehicles 105 91

Other 9.5 g8

- Plant and equipment 439 479

Fixed track access 4.0 72

Other 20.7 225

— Land and buldings 24.7 207
Fareign exchange differences (0.1) 05
Cther charges including exceptonal expense in 2014 of £12 9m) 614.9 6222
Cperating costs before Intangible asset amortisation 1,726.3 1,724 6
Intangible asset amortisation 25.7 286
Total operating costs 1,752.0 1,7532

The UK TOC has fixed track access contracts with Network Rail Infrastructure Limited for access 10 the ralway infrastructure (tracks,
stations and depots) The TOC also has contracts under which roling stock 1s leased The capital element of the roling stock lease
charge 1s based on the purchase pnce, capital funded refurbishments and modifications  The non-capital element of the lease charge
includes heavy maintenance charges and charges based on mileage

An analysis of fees paid to the Group’s auditor Is provided below

2015 2014

£m £m

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the audtt of the consolidated and parent Company accounts 0.3 03
Fees payable to the Company's auditor and its associates for other services

The audit of the Company's subsichanes 0.7 07

Other services 0.2 02

1.2 12

124 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015




A4Oday
J1DALYHLS

7 Employee benefit costs

{a) Staff costs
2015 2014
£m £m o
28
Wages and salanes 760.9 7336 LES
Social secunty costs 103.7 1037 ;g
=
Pension costs (note 33) 113 99 |gm
Share-based payment (note 8) 3.2 31
879.1 8503
The average number of employees, including Executive Directors, dunng the year was as follows
2015 2014
Managenal and adrministratve 4,078 3.869
Operatonal 38,544 38,058 gg
X
42622 41,927 a %
m:Z
Included In the above costs are the following costs related to the Group's key management perscnnel who compnse the Directors of 5.’-’
the parent Company
2015 2014
£m £m
Basic salanes 08 10
Benefits o4 04
Performance-related bonuses 0.9 14
Share-based payment 1.2 11 z z
33 39 | 82
5o
9=
(b) Share schemes g =
Detals of options or awards outstanding as at 31 December 2015 under the Group’s share schernes are as follows
Number of Number of Future
share options  share options Exercise oxercIse
2015 2014 price penods
Long-Term Incentve Plan 8,539,637 10,062,870 nl  2016-2020
Share Matching Plan - 360,233 n -
Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan 117,510 478,820 nil 2016
WMT Long Service Opton Scheme 266,592 258,525 129p-599p 2016-2025
Executve Defarred Bonus Plan 76,643 134,598 nil 2016

9,000382 11,285,046

{7} Long-Term Incentve Plan {‘'LTIP’}

The LTIP was introduced in 2005 on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee to reptace the annual award under the
Executive Share Option Plan to Executive Directors and to certain senior employees Under the LTIP, a Performance Award to acqurre
a specified number of free shares may be made to the employee or Director In addition, a Matching Award may be made, as descnbed
in (1) Performance conditions are attached to the vesting of Performance and Matching Awards based on the achievemnent of target
growth in earnngs per share {EPS’), return on capital employed ({ROCE’) and the relative total shareholder return (TSR') of the
Company against a comparator group of companies If the performance conditions are met, Performance and Matching Awards vest
on the third anniversary of the grant date and remain exercisable for a penod of up to six months following the vesting date There are
no cash settlerent alternatives at present
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

7 Employee benefit costs continued

{b} Share schemes continued

(i) Long-Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP’} continued

Since 2011, HMRC approved share option plans were added as an appendix io the LTIP (Approved Plan’) A participant can only hold
an option under the Approved Plan over shares with a market value of up to £30,000 at the grant date Optiens under the Approved
Plan are granted in tandem with the usual options under the LTIP The options are structured such that on exercise, the proportion of
the gain In respect of the first £30,000 worth of shares {as measured at the date of grant) will be delvered under the Approved Option
and the LTIP option shall be scaled back to deliver the remaning gross gain that would have been delivered had the option been
granted alone The excess shares under the LTIP will be forfeited such that both awards will never bacome fully vested

From 2012 to 2014, a supplementary five-year long-term incentive award was granted to the Chief Executive subyect to targets linked
to the Group's five-year plan This comprised a Performance Award {with no matching element) If performance conditions are met,
the Performance award will vest on the fifth anniversary of the grant date and remain exercisable for a penod of up to 12 months
following the vesting date There are no cash settlement alternatwes at present

{) Share Matching Plan (the ‘Plan’}

The Share Matching Plan was introduced in 2005 as part of the new LTIP arrangements described In {) Under the Plan, a Matching
Award to acquire a specified number of shares for free may be made if the employee pledges a number of shares as investment shares
which are then matched by the Company on up to a 4 1 basis with the number of shares that could have been purchased with the
gross-tax equivalent of the amount invested The Matching Awards vest on the third anniversary of the grant date and remain
exercisable for a period of up to six months following the vesting date There are no cash settlement alternatves at present

{i) Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan

The Deferred Annual Share Bonus Plan 1s a discretionary scheme which forms part of the bonus arrangements for certain senior
employees Under the scheme, part of any bonus may be received in cash whilst the remander 1s used to make an award of nif cost
options which vest three years after the award date There are no cash settiement alternatives at present

fiv} West Midlands Travel Lid ("WMT’) Long Service Option Scheme

The WMT Long Senvice Option Scheme utilises a fixed amount of shares set aside for this purpose following the acquisition of WMT in
1995 and Is open to all WMT employees who have heen in service for more than 25 years Thae options are exercisable between three
and ten years following the grant date There are no cash settlement afternatives

fv) TWM Share Incentive Plan (the ‘SIP'}

The TWM SIP exsts for the benefit of WMT employees At the end of the year, 1,079 (2014 1,079) National Express Group PLC shares
were held for the benefit of the Trustee Dividends on shares held in the SIP forferted shares account are waived There are no cash
settlement alternatives

{vi) Exacutve Deferred Bonus Plan

As detaled in the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Committee considered it appropnate for bonuses awarded in respect of the
calendar year to be deferred for a penod of one year and that these would vest, subject to the terms of the award and the relevant
Director's continuing employment The deferred forfeitable ordinary shares are awarded under the terms of The National Express Group
Executive Deferred Bonus Plan which was adopted by the Board of the Company on 10 March 2009

The principal terms of awards under the Executive Deferred Bonus Plan are summarnsed below

» awards under the Plan may be cash awards, conditonal awards or forfeitable shares awards,

» awards normally vest one year from the date of grant, subject to the relevant Director’s continued employment with the Company,

« the Committee may decide that participants shall be entitled to receve a benefit determined by reference to the value of the dividends
that would have been paid on the vested shares in respect of dwvidend record dates occurnng during the penod between the grant
date and the date of vesting, and

» the awards will normally lapse on cessaton of employment save in certain compassionate ‘good leaver’ circumstances
{eg death or disability)

In the event of a vanation of the share capital of the Company, the Committee may make such adjustments to the awards
as It considers appropriate
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8 Share-based payments
The charge n respect of share-based payment transactions included in the Group's Income Statement for the year 1s as follows

2015 2014
£m £m
Expense ansing from share and share cption plans — continuing operations 3.2 31

There were exceptional costs included within the charge dunng the year of £nil {2014 £0 7m)
Dunng the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group had six share-based payment arrangements, which are described in note 7{(b)

For the following disclosure, share options with a nil exercise pnce have been disclosed separately to avaid distorting the weighted
average exercise prices The number of share options in existence during the year was as follows

2015 2014
Weighted Weghted
average average
Number exercise Number EXECISO
of share pnce of share prce
optionsg p options 3]
Options without a ml exercise pnce
At 1 January 258,525 379 278,457 380
Granted dunng the year 71,773 295 31,876 280
Forfeited durng the year {11,867 333 {9,120) 354
Exercrsed dunng the year (14,363) 173 (10,721) 192
Bxpired duning the year (37,476) 458 (31,967) 359
Qutstanding at 31 Decermber 266,592 359 258,525 379
Exercisable at 31 Decernber 152,408 413 188,470 422
Options with a nil exercise pnce
At 1 January 11,036,521 nil 12,211,871 nil
Granted dunng the year 2,338,019 nil 3.985,698 nil
Forfeited dunng the year (1,648,181) nil (1,657,616) n
Exercised dunng the year (809,666) nil {962,147) ni
Expired dunng the year (2,184,903} nil (2.541,285) ni
Outstanding at 31 December 8,733,790 nil 11,036,521 nil
Exercisable at 31 December 117,510 nid 58,755 nil
Total cutstanding at 31 December 9,000,382 11,295,046
Total exercisable at 31 Decernber 269,918 247,225

The gptions outstanding at 31 December 2015 had exercise prices that were between 129p and 599p (2014 between 129p and 599p)
excluding options with a nil exercise pnce The range of exercise prices for options was as follows

Exercisa pnce {p} 2015 2014
0-350 170,210 118,816
351-600 96,382 139,608

266,592 258,525

The options have a weighted average contractual hfe of cne year (2014 ore year) Options were exercised regularly throughout the year
and the weighted average share pnce at exercise was 314p (2014 280p)
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

8 Share-based payments continued

The waighted average far value of the share options granted during the year was calculated using a stochastic model, with the following

assumptions and inputs
Share options without nil exercise pnce

Share options with nil exercise prce

2015 2014 2015 2014
Risk free interest rate 1.09%-1.38% 173% 073% 113%-181%
Expected volatiity 25.0%-26.0% 300% 24.0% 30 0%
Peer group volatiity - - 22 0%=-25.0% 28 0%-30 0%
Expected option ife in years Syears 5 years 3 years 3-5years
Expected dvdend yeld 3.53%-3.63% 364% 0.0% 3 58%
Weighted average share pnce at grant date 235p 275p 314p 280p
Weighted average exercise price at grant date 295p 280p il nil
Wexghted average far value of options at grant date 44p 51p 280p 194p

Expenence to date has shown that approxmately 24% (2014 24%) of options are exercised early, pnncipally due to leavers This has
been incorporated nto the calculation of the expected ophon lifs for the share options without mil exercise price

Expected volatiity in the table above was determined from histoncal volatiity over the last eight years, adjusted for cne-off events that
were not considered to be reflective of the volatility of the share price going forward The expected dividend yield represents the
dmvdends declared in the 12 months preceding the date of the grant divided by the average share pnce in the month preceding the

date of the grant

For share options granted during the year under the LTIP, the TSR targets have been reflected in the calculation of the farr value of the

options above

9 Net finance costs

2015 2014
£m £Em
Bond and bank interest payable {45.5) {47 5)
Finance leasa interest payable 3.2 {42
Cther interest payable {0.9) {05
Unwind of prowision discouniing {1.4) {12
Net interest cost on defined benefit pension obligations (0.1} 1
Finance costs {61.1) {54 5)
Other financial Income 5.9 65
Net finance costs {45.2) {48 0)
Of which, from financial Instuments
Cash and cash equvalents (24 23
Financial kabiites measured at amorised cost {44.4) {46 7
Denvatives used for hedging 58 58
Loan fee amortsation {2.3) (21)
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10 Taxation
(a} Analysis of taxation charge in the year
2014
2015 frestated)” | Qg
£m m (=8
Current taxation g §
UK corporation tax 1.7 26 |§A
Overseas taxation 133 163
Current ncome tax charge 15.0 137
Adustments with respect to prior years — UK and overseas (8.5} 09
Total current income tax charge 65 146
Deferred taxaton (note 26)
Cngination and reversal of temperary dfferences — continuing operations 9.2 (113) @
Adustments with respect to pror years - UK and overseas (0.4} 26 EH
Deferred tax charge/{oredit) 8.8 &1 BH
Total tax charge 153 59 gr‘!
The tax charge 1s disclosed as follows
Tax charge on profit before intangible asset amortisation and exceptional items 285 218
Tax credit on intangible asset amortisation and exceptional items (13.2) (159)
153 59
Zp
Tax credit on iIntangible asset amortisation and exceptional items is analysed as follows §§
Tax credit on iIntangible asset amarysation (13.2 (109) g g
Tax credtt on exceptional tems - 60 ;.-,-' ,E_
{13.2} (169)
* rastated for the raclassification of business development costs from exceptionals as disclosed In note 2

The 2014 tax credit on exceptional items of £5 Om relates to tax deductions on allowable exceptional costs The £24 8m exceptional costs
constst mainly of redundancy and reorgamsation costs as well as unsuccessful rail bid costs which are alowable for tax purposes An element
of the exceptional costs In the US and Spain are not allowed for tax purposes and therefore there 1s no tax credit in relation to these temss

The current year tax credit on intangible items includes adjustments with respect to pnor years in relation to Spanish and German
intangible tax relief

{b) Tax on items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or Equity

2015 2014
£m £m

Current taxation
Charge on exchange movements offset In reserves {0.3) -
{0.3) -

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax credit/(charge} on actuanal (lossesygans 14 23
Deferred tax credit on cash flow hedges 1.2 136
Deferred tax {charge)/credit on foreign exchange differences {0.8) o1
Deferred tax credit on share-based payments 0.7 10
25 124
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
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10 Taxation continusd
{¢) Reconciliation of the total tax charge

2015 2014
£m £m
Profit before Income tax 124.4 665
Notional charga at UK corporation tax rate of 20 25% (2014 21 50%) 252 143
Recumng items
Non-deductible/{deductibie) goodwill imparment and intangible ameortisation 0.6 (10)
Effect of overseas tax rates 88 58
Tax Incentves (5.6} (7 6)
Overseas financing deductions (5.8) 53
Non-recumng rtems
Adustments to pnor years within current and deferred tax (excluding movements In tax provistons) 22 35
{Release)increase in tax provisions (8.6) 11
Effect of reduction in tax rates {note 10{) 0.1 @9
Non-taxable income 1.3 {0 5}
(Utlisation)/recognition of a deferred tax asset for previously unrecognised tax losses {.3) 05
Total tax charge reported In the Income Statement {note 10(aj) 15.3 59

Included within the tax reconciiation are a number of non-recurming items, the main ones being changes in tax rates {UK and Spain)
which resulted in deferred tax effects due to the restatement of balances, and the release of tax provisions The UK corporation rates
will reduce to 19% from 1 Apnl 2017 and to 18% from 1 Apnl 202¢C and the Sparush rate has decreased to 25% from 1 January 20186
Items expectad to recur in the tax reconciiation for 2016 include the difference in rates between the UK and our overseas markets,
tax Incentives on re-investment credits and the merger of our Spanish businesses and the effect of the debt financing of our
overseas subsidianes

{d) Tax provisions

At 31 December 2014, the Group held tax provisions of £21 3m to cover tax uncertainties across our varnous markets During 2015,

a tax audit Into our Sparnish business concluded with a payment of €2 7m to settle tax habilties for the penods 2006 to 2011 All UK
corporation tax returns up to 2013 have been submitted and agreed by HMRC, with 2014 recently submitted for review by HMRC

As a result of this and with no outstanding tax audits in the UK, Spain, the US or Canada, it was decided that £8 6m of the tax
prowisions are ne longer required to cover tax uncertanties and £8 6m was credited to the tax ne The balance of £12 7m of tax
provisions represents a number of tax uncertainties such as the deductibility of nterest expense in some of our markets, withholding tax
on payments and other matters Based on the expernence of the Group Tax department and after discussions of the vanous tax
uncertainties wath our tax adwvisors, the tax provision of £12 7m represents management’s best astimate of the tax uncertainties

of which we are aware The provision for the Group’s tax uncertasnties of £12 7m s ncluded in current tax habilities

(o) Temporary differences associated with Group investments

No deferred tax (2014 £nil) 1s recognised on the unremitted eamings of subsidiaries, associates and jont ventures, as the Group has
determined that these undistributed profits will not be distnbuted in the near future As a result of changes to tax legislation In 2009,
overseas dividends received on or after 1 July 2009 are generally exernpt from UK corporation tax, but may be subject to withholding
tax There are no temporary differences (2014 £nil) associated with iInvestments in subsidianes, associates and joint ventures, for which
a deferred tax lability has not been recogrused but for which a tax llabidity may arise

{f} Unrecognised tax losses

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit against
future taxable profits 15 probable Based on current forecasts, it 1s estmated that the losses recognised for deferred 1ax purposes will be
utilised within three to four years UK and overseas deferred tax assets that the Group has not recognised in the Financial Statements
amount to £6 9m (2014 £7 8m), which anse m tax jursdictians where the Group does not expect to generate sufficient suitable future
taxable profits The maonty of the unrecogmised losses relates to UK entities where it 1s uncertain when, or if, the losses will be utihsed
In addition, there are capital losses of £0 9m (2014 £1 8m)}, relating to the US business, which have not been recognised, recoverability
of which i1s dependent on capital gains ansing

The £0 9m {2014 £1 8m) of unrecognised capital losses will expire in 2016
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10 Taxation continued
{g) Deferred tax included in the Income Statement

2015 2014
£m £m o
28
Accelerated capital allowances {15.2) (111 E 3
Other short-term temporary differences 284 04 |Z §
Utilsaton of losses {4.4) 28 é,",.
Deferred tax charge/{credit) 88 87

Datails on the Balance Sheet position of deferred tax are included in note 26

(h) Factors that may affect future tax charges
Dunng the penod, the Finance (No 2) Act 2015 was passed with UK corporation tax rates of 19% from 1 Apnl 2017 and 18% from
1 April 2020

At the Balance Sheet date, rates of 19% and 18% (2014 20%) were substantively enacted The change In rate from 20% to 18% has
resulted in a tax charge of £1 1m to the Income Statement

In June 2014 the Spanish Government announced a tax rate reducton from 30% to 28% dunng 2015 and then from 28% to 25% n 2016 At the
Balance Sheet date, a rate of 25% was recognised The change in rate from 28% to 25% has resulted in a £1 0m credit to the Income Statement
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11 Dividends paid and proposed

2015 2014
£m £m

Declared and paid dunng the year
Ordinary final dvidend for 2014 paid of 6 95p per share (2013 6 75p) 35.5 345
Ordinary intenm dnadend for 2015 of 3 685p per share (2014 3 35p) 18.9 171
54.4 516

Proposed for approval {(not recognised as a hability at 31 December}
Ordinary final dvidend for 2015 of 7 645p per share (2014 6 95p per share} 389 355
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12 Earnings per share

2015 24
Basic earnings per share 20.9p 11 6p
Normalised basic eamings per share* 23.4p 18 8p
Diluted earmuings per share 20.9p 11 5p
Nomalised diuted eamings per share” 233p 18 9p

* rastatad for the reclassificaton of business development costs from exceptionals as disclosed in note 2

Basic EPS 1s calculated by dividing the eamings attnbutable to equity shareholders of £107 Om (2014 £59 1m) by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares In 1ssue dunng the year, excluding those held by the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust
{note 31) which are treated as cancelled

For diuted EPS, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue dunng the year s adjusted to include the weighted average
number of ordinary shares that would be 1ssued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares inte ordinary shares

The reconcihation of basic and diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 1s as follows

2015 2014
Basic weighted average shares 510,954,717 511,125312
Adjustment for diutive potential ordinary shares 2,399,159 970,374
Diluted weighted average shares 513,353,876 512,005,688
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Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

12 Earnings per share continued

The normalised basic and normalised diluted earnings per share have been calculated in addition to the basic and diluted earnings
per share required by IAS 33 since, In the opimion of the Directors, they reflect the underying performance of the business’ operations

more appropriately

The reconcilation of the earmings and eamnings per share to ther normalised equivalent is as follows

2015 2014
Basic EPS Dituted EPS Basic EFS Dited EPS
Em P p £m P P
Profit attnbutable to equity shareholders 107.0 209 20.9 591 116 15
Intangible armortisation 25.7 5.0 5.0 286 56 56
Exceptional tems - - - 248 ag 48
Tax rebef on the above tems (13.2) {2.5) {2.6) (159) @3 1) B0
Nomalised profit from continuing operations
and attnbutable to equity shareholders 118.5 234 23.3 966 189 189
* restated for the reclassification of business developmant casts from exceptionals as disclosed in note 2
13 Intangible assets
Contract
Customer mobilisation  Total finste Iife
contracts Software costs assets Goodwall Total
£m £m £m £m £m Em
Cost
At 1 January 2015 5131 470 1.6 561.7 1,0952 1,656.9
Acquisiions 5741 - - 57.1 316 88.7
Addtions 1.6 6.2 8.3 16.1 - 161
Disposals (1.4) - - {14) - (14}
Reclassifications - 0.4 - 04 - 0.4
Foreign exchange (15.2) 11 - {14.1) 27 7) {41.8)
At 31 December 2015 555.2 54.7 9.9 619.8 1,099.1 1,718.8
Amortisation and imparment
At 1 January 2015 365.2 324 - 3976 819 478.5
Charge for year 212 45 - 257 - 25.7
Disposals {1.4) - - (14) - (1.9
Reclassifications 3.0 (3.0} - - - -
Foreign exchange (145} 08 - {137 (1.9 {15.6)
At 31 December 2015 373.5 347 - 408.2 B80.O 488.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2015 181.7 200 9.9 211.8 1,019.1 1,230.7
At 1 January 2015 1479 14.6 16 164.1 1,013.3 1,177.4

132 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015




140d3y
QIDILVYHLS

13 Intangible assets continued

Contract
Customer mobdisaton  Total fintte e
contracts Brand Software costs assets Goodwil Tolal g
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m '%g

Cost 23
At 1 January 2014 5052 23 330 - 5605 1,127 1 16876 :z:g
Acquisitons 42 - - - 42 16 58 |7
Addtions 07 - 60 16 83 10 a3
Disposals - - 05 - 05 - {0 5}
Reglassifications 40 23 73 - a0 - a0
Foreign exchange (21 0) - 12 - {19 8) (34 5) (54 3)
At 31 December 2014 5131 - 470 16 5617 10852 1,656 9
Amortisation and impairment g 2
At 1 January 2014 3601 08 190 - 3799 B4 2 464 1 E%
Charge for year 227 - 59 - 286 - 286 B
Disposals - - ©9 - 08 - ©s
Redlassifications 16 {8 72 - 80 - 80
Foreign exchange (19 2} - 08 - (184) {23) (207
At 31 Decernber 2014 3652 - 324 - 3976 819 4795
Net book value
At 31 December 2014 1479 - 146 186 1641 10133 11774
At 1 January 2014 1651 15 140 - 1806 1,042 9 1,2235

Goodwill has been allocated to individual cash-generating units for annual impairment testing on the basis of the Group's business
operations The carrying value by cash-generating urit 1s as follows

NOLLYWHOANI
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205 2014

£m £m

UK Coach 132 132
North Amenca 3M.3 3350
Spam and Morocco 6346 665 1
1,019.1 1,0133

The recoverable amount of indefinite hfe iIntangible assets has been determined based on a value In use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets and forecasts approved by senior management covening a five-year penod The assumptions,
Including growth rates and operating margins, are based on histoncal expenence and detaled budget plans as well as management’s
assessment of current market and economic condittons Growth has then been extrapolated forward from the end of the forecasts
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13 Intangible assets continued
The calculation of value in use for each group of cash-generating units 1s mest sensitive to the assumptions over discount rates and the

growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the three-year penod of the management plan

The key assumptions used for the cash-generating units are as follows

Growth rate used to

Pre-tax discount extrapolate cash flows

rate applied to beyond five-year penod of

cash flow projechons management plan

2015 2014 2015 2014

UK Coach 8.2% 8 5% 2.2% 20%
Negrth Amenca 8.1% 86% 2.8% 25%
Spain and Morocco 8.2% 85% 2.2% 20%

The value In use of the North Amenica division exceeds 1ts carrying amount by £455 1m (2014 £169 4m) Sensitvity analysis has been
completed on each key assumption in isolation, and this indicates that the value in use of the division will be equal to its carmying
amount following an increase in the pre-tax discount rate of 290 basis points (2014 140 basis ponts) or a reduction in the growth rates
used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the three-year period of the management plan of 340 basis points (2014 160 basis points)

The value In use of the Spain and Morocco division exceeds 1ts carrying amount by £121 9m (2014 £107 1m} Sensitivity analysis
has been completed on each key assumption in 1solation, and this indicates that the value in use of the division will be equal to its
carrying amount following an increase in the pre-tax discount rate of 80 basis points {2014 70 basis points) or a reductian in growth
rates used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the three-year penod of the management plan of 80 basis points (2014 70 basis points)

For both Spain and Merocco and North Amenca the headroom has increased as the increase in the asset base s more than offset
by future profit projections

it 1s belleved that any reasonably possibile movement on key assumptions will not lead to an imparment of goodwill allocated to UK Coach

Sensitivities to other assumptions

In North Amenca, a reduction in operating profit margin of 320 basis points (2014 160 basis points) will result In the value In use
of the dvision being equal to its carming amount  In Spamn and Morocco, a reduction in operating profit margin of 140 basis points
{2014 110 basis points} will also result in the value In use of the dvision being equal to its carrying amount

The Drrectors consider the assumptions used to be consistent with the histoncal performance of each cash-generating unit and
to be realistically achievable in hght of econormic and iIndustry measures and forecasts
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14 Property, plant and equipment
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Long Plant and
leasehold squipment,
Freehold land property Public service fixtures 0 n
and buiidings improvements vehicles and fittmgs Total 2o
£m £m £m £m tm (W3
Cost ; %
At 1 January 2015 96.7 5.1 1,247.9 1689 15186 |8m
Acquisitions 04 - 185 0.1
Additons 29 0.9 138.6 212
Disposals (12 - (20.2) (1.5)
Reclassificatons 0.1) - - 0.3}
Foreign exchange {3.1) 0.4 3.5 (1.8}
At 31 December 2015 95.6 6.4 1,388.3 186.5 @
Depreciation E §
At 1 January 2015 181 34 631.8 1354 E §
Charge for the year 24 0.7 20.9 10.3 a”
Disposals ©.7 - {15.2) (1.1)
Reclassficatons - ©.1) - a1
Foreign exchange (0.3} 0.3 13 {1.6)
At 31 December 2015 195 43 708.8 143.1
Net book value
At 31 December 2015 76.1 21 679.5 434 8011
At 1 January 2015 786 .7 616.1 33.5 729.9
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14 Property, plant and equipment continued

Long Plant and
leasehoid equpment,
Freshold fand property  Publc serice fixtures
and buidings  wmprovements vehicles and fittngs Total
m £m £m £m m
Cost
At 1 January 2014 1008 48 1,1785 174 1 1,458 2
Acquisitions - - 15 - 15
Addtions 22 04 838 128 992
Disposals 19 04 212 62 (297
Reclassifications - 01) o2 <S4 @3
Foreign exchange 44) 04 51 (24) (t3)
At 31 December 2014 8967 51 124789 1689 1,5186
Depreciation
At 1 January 2014 172 27 5479 1390 7068
Charge for the year 24 07 916 102 104 9
Disposals (10 04 (105 {48 (16 7)
Reclassifications o 01 0 4} {7 Q) (7 4)
Foreign exchange 04 03 32 20 11
At 31 December 2014 181 34 6318 1354 7887
Net book value
At 31 December 2014 786 17 6161 335 7299
At 1 January 2014 8386 21 6306 351 7514

Property, plant and equipment held under finance lease agreements are analysed as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

Public service vehicles -cost 2250 2069
— depreciation (84.4) (703

Total net book value 140.6 1366

Assets held under finance lease agreements are pledged as secunty for the related finance lease and hire purchase labilities
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15 Subsidianes

The companies hsted below include all those which principally affect the results and net assets of the Group A full ist of subsidianes,
joint ventures and associates 1s disclosed in note 38 The pnncipal country of operation In respect of the companies below 1s the

country in which thay are incorporated

National Express Group PLC 1s the beneficial owner of all the equity share capital, erther itself or through subsidianes, of the companies

The Group's train passenger services in the UK are operated through franchises awarded by DfT Rail, as delegated by the UK Government

Incorporated n England and Wales

National Express Limited
Eurolines (UK) Limited

Arrlinks Arport Services Limited
The Kings Ferry Limited

West Midlands Travel Limited
NXET Trans bimited

Administraton and marketing of express coach services in Great Bntan
Administration and marketing of express coach services to Europe
Operation of coach serices

Operation of coach services

Operabon of bus services

Operation of tran passenger senices

Incorporated in Scotland

Tayside Public Transport Co Limited (trading as Travel Dundee)

Operation of bus servces

Incorporated in the US

Durham School Services LP

Petermann Ltd

National Express Transit Corporation

National Express Transit Services Corporation

Operaton of schaol bus services
Operation of school bus services
Operation of transit bus services
Operation of transit bus services

Incorporated in Canada

Stock Transportation Limited

Operation of school bus sernces

Incomporated In Span

NEX Continental Holdings S
Tury Bxpress SA”
General Tecruca Industnal SEU*

Holding company for operating companies
Holding company for operating companies
Holding company for operating companies

Incorporated in Morocco

Groupe Alsa Transport SA

Transport de Voyageurs en Autocar Maroc SA
Alsa Tanger SA

Alsa Ciy Agadrr SA

Operaton of bus services
Operation of bus services
Operation of bus services
Operation of bus seraces

Incorporated n Germany

Natonal Express Rail GmbH

Qperation of train passenger semices

* Tha main holding companies of tha ALSA Group

The Group has no material nen-controliing interests that require separate disclosure
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

16 Denvative financial assets and available-for-sale investments

2015 2014
£fm £m
Avalable-for-sale Investrments — Unlisted ordinary shares 6.5 68
Demvative financial Instruments - Interest rate deyvatves 222 265
Derivative financial instruments included in non-current assets 22,2 265
Denvatve financial Instruments — Foresgn exchange denvatives 24 15
Derivative financial instruments included in current assets 24 15
Further information on the Group's use of fuel, interest rate and foreign exchange denvatives 1s included in note 30
Avallable-for-sale investments
2015 2014
£m £m
Cost or valuation and net book value
At 1 January 6.8 74
Provided in the year - 01)
Foreign exchange (0.3) 05
At 31 December 6.5 68
The pnncipal avalable-for-sale investments are as follows
2015 2014
Proportion Proportion
held held
Name Country of registration Class of share % %
Metros Ligeros de Madnd, S.A (MLM} Span Ordinary shares 15 15
Vanous Investments wathin ALSA and Continental Auto Span Crdinary shares 1-16 1-16
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17 Investments accounted for using the equity method
Investments accounted for using the equity method are as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

Jont ventures 8.3 27

Associates 23 27

Total nvestrments accounted for under the equity method 106 54
The Group's share of post-tax results from associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method Is as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

Share of int ventures’ profit 20 02

Share of associates’ (oss)/profit 0.2) 01

Total share of results from associates and joint ventures 18 03

(a} Investments in joint ventures
The Group's interests in joint ventures are as follows

Narme Country of registraton Actvity  Proportion held %
herc-Eurosur S L. Span Holding comparty of Deutsche Tounng 20
Bahrain Pubhc Transport Company W LL Kingdom of Bahran Operation of bus services 50
The financial information of Ibero-Eurosur S L and Bahramn Public Transport Company W L. L. 1s summarnsed below
Bahrain Public Transport
Iberg-Eurosur S L Company WL L

2015 2014 2015 2014
Share of the jont ventures’ balance sheets and resutts £m £m £m £m
Non-current assets 3.3 33 18.5 -
Current assets ot - 56 02
Share of gross assets 3.4 33 241 02
Non-current labiites (03 05 {16.0) -
Current habilites {0.3) 03) (2.8) -
Share of gross kabiities (0-6) 08 (18.8) -
Net assets 28 25 55 02
Revenue 0.2 02 24.2 -
Operating profit 0.2 02 13 -
Profit for the year and total comprehensive Income 0.2 02 1.8 -

Drvdends recenved from the joint ventures dunng the year

A reconciiaton of the above summansed financial nformation to the camying amount in the consolidated Financial Staterments s as follows

Bahran Public Transport
bero-Eurosur S L Company W LL
2015 2014 2015 2014
fm £m £m £m
Net assets of the joint venture 132 123 1.0 02
Proportion of interest belonging 1o joint venture partners {(10.4) ©8) {55} -
Group share of net assets 28 25 55 02
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

17 Investments accounted for using the equity method continued
{b) Investments n associates
The Group's interests in associates are as follows

Name Country of registraton  Proportion hekd %

Spain and Morocco associates Span 20-50

Spain and Morocco's associates are generally mvolved in the operation of coach and bus services, management of bus stations
and similar operations

The aggregate amounts related to associates {of which none are individually matenal) are summansed below

2015 2014

£m £m

Share of operating (loss)y/profit 02) 01
Share of (lossyprofit for the year and total comprehensiva income and expenditure 0.2) 01
Group share of net assets 23 27

The carrying amount of the investment in associates matches the Group’s share of the net assets

18 Business combinations
{a) Acquisthions
During the year the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of five businesses in the US, none of which are matenal individually

» Folmsbee's Transportation Inc and SR Leasing Company Inc (Apnl 2015) — school bus transportation services and charter services
In upstate New York

+ Trans Express Inc along with On Top Tours NYC Inc and Rainbow Management Service Inc {June 2015} - scheduled transportation
services and charter bus services in New York

« The Provider Enterprises Inc (October 2015) ~ special needs transpontation services in New Hampshire and Maine

+ Septran In¢ (October 2015) — school bus and special needs transportation services in llinois and Minnesota

+ Smith Bus Service Inc {December 2015) — school bus transportation services i Maryland

In aggregate, the provisional far values of the assets and liabiites acquired n North America are as follows

€m

Intangible assets 444

Property, plant and eguipment 156
Trade and other recevables 8.7

Cash and cash equivalents 3.2

Trade and other payables {35.0}
Deferred tax asset 174
Net assets acquired 543
Goodwill 274

Total consideraton 81.7

Represented by

Cash consideration 625

Payments for cash acqurred in the businesses 3.2

Deferred consideration 16.0

81.7

Trade and other recevables had a far value and a gross contractual value of £8 7m The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not to be collected was £nil
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18 Business combinations continued
{a) Acquisitions continued
Goodwill of £27 4m ansing from the acquistions consists of certain intangible benefits that cannot be separately identified and

measured due to therr nature This includes control over the acquired businesses and increased scale in our North American operations,

along with synergy benefits expected to be achieved

Included in the consideration shown above 1s contingent consideration of £10 1m Under the arrangement the Group is required to pay
the seller a multiplier of revenue over a three-year penod if the revenue exceeds an agreed base reverue level and EBITDA exceeds an
agreed EBITDA floor The maximum payment under this arrangement 1s dependent on the amount of excess over the base revenue
tovel, and the minimum payment i1s £nil Based on projections, management expect the discounted value of payments to be £10 1m

Acquisition-related costs ncluded within the Group's operating profit for the year amounted to £0 8m

The acquired businesses contributed £23 0m of revenue and £3 4m to the Group's net profit for the periods between the dates of
acquisition and the Balance Sheet date Had the acquisitions been completed on the first day of the financial year, Group revenue for
the pened would have been £1,951 7m and the Group's net profit would have been £110 5m

Deferred consideration of £0 2m {2014 £0 5m} was paid in the year relating to acquisitions in North America in earher years

Total cash outflow In the year from acquisitions (n North Amenca was £62 7m, compnsing consideration of £65 7m and deferred
constderation of £0 2m, less cash acquired In the busmesses of £3 2m

On 10 December 2015, in Spain, the Group acquired certain trade and assets of the Madnd-El Esconal franchise and related transport
businesses The far value of net assets acquired was £12 7m Consideration was £16 2m, resulting in provisional gcoawill of £3 5m
There was £0 2m cf cash acquired in the busmess and all of the consideration 1s payable in 20186, therefore the net cash inflow In the
year was £0 2m

{b) Disposals
There were no matenal business disposals durng 2015 or 2014

19 Non-current assets - trade and other receivables

2015 2014
£m £m
Prepayments 1.8 01
Cther recevables 2.2 17
40 18

20 Inventories
2015 2014
£m £m
Raw matanals and consumablas 225 218

The movement on the prowision for slow mowing and obsolete inventory is immatenal
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

21 Current assets - trade and other receivables

2015 2014

£m £m

Trade recevables 1431 1168
Less prowsion for impaiment of recevables (10.8) (112
Trade recevables - net 1323 1056
Amounts due from associates and joint ventures [note 35) 11 12
Armounts due from other related parties (note 35) 0.6 07
Other recevables 56.0 562
Prepayments 35.0 237
Accrued income 169 122
2419 1896

An analysis of the provision for imparment of recevables 1s provided below

2m5 2014

m £m
At 1 January (11.2 13
Utihsed in the year 04 01
At 31 December (10.8) {112

Amounts included within trade recevables which are past due at the reporting date are shown in note 29 The Directors believe that

based on the ongoing contractual relationships with predominantly government bodies these amounts will be collected

22 Cash and cash equivalents

2015 2014

£m m

Cash at bank and in hand 59.2 363
Overnight deposits 07 69
Other short-term deposits 0.5 405
Cash and cash equivalents 60.4 837

Cash and cash equivalents include restnicted balances of £4 7m {2014 £2 8m) held by the Ral subsidianes (TOCs) Under the terms
of the train franchise agreements, cash can only be distnbuted by the TOCs either up to the value of retained profits or the amount
determined by prescnibed lguidity ratios The restricted cash represents the balance that 1s either not available for distnbution or the

amount required to satisfy the iquidity ratio at the Balance Sheet date

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on dailly bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are made for varying
penods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requrements of the Group and earn interest at the

agreed short-term floating deposit rate The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 1s equal to the carrying value
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23 Current habilities — trade and other payables

2018 2014
£m fm
Trade payables 182.3 1442 ‘é 9
Amounts owed to associates and joint ventures (note 35) 08 08 L E
Amounts owed to other related parties {note 35) 05 07 E 2
Other tax and social secunty payable 288 274 a m
Accruals and deferred income 1183 1156
Other payables 167.8 1269
499.5 M57

Trade payables are non-interest beanng and are normally settled on 30 day terms and other payables are non-interast bearing and have
an average term of two months Included within other payables are deferred fixed asset grants from government or other public bodies

of £0 4m {2014 £1 1m) a_
Other payables includes £23 Om of deferred consideration for businesses acquired in the year (note 18) E §
24 Other non-current habilities r-znq g
2015 2014 [
£m £m
Defaerred fixed asset grants 3.5 34
Other iabilibes 125 07
16.0 41
Other labilibes includes £9 2m of deferred consideration for businesses acquired in the year {note 18} _
Zp
25 Provisions 88
Claims E g
provision* Other® Total g £
£m Em £m zr
At 1 January 2015 393 195 58.8
Charged to the Income Statement 200 04 204
Utlised in the year {30.4) {11.8) (42.2)
Unwinding of discount 14 - 14
Acquired in business combinatons 29.0 - 290
Exchange difference 16 (0.3) 13
At 31 December 2015 €09 78 68,7
Current 31 Decernber 2015 3148 43 36.6
Non-current 31 December 2015 291 3.0 321
60.9 7.8 68.7
Current 31 December 2014 232 121 353
Non-current 31 December 2014 161 74 235
393 195 588

! The dlaims prawision anses from estimated exposures at the year end for auto and general hiability, workers compensation and enwronmantal clams the majonty of which wil
be utilised N the next five years It comprses provisions for clams ansing 0 the UK and North Amenca

? Other Includes amounts provided for restructunng activities across the Group loss making contracts and dilapidation prowsions in Ral The majonty of these prowisions are
expected to be utilised in the next four years

When the effect 1s matenal, the provisions are discounted to therr net present value
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26 Deferred tax
2015 2014
£m £m
Net deferred tax lability at 1 January {36.1) (58 4
(Charge)/Credt to Income Statement {8.8) 87
Credit to Other Comprehensive Income or Equity 25 124
Exchange differences - 03
Acguired In business combinations 19.7 09
Net defered tax liability at 31 December {227 {36 1)

Based on current capital investment plans, the Group expects to be able to clam capital allowances in excess of depreciation
in future years at a similar level to the current year

2015 2014

Deferred tax assets £m £m
Accelerated tax depreciation 17 39
Losses camed forward 8.6 64
Crther short-termn temporary differences 208 196
Total 311 299
2015 2014

Defemed tax kabilibes £m £m
Accelerated tax depreciation {144.0) (1500)
Losses camed forward 4290 421
Cther short-tenm temporary differences 482 419
Total (53.8) {86 Q)

Deferred tax assets and liabilites within the same junsdiction have been offset

The UK and German businesses are ncluded in deferred tax assets of £31 1m and the Spanish, US and Canadian businesses are
included In deferred tax liabilities of £53 8m

The deferred tax assets relating to losses carned forward are £50 6m (2014 £48 5m} This compnses £8 6m within deferred tax assets
and £42 Om within deferred tax lablihes
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27 Borrowings and dernivative financial habilities

2015 2014
£m £m
Non-current g q
Bark loans 6.9 26 |@ §
Bonds 583.6 5853 |53
Finance lease cbligations 997 876 |h m
Other debt payable 62.2 663
Non-current borrowings 7523 7418
Fuel denvatves 39.6 361
Non-curent denvative financial instruments 39.6 361
Nen-current borrowings and denvative financial liabiliies .9 7779
Current ‘5 -
Bank loans 384 26 EE
Bonds - accrued interest 29.3 202 EE
Finance lease cbligations 279 229 @
Other debt payable 35 12
Current borrowings 991 559
Fuel denvatves 442 352
Forexgn exchange denvatives 1.8 06
Current dervative financial instruments 46.0 358
Current borrowings and dervative financial liabilities 1451 N7

An analysis of interest-beanng loans and borrowings 1s provided in note 28 Further information on derivative financial instruments
15 provided in note 30

NOILYWHO4ANI
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28 interest-bearnng borrowings
The effective interest rates on loans and borrowings at the Balance Sheet date were as follows

2015 Effective 2014 Effectve
£m Matumty tntorest rate £m Maturity nterest rate
Seven-year Stering bond 3523 January 2017 6.54% 3530  January 2017 6 54%
Ten-year Sterling bond 231.2 June 2020 6.85% 2323  January 2020 6 85%
Bonds 5835 5853
Accrued interest - bonds 29.3 292
November Novernber

European bank loans 340 2020 LIBOR + 0.60% - 2019 LIBOR + 0 60%
European bank loans 86 2016-2020 4.45% 36 2015-2016 425%
European bank loans 21 2016-2018 EURIBOR + 1.26% 30 2015-2017 EURIBOR +131%
US bank loans 0.6 1.40% 20 115%
Bank loans 453 86
US dollar finance leases
at fixed rate 108.4 2016-2021 213% 931 2015-2020 204%
European finance leases
at fixed rate 6.1 2016-2023 3.02% 20 2015-2017 541%
European finance leases
at floaung rate 6.6 2016-2022 EURIBOR + 1.90% 52 2015-2022 EURIBOR + 1 06%
Sterling finance leases
at fixed rate 6.5 2016-2018 4.76% 102 2015-2018 561%
Finance leases 127.6 11056
Euro Prvate Placerment 61.8 August 2021 4.55% 8656 August 2021 4 55%
Accrued interest — Private Placement 11 11
Euro loans 28 2016-2026 08 2026
Other debt payable 65.7 675
Total 8514 8011

' This date is the ulimate matunty date of the syndicated cradit facility

In Novermnber 2015, the Group extended its committed unsecured revolving bank facility by one year tc November 2020 The facility size
remains unchanged at £416m with ane further one-year extension option subject to approval by the lenders At 31 December 2015
there was €50m {2014 €nil) drawn down on the facility, with £2 9m of capitalised deal fees remaning

In January 2016, the Group entered into addional committed unsecured revong credit faciities totallng £450m The new facilites include
a £350m bridge faciity to provide the Group with an appropnate level of iquidity pror to refinancing the Group’s £350m 2017 bond, and
a £100m facility to be used for general corporate purposes Both facilities are for 18 months with three six-month extension options

Under the terms of the E1bn EMTN programme, there 1s a change n control put option such that, upon a change of control event,
any holder of any MTN may require the Company to redeem or purchase that MTN

Datails of the Group's interest rata nsk management strategy and associated interest rate denvatives are included in notas 29 and 30

The Group s subject to a number of financial covenants in relation to its syndicated crednt facliies which, if contravened, could resuft In
its berrowings under the faciity becoming immechately repayable These covenants specfy maximum net debt to EBITDA and minimum
EBITDA to net interest payable
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28 Interest-bearing borrowings continued
The following table sets out the carrying amount, by matunty, of the Group’s interest-beanng bomowings and deposits

140434
QIOHIALVHLS

< 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 yoars 4-5Syears > 5yoars Totad ®
As at 31 December 2015 £m £m Em £m Em £m £m g 8
Fixed rate E g
Bank loans (1.9) (1.9) (3.5 (13) 02 - {8.8) % 2
Bonds - {352.3) - - (2312) - (5835 (™"
Finance leases {25.9) {40.4) (24.9) (17.2) (5.2 (7.5 {121.1)
Other debt payable {35) (0.1) {0.3) - - {61.8) {65.7)
Floating rate
Cash assets 604 - - - - - 604
Bank loans (38.5) - - - - - (36.5)
Finance leases 2.0) (1.6) {1.0) (0.8) {04} (0.7} {6.5) g z

>

<1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years > 5 years Total E §
As at 31 December 2014 £m £m £m £m £m £m fm e
Fixed rate
Bank loans 30 {05 - - - - (35
Bonds - - (353 0} - - (232 3) (585 3)
Finance loases 21 1) (19 8) {33 5) (185) (10 8} {15 (1052}
Other debt payable 12 ©1) 0 5) - - 657 (67 5)
Floating rate Zy
Cash assets 837 - - - - - 837 | 28
Bank loans 04 - @ 1) - - - 17 §§
Finance loases (18) {12 ©9 {04) 04 {0 6) 53 g B

29 Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial risk factors and management

The Group's multinational operations and debt levels expose 1t to a vanety of financial nsks, of which the most matenal are market nsks
refating to fuel pnces, foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and the availability of funding at reasonable margins The Group
has in place a nsk management programme that seaks to manage the mpact of these nsks on the financial performance of the Group
by using financial iInstruments including borrowings, committed facities and forward foreign exchange, fuel and interest rate dervatives

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility for implementing the financial nsk management policies laid down by the Board
to the Group Finance Director and the Group Treasurer The policies are implemented by the Group Treasury department with regular
reporting to the Group Finance Director and the Audit Committee on its actvties
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29 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued

Foreign currency

The Group has majer foreign operations in the US, Canada and Spain and as a result 1$ exposed to the movements in forergn currency
exchange rates on the translation of these foreign curency denominated net assets and earnings These movements can have a
significant impact on the Group's reported results The Group seeks to managse this foreign curency exchange movements nsk by
aligning its foreign currency dencminated labiliies with the EBIT generated i each currency, such that some protection 1s afforded

to the net debt EBITDA covenant within the Group's core borrowing facility This 1s achieved by a combination of foreign currency
borrowings and finance leases, and entenng into dervative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and foreign exchange
swaps At the year end, the Group had outstanding foreign exchange denvatives of €125 1m, US$14 5m, CAD336 Om and CZK13 7m,
swaps of US$190 Om and €166 8m, and finance leases of US$159 8m and €17 2m

Dervative financial instruments are designated as net investment hedges of foreign currency assets The effective portion of the gain or
loss on the hedge 1s recognised In the Group Statement of Comprehensive income and recycled to the Income Statement at the same
time as the underlying hedged net assets affect the Income Staterment Any matenal iIneffectiveness 1s taken to the Income Statement

The table below demonstrates the sensitvity of the Group's financial instruments to a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates, with all other vanables held constant This would affect the Group's profit before tax and translation reserve The effect on the
translation reserva reprasents the movement in the translated value of the foreign currency denominated loans and change in far value
of cross-currency swap contracts These movements would be offset by an opposite movemant in the translated value of the Group's
overseas net nvestments It s estimated that a 10% change in the comresponding exchange rates would result in an exchange gan or
loss in the translation reserve of £10 8m

2015 2014

Effect Effect on Effoct Effect on

Strengthenng/ on profit translation on profit translation

{weakening) before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December 2015 n Currency £m fm £m £m
US dollar 10% 0.1 3.0 - 02
Euro 10% - 7.6 - 77
Canadian dollar 10% - 0.2 03 o1
US dollar (101% {0.1) (3.9) - 02
Euro (101% - (7.6) - 77
Canadian dollar (10% - 0.2) 03 o1

Interest rate nsk

The Group I1s exposed to movements in nterest rates on both interest-beanng assets and labibties It 1s the Group's policy to mantain
an appropnate balance between fixed and floating interest rates on borrowings in order to provide a level of certanty 1o interest
expense in the short term and to reduce the year-on-year impact of interest rate fluctuations over the medium term To achieve the
desrred fixed/floating ratio, the Group has entered into a senes of interest rate swaps that have the effect of converting fixed rate debt
to flvating rate debt The net effect of these transactions was that as at 31 December 2015 the proportion of Group net debt at floating
rates was 34% (2014 28%)

The following table demanstratas the sensitivity of the Group’s financial Instruments 10 a reasonably possible change in interest rates,
with all other vanables held constant, on the Group’s profit before tax and on the Group's hedging reserve

The sensitvity analysis covers all floating rate financial instruments, including the interest rate swaps If the interest rates applicable

to floating rate Instruments denominated in Sterling were increased by 100bps, it 1s estmated that the Group's profit before taxation
would decrease by approximately £1 8m I the interest rates applicable to floating rate instruments denominated in US$ ware increased
by 50bps, it 1s estimated that the Group's profit before taxation would increase by £0 1m if the interest rates applicable to fioating rate
instruments denominated in Euro wera increased by 75bps, It 1s estimated that the Group’s profit before taxation would reduce by

£0 3m The analysts assumes that the amount and mix of floating rate debt, iIncluding finance leases, remains unchanged from that

in place at 31 December 2015
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29 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continued
Interest rate nsk continued

2015 2014

Increase/ Effect Effect on Effect Effect on

(decrease) on profit hedging on profit hedging

In basis before tax reserve before tax reserne

As at 31 December ponts £m £m £m £m
Sterling 100 (1.8) - (14) -
US dollar 50 0.1 - - -
Euro 75 {0.3) - 04 -
Sterling (100} 1.8 - 14 -
US dollar {50} {0.1) - - -
Euro {75} 03 - 04 -
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Commeodrity prices

The Group Is exposed to movements In commodity prices as a result of its fuel usage It 1s the Group’s policy to hedge this exposure in
order to provide a level of certainty as to its cost in the short term and to reduce the year-on-year impact of price fluctuations over the
medium term This 1s achieved by entenng into fuel denvatives At 31 December 2015, the Group had hedged approximately 100% of
its 2016 expected usage, 34% of its expected usage in 2017 and 42% of its expected usage in 2018 (see the Group Finance Director's
review for further details)

The table below demonstrates the effect of a reasonably possible vanation n fuel pnces, with all other vanables held constant, on the
fair value of the Group's financial instruments and accordingly on the Group's profit before tax and on the Group's hedging reserve

The sensitvity analysis includes all fuel denvatives The effect on the hedging reserve anses through moverments on the far value of the
Group’s fuel denvatives For these denvative contracts the sensitivity of the net fair value to an immediate 20% increase or decrease
in all pnces would have been £22 1m at 31 December 2015 The figure doss not include any correspending econcmic advantage or
disadvantage that would anse from the natural business exposure which would be expected to offset the gan or loss on the denvatives

2015 2014

Effect Effect on Effect Effect on

Increase/ oh profit hedging on profit hedging

{decrease) before tax reserve before tax reserve

As at 31 December n price £m Em Em 'm
Sterling dencminated ULSD 20% - 7.9 - 141
US dollar denominated heating ol/diesel 20% - 54 - 96
Euro denominated ULSD 20% - 8.8 - 152

Stertng denominated ULSD {201% - 7.9 - (14 1)

US dollar denominated heating ol/diesel {201% - {5.4) - ©6)

Euro denominated ULSD (20)% - {8.8) - (152

Credit sk

The maximum credit nsk exposure of the Group I1s the gross carrying value of each of its financial assets This risk s mitigated by a
number of factors Many of the Group's principal customers, supphers and financial institutions with which it conducts business are
public (or quasi-public) bodies, both national (OfT Rail and Network Rail in the UK) and local (school boards in North Amernica, municipal
authonties n Spain and Morocco, Transport for London and Centro in the UK, and regional autharities in Germany) The Group doss
not consider these counterparties to pose a sigrficant credit nsk Outside of this, the Group does not consider 1t has significant
concentrations of credit nsk The Group has mplemented policies that require appropriate credit checks on potential customers
before sales commence

The only elements of the Group’s financial assets which are not imparred but are past dus are certan trade recevable tems An ageing
of the assets which are past due 1s Included in the following table In terms of trade recevables that are neither impaired nor past due,
there are no indicahons as at the year end reporting date that the debtors will not meet therr payment obligations {see Risk and nsk
management secton for detals of how management manages this process}
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

29 Financial nsk management objectives and policies continuad
Credit nsk continued

Of which :

nether Of which not impared and past due in the fallowing penods |

Carryng mpared Less than Between Between .

amount nor past dua 30days 30and 60days 61and 90 days  Over 90 days !

£m £m £m £m £m £m |
Trade receivables at 31 December 2015 1323 1.9 154 7.7 4.1 13.2
Trade recevables at 31 December 2014 1056 793 112 47 25 79

Liquidity nsk

The Group's hquidity nsk 1s managed centrally by the Group Treasury department with operating units forecasting their cash
requrements The Group actively maintans a mixture of long-term and medium-term committed facilities that are designed to ensure
the Group has sufficient available funds to meet current and forecast funding requirements In managing the lguidity nsk, the Group has
access to a range of funding sources through the banking and capital markets in November 2015, the Group extended its committed
unsecurad revolving bank facility by one year to November 2020 The facility size remains unchanged at £416m with one further one-
year extension option subject to approval by the lenders At 31 December 2015, there was €50m (2014 €nil) drawn on the facility

In January 2016, the Group entered into additicnal commutted unsecured revolving credit facilities totaling £450m The new facilities
include a £350m bridge facility to provide the Group with an appropnate level of hquidity prior to refinancing the Group's £350m 2017
bond, and a £100m facilty to be used for general corporate purposes Both facilities are for 18 months with three six-ronth extension
opticns At 31 December 2015, the Group had committed bank borrowing and finance lease facilities of £506 8m (2014 £526 5m}

The table below summanses the matunty profile of the Group's financial labilties at 31 December 2015 based on the contractual |
undiscounted cash flows including interest cash flows As such, the amounts in this table will not agree to the carrying amounts |
disclosed in the Balance Sheet or other notes The table includes cash flows associated with denvative hedging instruments Their ‘
amounis reflect the matunty profile of the far value hability where the instrument will be settled net, and the gross settlement amount ‘
where the pay leg of a denvative will be settled separately to the receve leg }

|

Less than More than
On demand 1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
Year ended 31 Decernber 2015 £m £m Em £m £m
Bank loans - 384 69 - 453
Bonds - 36.8 656.5 - 683.3 ‘
Finance lease oblgations - 321 116.7 10.8 159.6 |
Other debt payable - 50 1.0 644 804
Trade and other payables - 499.1 125 - 511.6
- 6114 803.6 752 1,490.2
Foreign exchange dervatives - (0.6} - - (0.6)
Interest rate dervatves - (5.7} (16.6) {0.4) {22.7)
Fuel denvatves - 4.7 40.7 - 824
- 354 241 {04) 59.1
Less than More than
On demand 1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
Year ended 31 Decermnber 2014 £m £m £m £m £m
Bank loans - 59 28 - 87
Bonds - 368 4534 2399 7301 .
Finance lease obligations - 264 838 20 1222
Other debt payable - 29 111 717 857
Trade and other payables - 41486 07 - 4153 .
- 486 6 5618 3136 1,362 0
Foreagn exchange denvatives - 09 - - 09
Interest rate denvatives - (58) (16 3) 50 {27 1)
Fuel denvatves - 334 376 - 710
- 267 213 B0 430
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29 Financial nsk management ocbjectives and policies continued

Capital nsk management

The Group seeks to adopt efficient financing structures that enable it to use its Balance Sheet strength to achieve the Group's
obyectives without putting shareholder value at nsk The Group’s capital structure comprises its equity (refer to the Group Statement
of Changes in Equity} and its net debt (refer to note 36)

The mncrease in the Group’s net debt from £664 3m to £745 5m {excluding accrued interest) 1s explanad in the Group Finance
Director's review Information about the financial covenants in relation to the Group's borrowing faciliies 1s ncluded in note 28

AONVYNHIAOD
31YHO0d440D

30 Financial instruments {including cash, trade receivables and payables)

Fair values
The table below illustrates the farr values of all financial assets and lkabilities held by the Group at 31 December 2015

Loans and recevables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed or determiable payments that are not quoted in an active market They
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and the camying value in all cases approximates to the far value

Avallable-for-sale investments are non-denvative assets that are arther designated as available for sale, or are not classified as loans and
recevables or held to matunty investments The Group's avalable-for-sale investments have no active market, and in the absence of
any other reliable external information are camed at cost or amortised cost which approximates to the fair value

I
z
>
=
o
»
>

The far value of dervatives 1s either determined by the third party financial institution with which the Group holds the instrument, in line
with the market value of similar financial instruments or by use of vatuation techniques using markst data Denvatives, other than those
designated as effective hedging instruments, are classified as far value through profit or loss and are carried on the Balance Shest at
therr farr value with gains or losses recognised in the Income Statement Denvatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge are carned on the Balance Sheet at ther far value For cash flow hedges and hedges of net investments in foreign operations,
the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised directly in Other Comprehensive Income, while the
ineffective portion 1s recognised in the Income Statement Amounts taken to Other Comprehensive Income are transferred to the
lncome Statement when the hedged transacton affects profit or loss or when the foreign operation 1s sold or parhally disposed

For farr value hedges, all gains or losses are recognised in the Income Statement

w
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Denvatives are the only instrument which the Group holds at farr value The far value measurement of these instruments I1s categonsed
within Level 2 {ie the farr values are denved based on observable market tnputs) The Group has no financtal instruments with fair values
that are determined by reference to significant unobservable inputs, 19 those that would be classified as Level 3 in the far value
herarchy, nor hava there been any transfers of assets or llabilities between levels of the far value hisrarchy There are no non-recurmng
farr value movements

NCHLYWHOINI
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The Group's bonds are held at a hybrid amortised cost with a farr valus adjustment  After iniial recognition at farr value, the bonds are
measured at amortised cost using the effective Interest rate method A portion of the bonds are designated as the hedged item in an
effective far value hedging relationship As such, the cammying value of this portion Is adjusted for changes in farr value attnbutable to the
nsk being hedged This net camrying value will differ to the farr value depending on movements in the Group's credit nsk, movements in
Interest rates on the un-hedged portion and unamertised fees

All other liabilities, including finance leases, bank loans, trade and other payables and other debt payable, are held at amortised cost
After initial fair value recognition, these instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method
The carrying value of these liabilities approximates to the far value
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30 Financial instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables} continued

Fair values continued

Liabilities
Available- Denvatives measured at At fair value
Loans and for-sale used for amortised through
Classification of financial instruments recevables assets hedging cost  profit orloss Total
As at 31 December 2015 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Investments - 65 - - - 6.5
Foreign exchange denvatives - - 24 - - 24
Interest rate dervatives - - 222 - - 22
Cash and cash equwvalents 60.4 - - - - 60.4
Trade and other recevables 192.2 - - - - 192.2
252.6 6.5 24.6 - - 283.7
Liabihtes
Bank loans - - - {45.3} - {45.3)
Bonds including accrued nterest - - - (612.8) - (612.8)
Finance leasa obligations - - - {127.6) - {127 6}
Other debt payable - - - {65.7) - (65.7)
Fuel denvatives - - (83.8) - - (83.8)
Foreign exchange denvatves - - {1.8) - - {1.8}
Trade and other payables - - - {511.6) - {511.6)
- - (85.6) (1,363.0) - (1,448.6)
Available- Denvatives Lsabibties At far value
Loans and for-sale used for measured at through
Classification of financial nstuments recenablos assets hedgng amortsed cost profit or loss Total
As at 31 Decamber 2014 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Assets
Investments - 68 - - - 68
Foresign exchange dervatives - - 15 - - 15
Interest rate denvatives - - 265 - - 285
Cash and cash equivalents 837 - - - - 837
Trade and other receivables 1652 - - - - 1652
2489 68 280 - - 2837
Liabilihes
Bank loans - - - (52) - 59
Bonds including accrued interest - - - 614 5} - (614 5
Finance lease obligations - - - (110 5) - {110 5)
Other debt payable - - - {67 5) - (67 5)
Fuel demvatives - - 113 - - (73
Foreign exchange denvatives - - 06 - - {086
Trade and other payables - - - 4153) - {415 3)
- - {719 (1,2130) - {1.284 9)

Other recevables and other payables are to be settled in cash in the currency they are held n

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement, the Group has rewiewed all contracts for embedded

dervatives that are required to be separately accounted for No embedded dernivatives have been identified
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30 Financial instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

Fair values continued

The Group assesses at each year end reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 15 impared In the financial
year 2015 thers was no objective evidence that would have necessitated the impaiment of foans and recewvables or avalable-for-sale
assets except the provision for impairment of receivables (see note 21)

Hedging activities

The Group uses dervative financial Instruments to manage exposures to market nsk, such as movements in foreign exchange rates,
fuel pnces and interest rates Such denvative financial instruments are initially recognised at far value and are subseguently remeasured
at fair value In line with IAS 39 the Group classifies hedges as (a) farr value hedges used to hedge exposure to changes in the far value
of a recognised asset or liability, (b} cash flow hedges used to hedge exposure to variabiity in cash flows associated with a recognised
asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction, and {c) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

In 2015 the Group apphed cash flow hedge accounting for hedging floating fuel pnce nsks in highly probable forecast purchase
transactions and for hedging net investments in US dollar and Euro foreign operations The Group applied fair value hedge accounting
for the farr value interest rate nsk on £200m of the Group's fixed rate bonds and €78 5m Private Placement

The movement on denvative financial Instruments ts detaled below
Foreign
exchange
Interest rate forward
swaps contracts Fuel swaps Total
£m £m £m £m
Net asset/fiabilty} at 1 January 2015 285 0.9 {71.3) {43.9)
Transfers to the Income Statement on cash flow hedges - - 38.8 38.8
Cash settlements - 8.6 - 86
Revaluation through Income Staternent {4.3) - - 4.3)
Revaluation through Cther Comprehensive Income - - 51.1) (51 1}
Exchange differences - 8.9) - (8.9}
Net asset/{liability} at 31 December 2015 222 0.6 {83.8) {61.0)
Foreign
exchange
Interest rate forward
swaps contracts Fue! swaps Total
£m £m £m £m
Net asset/fiability) at 1 January 2014 171 18 08 181
Transfers to the Income Statement on cash flow hedges - - 98 98
Cash accrual on 25 - (26)
Revaluation through income Staterment 95 - - ab
Ravaluaton through Other Comprehensive Income - - (80 3) (803)
Exchange differences - 16 - 16
Net asset/(liability) at 31 December 2014 265 09 713 (438)
The movement on the hedging reserve 1s detaled below
2015 2014
£m £m
At 1 January (52.3) 21
Transferred to Income Statement 36.1 123
Revaluation through Other Comprehensive Income (51.1) (803
Exchange differences (14) -
Tax on revaluation 1.2 136
At 31 December (87.5) (52 3)
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

30 Financial instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

Hedge of net investments in foreign entities

The Group uses foraign currency borrowings and dervative financial nstruments to hedge the net investment in matenal foreign
currency net assets of the Group which are used to reduce the exposure to foreign exchange rate movements At 31 December 2015,
the Group had designated €166 8m of synthetic debt in the form of foreign exchange dervatives and €78 5m Private Placement as net
investment hedges of the net assets of its Spanish subsidianes  Simdarly, $190m of synthetic debt in the form of foreign exchange
dervatives were designated as a hedge of the net assets of the Group's US subsidianes No ineffectiveness was recognised in relation
to these hedges

Fuel denvatives

The Group has a number of fuel dervatives in place to hedge the different types of fuel used In each dvision Ultra low sulphur diesel
15 used in the UK Bus, UK Coach and Spain and Morocce dvsions and is hedged by swaps in the same type of fuel Diesel used in
the North Amenca division 1s hedged using the diesel market The timing of the swap cash flows match undertying fuel purchases
from 2015 through to 2017

During the year £51 1m of far value losses (2014 £80 3m losses) have been transferred to the hedging reserve due to movements
in market fuel pnces A farr value loss of £38 6m (2014 £9 8m loss) has been transferred from the hedging reserve to the Income
Statement following settlement of fuel trades, of which £31 2m was recognised in the hedging reserve at 1 January 2015 and the
remaincder was generated dunng the year due to the movement in market fuel prices in addition, a gain of £2 5m was recognised
in the Income Staterment in relation to hedge ineffectiveness (2014 £2 5m loss}

Fuel dervatives can be analysed as follows
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2015 2014 2015 2014
Fair value Far value Volume Volumne
£m £m million Itres million lires

Hedge fuel denvatives
Stering denominated — UK Bus and UK Coach {18.0) (14 4) 80.0 860
US dollar denominated -~ North Amenca {13.1) 87 50.7 549
Euro denominated — Span and Morocco {13.1) (12 1) 880 895
Fuel demvatives iIncluded in current assets/flabilities) {44.2} {352} 218.7 2304
Stering denominated = UK Bus and UK Coach (130} {139} 890 1360
US dollar denominated — North Amenca {10.5) {101} 60.9 935
Euro denominated — Span and Morocco (16 1} (12 1} 111.2 1705
Fuel denvatives included in non-current assets/liabiities) (39.6} (36 1) 261.1 4000
Total hedge fuel denvatives (83.8) 713) 4198 6304
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30 Financial instruments (including cash, trade receivables and payables) continued

Interest rate swaps at fair value through profit or loss

In July 2010 the Group entered intc four £50m denominated interest rate swaps on a total of £200m of the Group's Sterting bonds
These interest rate swaps all pay floating interest {LIBOR + a margin) semi-annually, receve fixed interest annually with matunties
matching the Group's Sterling bonds (two swaps with total notional value of £100m mature in January 2017, two swaps with notional
value of £100m mature in June 2020) and are designated as a far value hedge of the interest rate nsk on £200m of these bonds These
swaps are measured at farr value through profit or loss, with any gains or losses being taken immediately to the Income Statement

to offset any farr value gains or losses due to changes in the nsk fres interest rate on the swapped portion of the bonds As at

31 December 2015 a total far value loss of £3 6m was recognised in the Income Statement in relation to these swaps This is offset
by a far value gan of £3 2m on the underlying hedged tern, i this case changes in far value on the £200m of the Group's bonds
due to changes in the nsk free interest rate

In September 2012, the Group entered into two €39 25m denominated interest rate swaps egual in value to the Euro Pnvate
Placement These interest rate swaps all pay flioatng mterest (EURIBOR + a margn) semi-annually, receive fixed interest annually
with maturties matching the Eure Prvate Placement and are designated as a far value hedge of the interest rate nsk on the Pnvate
Piacement These swaps are measured at far value through profit and loss, with any gains or losses being taken immediately to the
Income Staternent to offset any farr value gains or losses due to changes in the risk free rate on the Euro Private Placement As at
31 December 2015 a total far value loss of £0 7m was recogmised in the Income Statement in relation to these swaps This 15 offsat
by a far value gain of £0 7m on the underiying hedged item, in this case changes in farr value of the Euro Private Placement due to
changes in the nsk free interest rate

31 Called-up share capital

2015 2014
£m £m
At 31 December
Authonsed
800,000,000 (2014 800,000,000) ordinary shares of 5p each 40.0 400
issued called-up and fully pad
511,738,648 (2014 511,738,648) ordinary shares of 5p each 256 256

The total number of share options exercised in the year by employees of the Group was 824,029 (2014 972,868) of which 797,801
(2014 882,000) exercises were satisfied by transfernng shares from the National Express Employee Benefit Trust The remaining
exercises were settled wia a direct purchase of shares from the gpen market

Own shares

Owmn shares compnses 2,495,467 (2014 553,268} ordinary shares in the Company that have been purchased by the trustees of
the National Express Employese Benefit Trust (the ‘Trust’) Dunng the year, the Trust purchased 2,740,000 (2014 1,033,000) shares
and 797,801 (2014 882,000} shares were used to satisfy options granted under a number of the Company's share schemes

NIl {2014 24,362) shares were sold dunng the year to the open market

The market value of the shares held by the Trust at 31 December 2015 was £8 3m (2014 £1 4m) The dividends payable cn 2,418,824
of these shares have been waved (2014 418,670}
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

32 Other reserves

Merger Hedging Transtation
reserve reserve reserve Totad
£m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2015 15.4 {52.3) 4.1 {32.8)
Hedge movements, net of tax - {15.2) - {15.2)
Exchange differences, net of tax - - (32.1) {32.1)
At 31 December 2015 154 (67.5) (28.0} {80.1}
Merger Hadgng Translation
reserve resero reserve Total
m £m gy} £m
At 1 January 2014 154 21 290 465
Hedge movements, net of tax - {54 4) - (54 4)
Exchange differences, net of tax - - (24 9) (24 9)
At 31 December 2014 154 (52 3) 41 {32 8)

The nature and purpose of the other reserves are as follows

» the merger reserve includes the premum on shares issued to satisfy the purchase of Pnsm Ral PLC in 2000,

 the hedging reserve records the movements on designated hedging iterns, offset by any movements recognised in equity

on underlying hedged items, and

« the translation reserve records exchange differences ansing from the translation of the accounts of forexgn currency denominated

subsidiaries offset by the movermnents on loans and denvatives used to hedge the net nvestment in foreign subsidhanes

33 Pensions and other post-employment benefits
{a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions

The UK Bus division and National Express Group PLC ({the ‘Company’) operate defined benefit schemes The Company defined benefit
scheme also includes certain employees of the UK Coach division in addition, a defined contrbution scheme operates for staff in the

UK Bus and UK Coach divisions and the Company

The majonty of ernployess of the Rail companies are members of the appropnate shared cost section of the Railways Pension Scheme

(‘RPS’), a funded defined benefit scheme

The assets of the defined benefit schemes are held separately fromn those of the Group and contnbutions to the schemes are

determined by Independant professionally qualfied actuanes

Subsidianes in North Amenca contnbute to a number of defined contribution plans The Group also prowides certan additional unfunded

post-employment benefits to employees in North America and Spamn, which are disclosed in section (¢} in the ‘Other’ category

The defined benefit pension schemes typically expose the Group to actuarial nsks such as investment nisk, interest rate nsk, longewvity

nsk and salary nsk

The Company plan 1s now closed to all future accrual A funding plan amed at bringing the plan to self-sufficiency over a six-year
penod was agreed in 2010, The Company contnbutes £4 2m annually to this scheme In 2011 UK Bus agreed a £5 Sm annual

deficit repayment plan with the trustees of the West Midlands Integrated Transport Authonty Pension Fund to fund a £71m scheme
funding deficit over 12 years The plan remains open to accrual for existing members onty

The total pension cost charged to operating profit in the year was £11 3m (2014 £9 9m), of which £3 9m (2014 £3 7m) refates to the

defined contnbution schemes
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33 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
(a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions continued
The defined benefit pension (lability)/asset included in the Balance Sheet 1s as follows

2015 2014

£m £m

UK Bus (60.4) (50 6)
Rail 14.8 100
Comparty 349 306
Other (1.9 19
Total (12.6) (119)

The valuations conducted for financial reporting purposes are based on the tnennial actuanal valuations A summary of the latest

tnennial actuanal valuations, and assumptions made, s as follows

UK Bus Rail Company

Travel West

Tayside Mdlands
31 March 31 March 31 December 5 Apnl
Date of actuanal vakuation 2014 2013 2013 2013
Actuanal method used Attaned age™ Attaned age® Projected unit  Projected unit
Rate of Investment retums per annum 34%-59% 35%55% 50%73% 41%
Increase In eamings per annum 4 6% 26% 42% %
Scheme assets taken at market value £54 2m £448 9m £82 4m £77 3m
Funding level 100% 84%  84%-100% 82%

Amounts includad in the Income Statement  Other Comprehensve Income and the Balance Sheet are calcutated using the projected unit method

The most recent tnennial valuations are then updated by independent professionally qualified actuanes for financial reporting purposes,
In accordance with IAS 19 The man actuanal assumptions underlying the IAS 19 valuations are

2015 2014

UK Bus Rait Company UK Bus Rail Company
Rate of ncrease in salanes 2.5% 2.6% 2.5% 25% 24% 2 5%
Rate of increase of pensions 21% 21% 3.1% 19% 19% 29%
Discount rate 3.9% 3.9% 3.9% 36% 36% 36%
Inflation assumpton (RPI) 3.1% 3.1% 31% 29% 29% 29%
Inflation assumption (CPI) 21% 21% 21% 19% 18% 19%
Post-retirement mortality in years
Current pensioners at 65 — male 213 244 212 2472
Current pensioners at 65 — male, pension under
£10,300 pa or pensicnable pay under £35,000 pa 210 209
Current pensioners at 65 — male - others 234 232
Curment pensioners at 65 - female 241 269 240 267
Current pensioners at 65 - female, pension under
£3,700 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 28 27
Current pensioners at 65 — female — others 246 245
Future pensioners at 65 - male 227 262 226 260
Future pensionegrs at 65 — male, pension under
£10,300 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 233 232
Future pensioners at 65 - male - others 257 255
Future pensioners at 65 - female 256 289 255 287
Future pensioners at 65 — female, pension under
£3,700 pa or pensionable pay under £35,000 pa 252 251
Future pensioners at 65 - female - others 270 268
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

33 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

(a) Summary of pension benefits and assumptions continued

The demographic assumptions reflect those adopted in the most recent tnennial actuarial valuation For the Rall scheme, mortality
assumptions have been set by reference to the recent expenence of the scheme Mortality 1s assumad to improve i the future in ine
with the ‘core projection’ model published by the actuanal profession’s Continuous Mortality Investigation, incorperating a long-term
improvement rate of 1 5% pa

The Directors regard the assumption around the discount rate to be the key assumption in the 1AS 19 valuation, and the following table
provides an approximate sensitmity analysis of the impact of a 0 1% change in the discount rate assumption

UK Bus Rad Company

£m £m £m

Defined benefit pension fiabiity)/asset at 31 December 2015 (60.4) 148 349
Effect of a 0 1% increase in the discount rate 7.4 0.5 16
Cumrent senvice cost for the year ended 31 December 2015 (3.6) (2.9) -
Effect of a 0 1% increase in the discount rate 0.1 - -

Scheme assets are stated at therr market values at the respective Balance Sheet dates The expected rate of retum on scheme assets
15 determined based on market returns on each category of scheme assets

(b} Accounting for the Railways Pension Scheme

The mayority of employees of the Rail comparues in the UK are members of the appropnate section of the RPS, a funded defined benefit
scheme Tha RPS s a shared cost scheme, which means that costs are formally shared 60% employer and 40% employee To date,
the Group has expenenced 11 changes of Rall franchise ownership where the current owner has funded the scheme dunng the
franchise term and the pension deficit at franchise exit has transferred to the new owner, without cash settlement By entenng into the
franchise contract, the TOC becomes the designated employer for the term of the contract and under the rules of the RPS must fund its
share of the pension liability in accordance with the schedule of contributions agreed with the scheme trustees and actuaries

In determining the appropnate accounting policy for the RPS to ensure that the Group’s accounts present farly its financial position,
financial performance and cash flows, management has consulted with TOC industry peers and has concluded that the Group's
constructive obhigations should be accounted for in accordance with IAS 19 This accounting policy, which in all other respects is
consistent with that set out In this note for the Group's other defined benefit schemes, means that the Group's accounts reflect that
element of the deficits anticipated to be settled by the Group duning the franchise term and will prevent gains ansing on transfer of the
existing RPS deficits to a new owner at franchise exit

In caleulating the Group's constructive obligations in respect of the RPS, the Group has calculated the total pension deficits in each of
the RPS sections in accordance with IAS 18 and the assurmptions set out above These deficits are reduced by a ‘franchise adjustment’
which 1s that portion of the deficit projected to exist at the end of the franchise and which the Group will not be required to fund The
franchise adjustment, which has been calculated by the Group’s actuanes, is offset against the present value of the RPS labiities so as
to farly present the financial performance, position and cash flows of the Group’s obligations

The franchise adjustment increased from £30 8m at 31 December 2014 to £35 6m at 31 December 2015 The pnncipal reasons for the
movement werg increased interest and administrative expenses, partly offset by a reduction in actuanal movements In the prior year,
the franctise adjustment increased from £15 5m at 31 December 2013 to £30 8m at 31 December 2014 The principal reason for the
movement was the renewal of the Essex Thameside franchise {previously c2¢} that increased the franchise adjustment by £10 7m
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33 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued

{c) Financial results for pension benefits

The amounts charged to the Group Income Statement and Group Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended

31 December 2015 and 2014 are set out in the followng tables

UK Bus Rail Company Other Total
2015 2018 2015 2015 205
Group Income Statement fm £m £m fm m
Amounts {chargedy/credited
Current service cost (3.6) 29 - 03 (6.8)
Net interest (expensa)income 1.0 {0.7} 1.2 - (1.2}
Interest on franchise adustment - 11 - - 11
Total {charge)/credit to Income Staterment {5.3) (2.5) 1.2 (0.3) 6.9}

During the year £0 6m (2014 £0 6m) of administrative expenses were Incurred

The net interast expense together with the nterast on franchise adjustment has been mcluded within Finance Costs (see note 9)

UK Bus Rail Company Total
2015 2015 2015 2015
Group Statement of Comprehensme Income £m £m £m fm
Actuanal gain dunng the pencd from obligations 9.7 3.8 1.3 148
bxpected retum on plan assets greater/less than discount rate 79 1.1 (2.2) (8.0)
Change in asset celling (15.2) - - {15.2)
Net actuanal fosses)/gans (13.4) 4.9 (0.9} (9.4)
UK Bus Rad Company Other Total
2014 2014 2014 2014 2014
Group Income Statement Em £m £m £m £m
Amounts (chargedy/credited
Current service cost 383 24 - {0 5 62}
Curtalrnent 06 - - - 06
Net interest (expenss)income 7 ©7 o7 1) (18)
Interest on franchise adjustment - 07 - - 07
Total {charge)/credit to Income Statement 4 4} 24 07 06 67
UK Bus Rail Company Total
2014 2014 2014 2014
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income £m £m £m £m
Actuanal floss)/gan dunng the penod from cbligations 47 4) 76 (8 5} 483
Expected retum on plan assets greater/less than discount rate 327 31 226 584
Net actuanal fosses)/gans (147 107 141 01
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

33 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
{c) Financial results for pension benefits continued
The amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet at 31 December are

UK Bus Rall Company Other Total

2015 2015 2015 2015 2015

As at 31 Decemnber 2015 £m fm £m Em £m
Equites 107.6 88.3 - - 1959
Bonds 704 0.7 124.9 - 196.0
Property 48 - - - 48
Insurance pohcy 2280 - - - 2280
Dwersified growth fund 750 - - - 75.0
Other {1.6) 0.7 (19.8) - {20.7)
Farr value of scheme assets 484.2 89.7 105.1 - 679.0
Present value of scheme liabilties {529.4) (124.1) (70.2) (19 {725.6)
Franchise adjustment - 35.6 - - 356
Defined benefit oblkgaton {529.4) {88.5) {70.2) (1.8} {690.0)
Asset celing {15.2) - - - {15.2)
Members' share of deficit - 13.6 - - 138
Defined benefit pension (deficity'surplus (60.4) 14.8 349 {1.9) {12.6)
UK Bus Rail Company Other Total

2014 2014 2014 2014 2014

As at 31 December 2014 £m £m £m £m £m
Equities 1037 796 - - 1833
Bonds 657 44 123 ¢ - 1940
Property 43 - - - 43
Insurance policy 2417 - - - 2417
Dwersifiect growth fund 729 - - - 729
Cther 51 04 {22 1) — {16 6)
Farr value of scheme assets 493 4 844 101 8 - 6796
Present vatue of scheme liabiktes (544 Q) {118 5) {712 19 (735 6)
Franchise adjustment - 308 - — 308
Defined benefit obligation (544 Q) (877} 712 (19) (704 8)
Members' share of deficit — 133 - - 133
Defined benefit pension {deficty/surplus (50 6) 100 306 (19 (119

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation in the year 1s as stated below For Rail, the RPS s a shared cost
schermne, which means that costs are formally shared 60% employer and 40% employee

The Group’s defined benefit obligation compnses £688 1m (2014 £702 9m) (including the members’ share of the deficd) ansing from
plans that are wholly or partly funded and £1 9m (2014 £1 9m) from unfunded plans

UK Bus Rail Company Other Totat

£m £m fm £m £m
Defined benefit cbligation at 1 January 2015 (544.0} {87.7) (71.2) {1.9) {704.8}
Current service cost {3.6} (2.9) - (0.3} (6.8}
Benefits pad 28.7 3.1 22 03 343
Contnbutions by employees {11} {1.6) - - 2.n
Finance charge {19.1) {2.5) {25) - {24.1}

Interest on franchise adustment - 1.1 - - 11
Members’ share of movement on Labilites - (18 - - {1.8)
Actuanal loss ansing from changes In financial assumptions 63 (0.4) 1.3 - 7.2
Actuanal gain ansing from changes in demographics 0.2 - - - 0.2
Actuanal loss ansing from expenence adustments 3.2 4.2 - - 74
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2015 {529.4) {88.5) (70.2) 19 (690.0)
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33 Penstons and other post-employment benefits continued

(c) Financial results for pension benefits continued

UK Bus Rail Company Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Defined benefit obligation at 1 January 2014 {497 2) {858) 6&20) {15) {646 5)
Current service cost B33 24 - 09 62
Curtailment 0B - - - 06
Benefits paid 267 25 21 02 315
Contributions by employees ah (15) - - e
Finance charge 223 28 28) 1) 28 0)
Interest on franchise adustment - 07 - - o7
Members' share of movement on labiites - ®0) - - {60)
Actuanal loss ansing from changes in financial assumptions {43 6) 43 85 - 47 8)
Actuanal gamn anging from changes in dernographics 07 02 - - a5
Actuanal loss ansng from expenence adjustments {4 5) 35 - - {10}
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2014 (544 0) 877 712 (19 {704 8)
The movement in the far value of scheme assets 1s as follows
UK Bus Rail Company Tatal
£m £m £m Em
Far value of schemas assets at 1 January 2015 493.4 844 101.8 6796
Expected retum on plan assets 174 18 3.7 229
Expected retum on plan assets greaterdess than discount rate {7.9) 11 22 (0.0}
Cash contnbubons — employer 9.1 28 4.2 159
Admiristrative expenses {0.2) {02) {0.2) {086)
Cash contnbutions — employee 1.1 1.6 - 27
Benefits pad (28.7} a1 (2.2) (34.0)
Members’ share of return on assels - 15 - 15
Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December 2015 484.2 89.7 105.1 679.0
UK Bus Rail Cempany Total
£m £m Em £m
Far value of scheme assets at 1 January 2014 456 4 750 746 8060
Expected returmn on plan assets 206 21 35 262
Expacted return on plan assets greater/less than discount rate 327 31 226 584
Cash contnbutions = employer 96 23 32 151
Administrative expenses 03 03 - [(o]3)]
Cash contnbutions — employee 11 15 - 26
Benefits pad (26 7) 29 24 313
Members' share of retum on assets - 32 - 32
Far value of scheme assets at 31 December 2014 4934 844 1018 6796
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

33 Pensions and other post-employment benefits continued
(c) Financial results for pension benefits continued
The Group expects to contnbute £13 8m to its defined benefit pension plans in 2016

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
History of experience gains and losses £m £m £'m £m £m
UK Bus
Far value of scheme assets 484.2 493 4 456 4 4480 4319
Present value of defined benefit obligation (529.4) {544 O) {497 2} (4809 (448 7)
Asset caeling {15.2) - - - -
Defiert In the scherme (60.4) (50 6) 408} (329) (16 8)
Expenence adustments ansing on habites 3.2 4 5) 2 9) 50 23 3)
Expenence adustments ansing on assets {7.9) 327 14 86 73
Rail
far value of scheme assets 89.7 844 750 671 3210
Present value of defined benefit obligation (88.5) 87 7) (85 8) 812 @63 7)
Members’ share of deficit 13.6 133 104 123 405
Surplus/(defictt) n the scheme 143 100 04 (18 22
Expenence adustments ansing on liabiltes 4.2 35 ©1) 27 B85
Expenence adjustrments ansing on assets 1.1 31 20 23] 134
Company
Far value of scheme assets 105.1 1018 746 731 879
Present value of defined benefit obhgation (702} (71 2) (62 Q) (56 5) {49 3)
Surplus In the scheme .9 306 126 166 186
Expenence adjustments ansing on labibes - - (38 - 01
Expenence adjustments ansing on assets (2.2) 226 28) 05 97
Other
Far value of scheme assets - - - - -
Present value of defined benefit abligation 19 (19 (15) (19 {14)
Deficit in the scheme (1.9) (19 (15 (12 (14

Expenence adjustments ansing on {iabiltes - - - — _

The cumulative amount of actuaral gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income since 1 January 2004

15 a £68 6m loss (2014 £59 2m loss) The Directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on
transition to IFRSs and taken directly to equity of £51 9m 1s attnbutable to actuanal gains and losses since inception of those pension
schemes Consequently the Directors are unable to determine the amount of actuanal gains and losses that would have been
recognised In the Statement of Comprehensive Income before 1 January 2004
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34 Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments
The Group's total operating lease commitments are as follows

2015 2014 §3
£m tm (@3
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases ; g
Within one year Land and buidings 208 206 | |8
Plant and eguipment 505 423
7.3 629
After one year but not more than five years Land and buldings 543 555
Plant and equipment 1910 1390
2453 1945
More than five years Land and buldings 84.6 1028 |
Plant and equipment 475.2 2432 | R
550.8 w60 [
876.4 6034 A

Rail lease commitments
Rail dwsion companies have contracts with various bodies for access to the raitway infrastructure {tracks, stations and depots) They
also have contracts under which roling stock 1s leased The table below reflects the commitments up to the current franchise end dates

{or the end of the current contract) unless an extension or new franchise agreement has been signed The commitments are based on
charges adwvised by the rail regulators or on separate leasing agreernents with other counterpartes Commitments for future mintmum
rental payments under these contracts are shown below
Land and buldings Plant and equpment §| 3
2015 2014 2015 2014 ge
Rall division cormrritrments m £m fm £m ; g
Future minimum rentals payable under non-canceflable operating leases §'§
Within one year Fixed track access 4.0 40 - -
Rolling stock - - 345 2472
Other 16 17 - o1
5.6 57 us 243
After one year but not more than five years Fixed track access 158 158 - -
Rolling stock - - 153.3 969
Other 6.5 66 0.1 02
23 225 1534 971
Over five years Fixed track access 356 397 - -
Rolling stock - - 474.0 2422
Other 146 165 0.2 05
50.2 562 474.2 2427
78.1 844 662.1 364 1

Fixed track access agreements have an average remaining life of 14 Q years (2014 15 0 years) and other land and butldings have an
average duration of 14 0 years (2014 150 years) Rolling stock agreements have an average life of 11 7 years (2014 15 0 years) and
other plant and equipment 14 0 years {2014 12 7 years)
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

34 Commitments and contingencies continued
Other lease commritments

Qutside of the Raill dvision the Group has entered intc operating leases on certain properties, public service vehicles and vanous items
of plant and equipment Commitments for future minimum rental payments under non-cancellable operating leases are shown below

Land and buildngs Public service vehicles Other

2ns 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Other dvsions’ commitiments £m £m £m £m £m £m
Within cne year 15.2 149 143 179 17 01
After one year but not more than five years 320 330 339 17 37 02
More than five years 344 466 1.0 05 - -
816 845 492 601 54 03

The average remaining life of operating lease commitments in the other dmisions 15 5 3 years {2014 6 7 years) for land and buldings,
3 4 years {2014 3 4 years) for public service vehicles and 3 2 years (2014 2 6 years) for other plant and equipment

Operating lease agreements where the Group is the lessor

The Group recenves rent on properties as follows

205 2014
£m £m

Future minimum rentals recevable under non-cancelable operating leases
Within one year 0.1 01
After one year but not more than five years 28 15
Over five years 28 24
57 40

The leases have an average unexpired duration of 6 4 years (2014 6 4 years)

Finance lease commitments

The Group has finance leases for public service vehicles and vanous items of plant and equipment These leases have terms of renewal
but no purchase options and escalation clauses Renewals are at the option of the spectfic entity that holds the lease

2015 2014

Minimum  Present value Minmum Present value

payments of payments payments of payments

£m fm £m £m

Within one year 30.9 279 255 229

After one year but not more than five years 855 915 895 856

More than five years 84 8.2 20 20

Total mimmum lease payments 1348 1276 1170 1105

Less future financing chargas {7.2) - 65 -

Present value of minimum lease payments 127.6 127.6 1105 1105
Capntal commitments

2015 2014

£m £m

Contracted 53.0 770

The Group 1s committed to vehicle purchases and vanous land and buildings improvements  The commitments include orders for

capital tems placed with suppliers for the Natonal Express Essex Thameside franchise within the Rail division
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34 Commitments and contingencies continued

Contingent habilities

Guarantees

The Group has guaranteed credit facilities totaling £36 4m (2014 £2 9m) of certain joint ventures

Bonds and letters of credit

In the ordinary course of business, the Group s required to issue counter-indemnities in support of its operabions As at 31 Decernber 2015
there were Rail performance bords of £63 3m (2014 £61 3m) and Rail season ticket bonds of £21 9m (2014 £21 6m) The Group has other
performance bonds which nclude performance bonds in respect of businesses In the US of £95 8m {2014 £114 5m) and in Spain of £66 1m
{2014 £32 1m) There are also bonds of £8 1m relating to operations in the Middle East (2014 £nil} Letters of credit have been issued to
support msurance retentions of £66 1m (2014 £65 7m)

Tax

Tax authonties in the markeats in which we operate (UK, Span, the US, Canada and Morocco) carry out tax audits from time to time
As was detatled in note 10(d) Tax provisions, a Sparush tax audit concluded dunng 2015 with a corporate income tax payment of
€2 7m made Differences of opinion between taxpayers and tax authonties generally anse due to the complexity of tax legislation
and also how that legislation 1s nterpreted Also, seemingly simple questions of whether capital expenditure qualifies for tax
depreciation can result in significant disputes with tax authorties

Dunng tax audits, the Group will defend its tax positions when challenged by tax authonties However, on certain occasions a
settlament to conclude a tax audit will ba made For each accounting penod, the Group makes an assessment to ensure that adequate
tax provisions are held to cover the resolution of any tax uncertainties The Drrectors are satisfied that, based on current knowledge,
adequate tax provisions are held to cover any tax uncertainties There are not any matenal contingent habilties relating to tax

35 Related party transactions

Amounts due from
Amount of transactions related partes  Amounts due to related partes
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Em £m £m £m fm £m

Joint Ventures
Spam joint ventura - - 0.2 - - -
Associates
Span associates 16 21 09 12 {0.8) 09
Trade investments
Spain trade Investments 3.8 39 03 04 {0.4) 04
Property transactions
North Amenca o8 04 - - - -
Spain 3.1 33 03 03 (0.1) 03
Total other related parties 7.7 76 06 o7 (05 o7
Total 8.3 97 1.7 19 13 (16

A number of Spanish companies have leased properties from companies related to the Cosmen family Jorge Cosmen 15 a Non-
Executive Director of the Group and was appointed as Deputy Chairman in October 2008 These lsases were In place before the
Group's acquisition of ALSA and are for appropnate market rates

The details of the post-employment benefit plans operated for the benefit of employees of the Group are disclosed in note 33

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

2015 2014
£Em fm
Total compensation pad to key management personnel (note 7) e Bc 39
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

36 Cash flow statement

The net cash inflows from operating activities include outflows of £10 Om (2014 £44 7m) from continuing operahons which are related

to exceptional costs incurred in 2014

{a} Reconciliation of Group profit before tax to cash generated from operations

2015 2014
Total cperations £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activibes
Profit before tax 124.4 665
Net finance costs 45.2 480
Share of post-tax results under the equity method (1.8} 03
Depreciaticn of property, plant and equipment 104.3 104 9
Intangible asset amortisation 257 286
Amortisation of fixed asset grants (0.6) o8
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment {2.3) a7
Share-based payments 3.2 31
Increase in nventones 0.7 {06
Increass in recevables (327 (26 9)
Increase in payables 34.8 268
Decrease In provisions (354) 24
Cash generated from operatons 264.1 2452
(b) Analysis of changes in net debt
At At
1 January Exchange Other 31 December
2015 Cash flow Acquisttons differences movements 2015
£m £m fm £m £m £m
Cash 363 20.1 34 (0.6) - 59,2
Overmight deposits 8.9 6.2 - - - 0.7
Other short-term deposits 40.5 (40.0) - - - 05
Cash and cash equivalents 83.7 (26.1) 34 {0.6) - 604
Other debt recevables o8 - - - - 0.8
Borrowings
Bank and other lcans 5.2) (42.3) - 28 0.6) {45.3)
Bonds (585.3) - - - 18 (583.5)
Far value of hedging denvatives 18.6 - - - (4.3} 143
Finance lease oblgations {110.5) 258 (34) {5.2) {34.3) {127.6)
Cther debt payable {66.4) (2.0) - 3.1 07 (64.6)
Total borrowings (748.8) {18.5) (3.4) 0.7 (36.7 {806.7)
Net debt* {664.3) {44.6) - 01 (36.7) (745.5)

* Bxcludas accrued intergst on long-term borrowings

Short-term deposits included within iquid resources relate to term deposits repayable within three months

Borrowings include non-current interest-beanng borrowings of £752 3m {2014 £741 8m) as disclosed in note 27

Other non-cash movements in net debt include finance lease additions of £34 3m (2014 £1 2m) and a £2 Om reducton in loan and
bond arrangement fees (2014 £2 3m) A £4 3m decrease to the far value of the hedging derivatives 1s offset by opposite movements

in the far value of the related hedged borrowings This comprises a £3 2m farr value movernent in bonds and a £0 7m far value

movement in other debt payable
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36 Cash flow statement continued
{b) Analysis of changes in net debt continued

140434
NDIALVYLS

i Jama?; Exchange GCther 31 Decemb':: [P
2014 Cash flow differences movements 2014 |26
£m £m £m £m £m ',E‘ﬁ
Cash 377 086 {08} - 363 E E
Ovemnight deposits - 69 - - 6o |mm
Other short-term deposits 32 373 - - 405
Cash and cash equnvalents 409 436 {8} - 837
Other debt recewvables 10 02 - - 08
Borrowings
Bank and other loans (19 3} 96 52 [(03rg] 52
Bonds {579 5} - - 58) (585 3) g -
Fair value of hedging denvatives g2 - - 94 186 é E
Finance lease cbligatons (132 9) 288 52 12 (1105 2
Other debt payable {65 5} 01 42 52 664 M
Total borrowings (788 0) 385 42 35 (748 8
Net debt” (746 1) 819 34 (3 5) (664 3)
* Excludes accrued interest on long-term borrowings
(c} Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt
2015 2014 _
£m £m = :U»
{Decrease)increass In cash and cash equivalents in the year (26.1) 436 § 2
Cash outflow from movement in other debt recevables - 02 52
Cash (outfiowyinflow from movement in debt and finance leases (18.5) ass | 2F
Change n net debt resulting from cash fiows (44.6) 819
Change in net debt resulting from non-cash movements (36.6) 1)
Maovernent in net debt in the year 81.2) 818
Opening net debt (664.3) (746 1)
Net debt {745.5) (664 3)

37 Post Balance Sheet events

In January 20186, the Group entered into committed unsecured revong credit facilities totaling £450m The new faciliies include a
£350m bndge facility to prowide the Group with an appropnate level of lquidity pnor to refinancing the Group’s £350m 2017 bond, and
a £100m faciity to be used for general corporate purposes Both faciliies are for 18 months with three six-month extension options

Further notes on the Group's factities are disclosed 1n note 28
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

38 Subsidiary undertakings

A full list of subsidianes, Joint ventures and companies in which National Express Group has a controling interest as at 31 December
201515 show below, along with the country of ncarporation and the effective percentage of equity ownad

% Equity % Equity
Name and couniry of ncorporation mntevest Narne ard country of ncorporation nterest
United Kingdom United Kingdom continued
Artinks Auport Services Linited 100 NX Serwices Linted 100
Artnks The Arport Coach Comparnty Limited 100 NY{EA Trans Lnted 100
Altram LRT Limited 100 NXEC Trans Limited 100
c2c Ral Limted 100 NXET Trans Linited 100
Central Trans Limited 100 NXSR Trans Limited 100
Eurobnes (UK Lmited 100 PTl Webstte Limited 20
Inter-Caprtal And Regional Rail Limited 40 Scotral Raways Limited 100
London Eastern Raiway Lmited 100 Siverlink Tran Senvices Limited 100
Maintran Limited 100 Speedink Airport Senaces Limited 100
Midland Main Line Limitad 100 Taybus Holdings Limited 100
Natonal Express East Angha Trans Limited 100 Tayside Public Transport Co Limited 100
National Express European Holdings Limited (05652775)" 100 The Kings Ferry Lmited 100
Natonal Express Finance Company Limited 100 The Natoral Exqress UK Pengion Schermne Trustees Limed 100
National Express Group Holdngs Lirmited (04339932} 100 Trave! Bmingham Limited 100
Mational Express Holdings Limited (02156473) 100 Travel Coventry Lnited 100
Mational Express Intermediate Holdings Lanitod 100 Traved Dundee Limnted 100
MNatonal Express Limited 100 Travel Merryhil Limited 100
National Express Manchester Metrobnk Limited 100 Travel West Midlands Lamited 100
National Express Netherands UK Limited 100 Travel WM Limited 100
Naborial Express North Amenca Haoldings Limited (07855182)° 100 Travel Yourbus Limited 100
Natonal Express Operations {Stansted) Limited 100 West Anglia Great Norihern Raibway Limited 100
Natonal Express Operations Lrmited 100 West Midlands Passenger Transport Limited 100
National Express Overseas Lunited 100 West Midlands Transport Information Senices mited 48
National Express Petermann UK Limited (07855188} 100 West Midlands Travet Lmited 100
Natonal Express Rall Replacement Limited 100 W Card Systems Limited 100
Natonal Express Services Limited 100 WM Property Holdngs Limited 100
Natonal Express Spanish Holdings Limited 100 WM Travel mited 100
National Express Trans Lrmnited 100 WM Ventures Limited 100
National Express Trams Regional Limited 100 WMT Leasng Lmited 100
National Express Transport Holdings Limited (04338163)" 100 Guemsey
National Express UK Limited 100 National Express Guarnsey Limited 100
NE Canada Limited (08596333)" 100 Bahrain
NE Durham UK Limited (08270480)* 100 Bahrain Public Transport Company WLL 50
NE Europe Fnance Limited 07876047y 100 Germany
NE No 1 Ltd 100 Deutsche Tourng GmbH 17
NE No.2 Lid 100 Nabonal Express Germany GmbH 100
NE Trains South Limited 100 National Express Holding GrmbH 100
NX Bahrain Bus Company Plc 100 Natonal Express Ral GmbH 100
NX Crassral Lmited 100 Nationa! Express Sudwest GmbH 100
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38 Subsidiary undertakings continued

% Equaty % Equaty
Name and country of ncorporation nterest Name and country of ncomoration nierost
Czech Republic Spain continued
National Express Cz Sro 100 Astibus, S.LU 100
Netherlands Autedia, S.A 100
Texan Partner BV 100 Autobuses Urbaros de Blbao SA, 75
Natonal Express Holdings LLC 8V 100 Autobuses Urbanos de Leén SAU 100
Andorra Autocares Castila-Ledn, SAU 100
Estackd d'Autobusos d'Andoma 100 Autocaraes Discrecionales del Norte, SL U 100
Transports Dels Pimmeus 100 Automdmiles Luarca SAL 100
France Autos Pelayo SAU 100
beroines 46 Buses de Palencia, S L 100
Morocco Bustunaidea Lea Artibal Bus, S.A 62
Alsa City Agadr SA. 100 Cetralsa Formacidn, S LU 100
Alsa City Sightseeng Maroc 100 Cla del Trarma Eléctnco de Aviles, S.A. 87
Alsa City Tour Sarl 85 Compaiiia Navarra de Autobuses, S.A. 50
Alsa Educaton a la Sécunté Routiére Sarl 98 Compostelana SAU 100
Alsa Khourbga Sa 100 Concesionano Estacidn Autobuses Logrofio, S.A 21
Alsa Tanger SA. 100 Continental-Comercial 21, SLU 100
Centre de Formation Techn Profes Transport Sarl a9 Danco, SA 50
Groupe Alsa Transport S.A. 100 Ebrobus S LU 100
immeubles Vehicules Accesores Maroc SARL 80 Estacion Autobuses de Cartagena, S A 54
Interprovincial Maroc SAR L 100 Estacion Autobuses de Ponferrada, S A. 49
Transport de Voyageurs en Autocar Maroc SA, 100 Estaci5n Central de Autobuses de Zaragoza S.A. 19
Portugal Estacidn de Autobuses de Sero SL 50
Alsa Metropolitanc do Porlo, Lda 100 Estacin de Autobuses Aguitar de Campoo, S L. 67
Tiac Viagens e Tunsmo Lda 100 Estaciin de Autobuses Chamartin, SA. 49
Slovakia Estacion de Autobuses de Aranda de Duero, SL. 43
Etlc SpoiSRO 80 Estacion de Autobuses de Astorga, S L. 79
Spam Estacién de Autobuses de Aviles S L. 100
Alanza Bus, S LU 100 Estacion de Autobuses e Banavente SL 23
Almena—Murcia Bus, S L 100 Estacién de Autobuses de Ledn, S.A. 89
Alsa Attintica, SLU 100 Estacion de Autobuses de Plasencia, SA 52
Alsa Ferrocarri S.AU 100 Estacdn de Autobuses de Rbadeo, SL 50
Alsa Granada Arport S L 100 Estacon de Autobuses de'Vitona, SL. 32
Alsa Grupo Intercortinental, S LU 100 Estacion da Lineas Reguiares, S L. 46
Alsa Grupo, SLU 98 Estacidnes Terminales de Autobuses SA, 79
Alsa Intemacional SLU yOwosUTE 100 Euska Alsa, SLU 100
Alsa Internacional, S LU 100 Ezkerraldea-Meatzaldea Bus, SA 65
Alsa Metropolitana, S.A.U 100 G 8§ Caretera 25
AlsaRad, SLU 100 General Técreca industnal, S LU 100
Ancreo SAU 100 Gorbea Representaccnes, S L 100
Aplic v Sist Integrales Para el Transporte, S.A. 100 Grupo Enatcar, S.A 100
Aragonesa de Estacion de Autobuses, S.A 23 ero-Euro Sur S L. 20
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

38 Subsidiary undertakings continued

% Equity % Equity
Name and country of ncorporation interest Name and country of ncorporation interest
Spain continued Spain contmued
Iber Rutas, S.AL 100 Transportes Adaptados Regonales, S LU 100
Inforcd SAU 100 Transportes Adaptados Cantabros, SA. o5
Informtica, Comuncaciones y Logishca SL U 100 Trangportes Bacoma, SAU 100
Intercambiadores Europeos, S L. a5 Transportes de Viajeros de Aragon, S.A 53
Intemacional de Autocares, S.A, 93 Transportes Solera, S.A.U 100
Intermational Busness Lmousnes SA.U 100 Transportes Terrestres Cantabros, SA. 93
Interurbana de Autocares, SAU 100 Transportes Unides de Astunas, S L 100
Irubus SAU 100 Transportes Urvdos, SL.U 100
Jimenez Lopera, SAU 100 Transportes Urbanos de Cantabna S LU 100
Julia Travel S.A., Automoviles Luarca S.A U , Transportes Transportes Urbanos de Cartagena, S.A a7
Bacoma SAU UTE 50 Trarmva de Velez, SAL 100
Julia Travel y Automowles Luarca Sa Ute 50 Tury Expess, S.A 100
La Tafaflesa, SAU 50 Ute Gatamaranes Bahia Cadz 23
La Unuén Alavesa, S L 50 Ute Ea Cordoba 50
La Unién de Berusa, S A, 98 Ute Extremadura 100
Lineas Europeas de Autobuses SA. 43 Ute Guadalajara 100
Los Abades de la Grneta, S1.U 100 Ute Mundiplan 17
Movelia Tecnologias, S L 78 Ute Murcia City Tour 50
Mundaka Consuttona, S LU 100 Ute Ea Alicante 50
Natr-Bus SL. 100 Viajes Por Carretera, S.AU 100
NEX Continental Holdngs, S L 100 Zamorana de Transportes SALU 100
NX Middle East, SLU 100 Switzeriand
Proyectos Unrficados, S.A.U 100 Eggmann Frey 100
Rapid Aeroport, SA U 100 Linien Abferigung GmbH 80
FRepresentaciones Mecanica S.AU 100 USA
Rutas a Cataluia SA 28 "The Provider” Enterpnses, Inc 100
Rutas gel Cantabneo, S L. 95 Beck Bus Transportation Corp 100
Semann 34 Beck Bus Transportaton i, LLC 100
Servareas 2000, 5 LU 100 Beck Bus Transportaton IV, LLG 100
Servicios Auxares del Transporte G B 100 Beck Bus Transportation LLG 100
Servicros del Prnepado, SAU 100 Bus Co, Inc 100
Servcios Empresanales Especiales, S LU 100 Camer Management Corporation 100
Serviaos Generales de Atomocion, SAU 00  Gemmunty Transportation inc 100
Sefra Ventas y Servicios, SA U 100 Durham DEMLLC 100
Sooedad Andnma Unipersonal Alsna Graels de AT 100  DwhamHoldngl LLC 100
Técnicas en Vehiculos Automéuies, S L U 100 Durham Holding Il LLC 100
Terminal de Autobuses de Gareano, SL 41 Durham School Servces, LP 100
Thus, SA 100 Greensburg Yellow Cab Co 100
Toledo City Tour, S L. 50 MF Petermann Investrnent Corporatien 100
Transporte Coloctvos SAU 10 MV Student Transportabon, Inc 100
Transportes Accesbles de Astunas, S L 0 Matonal Bxpress Acquisiton Corporation 100
Transportes Adaptados Andaluces, SA.U 100 National Express Durham Hoking Coqoration 100
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38 Subsidiary undertakings continued

% Equrty
Name and country of ncorporabon nterest
USA continued
National Express Holdings Limited Liabitity Company B V 100
Natonal Express LLC 100
National Express Transit Corporation 100
Nabonal Bqress Transit Servces Corporation 100
On Top Tours NYC, Inc 100
Petermann Acquistion Co  LLC 100
Petermann Acqusiion Corporation 100
Petermann Holdng Co , LLC 100
Petermann Ltd 100
Petermann Northeast, LLC 100
Petermann Northwest, LLC 100
Petermann Partners, Inc 100
Petermann Southwest, LLC 100
Petermann STS, LLC 100
Petermarn STSA, LLC 100
PM2Co LLC 100
Ranbow Management Serce, Inc 100
Septran, Inc 100
Smith Bus Service, Inc 100
SR Leasing Company, Inc 100
Trans Express Inc 100
TWEB Transport, LLC 100
Whitetal Bd Co , LLC 100
Canada
Natonal Express Canada {Holdings) Ltd 100
National Express Canada Transit Ltd 100
Stock Transportaton Ltd 100

It 18 the Group's intention that these subsidianes be mada exempt from the
requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of indwvidual
accounts by vintue of 3478A of the Act Qutstanding iabiiies of the exempt
companes at the balance sheet date will be guarantaed purrsuant to sections

479A-C of the Act
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Financial Statements

Company Balance Sheet
At 31 December 2015

2014

2015 {restated)”
Note €m tm
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 4 01 02
Tangble assets 5 0.2 02
Investments in subsichanes 6 1,740 4 17367
Dervatve financial instruments 7 222 265
Defined benefit pension asset 17 34.9 306
1,797.8 1,794 2
Current assets
Debtors 8 847 718
Dervative financial nstruments 7 24 15
Cash at bank and in hand 9 0.1 1302
67.2 2035
Creditors amounts fallng due within one year 10 {309.3) (323 1}
Dervative financial instruments 7 {1.8) {06
Provisions for liabilities and charges 12 {8.9) {8 8}
Net current habilites {2562.8) {129 Q)
Total assets less current habilities 1,545.0 1,665 2
Creditors amourits fallng due after more than one year 11 {645.3) (650 9}
Net assets 899.7 10143
Shareholders’ equity
Called-up share capital 15 256 256
Shara premium account 16 532.7 5327
Capital redemption reserve 16 0.2 02
Own shares 16 7.8 {15}
Profit and loss account 16 349.0 4573
Shareholders’ equity 899.7 10143

* Restated for the adoption of FRS 101 as disclosed in note 1

D Finch M Ashley
Group Chief Executive Group Finance Director

25 February 2016 /

Company Number 2590560

172 National Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015




Notes to the Company Accounts
For the year ended 31 December 2015

1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The separate accounts of the parent Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006 The accounts have been prepared
on the going concem basis and under the histoncal cost convention, except for the recognition of denvatwe financial instruments and
avalable-for-sale investments detalted below, and in accordance with applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom

In applying these policies, management I1s required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and habilities and disclosure of contingent assets and habiities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts of revenue
and expenses dunng the reporting penod Actual results could differ from those estimates

No profit and loss account is presented by the Company as permitted by Section 408 of the Comparies Act 2006
The loss of the Company for the year 1s £53 1m (2014 £88 Om profit, as restated for defined benefit pension described below)

Adoption of FRS 101

The Company meets the definition of a qualfying entity under FRS 100 (Financral Reporting Standard 100) ssued by the Financial
Reporting Council Accordingly, in the year ended 31 December 2015 the Company has changed its accounting framewaork from
UK GAAP to FRS 101 asssued by the Financial Reperting Council and has, in doing so, apphed the requirements of IFRS 1 6-33
and related appendices

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 101 {Financial Reporting Standard 101) 'Reduced Disclosure
Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council The pnor year financial statements have been restated to recognise the surplus
on a defined benefit pension scheme of which certain employees of the Company are members, along with the related deferred tax
Previcusly this was not recognised in the accounts of the Company in accordance with the muli-employer exemption allowance under
FRS 17 There are no other pnor year restatements ansing from the adoption of FRS 101 A reconciliation of the movement in equity 1s
prowided in note 21

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions avalable under that standard in relation to
share-based payments, financial Instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain assets,
presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, imparment of assets and related party transactions Where required,
equivalent disclosures are included within the consolidated accounts

Leases

Leases of tangble fixed assets where substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the asset have passed to the Company are
classified as finance leases and the assets are capitalised in the Balance Sheet as plant and equipment Finance leases are capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments The capital element of future oblgations under hire purchase contracts and
finance leases 1s included as a lability in the Balance Sheet The interest element of rental obligations i1s charged to the profit and loss
account over the penod of the lease and represents a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments outstanding Assets
acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful Iife of the asset and the lease term

Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease Incentives receved under operating leases and mitial direct costs In negotiating the lease are amortised to the profit and loss
account on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, or to the first review if shorter

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any mparment Tangible fixed assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over therr estmated useful ives as follows

Plant and equiprment -3 to 5years

The carrying value of fixed assets i1s reviewed for imparment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the current camrying
value may not be recoverable, and are wnitten down immediately to therr recoverable amount Repars and mantenance are charged
to the profit and foss account dunng the financial penod in which they are incurred

Software

Computer software that s not integral to an item of property, plant and equipment I1s recognised separately as an intangble asset and 1s camed
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impainment losses  Costs include software licences, consulting costs attnbutable to
the development, design and implermentation of the computer software and internal costs directly attributable o the development, design and
mplernentation of the computer software Costs in respect of traning are expensed as incured Amortisation s calculated using the straight-
fine method so as to charge the cost of the computer software to the Income Statement over ts estmated useful Ife (3 to 7 years)

The carrying value of iIntangibles i1s reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments are held at histoncal cost less any prowvision for impawment
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

41 Accounting policies continued

Available-for-sale investments

Avallable-for-sale financial assets are non-dernvative financial assets that are designated as such, or that are not classified as a loan
or recewvable, held to matunty or at far value through profit or loss After initial recognition these assets are measured at far value
with gans or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity until the iInvestment is derecognised or the iInvestment 1s
determined to be mpaired, at which time the previously reported cumulative gain or loss 1s Included in the Income Statement

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Loans and borrowings are inthially recognised at the far value of the consideration received, net of issue costs After inibal recognition,
interest-beanng loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective nterest method

Hedge accounting 1s adopted where denvatives such as fixed to floating interest rate swaps are held as far value hedges aganst fixed
nterest rate borrowings Under farr value hedge accounting, fixed interest rate borrowings are revalued at each Balance Sheet date by
the change in far value attributable to the interest rate being hedged

Provisions

Prowisions are recegnised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 1s probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settls the obligation, and a reliable estmate of the amount can be made Where the
Company expects a provision to be retmbursed the rembursement Is recognised as a separate asset but oty when reimbursement
18 virtually certain

Pensions
The Company participates in both the National Express Group Staff Pension Fund (a defined benefit scherne) and a defined
contnbution scheme

For the defined benefit scheme, the Balance Sheet position compnses the net of the present value of the relevant defined benefit
obligation at the Balance Sheet date and the fair value of plan assets The trustees complete a full actuanal valuation tnennially but
the obligaticn 1s updated annually for financial reporting purposes by independent actuanes, using the projected unit credit method
The present value of the obligation 1s determined by the estimated future cash outflows discounted using interest rates of high quality
corporate bonds which have terms to matunty eguivalent to the terms of the related liability

The current service cost and gains and losses on settliements and curtailments are recognised as operating costs Past service costs
are Included in operating costs where the benefits have vested, otherwise they are amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting
perod Net interest 1s calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset and 18 recogrised within finance
costs Actuanal gains and losses ansing from expenence adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited
to the profit and loss reserve in the penod in which they anse

For the defined contnbution scheme, the amount charged to the profit and loss 1s the contnbutions payable in the year Differences between
contnbutions payable in the year and contnbutions actually paid are shown as etther accruals or prepayments in the Balance Sheet

Share-based payment

The Company awards equity-settled share-based payment to certan employees Equity-settled share-based payments are measured
at far value at the date of grant by an external valuer using a stochastic model Non-market-based performance-related vesting
conditions are not taken into account when estimating the far value, instead those non-market conditions are taken into account in
calculating the current best estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest and at each Balance Sheet date before vesting
The cumulative expense 1s calculated based on that sstimate Market-based performance conditions are taken into account when
determining the far value and at each Balance Shest date before vesting, the cumulative expense I1s calculated respective of whether
or not the market conditions are satisfied, prowvided that all other performance condrtions are met

Foreign currencies

Foreign currency assets and llabihties are transtated nto Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the year end Foreign currency
transactions ansing dunng the year are translated into Sterling at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction

Any exchange differences 30 ansing are dealt with through the profit and loss account
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1 Accounting policies continued
Deferred tax
Deferred tax 1s prowded i full n respect of all matenal temporary differences at the Balance Sheet date between the tax bases of assets

and habilities and ther carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, apart from where the Company 1s able to control the reversal 2a
of the temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future = Q
oY
Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis at tax rates that are expected to apply in the penods in which the temporary £ g
differences reverse based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date gﬁ
m

Defarred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 1s considered more likely than not that future taxable profits will be available
against which the undertying temporary differences can be deducted Therr carrying amount 1s reviewed at each Balance Sheet date
on the same basis

Derivative financial mstruments

The Company uses denvative financial instruments such as foreign currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its nsks
associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations  Such dernvative financial iInstruments are inibially recognised at farr value
and subsequently remeasured to far value for the reported Balance Sheet The far value of forward exchange contracts and interest
rate swaps 1s calculated by reference to market exchange rates and interest rates at the penod end

In relation to cash flow hedges which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument that 1s determined to be an effectve hedge I1s recognised directly in equity, and the ineffective portion in the profit and loss
account The gans or losses deferred in aquity in this way are recycled through the profit and loss account in the same penod in which
the hedged undertying transacton or firm commitment 1s recognised in the profit and loss account

w
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For denvatives that do not qualfy for hedge accounting, including the foreign curmency contracts, gamns or losses are taken directly
10 the profit and loss account in the penod

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

2 Exchange rates

The most significant exchange rates to UK Sterling for the Company are as follows

2015 2014

Closing rate  Average rate Closing rate Average rate

US dollar 147 153 156 165
Canadian dollar 2.04 195 181 182
Euro 1.36 138 129 124

3 Directors’ emoluments

Detalled information concerning Directors” emoluments, shareholdings and options 1s shown in the Directors' Remuneration Report

4 Intangible assets

Software
£m
Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 04
Amortisation
At 1 January 2015 02
Charge n the year 01
At 31 December 2015 0.3
Net book value
At 31 December 2015 ot
At 31 December 2014 c2
5 Tangible assets
Plant and
equipment
£m
Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 03
Depreciation
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 0.1
Net book value
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 02
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6 Investments In subsidianes
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£m
Cost or valuation ‘2’ 8
At 1 January 2015 2,688 8 E g
Addions 37 ; E
At 31 December 2015 26925 |R™
Provisions
At 1 January and 31 December 2015 {952.1)
Net camying amount
At 31 December 2015 1,7404
At 1 January 2015 1,736 7

The information provided below 1s given for the Company's pnncipal substdianes A full ist of subsidiaries and investments can be found
n note 38 to the consolidated accounts The principal country of operation in respect of the campanies below 1s the country iIn which
they are incorporated

The Group's train passenger services In the UK are operated through franchuses awarded by DT Rall, as delegated by the
UK Govermment

The following holdings are 100% helkd directly by the Company

Incomporated in England and Wales

National Express Intermediate Holdings Lirrited Holding company for all Group operating companies except Rall
National Express Trans LUmited Holding compary for Ral operating companies

National Express Finance Company Limited Finance company for Group fuel denvative arrangements
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

7 Derivative financial instruments

2015 2014

£m £m

Interest rate denvatves 222 265
Denvative financial assets due over one year 22,2 265
Foreign exchange forward contracts 24 15
Denvative financial assets due under one year 24 15
Foreign exchange forward contracts (1.8) (o)
Derivative financial habikties due under one year (1.8} {08)

Full details of the Group's financial nsk management objectives and policies can be found in note 29 to the consohdated accounts
As the holding company for the Group, the Company faces similar nsks over foreign currency and interest rate movements

8 Debtors
2015 2014
£m £m
Amounts fallng due within one year
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 48.8 570
Corporation tax recoverable 5.7 22
COther debtors 22 21
Prepayments 46 38
61.3 649
Deferred tax asset amounts faling due after more than one year (note 13) 34 69
64.7 718
9 Cash at bank and in hand
2015 2014
fm £m
Short-term deposits - 400
Cash at bank 01 802
01 1302

Cash at bank and In hand earns interast at floating rates based on daly bank deposit rates Short-term deposits are made for varying
periods of betwesn one day and three months depending on the )Immediate cash requirements of the Company, and earn interest at
the respective short-term deposit rates The fair value of cash equals the carrying value
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10 Creditors' amounts falling due within one year
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2015 2014
£m m
Bank overdraft 343 430 |83
Bank foans 340 - §§
Trade creditors 4.6 50 |% 1’,;
Amaounts owed to subsidiary undertalings 187.9 2317 |mM
Accruals and deferred income 18.1 131
Bonds — accrued interest 29.3 202
Other debt payable 141 11
309.3 3231
Trade creditors are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 day terrns and other creditors are non-interest beanng and have
an average term of six months §§
>
11 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year g%
2015 2014 z>
£m £m «
Bonds 583.5 5853
Other debt payable 618 6586
6453 6509
12 Provisions for habilities and charges
Deforred Claims Z»
tax* provision Total 88
£m £m £m g3
AU1 January 2015 6.1 27 a8 | 2%
Utitsed in the year - 0.1) o1 | 27
Charge to incorme staternent 10 - 10
Credit to other comprehensive income (0.8) - {0.8)
At 31 December 2015 6.3 26 8.9
* The deferrad tax hability relates to the Company defined benefit pension scheme end has been includad following the adoption of FRS 101 as disciosed innote 1
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued

For the year ended 31 December 2015

13 Deferred tax
Deferred tax included in the Balance Sheet 1s as follows
2015 2014
£m £m
Deferred tax asset, included in debtors (note 8) 3.4 69
Deferred tax hability, ncluded in provisions (note 12) (6.3) 61
Net deferved tax (hability)/asset (29) 08
The major components of the prowision for deferred taxation are as follows
2015 2014
£m £m
Accelerated capital allowances 0.2 02
Other timing differences - 01
L.osses camed forward 3.2 66
Defined benefit pension (6.3) ® 1)
Net deferred tax (hability)/asset 2.9) a8
The reconcihation of the deferred tax asset s as follows
£m
Deferred tax asset at 1 January 2015 69
Charge to income statement 3 5)
Deferred tax asset at 31 December 2015 34

Timing differences associated with Group investments

No deferred tax (2014 £nil) s recognised on the urwernitted earnings of subsidtanes and associates, as no dwdends have been

accrued as recewvable, and no binding agreement to distribute the past earmings In future has been entered into by the subsidiaries

Unrecognised tax losses

Deferred Income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the reahsation of the related tax benefit
aganst future taxable profits 1s probable Deferred tax assets that the Company has not recognised in the accounts amount

to £3 9m (2014 £4 3m), which anse where the Company does not expect to generate sufficient suitable future profits
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14 Interest-beanng loans and borrowings
The effective interest rates at the Balance Sheet date were as follows

2015 Effective 2014 Effectve |
£m Matunty mterest rate tm Matunty nierestratc | €8
Current E E
Bank overdraft 3.3 430 ";’,%
November November m
European bank loans 34.0 2019" LIBOR + 0.60% - 2019’ LIBOR + 0 60%
Accrued interest 304 303
Total current 98.7 733
Non-current
Seven-year Stering bond 3523 January 2017 6.54% 3530  January 2017 654%
Ten-year Sterting bond 2312 January 2020 6.85% 2323  January 2020 685% [ER
Bonds 583.5 5853 22
Euro Private Placement 61.8 August 2021 4.55% 656 August 2021 455% gg
Other debt payable 61.8 656 @
Total non-current 645.3 6509
! This data 18 the uiimate matunty date of the syrndicated credit facikty
Details of the Company’s Interest rate management strategy and interest rate swaps are included in note 29 and rnote 30 to the
consolidated accounts
15 Called-up share capital Z>
2015 2014 ge
em | £3
At 31 Decermber 3z
Authonsed =
800,000,000 (2014 800,000,000} orcinary shares of 5p each 40.0 400
Issued called-up and fully paid
511,738,648 (2014 511,738,648) ordinary shares of 5p each 256 256

The total number of share options exercised n the year by employees of the Group was 824,029 (2014 972,868) of which 797,801
(2014 882,000) exercises were satisfied by transfernng shares from the National Express Employee Benefit Trust The remaining
exercises were settled via a direct purchase of shares from the open market
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

16 Shareholders’ funds and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Caprtal Profit and
Share Share  redemption Own loss account Total
capita) premium reserve shares (restated)* {restated)*
£m Em £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2015 25.6 532.7 0.2 {1.5) 457.3 1,014.3
Shares purchased - - - {8.5) - (8.5
Own shares released to satisfy employee
share schemes - - - 22 2.2 -
Share-based payments - - - - 16 16
Actuanal loss, net of tax - - - - (0-2) 0.2}
Loss for the year - - - - (531} (53.1)
Dmdends - - - - (54.4} (54.4)
At 31 December 2015 25.6 5327 0.2 78 349.0 899.7

* restated for the adoptan of FRS 104 as disclosed in note 1

The majority of the Company's profit and loss account i1s avalable for distnbution Own shares have been purchased out of distnbutable
profits and therefore reduce the reserves avallable for distnbution The share premium and capital redemption reserves are not
distnbutable

Detalls of dvidends paid, declared and proposed dunng the year are given i note 11 to the consohdated accounts

Own shares

Own shares comprises 2,495,467 (2014 553,268) ordinary shares in the Company that have been purchased by the trustees

of the National Express Employee Benefit Trust {the 'Trust’) Dunng the year, the Trust purchased 2,740,000 (2014 1,033,000)
shares and 797,801 (2014 882,000) shares were used to satisfy options granted under a number of the Company’s share schemes
Nil {2014 24,362) shares were sold dunng the year 1o the open markst

The market value of the shares held by the Trust at 31 December 2015 was £8 3m (2014 £1 4m) The dwidends payable on 2,418,824
of these shares have been waved (2014 418,670)

Caprtal Profit and
Share Share redemption Own  lossaccount Total
capital premum reserve shares (restated)” {restated)’
£m £m Em £m Em £m
At 1 January 2014 256 5327 02 08 4104 968 1
Shares purchased - - - 32 - B2
Own shares released to sabsfy emplovee
share schemes - - - 25 (25 -
Share-based payments - - - — 186 16
Actuanal gan, net of tax - - - - 114 114
Profit for the year - - - - 880 880
Dradends - - - - 51 6) {51 6)
At 31 Decemnber 2014 256 5327 02 {5 4573 1,014 3

restated for the adopton of FRS 101 as disclosed innote 1
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17 Retirement benefits

The Company participates in both the National Express Group Staff Pension Fund {a defined benefit scheme} and a defined

contnbution scheme
Defined benefit scheme

The defined benefit scheme 1s now closed to all future accrual A funding plan amed at bnnging the plan to self-sufficiency over
a six-year penod was agreed in 2010, The Company contnbutes £4 2m annually to this scheme

The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Company

The valuation as at 31 December 2015 Is based on the results of the 5 Apnl 2013 actuanal valuation, which has been updated by

ndependent professionally qualified actuanes to take account of the requirements of IAS 19 The assumptions used by the actuary are
the best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuanal assumptions which, due to the tmescale coverad, may not necessanly be
borme out In practice Details of the latest actuanal valuahon are included in note 33 te the consolidated accounts

The relevant assumptions used are as follows

2015 2014
£m £m
Rate of ncrease in salanes 25% 25%
Rate of ncrease of pensions 3.1% 29%
Discount rate 3.9% 36%
Inflabon assumption P} 3.1% 29%
Inflation assumpton (CPI) 21% 1 9%
Post-retrement mortality in years
Current pensioners at 65 - male 244 242
Current pensioners at 65 - female 269 267
Future pensioners at 65 —male 28.2 260
Futura pensioners at 65 — fermale 289 287

The amounts charged to the incorme statement and comprehensive iIncorme for the years ended 31 Decermnber 2015 and 2014 are set

out n the following tables

2015 2014
Income statement £m £m
Net interest ncome t.2 07
Total credit to the iIncome statement 1.2 07
Dunng the year £0 2m (2014 E£nil) of administrative expenses were incurred
2015 2014
Comprehensve ncome £m £m
Actuana gan/joss} dunng the penod from obligations 13 (85)
Expected retum on plan assets greater/ess than discount rate 2.2) 226
Net actuanal {loss)/gain (0.9) 141
The amounits recogrised in the Balance Sheet at 31 December are
2015 2014
£m £m
Bonds 124.9 1238
Other (19.8) 22 1)
Far value of scheme assats 105.1 1018
Present value of scheme liabities {70.2) {712)
Defined benefit obhgation {(70.2) {712
Defined benefit pension surplus 349 306
Waww natlonalexpressgroup com 1 83
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Accounts continued
For the year ended 31 December 2015

47 Retirement benefits continued
Defined benefit scheme continued
The movement in the present value of the defined benefit cbligation in the year 1s as stated below

2015 2014
£m £m
Defined benefit obligation at 1 January {71.2) {620
Benefits pad 22 21
Finance charge (25) 28
Actuanal gan/foss) ansing from changes n financial assumptions 1.3 89
Defined benefit obligation at 31 December (70.2) {712
The movement in the far value of scheme assets 1s as follows
2015 2014
£m tm
Farr value of scheme assets at 1 January 101.8 746
Expected retum on plan assets 3.7 35
Expected retum on plan assets greater/less than discount rate 2.2) 226
Cash contnbutions - employer 4.2 32
Administrative expenses (0.2} -
Benefits paid 2.2 21
Fair value of scheme assets at 31 December 105.1 1018
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
History of expenence gans and losses £m £m fm £m £m
Far valua of scheme assets 105.1 1018 746 731 679
Present value of defined benefit obligation (70.2) {71 2) 620 {56 5) 493
Surplus in the scheme 349 3086 126 166 186
BExpenence adjustmants ansing on liabilities - - 38 - 01
Expenence adjustments ansing on assets (2.2) 226 28 05 97
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18 Share-based payment
Dunng the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company had a number of share-based payment arrangements, which are descnbed
In note 7{b) to the consclidated accounts

The options have a weighted average contractual life of one year (2014 one year) Options were exercised throughout the year and
the waighted average share price at exercise was 313p (2014 280p)

19 Commitments and contingencies
Operating lease commitments
The Company had total commitments under non-cancellable cperating leases as set out below
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Land and buldings
2015 2014
£m £m
Operating leases which exprre
Within two to five years 0.1 (VN1

Contingent habilities
(a) Guarantees
The Company has guaranteed credit facilities totaling £195m (2014 £163m) of certain subsidhanes

{b) Bonds and letters of credit
In the ordinary course of business, the Company 1s required to 1ssue counter-indermrities in support of its operations Letters of credit
have been 1ssued to support insurance retentions of £66 1m {2014 £65 7m)

20 Post Balance Sheet events

In January 2016, the Company entered into committed unsecured revohing credit facilities totalling £450m The new faciities include a
£350m bridge facility to provide the Group with an appropnate tevel of liguidity pror to refinancing the Group’s £350m 2017 bond, and
a £100m facity to be used for general corporate purposes Both faciliies are for 18 months with three six-month extension options

21 Explanation of transition to FRS 101

This 13 the first year that the Company has presented its financial information under FRS 101 i1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council
The followng disclosures are required in the year of transition The last financral statements under a previous GAAP (UK GAAP) were for
the year ended 31 December 2014 and the date of transition to FRS 101 was therefore 1 January 2014

1January 31 December

2014 2014
Reconciiation of equity £m £m
Equnty reported under previous UK GAAP 958 1 989 8
Defined benefit pension asset 126 3086
Deferred tax on the defined benefit pension asset 2 6) 61
Equity reported under FRS 101 968.1 1,014.3
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Shareholder Information

Registrars’ details

All matters relating to the administration of
shareholdings In Nabonal Express Group
PLC, such as the loss of a share certrficate,
dmidend payrments or a change of address,
should be directed to our Registrars,

Equinih Limited, Aspect House, Spencer
Road, Lancing, West Sussex BNSS 6DA,
sharehoider helpline number 0371 384 2152
or +44 121 415 7047 from overseas or Textel
{for the hard of heanng) on 0371 384 2255

if you are registered for online shareholder
communicatons you can contact the
Registrars via www shareview co uk

Shareholder electronic
communications

National Express encourages shareholders
to use our onling communications service
By registenng for slectronic communications,
this provides a faster way to receve
information and helps us to reduce pnnt,
paper ang postage costs

Log on to www shareview co uk If you
would Iike to

* register your emaill so that you are able
to access future shareholder information,
including the Annual Report and
Accounts elsctronically,

» check the balance of your shareholding,
= st up a dvidend mandate cnline,

* change your reqistered postal address
or your dividend mandate details, or

* submit your vote online priorto a
general meeting

To sign up for the first trme you
should click on ‘Register’ and follow
the simple instructions = you will need
your shareholder reference number
from your share certificate or dividend
voucher or any other correspondence
sent to you by Equinit Limited

if you have any quenes, contact

our Registrars, Equinib Limited,

on the shareholder helpiine number
0371 384 2152 or +44 121 415 7047
from overseas or Textel {for the hard
of heanng) on 0371 384 2255

Dividends paid direct to your
bank account

Having dividends paid direct to your bank
account has the following advantages

+ avoids the nsk of cheques bemng lost
and Incurnng a replacement fee,

* saves you tme in presenting the
cheque for payment, and

* the dvidend is credited to your
account on the payment date

Consolidated Tax Vouchers

The Company now ssues a Consolidated
Tax Voucher ("CTV') once a year to all
shareholders save for corporate and
institutional shareholders A CTV is included

186

with the 2015 AGM mailing and will
contan the tax and payment infarmation for
dwdends paid dunng the tax year 2014/15

To set up a naw dvidend mandate please
log on to shareview co uk or contact

our Registrars, Equiniti Limited, on

the shareholder helpline number

0371 384 2152 or +44 121 415 7047
fror overseas or Textel {for the hard

of heanng) on 0371 384 2255

Share dealing service

A telephone and nternet share dealing
service, which provides a simple way to
buy and sell shares, 1s avalable through
our Registrars, Equiniti For further
information jog on to shareview co uk/
dealing or telephone 0345 603 7037 or
+44 121 415 7560 from overseas

Company website

The Company website at

www nationalexprassgroup com

has information about the Group,
including press releases, share price
data and copies of the half year results
and Annual Report and Accounts as
well as corporate responsibility reporting
The Company no longer publishes the
half year results in hard copy These will
now only be avalable via the website

ShareGift

ShareGift 1s an indepsndsent chanty
share donation scheme administered

by the Orr Mackintosh Foundation
{registered chanty number 1052686)
Those shareholders who hold cnly a
small number of shares, the value of
which makes it uneconomic 1o sell thermn,
can donate the shares to ShareGift who
will sell therm and donate the proceeds to
awide range of chantes Further nformaticn
about ShareGift can be obtained from its
website at sharegift org and a ShareGift
transfer form can be downloaded from
www nationalexprassgroup ¢om

Unclaimed Assets Register

The Comparny paricipates in the Unclamed
Assets Register (UAR'} which provides a
search faciity for shareholdings and other
financial assets that rmay have been forgotien
For further information contact UAR by emall
at yarenquines@uk expernan com,

Tel 0844 481 8180 or visit www uar couk

Unsolicited mail

We are legally obliged to make our register
of members avallable, subject to a proper
purpose test, to the public As a
consequence of this some shareholders
might receve unsolicited mail Shareholders
wishing to rmut the amount of such mail
should write to the Mailing Preferencea
Service, FREEPOST 29 LON20771,

London WIE OZT Shareholders can

also register online at www mpsonline org uk
or reguest an application form by

caling from within the UK 0845 703 4589
or emailing to mps@dma org uk

Natwonal Express Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2015

Warning about share fraud

Share fraud includes scams where
investors arg called out of the blue and
offerad shares that often turn out 10 be
worthless or non-existent, or an inflated
pnce for shares they own These calls come
from fraudsters operating in ‘boiler rooms’
that are mostly based abroad

While high profits are promised, those who
buy or sell shares in this way usually lose
ther money

The Financial Conduct Authonty {{FCAY)
and Prudential Regulatory Authonty
{'PRA), which replaced the Financial
Services Authonty on 1 Apnl 2013,
have found most share fraud victms
are expenienced investors who lose

an average of £20,000, with around
£200 millon lost in the UK each year

How to avoid share fraud

If you are offered unsolicited investmeant
adwvice, discounted shares, a premium prce
for shares you own, or free company or
research reports, you should take these
steps before handing over any money

1 Get the name of the person and
orgamsaton contacting you

2 Check the FCA Register at
www fca org uk/register to ensure
they are authonsed

3 Use the details on the FCA Register
to contact the firm

4 Call the FCA Consumer Helplng
on 0800 111 6768 (freephone} or
+44 20 7066 1000 from overseas
If there are no contact detals on
the Register or you are told they are
out of date

5 Search the FCA's list of unauthonsed
firms and indmduals to avoid doing
business with

6 REMEMBER If it sounds too good to be
true, it probably 1s!

If you use an unauthonsed firm to buy
or sell shares or other investments, you
will not have access to the Financial
Ombudsman Service or Financial
Services Compensation Scheme
{FSCS) If things go wrong

Report a scam

If you are approached by fraudsters, please
tell the FCA using the share fraud reporting
form at www fca org uk/scams, where you
can find cut more about Investment scams,
or call the FCA Consumer Helpling on
0800 111 6768

if you have already paid monay to share
fraudsters you should contact ActionFraud
on 0300 123 2040




Dividends and financial calendar

Final divtdend ex-dividend date 28 Apnl 2016
Final dvidend record date 29 Apnl 2016
Annual General Meeting 11 May 2016
Final drvidend payment date 20 May 2018
Half Year Results announced 28 July 2016

Intenm dwidend ex-dimdend date

1 September 2016

Intenm dwidend record date

2 Septernber 2016

140d3d
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Intenm dwmidend payment date

23 Septermber 2016

www nationalexpressgroup com 187

FINVNHIAOD
31vYHOdHOD

SINIWILVLS
AVIONYNII

Z»
m
88
4=
zd
» O
as
o
zf-




Glossary

AGM
Bps
BSOG
CDP
Code

The Company
CPI

CRM

CTV

DT

DTRs

EBIT

EBITDA

EFQM
EPS

EU
EURIBOR
Fwi

GDP

Gearing ratio
GHG

The Group
HMRC

1AS

IFRIC
IFRS

KPI

LIBOR
LTIP

MAA

Net capital expenditure

Net debt

Net interest expense

Annuzl General Mesting
Basis points

Bus Service Operators Grant
Carbon Disclosure Project

The UK Corporate Governance Code published by the Financial Reporting Council
in September 2014

National Exprass Group PLC
Consumer Price Index

Custorner Relatonship Management
Consolidated Tax Voucher
Department for Transport

Disclosure and Transparency Rules
Earnings Before Interest and Tax

Earmngs Before Interest and Tax plus Depreciation and Amortisation It is calculated
by taking normalised operating profit and adding back depreciation, fixed asset grant
amortisation, normalised profit on disposal of non-current assets and share-based
payments

European Foundation for Quality Management

Earnings per share - the profit for the year attnbutable to shareholders, dvided by the
weighted avarage number of shares in 1ssue, excluding those held by the Employee
Benefit Trust which are treated as cancelled

European Union
Euro Interbank Offered Rate
Fatalities and Weighted Injuries index

Gross Domestic Product - used to determine the economic perfoermance of a whole
country or region

18 calculated as net debt, divided by EBITDA
Greenhouse Gas

The Company and Its subsidianes

Her Majesty's Revenue and Custorns
International Accounting Standards
International Financial Raporting Interpretations Committes
International Financial Reporting Standards
Key Performance Indicator

London Interbank Offered Rate

Long-Term incentive Plan

Moving Annual Average

The Increase In net dabt arnsing on the purchase of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets less proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment
It excludes capital expenditure ansing from UK rail franchise entry and exits and
discontinued operations, which are included in these headings Growth capital
expenditure 1s calculated as invesiment in fleet for new centracts and concessions,
after deducting fleet released from contracts and concessions lost and fleet re-used
In new contracts and concessions

1s defined as cash and cash equivalents (cash ovarnight deposits, ¢ther short-term
deposits) and other debt receivables, offset by borrowings (loan notes, bank loans
and finance lease obligations) and other debt payable {excluding accrued interest)

1s finance costs less finance income
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Normalised earnings per share

Normalised operating profit

Normalised result

Operating cash flow
Operating margin

ORR

PPM

RCF

Return on assets (ROA)
Return on capita! emptoyed (ROCE)
RME

RMS

RPI

RPS

RRX

SPAD

TOC

TSR

TUPE
uLsD
Underlying revenue

Earmings per share, excluding intangible asset amortisation, exceptional tems and
tax relief thereon

Statutory operating profit excluding intangible asset amortisation and exceptional items
The Board believas that the normakised profit gives a better indication of the underlying
performance of the Group

The statutory result excluding intangible asset amortisation, exceptional items and
tax relef thereon

15 intended to be the cash flow equivalent of normalised operating profit
1s normahsed profit dwvded by revenue, expressed as a percentage
Office of Rall and Road

Public Performance Measure — used by the rall industry to measure punctuality
Revotving credit facility

Normalised operating profit divided by tangible assets

Normalised operating profit divided by tangible and intangible assets
Rhine-Munstar Express

Revenue Management System

Retall Pnices Index

Railways Pension Scheme

Rhine-Ruhr Express

Signal Passed at Danger

Train Qperating Company

Total Shareholder Return — the growth in value of a shareholding over a specified penod
assuming that dwdends are re-invested to purchase additional shares

Transtfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)
Uttra fow sutphur diesel

compares the current year with the pnor year on a consistent basis, after adjusting
for the impact of currency
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Five Year Summary

2014 2013 2012

2015 (restated)’ {restated) {restated) 201

£m £m £m £m £€m

Group normalised
Revenus 1,919.8 1,867 4 1,801 3 1,8312 2,2380
Normalised operating profit 193.5 1676 1772 1913 2252
Return on capital {pre tax) 11.7% 107% 10 8% 111% 14 1%
Basic earnings per share 23 4p 18 9p 192p 223p 26 9p
IFRS
Revenue 1,919.8 18674 1,8913 1,83t 2 2,2380
Qperating profit 1678 114 2 1179 1176 174 4
Profit before tax 124 4 66 5 644 698 129 4
Basic earnings per share 20.9p 11 6p 11 1p 11 8p 19 9p
Owidends per share — declared 1133p 10 30p 10 00p 975p 9 50p
Net {debt)/funds
Cash at bank and in hand 604 837 409 728 925
Other debt recenable o8 08 10 10 07
Bonds (583 §) (585 3) (579 5) (590 0) (583 4
Bank and other loans (45 3) 52 {193) {114 6) (79}
Farr valus of bond hedging denvativas 143 186 g2 234 164
Finance lease obligations (127.8) (110 5) (1329) (154 7) {151 3)
Other debt payable (64.6) (66 4) (65 5) (66 1) o7
Net debt {745.5) (664 3) (746 1) (828 2) (833 7)
Gearning ratio 2.45x 2 25x 2 5% 2 5x 19x

* rastated for the reclassification of business developmant costs fom except:onals as disclosed in note 2 to the consokdated accounts
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Corporate information

Secretary and registered office
Sandra Forbes

National Express Group PLC

National Express House

Birmingham Coach Station

Mil Lane

Birmingham

BS 6DD

Tel +44 (0)8450 130130

www nationalexpressgroup com

Registered number
2590560

Auditor
Deloitte LLP
Four Brindleyplace
Bimmingham
B12HZ

Registrar

Equiniti Limited

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

Woest Sussex

BNO9 6DA

Shareholder helpline 0371 384 2152*
or +44 121 415 7047 from overseas

* Lines open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Friday

Principal banker
HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square
London

E14 SHQ

Corporate solicitors
Ashurst LLP

Broadwalk House

5 Appold Street

London

EC2A 2HA

Financial advisors

Bank of America Mernll Lynch
2 King Edward Street

London

EC1A 1HQ

Stockbrokers

Bank of America Merrill Lynch
2 King Edward Street

Lendon

EC1A 1HQ

HSBC Bank ptc
8 Canada Square
London

Et14 SHA

Cautionary statement

This Annual Report and Accounts 1S
intended to focus on matters which are
relevant to the interests of sharehoiders
of the Company The purpose of this
Annual Report and Accounts is to assist
shareholders in assessing the strategies
adopted and performance debivered by
the Company and the potential for those
strategies to succeed It should not be
relied on by any other party or for any
other purpose

Forward looking statements are made

In good faith, based on a number of
assumptions concerning futura events
and information avaitable to Directors at
the time of their approval of this report
These forward looking statements should
be treated with caution due to the inherent
uncertanies underying any such forward
looking information The user of this
Annual Report and Accounts should

not rely unduly on these forward looking
statements, which are not a guarantee of
performance and which are subject to a
number of uncertanties and other facts,
rnany of which are outside the Company's
control and could cause actual evants o
differ matertally from those in these
staternents No guarantee can be given
of future results, levels of actwity,
performance or achievements
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This Annual Raport and Accounts 1s pnnted
on Amadeus 100% Silk and Arnadeus
100% Offset, which are made using 100%
recycled fibre certified by the FSC®

Printed by Park Communications who are
certified to ISO 14001, the standard for
environmental management

i you have finished reading this report and
no longer wish to retain it, please dispose
of It in your recycled paper waste

Thank you

Consultancy, design and production
wWww luminous co uk

Photography by Janie Arrey
Print managed by urbanpnntsupport co uk
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